## UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2 copy number variations

**Permalink** https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0cr5k0br

## Author

Lin, Amy

Publication Date

2021

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2 copy number variations

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Neuroscience

by

Amy Lin

© Copyright by Amy Lin

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2 copy number variations

by

Amy Lin Doctor of Philosophy in Neuroscience University of California, Los Angeles, 2021 Professor Carrie E. Bearden, Chair

Efforts to bridge the gap between genes, brain, and behavior are facilitated by the study of highly-penetrant, disease-associated copy number variations (CNV). CNVs at the 22q11.2 locus present as deletions and duplications, each associated with clinical phenotypes that implicate perturbed neurodevelopmental processes. In fact, 22q11.2 CNVs confer some of the greatest known genetic risks for psychiatric disorders, and thus represent a compelling model to yield biological insights into how gene dosage may influence downstream brain and behavior. In this body of work, I present three studies that offer a comprehensive approach tethering cortical morphometric changes, cognitive and behavioral impairments, and transcriptomic dysregulation to reveal novel insights about the molecular effects of 22q11.2 CNVs. The first two studies are published in *The Journal of Neuroscience* and *Biological Psychiatry*, respectively, while the third study will soon be submitted to *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*.

In Chapter 1, I briefly introduce the challenge of studying neurodevelopmental psychiatric disorders, and how the use of highly penetrant, disease-associated CNVs can help

ii

to mitigate some of these biological complexities. Then, I explain how reciprocal 22q11.2 CNVs have great potential to offer key insights into the underlying biology of neuropsychiatric disorders. In Chapter 2, I show for the first time that 22q11.2 deletions (22qDel) and duplications (22qDup) confer global opposing effects on brain morphometry by comparing 66 molecularly-confirmed 22qDel carriers, 21 22qDup carriers, and 56 demographically-matched controls. 22qDel was associated with widespread reductions in cortical surface area, with corresponding enlargement in 22qDup. Cortical thickness showed the opposite pattern, but with more localized effects. Regional patterns of thickness difference between 22qDel and 22qDup carriers were also observed in subcortical regions which, in concert with the diffuse surface area changes, imply global and early impacts of 22q11.2 CNVs on brain development. Lastly, these findings were not accounted for by a subset of the sample, but rather the entire distribution was shifted, which suggests a highly penetrant effect of gene dosage.

In Chapter 3, I systematically examine neurodevelopmental phenotypes relevant to intellectual functioning, Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), and psychosis in 106 22qDel carriers, 38 22qDup carriers, and 82 demographically-matched controls. This study aimed to leverage dimensional phenotyping, based on the hypothesis that variation in specific quantitative traits may better reflect underlying biological variation than categorical diagnoses. I found that reciprocal 22q11.2 deletions and duplications were associated with distinct impacts on intellectual functioning and psychosis-related symptomatology, but shared global deficits in the domain of ASD-related traits were assayed, subtle differences in ASD profiles were found to distinguish deletion and duplication carriers. Lastly, while controls showed an inverse relationship with cortical thickness and processing speed, this association was absent in both CNV groups. This altered relationship between normative cortical thinning and cognitive processing speed implies disrupted development of the cortical mantle may underlie impaired processing efficiency in 22q11.2 CNV carriers.

iii

In Chapter 4, I leverage high-throughput transcriptomic data as an additional lens by which to gain mechanistic insights. This study represents the first genome-wide gene expression study to characterize transcriptomic dysregulation in peripheral blood in reciprocal 22g11.2 CNV carriers. Specifically, analyzing samples from 82 22gDel carriers, 29 22gDup carriers, and 68 demographically-matched controls, I showed that the 22g11.2 deletion significantly alters gene expression across the genome, and that these differences are substantially attenuated after adjustment for cell type heterogeneity. Moreover, expression of two cytoskeletal- and ASD-relevant genes differed between 22q11.2 CNV carriers with and without a diagnosis of ASD. I also extend findings regarding cell type differences between 22q11.2 deletion carriers and controls beyond known T cell differences to include mast cell and macrophage subtypes, two cell types that have multifunctional, immune-related roles throughout the body. These findings demonstrate the challenges inherent in using peripheral blood, a common tissue of analysis in psychiatric genetics, to study brain-related diseases. Nevertheless, this work shows how blood tissue, which contains a wealth of information regarding the immune system, can still offer valuable insights regarding immune mechanisms in psychiatric disorders, provided confounds such as cell type heterogeneity are properly accounted for.

In sum, the work described herein seeks to reveal fundamental biology, generate hypotheses for future targeted experiments to validate and test in animal or *in vitro* models, and ultimately inform novel therapeutic targets.

iv

The dissertation of Amy Lin is approved.

Michael Gandal

Armin Raznahan

Paul Thompson

Catherine Sugar

Carrie E. Bearden, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES	xi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xv
VITA	xix
CHAPTER 1: An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2	
copy number variations (CNVs)	1
1.1: The challenge of studying neurodevelopmental psychiatric disorders	2
1.2: How disease-associated CNVs mitigate some of those biological complexities	2
1.3: 22q11.2 CNVs as a compelling model	4
1.4: Mapping functional consequences of 22q11.2 CNVs across modalities	5
1.5: References	7
CHAPTER 2: Mapping 22q11.2 Gene Dosage Effects on Brain Morphometry	15
2.1: Abstract	16
2.2: Introduction	. 17
2.3: Materials and Methods	19
2.3.1: Participants	. 19
2.3.2: Psychiatric and cognitive assessment	21
2.3.3: qRT-PCR	21
2.3.4: MRI acquisition and preprocessing.	22
2.3.5: Quality assessment of MRI.	23
2.3.6: Subcortical shape analysis	23
2.3.7: Statistical analysis	24
2.3.8: Sensitivity analyses	26
2.4: Results	26
2.4.1: Neuropsychiatric and cognitive findings	26

2.4.2: mRNA expression	27
2.4.3: Gene dosage effects on global brain metrics	27
2.4.4: Effects of reciprocal 22q11.2 variation on cortical thickness	29
2.4.5: Opposing effects on cortical surface area.	32
2.4.6: Posthoc power analysis for regional cortical thickness and surface are	ea.37
2.4.7: Patterns extend to subcortical structures: volume and morphometry	37
2.4.8: Sensitivity analyses	40
2.5: Discussion	46
2.5.1: 22q11.2 gene dosage implications for neuropsychiatric disorders	42
2.5.2: 22q11.2 gene dosage effects on brain structure	43
2.5.3: Genes critical for cortical circuit formation in the 22q11.2 locus	45
2.5.4: Gene-dosage effects in other reciprocal CNVs	45
2.5.5: Study limitations	46
2.5.6: Concluding remarks	47
2.6: References	48
CHAPTER 3: Reciprocal Copy Number Variations at 22q11.2 Produce Distinct and	
Convergent Neurobehavioral Impairments Relevant for Schizophrenia and Autism	
Spectrum Disorder	60
3.1: Abstract	61
3.2: Introduction	62
3.3: Materials and Methods	64
3.3.1: Participants	64
3.3.2: Neurobehavioral Phenotyping Assessment	65
3.3.2.1: Cognitive Functioning	66
3.3.2.2: Social Cognition Measures	67
3.3.2.3: Autism Spectrum Measures	67

3.3.2.4: Psychosis-Relevant Measures	.67
3.3.3: Structural MRI	.68
3.3.4: Statistical Analysis	.68
3.5: Results	.70
3.5.1: 22q11.2 CNVs produce convergent phenotypes relevant for ID and ASD	
but divergent psychosis-relevant phenotypes	.70
3.5.2: 22q11.2 CNVs involve subtle differences in ASD profile, despite similar	
rates of ASD diagnosis	.73
3.5.3: Healthy control subjects showed an inverse relationship between CT in	
heteromodal association areas and processing speed that was absent i	in
CNV carriers	.74
3.6: Discussion	.77
3.7: References	.84
3.8: Supplement1	107
3.8.1: Inclusion/exclusion criteria details	
	107
3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol1	107 108
3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol1 3.8.3: Analysis of sensory sensitivity and social responsiveness subdomains di	107 108 id
3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol1 3.8.3: Analysis of sensory sensitivity and social responsiveness subdomains di not show significant differences between 22q11.2 deletion and duplicat	107 108 id ion
3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol1 3.8.3: Analysis of sensory sensitivity and social responsiveness subdomains di not show significant differences between 22q11.2 deletion and duplicat carriers1	107 108 id ion 108
<ul> <li>3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol</li></ul>	107 108 id ion 108 109
<ul> <li>3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol</li></ul>	107 108 id ion 108 109 111
<ul> <li>3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol</li></ul>	107 108 id ion 108 109 111 118 118

4.1: Abstract	121
4.2: Introduction1	122
4.3: Materials and Methods1	125
4.3.1: Participants1	125
4.3.2: Peripheral Blood Sample Preparation1	127
4.3.3: Structural Neuroimaging1	127
4.3.4: Clinical and Neurocognitive Assessments1	127
4.3.5: Statistical Analysis1	128
4.3.5.1: Microarray-based Gene Expression Analysis Data: Pre-	
processing and Statistical Overview	128
4.3.5.2: Cell Type Proportion Estimation1	129
4.3.5.3: Differential Expression1	129
4.3.5.4: Weighted Gene Co-expression Network Analyses (WGCNA) ar	nd
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type	
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression1	130
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression1 4.3.5.5: Associations with neuroimaging, IQ, and psychiatric phenotypes	130 :s.
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 ×s. 130
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 ×s. 130 131
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 95. 130 131 131
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 es. 130 131 131
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 es. 130 131 131 :ion 134
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 9s. 130 131 131 tion 134
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 ss. 130 131 131 tion 134
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 es. 130 131 131 tion 134 138
enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression	130 es. 130 131 131 tion 134 138 

observed after adjusting for cell type and medication usage
4.4.6: Expression of WDR1 and FNBP1 are differentially associated with ASD in
22qDel and 22qDup carriers144
4.4.7: No associations were found between IQ or structural MRI characteristics
and adjusted expression of DE genes, module eigengenes, or cell type
proportions146
4.5: Discussion146
4.6: References151
4.7: Supplement168
4.7.1: Demographic information168
4.7.2: MRI acquisition and preprocessing168
4.7.3: Weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) parameters . 168
4.7.4: Enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific
expression169
4.7.5: Supplementary references 195
CHAPTER 5: Conclusions and future directions 198
5.1: Conclusions
5.2: Future directions
5.3: References

#### LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

#### Chapter 1

Figure 1.1: An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2

copy number variations (CNVs)

#### Chapter 2

- Table 2.1: Participant Demographics
- Figure 2.1: Gene Expression
- Figure 2.2: Global Metrics
- Table 2.3: Cortical Thickness
- Figure 2.4: Neuroanatomic differences between 22q-dup carriers, 22q-del carriers and controls: Cortical thickness and surface area.

Table 2.4: Surface Area: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors

Figure 2.5: Cortical Surface Area: Z-score Plots of Estimated Marginal Means and Standard Errors

Figure 2.6: Effect size maps for 22q-dup carriers vs. controls

- Table 2.5: Subcortical Volume: Adjusted Means, Standard Errors, and Estimated 22qdup N
- Figure 2.7: Subcortical Shape Differences
- Table 2.6: Full Dataset vs Unrelated 22q-dup patients: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors
- Table 2.7: Cortical Thickness with Additional Mean Thickness Covariate: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors
- Table 2.8: Surface Area with Additional Total Area Covariate: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors

Chapter 3

Table 3.1: Demographic information between groups at baseline

Table 3.2: Cognitive and behavioral trait descriptions

- Figure 3.1: Combined box- and scatterplots of average group scores for 15 traits relevant for intellectual ability, ASD, and SCZ, adjusted for sex and age
- Table 3.3: ANCOVA results including all 15 measures, covarying for age and sex
- Figure 3.2: Modeling subdomains of ASD traits reveals distinct profiles between 22q11.2 deletion and duplication carriers
- Figure 3.3: Regional cortical thickness (CT) of frontal, inferior parietal, and medial regions differentially explains processing speed depending on group

Supplementary Materials for Chapter 3

- Figure S3.1: Combined box- and scatterplots of average group scores for ASD subdomain scales
- Figure S3.2. Correlations of ASD-related traits and cognitive abilities between deletion and duplication carriers that survived FDR correction
- Table S3.1: Description of additional measures of social-emotional behavior and realworld functioning

Table S3.2: ANCOVA results for additional measures of social-emotional behavior and real-world functioning, covarying for age and sex Figure S3.3.: Z-scores and standard errors depicting effects of 22q11.2 CNVs across a wider neurocognitive profile with additional behavioral functioning measures, standardized to control mean and standard deviation Figure S3.4: Interaction between group and brain measure (regional cortical thickness/surface area) on processing speed (uncorrected *p*-values)

#### Chapter 4

#### Table 4.1: Participant Demographics

- Figure 4.1: Volcano plots of differential gene expression across the genome for each pairwise contrast
- Table 4.2: Significant differentially-expressed (DE) genes before and after cell type and medication adjustment
- Figure 4.2.: Module eigengene expression for the 6 modules (of 29 modules) that showed corrected group differences
- Figure 4.3: Cell type enrichment of the unadjusted module eigengenes that were significantly different between CNV groups
- Table 4.3: Group differences in cell-type proportion that has been medication-adjusted
- Figure 4.4: Blood cell type proportions across groups
- Table 4.4: Significant differentially-expressed genes after cell type and medication adjustment
- Figure 4.5: Expression of WDR1 and FNBP1 differs across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with and without ASD.

Supplementary Materials for Chapter 4

- Supplementary Figure 4.1: Dendrogram of eigenegene expression for 28 modules showing hierarchical clustering
- Supplementary Figure 4.2: Cell type enrichment of all unadjusted module eigengenes using LM22 reference data
- Supplementary Figure 4.3: Cell type enrichment of unadjusted module eigengenes using the alternate reference data
- Supplementary Table 4.1A: Number of subjects on each type of medication by batch
- Supplementary Table 4.1B: Number of subjects who are unmedicated, on a single type of medication, or on multiple types of medication

Supplementary Figure 4.4: Batch and cell type proportion confounds in samples

- Supplementary Figure 4.5: Medication usage shows modest effects on cell type proportion
- Supplementary Table 4.2: The effect of group status on the expression of each cell type and medication-adjusted module eigengene
- Supplementary Figure 4.6: Cell type proportions across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with and without ASD
- Supplementary Table 4.3: Effects of disease status on module eigengene expression
- Supplementary Figure 4.7: Cell-type proportion and medication-adjusted module eigengene expression across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with and without ASD
- Supplementary Figure 4.8: Cell type proportions across 22qDel carriers with and without psychosis
- Supplementary Figure 4.9: Cell-type proportion and medication-adjusted module eigengene expression across 22qDel carriers with and without psychosis
- Supplementary Table 4.4: Interaction effect of gene expression and group status on cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ
- Supplementary Table 4.5: Main effect of gene expression on group-residualized cortical thickness, full-scale IQ, or total surface area
- Supplementary Table 4.6: Interaction effect of module eigengene expression and CNV group on cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ
- Supplementary Table 4.7: Main effect of module eigengene expression on groupresidualized cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ
- Supplementary Table 4.8: Interaction effect of gene expression and group status on cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ
- Supplementary Table 4.9: Main effect of cell type proportion on group-residualized cortical thickness, total surface area and, Full Scale IQ

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to first offer my most sincere thanks to my primary chair and mentor, Carrie Bearden. Since I met her in 2015, she has been a consummate role model in work and in life. Her incisiveness, discipline, patience, openness, and passion have been a privilege to learn from. It should be no surprise that when I joined her at conferences, she was always so popular with her colleagues and frequently the last one to leave a conversation. Her energy for this work has been inspirational to witness and something I hope to embody throughout my career. Whether it be through proofreading my writing at all hours of the day or night, encouraging me to travel to meetings and share my work, or including me in various interactions with her colleagues so I could expand my own network, Carrie has truly supported my career trajectory. I would be extremely lucky if my career continues to be filled with mentors like her.

I would also like to thank the other committee members that have supported my graduate school journey over the last few years. Firstly, Armin has similarly been an outstanding role model for me since I met him at the NIH in 2013 as a post-baccalaureate research fellow. I knew from when I first interacted with him that he would be a wonderful person to have in my life. I published my first 1<sup>st</sup>-author paper with him and am still amazed at the level of patience and grace he showed to the very inexperienced but eager novice I was. From the start, he took me seriously and indulged me in drawn-out conversations about the brain that I had just begun wrapping my mind around. The fact that he saw me as someone who was capable and competent so early in my career gave me the confidence to continue on in academia and eventually apply to graduate programs. One of the aspects I'll grieve the most as I move on to join the life sciences consulting world is losing the opportunity to work directly with people like Carrie and Armin. However, I'm eternally thankful to have built my foundation under the guidance of advisors like them. I am certain that I'll take the same lessons and principles about integrity, commitment, and kindness no matter where my career progresses. I would also like to

xv

extend my gratitude toward the other committee members, Michael Gandal, Paul Thompson, and Catherine Sugar. Dr. Gandal's extensive expertise on functional genomics, Dr. Thompson's wealth of knowledge in imaging genetics, and Dr. Sugar's command of biostatistical methods have been crucial in guiding my doctoral work. They have all been consistently supportive and enthusiastic, which has facilitated a positive learning environment as I tackled new issues. I feel so fortunate to have been surrounded by a network of supporters who believed in me from the start.

Members of the Bearden lab have been integral in cultivating the supportive and open environment that allowed me to prosper the last several years. Leila Kushan-Wells opened her home to me during various lab gatherings, and it's been a joy to see her family grow as well. Jen Forsyth was yet another fantastic role model and friend who also opened her home to me for various birthday and holiday celebrations. I felt my time with Eva Mennigen and Gil Hoftman were cut too short but in the few years that we overlapped, but I have greatly appreciated their perspectives on medicine and its intersection with social justice. I'd also like to thank the rest of the Bearden Lab, including research assistants, undergraduate volunteers, and those from the Center for the Assessment and Prevention of Prodromal States (CAPPS) who have created a vibrant, reassuring, and exciting place to work. I am so privileged to have learned from all the brilliant and kind-hearted people of the Bearden Lab, past and present, who have made the best colleagues, mentors, and friends.

I would be remiss if I did not also mention the instrumental role that Jenny Lee, our program's Graduate Advisor, played in making my graduate school experience such a joy since I first interviewed at UCLA. Like a true "mama bear", she kept me on track, lent an ear and shoulder when I was feeling overwhelmed, and looked out for me when I didn't know I needed looking out. Not every program has someone who cares so genuinely and deeply about their students, but Jenny showed up in ways that felt beyond the call of duty. I'm so glad she was a part of my journey.

xvi

Of course, it all started with my parents. I am endlessly grateful to them for leaving everything they knew in Taiwan to start a better life for me and my brother in America. They told me since I was a young child that I can do whatever I want with the talents that I had, and I think this propelled me to always reach for the stars. I hope that I have done them proud and will continue to do so. Finally, I have to thank my fiancé, John, who really stepped up to the plate in supporting me in the rollercoaster ride that is graduate school, especially in the midst of a global pandemic. His unwavering love for and belief in me made every other aspect of my life that much easier. I feel so fortunate to have a partner who continues to encourage me, learn with me, and have fun with me when I need a break.

With regard to the work presented herein, I would like to acknowledge that Chapter 2 consists of a manuscript published in The Journal of Neuroscience in 2017 entitled, 'Mapping 22q11.2 Gene Dosage Effects on Brain Morphometry'. The work was co-authored by Christopher R.K. Ching, Ariana Vajdi, Dagiang Sun, Rachel K. Jonas, Maria Jalbrzikowski, Leila Kushan-Wells, Laura Pacheco Hansen, Emma Krikorian, Boris Gutman, Deepika Dokoru, Gerhard Helleman, Paul M. Thompson and Carrie E. Bearden, all of whom have consented to the inclusion of the work in this thesis. Chapter 3 includes a manuscript published in Biological Psychiatry in 2020 entitled, 'Reciprocal Copy Number Variations at 22q11.2 Produce Distinct and Convergent Neurobehavioral Impairments Relevant for Schizophrenia and Autism Spectrum Disorder'. The work could not have been possible without contributions from the coauthors: Leila Kushan-Wells, Gerhard Helleman, Laura Pacheco Hansen, Rachel K. Jonas, Maria Jalbrzikowski, Lyle Kingsbury, Armin Raznahan, and Carrie E. Bearden-whom all also consented to the inclusion of this work. Finally, Chapter 4 consists of a manuscript that will shortly be submitted to Brain, Behavior, and Immunity entitled, 'Transcriptomic profiling of whole blood in 22q11.2 reciprocal copy number variants reveals that cell proportion highly impacts gene expression'. The co-first authors, Jen Forsyth and Gil Hoftman, and co-last author to Carrie Bearden, Dan Nachun, made substantial contributions to the design, data processing,

xvii

analysis, and interpretations for this study. Other co-authors Leila Kushan-Wells, Maria Jalbrzikowski, and Giovanni Coppola also contributed to this study, and all authors consented to inclusion in this manuscript.

Finally, I would like to recognize the funding sources that made this work possible. This includes the Interdepartmental Neuroscience Program as well as Carrie Bearden's various grants (RO1 MH085953, U01MH101719, and a Simons Foundation SFARI Explorer Award). I was also bestowed several awards which supported a bulk of my work, including a National Research Service Award Predoctoral Fellowship, a Neurobehavioral Genetics Predoctoral Training Grant (5T32MH073526), and the UCLA Dissertation Year Fellowship. I would also like to thank the Society of Biological Psychiatry, Molecular Psychiatry Association, and UCLA's Brain Research Institute for granting me travel awards to learn from and promote my own work within the larger neuroscience community. It is not lost upon me that a majority of these sources comes from federal support. Along with my 2-year post-baccalaureate fellowship at the NIH, I have been consistently funded by the federal government over my entire career. I will take with me a sense of civic responsibility in the work that I have done and will continue to do, acknowledging the public support that I have been fortunate to receive along the way.

### VITA

#### EDUCATION

PhD Candidate in Neuroscience, University of California, Los Angeles	2015-present
BA in Neuroscience with Distinction, Colorado College, Colorado Springs, CO	2008–2012
AWARDS AND HONORS	
UCLA Dissertation Year Fellowship (\$20,000)	2021
Eva Kavan Prize for Excellence in Research on the Brain (\$500)	2020
National Research Service Award Predoctoral Fellowship (\$124,000)* *Grant proposal scored in the top 4th percentile	2019-present
Society of Biological Psychiatry Predoctoral Scholar Travel Award (\$2000)	2019
UCLA Doctoral Student Travel Grants for Conferences (\$1000)	2019
T32 Training Grant in Neurobehavioral Genetics (\$47,220)	2016-2018
Molecular Psychiatry Young Investigator Travel Award (\$1500)	2018
Society of Biological Psychiatry Top Poster Finalist	2016
RESEARCH EXPERIENCE	
Graduate Student	2015-current
Semel Institute, Department of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences, UCLA Principal Investigator: Carrie Bearden, Ph.D.	
Post-baccalaureate Intramural Research Fellow	2014-2015
National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, NIH	
Principal Investigator: Biyu He, Ph.D.	
Post-baccalaureate Intramural Research Fellow	2013-2014
National Institute of Mental Health, NIH	
Principal Investigator: Jay Giedd, M.D.	
SCIENTIFIC SERVICE	
Senior Graduate Career Consultant, UCLA	2019-present
Neuroimaging Affinity Group Co-Leader, UCLA	2017-2019

#### SELECTED PUBLICATIONS

Neuroscience Methods Course Co-instructor, UCLA

Lin, A., Forsyth, J., Hoftman, G....Nachun., D., & Bearden, C. E. (in preparation for *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*) Transcriptomic profiling of whole blood in 22q11.2 reciprocal copy number variants reveals that cell proportion highly impacts gene expression.

Lin, A.,...Kingsbury, L., Raznahan, A., & Bearden, C. E. (2020). Reciprocal copy number variations at 22q11. 2 produce distinct and convergent neurobehavioral impairments relevant for Schizophrenia and Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 88(3), 260-272.

2017

Lin, A.,..., Thompson, P., Bearden, C.E. (2017) Mapping 22q11. 2 Gene Dosage Effects on Brain Morphometry. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 3759-16.

Lin, A., Maniscalco, B., & He, B. J. (2016). Scale-free neural and physiological dynamics in naturalistic stimuli processing. *eNeuro*, 3(5), ENEURO-0191.

Lin, A.,...J., Giedd, J.,& Raznahan, A. (2015). Mapping the Stability of Human Brain Asymmetry across Five Sex- Chromosome Aneuploidies. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(1), 140-145.

#### SELECTED CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

Lin, A., Forsyth, J.K., Nachun, D., Sun, D., Kushan, L., Jalbrzikowski, M., Coppola, G., and Bearden, C.E. (2019) Characterizing Peripheral Blood Transcriptome Dysregulation Associated with Recurrent Copy Number Variations at the 22q11.2 Locus. UCLA Brain Research Institute 31st Annual Neuroscience Poster Session, Grand Ballroom Ackerman Union, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA.

Lin, A., Forsyth, J.K., Nachun, D., Sun, D., Kushan, L., Jalbrzikowski, M., Coppola, G., and Bearden, C.E. (2019) Characterizing peripheral blood transcriptome dysregulation associated with recurrent copy number variations at the 22q11.2 locus. 26th World Congress of Psychiatric Genetics. Anaheim, CA.

Lin, A., Forsyth, J.K., Nachun, D., Sun, D., Kushan, L., Jalbrzikowski, M., Coppola, G., and Bearden, C.E. (2019) Characterizing the dysregulation of peripheral blood gene expression associated with a 22q11.2 deletion or duplication compared to healthy individuals. 2019 Annual Society of Biological Psychiatry Meeting. Chicago, IL.

Lin, A.,\* Forsyth\*, J., Mennigen\*, E., Sun, D., Vajdi, A., Kushan-Wells, L., 22q11.2 ENIGMA Consortium, Bearden, C.E. (2019) Multi-modal integration of transcriptomic and sMRI in a common neurogenetic developmental disorder. Organization of Human Brain Mapping Annual Conference. Rome, Italy. \*co-first authors

Lin, A., Vajdi A., Kushan-Wells, L., Pacheco-Hansen, L., Jonas R.K., Jalbrzikowski, M., Bearden, C.E. (2018). An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2 copy number variations (CNVs). Molecular Psychiatry Meeting, Kauai, Hawaii.

Lin, A., Forsyth J., Vajdi A., Jonas R.K., Jalbrzikowski, M., Kushan-Wells, L., Pacheco-Hansen, L., Coppola, G., Dokoru, D. Helleman, G. Bearden, C.E. (2017). Bridging the gap between genes, brain, and behavior using multi-modal phenotyping data from 22q11.2 copy number variants. Molecular Psychiatry Meeting, San Francisco, Ca.

Lin, A. Ching, C., Vajdi, A., Sun, D., Jonas, RK., Jalbrzikowski, M., Kushan-Wells, L., Pacheco-Hansen, L., Kriokorian, E., Gutman, B., Dokoru, D., Helleman, G., Thompson, P., Bearden, C.E. (2017). Parsing Intermediate Brain-Behavior Phenotypes in a Genomic Hotspot for Schizophrenia and Autism. Biological Psychiatry Meeting, San Diego, Ca.

Lin, A. Ching, C., Vajdi, A., Sun, D., Jonas, RK., Jalbrzikowski, M., Kushan-Wells, L., Pacheco-Hansen, L., Kriokorian, E., Gutman, B., Dokoru, D., Helleman, G., Thompson, P., Bearden, C.E. (2017). Elucidating genetic underpinnings of brain development using copy number variation at the 22q11.2 locus. Organization of Human Brain Mapping Meeting, Vancouver, Canada.

Lin, A., Sun, F.,...,Bearden, C.E. (2016). 22q11.2 Gene Dosage Effects on Cortical Thickness and Surface Area. Society of Biological Psychiatry 2016 Annual Meeting, Atlanta, Georgia.

## CHAPTER ONE

An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2 copy number variations

# 1.1: The challenge of understanding the etiology of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders

Developmental neuropsychiatric disorders remain among the most intractable areas of medicine, the study of which has produced frustratingly little progress compared to other noncentral nervous system diseases (Kapur et al., 2012; Papassotiropoulos & de Quervain, 2015). One paramount impediment is their incredible genetic and phenotypic complexity (Gelernter, 2015; Lee et al., 2021; Sullivan et al., 2012). Not only are these disorders highly polygenic, but there is also substantial overlap in genetic contribution between disorders (Gandal et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2019; Wendt et al., 2020). Current approaches in psychiatric nosology are subjective, without biologically-based laboratory assays that help determine diagnoses (Hyman, 2007; Kapur et al., 2012). Symptomatology can vary greatly between individuals with the same diagnosis when underlying pathogenesis is unknown. All of these factors have created barriers in uncovering the basic biology of these disorders and, in turn, has hindered the development of effective, mechanistically-informed treatments. However, major gains in understanding are starting to be made, aided by insights yielded from the study of highly-penetrant, diseaseassociated rare genetic mutations such as genomic copy number variants (CNVs) (Girirajan et al., 2011; McCarroll & Altshuler, 2007; Wain et al., 2009). This 'genetics-first' approach has shown great potential in mitigating some of these biological complexities to elucidating disease etiology and pathophysiology.

#### 1.2: How disease-associated CNVs can mitigate biological complexities

CNVs are one type of rare, genetic mutation in which DNA segments of at least 50 base pairs are lost or gained, creating varying dosages of genetic material (Feuk et al., 2006; Lupski & Stankiewicz, 2005). One mechanism by which these structural mutations may arise is via nonallelic homologous recombination (NAHR), mediated by low copy repeats (LCRs). LCRs act as substrates for nonallelic pairing of paralogous sequences and crossover, leading to

chromosomal rearrangements that can have deleterious effects (Carvalho & Lupski, 2016; Liu et al., 2011). CNVs have emerged as important risk factors for multiple neuropsychiatric disorders and offer a unique opportunity for elucidating underlying pathophysiology. As compared to common variants identified by genome-wide association studies (GWAS), which tend to have quite small effects on disease risk, CNVs are highly penetrant for developmental neuropsychiatric disorders (Sanders et al., 2019). Evidence that CNVs tend to confer larger effect sizes for functional impairment compared to common variants also make CNVs more biologically tractable for identifying biological pathways relevant to neuropsychiatric phenotypes (Kirov et al., 2014; Malhotra & Sebat, 2012; Moreno-De-Luca et al., 2013). More specifically, reciprocal CNVs at the same genetic locus enable a quasi-experimental, 'reverse-genetics' approach to revealing how gene dosage impacts downstream phenotypes (Hiroi et al., 2013). Human studies are typically restricted to genetic association frameworks, as gene dosage cannot be experimentally manipulated in human participants as it can be for animal or in vitro experiments. However, human genetic variations in the form of reciprocal deletions and duplications provide a naturally occurring alternative. In addition, as opposed to relying on behaviorally-defined animal models of neurodevelopmental disease, CNVs enable translational studies because the same genetic mutations can be modeled in lower-order systems (Dolmetsch & Geschwind, 2011; Khan et al., 2020; Meechan et al., 2015). Lastly, CNVs can be identified very early in development, even in utero, thus presenting opportunities for early identification of CNV carriers and the possibility of prospective studies where disease trajectories can be tracked (Bouwkamp et al., 2017). This allows investigators to monitor disease progression before overt onset of illness so that intermediate stages of disease development can be better discerned.

#### 1.3: 22q11.2 CNVs as a compelling model

22q11.2 CNVs provide an ideal model to study the connection between genetic perturbation and downstream effects on various neurodevelopmental phenotypes. The locus is dense with highly conserved, brain-expressed, protein-coding genes, a number of which are crucial for brain and cognitive development (Guna et al., 2015; N. Hiroi et al., 2013). Some of these genes are implicated in cortical development, early neuronal migration, dopaminergic neurotransmission, mitochondrial function, myelination, and microRNA processing (Forsyth et al., 2020; Jonas et al., 2014; McDonald-McGinn et al., 2015). Murine models of 22q11.2 CNVs also provide a valuable means to experimentally test and validate novel hypotheses based on human studies (Boku et al., 2018; Drew et al., 2011; Forsingdal et al., 2019; Hiroi & Yamauchi, 2019; Karayiorgou et al., 2010; Saito et al., 2020). The phenotypes are fairly well-characterized and tend to recapitulate deficits in human 22q11.2 CNV carriers, including social and cognitive impairments, synaptic defects, and cortical circuit dysfunction (Donegan et al., 2020; Fenelon et al., 2013; Meechan et al., 2015; Mukai et al., 2015; Sigurdsson et al., 2010).

It is no surprise then that the clinical profiles of 22q11.2 CNV carriers predict major functional consequences of these genetic perturbations with regard to the development of neuropsychiatric disorders. In fact, 22q11.2 CNVs confer some of the greatest known genetic risk for developmental neuropsychiatric disorders (Drew et al., 2011; Wenger et al., 2016). In particular, the deletion is well known for its high rate of schizophrenia (SCZ), with up to 25-30fold increased risk compared to population base rates (Chow et al., 2006; Green et al., 2009; Malhotra & Sebat, 2012; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees et al., 2016). 22q11.2 deletions are found in approximately 0.3% of SCZ cases in the general population (Kirov et al., 2014; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees et al., 2014). Interestingly, evidence from large-scale studies suggest that 22q11.2 duplications have diminished occurrence in SCZ cases compared to the general population, suggesting that 22q11.2 duplications are the first putative protective mutation for SCZ (Li et al., 2016; Rees et al., 2014, 2016). Although statistical significance varies depending on sample

size (Marshall et al., 2017), the overall pattern offers consistent evidence that SCZ risk is genedosage specific with respect to the 22q11.2 locus. Recent studies also suggest that both 22q11.2 deletion and duplication carriers have elevated risk for other developmental disorders such as Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), and intellectual disability (Olsen et al., 2018; Schneider et al., 2014). This intriguing gene-dosage distinction suggests that there are both shared and unique effects of 22q11.2 genes on disease etiology. Altogether, 22q11.2 CNVs provide a promising avenue for teasing out relevant biological mechanisms of complex, highly polygenic disorders.



1.4: Mapping the functional consequences of 22q11.2 CNVs across modalities



Figure 1.1: An integrative approach to linking genes, brain, and behavior in 22q11.2 copy number variants (CNVs). A "bottom-up" approach starting with the identification of genetically-defined individuals allows for the progression of genetic perturbation to macroscopic brain and behavioral alterations that lead to psychiatric diagnoses.

The work described herein explores how an integrative, multimodal model can bridge the gap between genes, brain, and behavior within this rare disease framework. While the 22q11.2 deletion has been investigated to some extent across these intermediate phenotypes, this work represents the first direct comparison of 22q11.2 reciprocal deletion and duplication carriers across these domains. A systematic characterization of molecular, cortical, and clinical phenotypes between reciprocal 22q11.2 CNVs is necessary to establish clinical context and functional relevance for how gene dosage contributes to brain dysfunction and downstream clinical effects. Insights generated from this framework have the potential to improve patient care and inform targeted, effective therapeutics by clarifying specific risks, improving early detection, and elucidating pathophysiology.

#### 1.5: References

- Boku, S., Izumi, T., Abe, S., Takahashi, T., Nishi, A., Nomaru, H., Naka, Y., Kang, G.,
  Nagashima, M., & Hishimoto, A. (2018). Copy number elevation of 22q11. 2 genes arrests the developmental maturation of working memory capacity and adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(4), 985.
- Bouwkamp, C. G., Kievit, A. J. A., Markx, S., Friedman, J. I., van Zutven, L., van Minkelen, R.,
  Vrijenhoek, T., Xu, B., Sterrenburg-van de Nieuwegiessen, I., Veltman, J. A., Bonifati, V.,
  & Kushner, S. A. (2017). Copy Number Variation in Syndromic Forms of Psychiatric
  Illness: The Emerging Value of Clinical Genetic Testing in Psychiatry. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *174*(11), 1036–1050.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.16080946

- Carvalho, C. M. B., & Lupski, J. R. (2016). Mechanisms underlying structural variant formation in genomic disorders. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 17(4), 224–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2015.25
- Chow, E. W., Watson, M., Young, D. A., & Bassett, A. S. (2006). Neurocognitive profile in 22q11 deletion syndrome and schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 87(1-3), 270–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2006.04.007
- Dolmetsch, R., & Geschwind, D. H. (2011). The human brain in a dish: the promise of iPSCderived neurons. *Cell*, *145*(6), 831–834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.05.034
- Donegan, M. L., Stefanini, F., Meira, T., Gordon, J. A., Fusi, S., & Siegelbaum, S. A. (2020).
  Coding of social novelty in the hippocampal CA2 region and its disruption and rescue in a 22q11.2 microdeletion mouse model. *Nature Neuroscience*, 23(11), 1365–1375.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00720-5
- Drew, L. J., Crabtree, G. W., Markx, S., Stark, K. L., Chaverneff, F., Xu, B., Mukai, J., Fenelon, K., Hsu, P., Gogos, J. A., & Karayiorgou, M. (2011). The 22q11.2 microdeletion: Fifteen

years of insights into the genetic and neural complexity of psychiatric disorders. In *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience* (Vol. 29, Issue 3, pp. 259–281). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2010.09.007

Fenelon, K., Xu, B., Lai, C. S., Mukai, J., Markx, S., Stark, K. L., Hsu, P. K., Gan, W. B., Fischbach, G. D., MacDermott, A. B., Karayiorgou, M., & Gogos, J. A. (2013). The pattern of cortical dysfunction in a mouse model of a schizophrenia-related microdeletion. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(37), 14825–14839. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1611-13.2013

Feuk, L., Carson, A. R., & Scherer, S. W. (2006). Structural variation in the human genome. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 7(2), 85–97. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1767

Forsingdal, A., Jørgensen, T. N., Olsen, L., Werge, T., Didriksen, M., & Nielsen, J. (2019). Can Animal Models of Copy Number Variants That Predispose to Schizophrenia Elucidate Underlying Biology? *Biological Psychiatry*, 85(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.07.004

Forsyth, J. K., Nachun, D., Gandal, M. J., Geschwind, D. H., Anderson, A. E., Coppola, G., & Bearden, C. E. (2020). Synaptic and Gene Regulatory Mechanisms in Schizophrenia, Autism, and 22q11.2 Copy Number Variant-Mediated Risk for Neuropsychiatric Disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, *87*(2), 150–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.06.029

Gandal, M. J., Haney, J. R., Parikshak, N. N., Leppa, V., Ramaswami, G., Hartl, C., Schork, A. J., Appadurai, V., Buil, A., Werge, T. M., Liu, C., White, K. P., CommonMind Consortium, PsychENCODE Consortium, iPSYCH-BROAD Working Group, Steve Horvath, & Geschwind, D. H. (2019). Shared Molecular Neuropathology Across Major Psychiatric Disorders Parallels Polygenic Overlap. *Focus*, *17*(1), 66–72. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.17103

- Gelernter, J. (2015). Genetics of complex traits in psychiatry. *Biological Psychiatry*, 77(1), 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.08.005
- Girirajan, S., Campbell, C. D., & Eichler, E. E. (2011). Human copy number variation and complex genetic disease. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 45, 203–226. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-102209-163544
- Green, T., Gothelf, D., Glaser, B., Debbane, M., Frisch, A., Kotler, M., Weizman, A., & Eliez, S. (2009). Psychiatric disorders and intellectual functioning throughout development in velocardiofacial (22q11.2 deletion) syndrome. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(11), 1060–1068. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181b76683
- Hiroi, N., Takahashi, T., Hishimoto, A., Izumi, T., Boku, S., & Hiramoto, T. (2013). Copy number variation at 22q11.2: from rare variants to common mechanisms of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *18*(11), 1153–1165. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.92
- Hiroi, N., & Yamauchi, T. (2019). Modeling and Predicting Developmental Trajectories of Neuropsychiatric Dimensions Associated With Copy Number Variations. *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology / Official Scientific Journal of the Collegium Internationale Neuropsychopharmacologicum*, 22(8), 488–500. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyz026
- Hyman, S. E. (2007). Can neuroscience be integrated into the DSM-V? *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *8*(9), 725–732. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2218
- Jonas, R. K., Montojo, C. A., & Bearden, C. E. (2014). The 22q11.2 deletion syndrome as a window into complex neuropsychiatric disorders over the lifespan. *Biological Psychiatry*, 75(5), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.019

- Kapur, S., Phillips, A. G., & Insel, T. R. (2012). Why has it taken so long for biological psychiatry to develop clinical tests and what to do about it? *Molecular Psychiatry*, *17*(12), 1174–1179. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.105
- Karayiorgou, M., Simon, T. J., & Gogos, J. A. (2010). 22q11.2 microdeletions: linking DNA structural variation to brain dysfunction and schizophrenia. In *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (Vol. 11, Issue 6, pp. 402–416). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2841
- Khan, T. A., Revah, O., Gordon, A., Yoon, S.-J., Krawisz, A. K., Goold, C., Sun, Y., Kim, C. H., Tian, Y., Li, M.-Y., Schaepe, J. M., Ikeda, K., Amin, N. D., Sakai, N., Yazawa, M., Kushan, L., Nishino, S., Porteus, M. H., Rapoport, J. L., ... Paşca, S. P. (2020).
  Neuronal defects in a human cellular model of 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Nature Medicine*, *26*(12), 1888–1898. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1043-9
- Kirov, G., Rees, E., Walters, J. T., Escott-Price, V., Georgieva, L., Richards, A. L., Chambert, K. D., Davies, G., Legge, S. E., Moran, J. L., McCarroll, S. A., O'Donovan, M. C., & Owen, M. J. (2014). The penetrance of copy number variations for schizophrenia and developmental delay. *Biological Psychiatry*, *75*(5), 378–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.022
- Lee, P. H., Feng, Y.-C. A., & Smoller, J. W. (2021). Pleiotropy and Cross-Disorder Genetics Among Psychiatric Disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 89(1), 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2020.09.026
- Liu, P., Lacaria, M., Zhang, F., Withers, M., Hastings, P. J., & Lupski, J. R. (2011). Frequency of nonallelic homologous recombination is correlated with length of homology: evidence that ectopic synapsis precedes ectopic crossing-over. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 89(4), 580–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.09.009
- Li, Z., Chen, J., Xu, Y., Yi, Q., Ji, W., Wang, P., Shen, J., Song, Z., Wang, M., Yang, P., Wang, Q., Feng, G., Liu, B., Sun, W., Xu, Q., Li, B., He, L., He, G., Li, W., ... Shi, Y. (2016). Genome-wide Analysis of the Role of Copy Number Variation in Schizophrenia Risk in

Chinese. *Biological Psychiatry*, *80*(4), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.012

- Lupski, J. R., & Stankiewicz, P. (2005). Genomic disorders: molecular mechanisms for rearrangements and conveyed phenotypes. *PLoS Genetics*, *1*(6), e49. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0010049
- Malhotra, D., & Sebat, J. (2012). CNVs: harbingers of a rare variant revolution in psychiatric genetics. *Cell*, *148*(6), 1223–1241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.039
- Marshall, C. R., Howrigan, D. P., Merico, D., Thiruvahindrapuram, B., Wu, W., Greer, D. S.,
  Antaki, D., Shetty, A., Holmans, P. A., Pinto, D., Gujral, M., Brandler, W. M., Malhotra,
  D., Wang, Z., Fajarado, K. V. F., Maile, M. S., Ripke, S., Agartz, I., Albus, M., ...
  Schizophrenia Working Groups of the Psychiatric Genomics, Consortium. (2017).
  Contribution of copy number variants to schizophrenia from a genome-wide study of
  41,321 subjects. *Nature Genetics*, 49(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3725
- Martin, A. R., Daly, M. J., Robinson, E. B., Hyman, S. E., & Neale, B. M. (2019). Predicting Polygenic Risk of Psychiatric Disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 86(2), 97–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.12.015
- McCarroll, S. A., & Altshuler, D. M. (2007). Copy-number variation and association studies of human disease. *Nature Genetics*, 39(7 Suppl), S37–S42. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng2080
- McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Sullivan, K. E., Marino, B., Philip, N., Swillen, A., Vorstman, J. A. S.,
  Zackai, E. H., Emanuel, B. S., Vermeesch, J. R., Morrow, B. E., Scambler, P. J., &
  Bassett, A. S. (2015). 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 1.
- Meechan, D. W., Maynard, T. M., Tucker, E. S., Fernandez, A., Karpinski, B. A., Rothblat, L. A., & LaMantia, A. S. (2015). Modeling a model: Mouse genetics, 22q11.2 Deletion
  Syndrome, and disorders of cortical circuit development. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *130*, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.03.004

- Moreno-De-Luca, D., Sanders, S. J., Willsey, A. J., Mulle, J. G., Lowe, J. K., Geschwind, D. H., State, M. W., Martin, C. L., & Ledbetter, D. H. (2013). Using large clinical data sets to infer pathogenicity for rare copy number variants in autism cohorts. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(10), 1090–1095. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.138
- Mukai, J., Tamura, M., Fenelon, K., Rosen, A. M., Spellman, T. J., Kang, R., MacDermott, A. B., Karayiorgou, M., Gordon, J. A., & Gogos, J. A. (2015). Molecular substrates of altered axonal growth and brain connectivity in a mouse model of schizophrenia. *Neuron*, *86*(3), 680–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.04.003
- Olsen, L., Sparso, T., Weinsheimer, S. M., Dos Santos, M. B. Q., Mazin, W., Rosengren, A., Sanchez, X. C., Hoeffding, L. K., Schmock, H., Baekvad-Hansen, M., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Daly, M. J., Neale, B. M., Pedersen, M. G., Agerbo, E., Mors, O., Borglum, A., Nordentoft, M., Hougaard, D. M., ... Werge, T. (2018). Prevalence of rearrangements in the 22q11.2 region and population-based risk of neuropsychiatric and developmental disorders in a Danish population: a case-cohort study. *Lancet Psychiatry*, *5*(7), 573–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30168-8
- Papassotiropoulos, A., & de Quervain, D. J. F. (2015). Failed drug discovery in psychiatry: time for human genome-guided solutions. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 19(4), 183–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.02.002
- Rees, E., Kendall, K., Pardinas, A. F., Legge, S. E., Pocklington, A., Escott-Price, V., MacCabe, J. H., Collier, D. A., Holmans, P., O'Donovan, M. C., Owen, M. J., Walters, J. T. R., & Kirov, G. (2016). Analysis of Intellectual Disability Copy Number Variants for Association With Schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 73(9), 963–969. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.1831
- Rees, E., Walters, J. T., Georgieva, L., Isles, A. R., Chambert, K. D., Richards, A. L., Mahoney-Davies, G., Legge, S. E., Moran, J. L., McCarroll, S. A., O'Donovan, M. C., Owen, M. J., & Kirov, G. (2014). Analysis of copy number variations at 15 schizophrenia-associated

loci. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, *204*(2), 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.131052

- Saito, R., Koebis, M., Nagai, T., Shimizu, K., Liao, J., Wulaer, B., Sugaya, Y., Nagahama, K., Uesaka, N., Kushima, I., Mori, D., Maruyama, K., Nakao, K., Kurihara, H., Yamada, K., Kano, M., Fukada, Y., Ozaki, N., & Aiba, A. (2020). Comprehensive analysis of a novel mouse model of the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a model with the most common 3.0-Mb deletion at the human 22q11.2 locus. *Translational Psychiatry*, *10*(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0723-z
- Sanders, S. J., Sahin, M., Hostyk, J., Thurm, A., Jacquemont, S., Avillach, P., Douard, E.,
  Martin, C. L., Modi, M. E., Moreno-De-Luca, A., Raznahan, A., Anticevic, A., Dolmetsch,
  R., Feng, G., Geschwind, D. H., Glahn, D. C., Goldstein, D. B., Ledbetter, D. H., Mulle,
  J. G., ... Bearden, C. E. (2019). A framework for the investigation of rare genetic
  disorders in neuropsychiatry. *Nature Medicine*, *25*(10), 1477–1487.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0581-5
- Schneider, M., Debbané, M., Bassett, A. S., Chow, E. W. C., Fung, W. L. A., van den Bree, M., Owen, M., Murphy, K. C., Niarchou, M., Kates, W. R., Antshel, K. M., Fremont, W., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Gur, R. E., Zackai, E. H., Vorstman, J., Duijff, S. N., Klaassen, P. W. J., Swillen, A., ... International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. (2014). Psychiatric disorders from childhood to adulthood in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: results from the International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*(6), 627–639. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13070864
- Sigurdsson, T., Stark, K. L., Karayiorgou, M., Gogos, J. A., & Gordon, J. A. (2010). Impaired hippocampal-prefrontal synchrony in a genetic mouse model of schizophrenia. *Nature*, *464*(7289), 763–767. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08855

- Sullivan, P. F., Daly, M. J., & O'Donovan, M. (2012). Genetic architectures of psychiatric disorders: the emerging picture and its implications. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, *13*(8), 537–551. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3240
- Wain, L. V., Armour, J. A. L., & Tobin, M. D. (2009). Genomic copy number variation, human health, and disease. *The Lancet*, 374(9686), 340–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60249-X
- Wendt, F. R., Pathak, G. A., Tylee, D. S., Goswami, A., & Polimanti, R. (2020). Heterogeneity and Polygenicity in Psychiatric Disorders: A Genome-Wide Perspective. *Chronic Stress* (*Thousand Oaks, Calif.*), *4*, 2470547020924844.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2470547020924844

Wenger, T. L., Miller, J. S., DePolo, L. M., de Marchena, A. B., Clements, C. C., Emanuel, B. S., Zackai, E. H., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., & Schultz, R. T. (2016). 22q11.2 duplication syndrome: elevated rate of autism spectrum disorder and need for medical screening. *Molecular Autism*, 7, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-016-0090-z
# CHAPTER TWO

Mapping 22q11.2 Gene Dosage Effects on Brain Morphometry

# 2.1: Abstract

Reciprocal chromosomal rearrangements at the 22q11.2 locus are associated with elevated risk of neurodevelopmental disorders. The 22g11.2 deletion confers the highest known genetic risk for schizophrenia, but a duplication in the same region is strongly associated with autism and is less common in schizophrenia cases than in the general population. Here we conducted the first study of 22q11.2 gene dosage effects on brain structure in a sample of 143 human subjects: 66 with 22q11.2 deletions (22q-del; 32 males), 21 with 22q11.2 duplications (22q-dup; 14 males), and 56 age- and sex-matched controls (31 males). 22q11.2 gene dosage varied positively with intracranial volume, gray and white matter volume, and cortical surface area (deletion < control< duplication). In contrast, gene dosage varied negatively with mean cortical thickness (deletion > control > duplication). Widespread differences were observed for cortical surface area with more localized effects on cortical thickness. These diametric patterns extended into subcortical regions: 22g-dup carriers had a significantly larger right hippocampus. on average, but lower right caudate and corpus callosum volume, relative to 22q-del carriers. Novel subcortical shape analysis revealed greater radial distance (thickness) of the right amygdala and left thalamus, and localized increases and decreases in sub-regions of the caudate, putamen, and hippocampus in 22q-dup relative to 22q-del carriers. This study provides the first evidence that 22g11.2 is a genomic region associated with gene-dose-dependent brain phenotypes. Pervasive effects on cortical surface area imply that this copy number variant affects brain structure early in the course of development.

# 2.2: Introduction

Reciprocal chromosomal rearrangements represent powerful models to assess effects of copy number variation (CNVs) on brain morphology and associated neuropsychiatric outcomes. Gene dosage cannot be experimentally manipulated in humans as it can in animal or in vitro models, but a similar framework emerges via naturally-occurring genetic variation. Such

genomic imbalances confer some of the highest genetic risk factors for prevalent developmental neuropsychiatric disorders (Malhotra & Sebat, 2012, Hoeffding et al., 2017), and offer a quasi-experimental "reverse genetics" approach to elucidate how genes may impact neurodevelopmental phenotypes (Hiroi et al., 2013).

The 22q11.2 locus is a valuable region to investigate gene dosage effects on brain development, as it is particularly susceptible to chromosomal rearrangements due to non-allelic homologous recombination (Stankiewicz and Lupski, 2002). Occurring at nearly 1 in 2,000 live births (Grati et al., 2015), the 22q11.2 deletion (22q-del), also known as DiGeorge or Velocardiofacial syndrome (OMIM #188400, #192430), results from a 1.5-3 Mb hemizygous deletion on the long arm of chromosome 22 (Shaikh et al., 2007). 22q-del is the largest known genetic risk factor for psychotic illness, associated with a ~30-fold increase in risk relative to population base rates (Bassett & Chow, 2008; Green et al., 2009; Schneider et al., 2014). It is also associated with heightened risk for other developmental neuropsychiatric disorders: attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), anxiety disorder, and autism spectrum disorders (ASD; Girirajan et al., 2011; Niklasson et al., 2001, 2009; Vorstman et al., 2006).

Duplications at the same locus (22q-dup) were first reported clinically in 2003 (Ensenauer et al., 2003). Unlike 22q-del, which tends to occur de novo, the duplication is frequently inherited (Ou et al., 2008). Less is known about the 22q-dup phenotype, which is highly variable (Wentzel et al., 2008), but appears to be associated with elevated rates of ASD and delays in language and psychomotor development (Wenger et al., 2016). In an analysis of over 47,000 individuals, the 22q-dup was significantly less common in schizophrenia cases than in the general population (0.014% compared to 0.085%, OR=0.17), suggesting the first putative protective mutation for schizophrenia (Rees et al., 2014). This finding of lower schizophrenia incidence in 22q-dup carriers compared to non-carriers has now been replicated in independent studies (Li et al., 2016; CNV and PGC, 2016; Rees et al., 2016).

Genes within the 22q11.2 locus are essential for cortical circuit formation (Meechan et al., 2015a), so it is not surprising that 22q-del carriers show aberrations in cortical anatomy. These abnormalities include widespread reductions in cortical volume, particularly in midline regions, relative to typically developing controls (Bearden et al., 2007; Jalbrzikowski et al., 2013; Schmitt et al., 2015). Mouse models of 22q-del show diminished frequency of projection neurons in layers II/III of the medial prefrontal cortex, which was in turn associated with the severity of executive function deficits (Meechan et al., 2015b).

While no study has yet characterized how a 22q11.2 duplication affects brain morphometry, dose-dependent effects on human brain structure have recently been discovered for other reciprocal CNVs associated with neuropsychiatric phenotypes. Stefansson and colleagues (2014) first demonstrated dose-dependent effects of genes within the 15q11.2 locus for measures of regional brain volume that overlap with regions affected in idiopathic psychosis. Similarly, reciprocal 16p11.2 deletions and duplications were found to have global, 'mirror image' effects on brain structure, in which cortical surface area was differentially affected (Qureshi et al, 2014; Maillard et al., 2015).

We investigated cortical and subcortical anatomic variation at the 22q11.2 locus to investigate the hypothesis that reciprocal 22q11.2 deletions and duplications confer opposing effects on brain structure. We decomposed cortical volume into its constituent parts, cortical thickness (CT) and surface area (SA), which are believed to have distinct neurodevelopmental origins (Panizzon et al., 2009; Rakic, 1988; Winkler et al., 2010). Any differential effect of 22q11.2 variants on these measures may point to developmental processes that are disrupted during corticogenesis in distinct brain regions as a result of 22q11.2 gene dosage.

# 2.3: Materials and Methods

#### 2.3.1: Participants

The sample consisted of 143 individuals: 66 with molecularly confirmed 22q11.2 deletions (32 males; 34 females), 21 with confirmed 22q11.2 duplications (14 males; 7 females), and 56 demographically-matched, unrelated controls (31 males; 25 females; see Table 2.1 for demographics). Approximately 25% of the deletion carriers and controls were included in a prior publication (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2013). As such, the current study includes a substantially larger sample of 22q11.2 deletion carriers and controls, as well as a novel cohort of 22q11.2 duplication carriers. Patients were ascertained from either (1) the UCLA or Children's Hospital, Los Angeles (CHLA) Pediatric Genetics, Allergy/Immunology and/or Craniofacial Clinics, or (2) local support groups and websites. Demographically comparable typically developing comparison subjects were recruited from the same communities as patients via web-based advertisements and by posting flyers and brochures at local schools, pediatric clinics, and other community sites.

	22q11.2 deletion participants ( $N = 66$ )	Healthy control participants ( $N = 56$ )	22q11.2 duplication participants ( $N = 21$ )
Scanner	34 BMC, 32 CCN	27 BMC, 29 CCN	21 CCN
Age (SD)	15.7 (7.55)	14.6 (6.93)	16.8 (12.00)
Males (% male)	32 (48.5%)	31 (55.4%)	14 (66.7%)
Race*,† (%)	59 white (89.4%), 1 black (1.5%),	33 white (58.9%), 7 black (12.5%), 5 Asian (8.9%),	21 white (100%)
	6 multirace (9.1%)	11 multirace (19.6%)	
Full-Scale IQ*,**,† (SD)	78.68 (12.53)	111.5 (18.98)	96.15 (20.42)
Verbal IQ*,**,† (SD)	76.2 (8.99)	113.3 (13.15)	93.3 (13.96)
Nonverbal IQ**,† (SD)	80.6 (10.91)	105 (10.11)	98.7 (14.41)
Highest parental education, years** (SD)	16.26 (2.52)	15.7 (3.18)	15.0 (2.25)
ASD (%)*,†	29 (43.9%)	0	13 (61.9%)
Psychotic disorder (%)**,†	4 (6.1%)	0	0
ADHD (%)*,†	27 (40.9%)	2 (3.6%)	6 (28.6%)
Social Responsiveness Scale*,† (SD)	70.07 (14.84)	49.29 (13.58)	72.31 (16.89)
Repetitive Behavioral Scale*,† (SD)	16.84 (22.77)	2.88 (7.16)	16.11 (19.44)
Current medication			
Psychostimulant*,** (%)	6 (9.1%)	1 (1.8%)	6 (28.6%)
Antipsychotic† (%)	7 (10.6%)	0	1 (4.8%)
Antidepressant (SSRI)**,† (%)	11 (16.7%)	0	1 (4.8%)
Other (%)	4 (6.1%)	1 (1.8%)	2 (9.52%)
None*,† (%)	38 (57.6%)	52 (92.9%)	12 (57.1%)
CNV breakpoints			
A-B (%)	5 (7.6%)	_	5 (23.8%)
A-C (%)	1 (1.5%)	—	_
A-D (%)	56 (84.8%)	_	10 (47.6%)
B-D (%)	_	_	3 (14.3%)
C-E (%)	1 (1.5%)	_	1 (4.8%)
Other (%)	3 (4.5%)	—	2 (9.5%)

"BMC, Brain Mapping Center; CCN, Center for Cognitive Neuroscience. One 22q-dup carrier was taking both an antipsychotic and psychostimulant. Family relatedness of the 22q-dup cohort: 4 singletons, 5 families with 2 members (3 parent-child pairs, 2 sibling pairs), 1 family with 3 members (siblings), 1 family with 4 members (1 parent, 3 children). CNV breakpoints: A-C deletion has additional C-D duplication, 3 Other deletions include D-F, D-G, and PRODH/DGCR8, 2 Other duplications include F-H and TOP3B. Data not available for the following: Full-Scale IQ/Verbal IQ: 12 2q-del, 2 controls, and 1 22q-dup; Nonverbal IQ: 2 controls and 1 22q-dup; Parental Education: 5 22q-del; Social Responsiveness Scale: 5 22q-dup, 6 22q-del, and 18 controls; Repetitive Behavioral Scale: 3 22q-dup; A controls, and 2 22q-dup; Medication information for 2 controls.

\*22q-dup/control difference (pairwise significance at uncorrected p < 0.05).

\*\*22q-dup/22q-del difference (pairwise significance at uncorrected p < 0.05).

†22q-del/control difference (pairwise significance at uncorrected p < 0.05).

#### **Table 2.1: Participant Demographics**

Exclusion criteria for all study participants included significant neurological or medical conditions (unrelated to 22q11.2 mutation) that might affect brain structure, history of head injury with loss of consciousness, insufficient fluency in English, and/or substance or alcohol abuse or dependence within the past six months. Healthy controls additionally could not have significant intellectual disability or meet criteria for any major mental disorder with the exception of attention deficit–hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or a past episode of depression, based on information gathered during the Structured Clinical Interview for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV) (SCID; First & Gibbon, 2004) and/or Computerized Diagnostic Interview for Children (C-DISC; Shaffer et al., 2000). All participants underwent a verbal and written informed consent process. Participants under the age of 18

years provided written assent, while their parent or guardian completed written consent. The UCLA Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved all study procedures and informed consent documents.

# 2.3.2: Psychiatric and cognitive assessment

Supervised clinical psychology doctoral students administered neurocognitive and psychodiagnostic evaluations (SCID/C-DISC, as described above) to study participants. Estimates of general intellectual functioning were obtained for all participants using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI; Wechsler, 1999) or WAIS-IV (Wechsler et al., 2008). Diagnosis of ASD was based on the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (Lord et al., 2000) and the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (Lord et al., 1994). To obtain dimensional measures of ASD-relevant behavior, parents of study participants also completed the Social Responsiveness Scale [SRS; (Constantino and Gruber, 2007)], a quantitative measure of reciprocal social behavior that has been extensively validated in both clinically ascertained and population-based samples and the Repetitive Behavioral Scale (RBS; Lam and Aman, 2007) to capture patterns of restricted repetitive behavior often observed in ASD. All diagnoses were determined by trained clinicians who participated in an ongoing quality assurance program (Ventura et al., 1998). Training, reliability and ongoing quality assurance procedures for psychodiagnostic assessments are detailed in prior publications (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2013; Jalbrzikowski et al., 2016).

#### 2.3.3: qRT-PCR

As an initial proof of principle to determine whether duplication and deletion carriers showed the expected increases or decreases, respectively, in gene dosage, we first investigated gene expression levels within three key genes in the 22q11.2 locus. Peripheral blood samples were drawn in two PAXgene tubes and were stored at 4°C. RNA was extracted using the PAXgene blood RNA kit (PreAnalytix GmbH, QIAGEN, Germany). We assessed RNA

quantity using Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE) and also quality with Agilent Bioanalyzer Nanochips.

Real time-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) was conducted using TaqMan assays, as described in Coppola et al., 2006. Total RNA was converted into cDNA by SuperScript II kit (Invitrogen). The reactions were performed with a TaqMan Master Mix (BioRad) in a 25 µl volume. Assays were performed in triplicate and analyzed using a Roche Lightcycler. qPCR analyses were carried out using the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) method (2-ΔΔCt). We assayed three genes within the 22q11.2 locus: catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), DiGeorge Syndrome Critical Region Gene 8 (DGCR8), and Zinc Finger DHHC-Type Containing 8 (ZDHHC8), using Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) as a reference gene. Additionally, all 22q11.2 CNV carriers underwent multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA; (Sørensen et al., 2010) to determine specific breakpoint locations (see Table 1).

# 2.3.4: MRI acquisition and preprocessing

Measures of brain structure were obtained with high-resolution structural MRI. Scanning was conducted on an identical 3 Tesla Siemens Trio MRI scanner with a 12-channel head coil at the UCLA Brain Mapping Center or at the Center for Cognitive Neuroscience (Table 1). Each scan began with a 10-min acquisition of standard images used for determining regional anatomy, including a sagittal localizer image (TR/TE = 500/33 ms, 192 × 256 matrix), a high-resolution T2-weighted axial image (TR/TE = 5000/33 ms, 128 × 128 matrix, FOV = 200 × 200mm), and a sagittal 1 mm<sup>3</sup> T1-weighted image. We used FreeSurfer to process 1 mm<sup>3</sup> T1-weighted anatomical images acquired with an MPRAGE sequence. The parameters for the MPRAGE were the following: TR = 2.3 s, TE = 2.91 ms, FOV = 256 mm, matrix = 240 × 256, flip angle = 9°, slice thickness = 1.20 mm, 160 slices. The FreeSurfer image analysis suite (version 5.3.0, http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu) surface-based processing pipeline was used to derive measures of volume, cortical thickness, and surface area. FreeSurfer is a well-validated

processing package that has been previously described in detail (Dale et al., 1999; Fischl et al., 1999). We extracted cortical measures based on the Desikan FreeSurfer atlas (Desikan et al., 2006).

# 2.3.5: Quality assessment of MRI

Structural T1-weighted MRI brain scans were analyzed in an unbiased, whole-brain approach using well-validated analysis and quality control protocols developed for the ENIGMA consortium (Enhancing Neuroimaging Genetics through Meta-Analysis; Thompson et al., 2014), that have previously been applied in large-scale studies of major depression (Schmaal et al., 2016), bipolar disorder (Hibar et al., 2016) and schizophrenia (van Erp et al., 2016). We used the ENIGMA quality assessment pipeline (Thompson et al., 2015) to determine scan quality. Segmented regions were visually inspected and statistically evaluated for outliers following standardized ENIGMA protocols (http://enigma.ini.usc.edu/protocols/imaging-protocols). Briefly, the pipeline includes 3 major steps: (1) extracting and organizing brain measures from FreeSurfer, (2) quality checking the outputs wherein a set of representative cross-sections from each subject are displayed with colored FreeSurfer segmentations, and (3) calculating population summary statistics of the cortical traits and related histograms. Visual inspections of ENIGMA snapshots were completed by 3 separate individuals who were blind to diagnostic status. Scans of 4 22q-dup participants, 3 control participants, and 5 22q-del participants failed the initial quality control assessment. The 22q-dup participant scans were then manually edited using standard procedures (detailed in Jalbrzikowski et al., 2013), after which they passed QC assessment.

#### 2.3.6: Subcortical shape analysis

As conventional subcortical volume analysis may obscure fine-grained differences in anatomical changes, a novel surface-based high-resolution parametric mapping technique was used to investigate shape differences across subjects for all subcortical ROIs (Mamah et al., 2016). This technique is sensitive to subtle volumetric variations (Gutman et al., 2012; Gutman

et al., 2015) that may represent underlying subfield organization (Wang et al., 2008). It has recently shown high vertex-wise heritability, suggesting that shape indexes a biologically valid phenotype (Roshupkin et al., 2016). A growing body of evidence indicates that different diseases have distinct effects on hippocampal subfields (Small et al., 2011); these localized patterns of disease effects may extend to other subcortical structures as well.

Using FreeSurfer segmentations as an initial input for creating the shape models, shape registration was based on existing shape templates and template "medial" models. The shape template was made by registering all subjects to a representative subject. The Euclidean average of these shapes served as the template surface, from which the template medial curve was computed. A point-wise measure of shape morphometry, *radial distance*, was derived for all 14 subcortical ROIs for each subject, using a medial model approach (Gutman et al., 2012; Gutman et al., 2015). For each point  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  on the surface, and given a medial curve  $c: [0,1] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^3$ , the radial distance is defined by

$$D(\mathbf{p}) = \min\{\|\mathbf{c}(t) - \mathbf{p}\| \mid t \in [0,1]\}$$

In this way, radial distance (termed *thickness* henceforth) was calculated in native space for up to 2,500 homologous points across each subcortical structure, providing a detailed index of regional shape differences across subjects. We included only those shape models that passed visual inspection and conformed to T1-weighted MRI anatomical boundaries using the ENIGMA Shape Analysis Quality Assessment Protocol

(http://enigma.ini.usc.edu/protocols/imaging-protocols/).

#### 2.3.7: Statistical analysis

The primary statistical analyses were performed in SPSS software version 24 (Chicago, Illinois; RRID: SCR\_002865). Additional demographic comparisons and effect size calculations were done in either Matlab version R2015a (Mathworks, Natick, MA; RRID: SCR\_001622) or R 3.0.2 (R Core Team, 2016; RRID: SCR\_000432). Statistical modeling for shape analyses was carried out using the R stats package (https://stat.ethz.ch/R-manual/R-

devel/library/stats/html/lm.html). We conducted independent samples t-tests for continuous variables and chi-squared tests for categorical variables. For the analyses of relative gene expression differences, we conducted separate univariate analysis of covariance (ANCOVAs) with gene expression level as the dependent variable, CNV status as the independent variable, and age, gender, and RT-qPCR batch as covariates.

Significance testing for our primary analyses was conducted in two steps. First, we determined whether 22q11.2 CNVs had an effect on standard FreeSurfer regions of interest (ROIs) for CT and SA, as well as volumes of subcortical structures and global brain metrics (total intracranial volume, total gray and white matter volume, total SA, and average CT). For this omnibus test, we performed an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) and false discovery rate (FDR) correction at q = 0.05 (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995) for the number of regions, for each brain metric. Group (22q-dup, 22q-del, or control) was used as the independent variable, and each ROI was included as the dependent variable with age, sex, and scanner location as covariates. Analyses of cortical and subcortical volume included intracranial volume (ICV) as an additional covariate. Given the considerable variance across different brain structures, we performed an ANCOVA for each ROI independently. Secondly, for regions that passed the FDR-corrected omnibus test, we conducted post-hoc tests for each pairwise comparison, applying the same correction used for the initial omnibus test.

For subcortical shape analyses, a multiple linear regression model was used to assess surface-based thickness differences between 22q-del carriers, 22q-dup carriers, and controls after correcting for age, sex, intracranial volume (ICV), and scanner location. The model was fitted at each point across the surface of each subcortical structure. As these values were calculated in native space, ICV was included as a covariate to regress out effects of head size. To correct for multiple comparisons, a standard FDR correction was again applied at q = 0.05. Statistical models were fitted for the following comparisons of interest: 22q-del carriers vs.

controls; 22q-dup carriers vs. controls; and 22q-dup carriers vs. 22q-del carriers. All results described below are FDR-corrected unless otherwise indicated.

#### 2.3.8: Sensitivity analyses

To determine whether group differences in brain structure are attributable to familial relationships between 22q-dup patients, a sensitivity analysis was conducted on a subset of the duplication cohort comprising only unrelated individuals (N=11), in which we determined whether the parameter estimates for this subset differed from those obtained on the full cohort. Specifically, we tested whether the adjusted means calculated for unrelated subjects were within 2 standard errors of the adjusted means of the full cohort. 22q-dup patients in the subset were selected with the aim of maintaining similar mean age and sex ratios to the control and 22q-del group.

We conducted a similar secondary analysis to rule out the effect of antipsychotic medication on brain structure, in which 8 participants (7 22q-del carriers and 1 22q-dup carrier) who were taking antipsychotic medication at the time of visit were excluded. This approach was chosen as the small sample size of the subgroup precluded a mixed model analysis that explicitly accounted for family structure. Similarly, the confounding of medication use and group made a direct analysis of the effects of antipsychotic medication difficult to interpret. These sensitivity analyses are designed to show that the inclusion/exclusion of these participants does not bias the results.

Additionally, we conducted secondary analyses in which we covaried for: 1) race and 2) global brain metrics (mean cortical thickness and total cortical surface area).

# 2.4: Results

# 2.4.1: Neuropsychiatric and cognitive findings

There were significant differences in Full Scale IQ between groups: 22q-del carriers had the lowest IQ scores, followed by 22q-dup carriers, then control participants had the highest IQ

scores (Table 1). The same pattern persisted for the Verbal IQ domain; however, for Nonverbal IQ (as measured by Matrix Reasoning), 22q-del carriers performed significantly more poorly than 22q-dup carriers and controls, who did not differ from each other. Four 22q-del carriers and no 22q-dup carriers were diagnosed with a psychotic disorder, but rates of ASD were elevated in both groups. 22q-del and 22q-dup carriers had similarly elevated scores on dimensional measures of autism-relevant symptomatology (SRS and RBS scales) relative to control participants.

#### 2.4.2: mRNA expression

As shown in Figure 2.1, RT-qPCR analyses revealed a linear effect of gene dosage on mRNA expression levels of COMT and ZDHHC8, but not DGCR8 (Figure 1).





# 2.4.3: Gene dosage effects on global brain metrics

There were no significant main effects of scanner location, but significant effects of group were found for total intracranial volume (F(2, 137) = 7.12, p = 0.001), total gray matter volume (F(2, 136) = 5.43, p = 0.005), cortical white matter volume (F(2, 136) = 11.88, p = 1.76e-

5), total cortical SA (F(2,137) = 35.37, p = 4.1e-13), mean CT (F(2,137) = 4.60, p = 0.01), and the corpus callosum (F(2,136) = 7.32, p = 9.6e-4; Figures 2A-2F). Effects of gene dosage appeared generally proportional in magnitude relative to controls for callosal volume and cortical thickness, although for total intracranial, gray and white matter volume and SA, the percent reduction in deletion carriers was more substantial than the relative increase seen in duplication carriers (Figure 2.2 and Table 2.2). Further, as shown in Figure 2, the effects of this CNV on brain structure did not appear to be accounted for by a subset of severely affected individuals, but rather, the entire distribution was shifted, suggesting a highly penetrant effect (Quereshi et al., 2014). Post-hoc pairwise contrasts revealed that the significant effect of group was driven by patterns of differences between 22q-del and 22q-dup carriers, as well as 22q-del carriers and controls.





measures). Spearman non-parametric correlations were performed for each measure, indicating significant gene dosage effects. For all measures, there were significant pairwise differences between 22q-del and controls that survive post-hoc correction at p < 0.05, as denoted by the asterisks.

Region	F	22q-del Mean (SE)	22q-del % difference from controls	Control, mean (SE)	22q-dup, mean (SE)	22q-dup % difference from controls	dupN
Corpus callosum volume**,†,††	7.3	3195.5 (60.7)	7.6%	2969.3 (64.4)	2723.9 (113.5)	-8.3%	216
Cortical white matter volume**,†,††	11.9	395,129.2 (3381.3)	-5.7%	418,977.0 (3587.9)	415,362.7 (6319.3)	-0.9%	695
Total gray matter**,†,††	5.4	556,341.5 (4785.5)	-3.7%	577,545.6 (5080.0)	581,072.5 (8947.3)	0.6%	>1000
Mean thickness**,†,††	4.6	2.78 (0.01)	1.5%	2.74 (0.01)	2.71 (0.02)	-1.1%	140
Total intracranial volume**,†,††	7.1	1385812.3 (14058.4)	-4.9%	1,456,843.0 (15317.2)	1,466,356.0 (27086.6)	0.7%	403
Total area**,†,††	35.4	152,415.5 (1760.0)	-11.1%	171,524.8 (1917.5)	176,466.1 (3390.9)	2.9%	208

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted means are covaried for age, sex, and scanner location, as well as intracranial volume for volumetric measures.

\*\*Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus 22q-del.

 $\pm$  Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-del versus control.

 $\pm$  Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at omnibus level.

**Table 2.2: Global Metrics.** Adjusted Means, Standard Errors, Percent Difference from Controls, and Estimated samples size of 22q11.2 duplication carriers.

# 2.4.4: Effects of reciprocal 22q11.2 variation on cortical thickness.

Omnibus ANCOVA revealed a significant effect of group for 20 ROIs (Table 3). Across cortical regions, 22q-dup tended to show lower thickness compared to 22q-del with controls showing an intermediate pattern (Figure 3). Post-hoc pairwise t-tests revealed that compared to controls, 22q-del showed significantly greater thickness in 8 ROI's and significantly lower thickness in 1 ROI. In contrast, 22q-dup carriers had significantly lower CT relative to controls, specifically in 3 lateral frontal and parietal ROIs: the left caudal and superior frontal gyrus, and the right precuneus (Table 2.3). 22q-dup carriers also showed cortical thinning relative to controls at a nominal uncorrected p<0.05 level in predominantly frontal and sensorimotor regions (Figure 2.4A). As shown in Figure 3, the decreases in 22q-dup carriers in regional cortical thickness measures are proportional to the increases observed in 22q-del carriers, albeit in somewhat different cortical regions; specifically, increased CT in 22q-del carriers was

# greatest in the insula and inferior frontal regions, while reductions of CT in 22q-dup were

greatest in fronto-parietal regions.

		22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,			22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,
Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)
Left hemisphere					<b>Right hemisphere</b>				
Bank of superior temporal sulcus	2.4	2.65 (0.02)	2.70 (0.02)	2.75 (0.04)	Bank of superior temporal sulcus	0.8	2.83 (0.02)	2.85 (0.03)	2.89 (0.04)
Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus	4.8	2.83 (0.03)	2.95 (0.04)	3.03 (0.07)	Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus	2.7	2.70 (0.03)	2.82 (0.04)	2.78 (0.07)
Caudal middle frontal gyrus*,**,††	18.2	2.82 (0.02)	2.74 (0.02)	2.58 (0.04)	Caudal middle frontal gyrus**,††	12.7	2.75 (0.02)	2.66 (0.02)	2.55 (0.04)
Cuneus	3.3	2.13 (0.02)	2.05 (0.03)	2.04 (0.04)	Cuneus	3.6	2.17 (0.02)	2.11 (0.02)	2.05 (0.04)
Entorhinal cortex	1.6	3.48 (0.04)	3.55 (0.05)	3.38 (0.09)	Entorhinal cortex	1.5	3.81 (0.05)	3.80 (0.05)	3.63 (0.09)
Frontal pole	0.4	2.84 (0.04)	2.89 (0.05)	2.88 (0.09)	Frontal pole	0.8	2.83 (0.04)	2.76 (0.05)	2.84 (0.08)
Fusiform gyrus	0.2	2.90 (0.02)	2.90 (0.02)	2.88 (0.03)	Fusiform gyrus	2.2	3.00 (0.02)	2.95 (0.02)	2.98 (0.03)
Inferior parietal cortex	1.7	2.70 (0.02)	2.69 (0.02)	2.64 (0.03)	Inferior parietal cortex	3.4	2.74 (0.02)	2.70 (0.02)	2.64 (0.03)
Inferior temporal gyrus	0.0	2.88 (0.02)	2.88 (0.03)	2.88 (0.05)	Inferior temporal gyrus	1.0	3.05 (0.02)	3.01 (0.02)	3.03 (0.04)
Insula**,†,††	23.3	3.42 (0.02)	3.25 (0.02)	3.21 (0.04)	Insula†,††	7.5	3.42 (0.02)	3.30 (0.02)	3.29 (0.04)
lsthmus cingulate	1.7	2.78 (0.03)	2.76 (0.03)	2.67 (0.05)	lsthmus cingulate gyrus	0.8	2.65 (0.02)	2.68 (0.03)	2.61 (0.05)
Lateral occipital cortex	0.8	2.35 (0.02)	2.33 (0.02)	2.30 (0.03)	Lateral occipital cortex	1.4	2.42 (0.02)	2.41 (0.02)	2.36 (0.03)
Lateral orbitofrontal cortex	2.8	2.91 (0.02)	2.83 (0.03)	2.86 (0.04)	Lateral orbitofrontal cortex	2.1	2.76 (0.02)	2.70 (0.03)	2.80 (0.05)
Lingual gyrus**,††	9.9	2.30 (0.02)	2.23 (0.02)	2.16 (0.03)	Lingual gyrus**,††	8.3	2.38 (0.02)	2.29 (0.02)	2.24 (0.04)
Medial orbitofrontal cortex	6.7	2.70 (0.03)	2.57 (0.03)	2.52 (0.06)	Medial orbitofrontal cortex	6.1	2.55 (0.03)	2.43 (0.03)	2.39 (0.05)
Middle temporal gyrus	0.7	3.05 (0.02)	3.02 (0.02)	3.04 (0.04)	Middle temporal gyrus	2.3	3.15 (0.02)	3.08 (0.03)	3.09 (0.05)
Paracentral cortex†,††	7.6	2.66 (0.02)	2.55 (0.02)	2.53 (0.04)	Paracentral gyrus**,††	8.9	2.70 (0.02)	2.62 (0.02)	2.51 (0.04)
Parahippocampal gyrus**,†,††	13.0	2.70 (0.04)	2.94 (0.04)	3.02 (0.07)	Parahippocampal gyrus	0.7	2.95 (0.04)	3.01 (0.04)	2.99 (0.07)
Pars opercularis**,†,††	15.2	2.89 (0.02)	2.77 (0.02)	2.75 (0.03)	Pars opercularis	3.3	2.82 (0.02)	2.73 (0.03)	2.73 (0.04)
Pars orbitalis	5.4	3.00 (0.03)	2.90 (0.03)	2.81 (0.06)	Pars orbitalis	2.1	2.83 (0.03)	2.73 (0.04)	2.78 (0.07)
Pars triangularis**,†,††	14.2	2.76 (0.02)	2.61 (0.02)	2.56 (0.04)	Pars triangularis	2.9	2.64 (0.03)	2.53 (0.03)	2.55 (0.06)
Pericalcarine gyrus	5.4	1.85 (0.02)	1.78 (0.02)	1.71 (0.04)	Pericalcarine gyrus†,††	9.7	1.87 (0.02)	1.75 (0.02)	1.72 (0.04)
Postcentral gyrus	6.8	2.28 (0.02)	2.19 (0.02)	2.17 (0.04)	Postcentral gyrus	5.3	2.28 (0.02)	2.20 (0.02)	2.14 (0.04)
Posterior cingulate gyrus	0.0	2.79 (0.02)	2.79 (0.02)	2.79 (0.04)	Posterior cingulate gyrus	2.9	2.72 (0.02)	2.78 (0.02)	2.72 (0.04)
Precentral gyrus**,††	9.9	2.76 (0.02)	2.70 (0.02)	2.61 (0.03)	Precentral gyrus	6.2	2.73 (0.02)	2.65 (0.02)	2.60 (0.04)
Precuneus	4.4	2.67 (0.02)	2.63 (0.02)	2.56 (0.03)	Precuneus*,**,††	11.3	2.70 (0.02)	2.66 (0.02)	2.50 (0.04)
Rostral anterior cingulate gyrus	0.6	3.18 (0.04)	3.14 (0.04)	3.10 (0.07)	Rostral anterior cingulate gyrus	1.9	2.83 (0.03)	2.92 (0.03)	2.92 (0.06)
Rostral middle frontal gyrus**,††	10.3	2.64 (0.02)	2.54 (0.02)	2.46 (0.04)	Rostral middle frontal gyrus**,†,††	9.4	2.46 (0.02)	2.35 (0.02)	2.29 (0.04)
Superior frontal gyrus*,**,††	14.7	3.05 (0.02)	3.00 (0.02)	2.84 (0.04)	Superior frontal gyrus**, ††	10.1	2.93 (0.02)	2.88 (0.02)	2.74 (0.04)
Superior parietal cortex	2.7	2.41 (0.02)	2.37 (0.02)	2.32 (0.04)	Superior parietal cortex	3.4	2.40 (0.02)	2.34 (0.02)	2.30 (0.04)
Superior temporal gyrus	5.9	2.90 (0.02)	3.00 (0.02)	2.97 (0.04)	Superior temporal gyrus	0.2	2.99 (0.02)	2.99 (0.02)	3.02 (0.04)
Supramarginal gyrus**,††	9.0	2.86 (0.02)	2.77 (0.02)	2.71 (0.04)	Supramarginal gyrus**,†,††	15.0	2.90 (0.02)	2.79 (0.02)	2.70 (0.04)
Temporal pole	0.3	3.70 (0.04)	3.68 (0.05)	3.74 (0.08)	Temporal pole	0.3	3.92 (0.04)	3.91 (0.05)	3.84 (0.08)
Transverse temporal gyrus	0.5	2.58 (0.03)	2.62 (0.03)	2.57 (0.05)	Transverse temporal gyrus	1.8	2.68 (0.03)	2.60 (0.03)	2.68 (0.06)

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted means are covaried for age, sex, and scanner location.

\*Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus control.

\*\*Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus 22q-del.

†Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-del versus control.

<code>++Survives FDR</code> correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at omnibus level.

 Table 2.3: Cortical Thickness.
 Adjusted Means and Standard Errors.



**Figure 2.3: Cortical Thickness.** Z-score Plots of Estimated Marginal Means and Standard Errors. Z-scores are derived from individual subject means adjusted for sex, age, and scanner location using control mean and standard deviation for each region. Then, Z-scores were submitted to the same primary statistical analysis to generate estimated marginal means and standard errors. 22q-dup showed lower thickness relative to 22q-del patients in predominantly medial frontal and parietal regions, with controls showing an intermediate pattern.



Figure 2.4: Neuroanatomic differences between 22q-dup carriers, 22q-del carriers and controls: Cortical thickness and surface area. A. The light orange color indicates regions in which 22q-dup show significant differences in cortical thickness relative to 22q-del (FDR-corrected, q < 0.05). Dark orange colors indicate regions in which 22q-dup significantly differs from both 22q-del (corrected) and controls (uncorrected, nominal p < 0.05), with 22q-dup showing lower thickness relative to 22q-del and controls in frontal, inferior parietal and parahippocampal regions. B. The light blue color indicates regions in which 22q-dup carriers differ in surface area from 22q-del carriers (FDR-corrected, q < 0.05). Dark blue colors indicate regions where 22q-dup differs significantly from both 22q-del (corrected) and controls (uncorrected, q < 0.05). Dark blue colors indicate regions where 22q-dup carriers (FDR-corrected, q < 0.05). Dark blue colors indicate regions where 22q-dup differs significantly from both 22q-del (corrected) and controls (uncorrected, nominal p < 0.05). 22q-dup carriers show greater surface area relative to 22q-del carriers and controls throughout most of the cortex, except for lateral orbitofrontal, middle frontal, inferior parietal, and right occipital regions.

# 2.4.5: Opposing effects on cortical surface area.

Pervasive effects of gene dosage were observed for cortical SA with significant effects of group for 52 ROIs (Table 2.4). Cortical SA showed a pattern opposite to that observed for CT:

22q-dup carriers largely showed greater SA compared to 22q-del carriers and controls mostly intermediate (Figure 2.5). No differences between 22q-dup and controls survived correction, but 16 ROIs showed nominally significant differences at an uncorrected p < 0.05 level (Figure 2.4B). These regions included most of the cortex with differences of greatest magnitude observed in medial frontal cortex, the cingulate, superior temporal gyrus and bank of the superior temporal sulcus (Figure 5); notably, key components of social cognitive neural circuitry (Lieberman,

2007).

		22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,			22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,
Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)
Left hemisphere					Righthemisphere				
Bank of superior temporal sulcus**,†,††	16.1	941.0 (19.9)	1049.5 (21.7)	1169.4 (38.3)	Bank of superior temporal sulcus**,†,††	24.6	882.7 (16.2)	1031.1 (17.6)	1062.8 (31.2)
Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus**,†,††	37.5	511.8 (15.4)	665.7 (16.8)	756.9 (29.6)	Caudal anterior Cingulate**,†,††	18.2	626.0 (19.5)	785.1 (21.3)	800.5 (37.6)
Caudal middle frontal gyrus	4.5	2172.4 (47.1)	2342.8 (51.3)	2422.2 (90.7)	Caudal middle frontal gyrus	3.4	1936.7 (49.6)	2103.6 (54.1)	2143.2 (95.6)
Cuneus**,†,††	59.7	1139.3 (23.8)	1479.2 (25.9)	1550.7 (45.8)	Cuneus**,†,††	43.6	1213.9 (24.5)	1522.3 (26.6)	1553.4 (47.1)
Entorhinal cortex**,††	6.2	340.5 (10)	369.6 (10.9)	414.1 (19.2)	Entorhinal cortex	5.1	288.0 (8.8)	326.8 (9.6)	328.0 (17)
Frontal pole**,††	6.9	203.2 (3.9)	212.8 (4.3)	234.6 (7.5)	Frontal pole**,††	11.6	270.9 (5.4)	292.4 (5.9)	325.5 (10.4)
Fusiform gyrus**,†,††	28.8	2909.4 (46.1)	3386.8 (50.3)	3416.9 (88.9)	Fusiform gyrus**,†,††	29.0	2807.8 (48.4)	3298.0 (52.7)	3374.1 (93.2)
Inferior parietal cortex	5.5	4415.6 (70.2)	4758.8 (76.5)	4621.3 (135.3)	Inferior parietal cortex**,†,††	13.1	5129.4 (86)	5715.1 (93.7)	5808.7 (165.6)
Inferior temporal gyrus**,†,††	32.0	2832.7 (50.7)	3402.2 (55.3)	3371.4 (97.7)	Inferior temporal gyrus**,†,††	19.0	2746.9 (57)	3237.9 (62.1)	3223.3 (109.9)
Insula	2.5	2020.5 (28.2)	2056.6 (30.7)	2156.5 (54.2)	Insula	0.7	2070.9 (32.7)	2032.4 (35.6)	2112.2 (63)
lsthmus cingulate**,††	8.8	960.2 (19.9)	1012.1 (21.7)	1140.5 (38.3)	lsthmus cingulate	4.4	904.4 (19.5)	920.9 (21.3)	1030.1 (37.7)
Lateral occipital cortex**,†,††	21.5	4315.6 (67)	4851.8 (73)	5082.6 (129.1)	Lateral occipital cortex+,++	13.5	4155.7 (76.2)	4708.4 (83)	4688.1 (146.8)
Lateral orbitofrontal cortex	4.2	2403.1 (38.2)	2551.7 (41.6)	2571.2 (73.6)	Lateral orbitofrontal cortex	3.2	2310.9 (40.6)	2444.1 (44.2)	2475.3 (78.2)
Lingual gyrus**,†,††	43.5	2497.2 (49.2)	3090.4 (53.6)	3238.2 (94.7)	Lingual gyrus**,†,††	57.2	2478.1 (45.7)	3121.8 (49.8)	3246.1 (88.1)
Medial orbitofrontal cortex**, ++	9.9	1599.7 (28.5)	1715.3 (31.1)	1860.7 (54.9)	Medial orbitofrontal cortex**,†,††	11.8	1656.8 (25.3)	1783.0 (27.6)	1898.7 (48.7)
Middle temporal gyrus**,†,††	22.3	2719.2 (46.5)	3131.5 (50.7)	3198.6 (89.6)	Middle temporal gyrus**,†,††	15.1	3070.4 (52.6)	3448.2 (57.3)	3531.6 (101.4)
Paracentral gyrus**,†,††	18.1	1222.9 (22.3)	1369.4 (24.3)	1479.8 (42.9)	Paracentral gyrus**,†,††	14.8	1343.5 (29.5)	1559.0 (32.1)	1585.4 (56.8)
Parahippocampal gyrus	4.6	696.3 (14.6)	730.4 (15.9)	790.9 (28.2)	Parahippocampal gyrus**,††	7.3	633.2 (11)	683.1 (12)	708.9 (21.3)
Pars opercularis	1.8	1634.4 (32.7)	1715.0 (35.6)	1731.9 (63)	Pars opercularis	0.3	1348.7 (27.7)	1381.2 (30.2)	1367.4 (53.3)
Pars orbitalis	1.7	602.8 (10.6)	623.3 (11.5)	641.1 (20.4)	Pars orbitalis	3.4	731.5 (12.7)	777.0 (13.8)	777.3 (24.4)
Pars triangularis**,†,††	10.0	1201.2 (25.3)	1345.2 (27.5)	1388.8 (48.7)	Pars triangularis**,†,††	15.5	1328.8 (28.4)	1536.1 (30.9)	1578.3 (54.7)
Pericalcarine gyrus**,†,††	35.5	1070.8 (25.7)	1361.9 (28)	1398.2 (49.6)	Pericalcarine gyrus**,†,††	38.4	1193.6 (26.1)	1514.1 (28.4)	1499.0 (50.3)
Postcentral gyrus**,†,††	17.4	3819.5 (55.9)	4260.0 (61)	4323.3 (107.8)	Postcentral gyrus**,†,††	28.8	3576.2 (58.4)	4170.3 (63.7)	4247.1 (112.6)
Posterior cingulate**,†,††	14.0	1108.8 (21.1)	1226.8 (23)	1326.2 (40.7)	Posteriorcingulate gyrus**,†,††	14.1	1093.6 (23.7)	1256.2 (25.8)	1297.5 (45.6)
Precentral gyrus	1.3	4737.2 (63.4)	4795.0 (69.1)	4960.8 (122.1)	Precentral gyrus	1.4	4722.6 (63.7)	4878.9 (69.4)	4820.4 (122.8)
Precuneus**,†,††	36.3	3296.2 (53.3)	3893.8 (58.1)	4009.7 (102.7)	Precuneus**,†,††	30.6	3427.1 (60.4)	3990.3 (65.8)	4273.1 (116.4)
Rostral anterior cingulate**,†,††	33.7	641.6 (19)	807.5 (20.6)	942.8 (36.5)	Rostral anterior cingulate gyrus**,†,††	15.7	580.8 (16.1)	670.0 (17.5)	761.4 (31)
Rostral middle frontal gyrus**,†,††	26.3	4919.1 (88.9)	5784.2 (96.8)	5892.9 (171.2)	Rostral middle frontal gyrus**,†,††	34.6	5009.6 (88.6)	6005.9 (96.5)	6101.4 (170.6)
Superior frontal cortex**,†,††	15.2	6670.0 (95.9)	7369.3 (104.5)	7495.3 (184.9)	Superior frontal gyrus**,†,††	11.4	6533.1 (98.5)	7113.8 (107.4)	7344.0 (189.9)
Superior parietal cortex**,†,††	47.0	4657.2 (72.2)	5651.2 (78.6)	5539.0 (139)	Superior parietal cortex**,†,††	45.2	4696.4 (66.5)	5536.5 (72.4)	5670.4 (128.1)
Superior temporal gyrus**,††	11.8	3512.4 (51.6)	3756.9 (56.2)	4017.4 (99.4)	Superior temporal gyrus**,†,††	20.8	3241.9 (44.1)	3569.5 (48)	3765.9 (84.9)
Supramarginal gyrus**,††	7.1	3684.9 (60.5)	3958.8 (65.9)	4089.0 (116.5)	Supramarginal gyrus†,††	12.7	3414.5 (61.4)	3671.1 (66.9)	4063.7 (118.3)
Temporal pole**,†,††	18.6	426.2 (7)	483.3 (7.6)	490.2 (13.4)	Temporal pole**,†,††	10.8	381.3 (7.3)	427.2 (8)	432.5 (14.1)
Transverse temporal gyrus**,††	10.6	424.6 (8.6)	463.9 (9.4)	504.0 (16.6)	Transverse temporal gyrus†,††	9.1	302.3 (6.7)	341.2 (7.3)	344.2 (12.9)

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted means are covaried for age, sex, and scanner location.

\*\*Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus 22q-del.

†Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-del versus control.

††Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at omnibus level.

# Table 2.4: Surface Area: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors.





**Standard Errors.** Z-scores are derived from individual subject means adjusted for sex, age, and scanner location using control mean and standard deviation for each region. Then, Zscores were submitted to the same primary statistical analysis to generate estimated marginal means and standard errors. 22q-dup showed greater surface area relative to 22q-del patients in predominantly medial frontal and superior temporal regions, with controls showing an intermediate pattern. Moreover, there was a notable divergence in the brain regions predominantly affected by the deletion versus duplication. While reductions of cortical SA were of greatest magnitude in parietal regions for 22q-del carriers, SA increases in the duplication group were greatest in fronto-temporal and midline regions (i.e., cingulate cortex).

Effect size plots for 22q-dup carriers vs. controls confirmed a global divergent pattern between CT and SA: SA was larger in 22q-dup carriers relative to controls (median effect size: Cohen's d= -0.22) with a negative value indicating larger cortical SA in 22q-dup carriers (Figure 2.6B). Effects on CT, although more localized, were generally in the opposite direction. 22q-dup carriers showed lower thickness relative to controls (median effect size: Cohen's d= 0.20), most notably in superior frontal regions (Figure 6A).



**Figure 2.6:** Effect size maps for 22q-dup carriers vs. controls. In panels 6a and 6b, Cohen's *d* is displayed for each ROI adjusted for age, sex, and scanner for 22q-dup carriers and controls. Cooler colors indicate regions in which 22q-dup carriers show greater thickness or area, and warmer colors indicate regions in which controls show greater thickness or area. For thickness, effect sizes ranged from -0.5 to 1.4 (median: 0.2), with controls showing greater thickness in surface area relative to controls, across multiple cortical regions (median effect size: -0.22; range -0.82 – 0.24). Panels 6c and 6d display the estimated number of 22q-dup carriers needed to achieve a statistically significant difference from controls with 80% power, for each ROI. Raw

values (not adjusted for any covariates) and Bonferroni correction for the number of regions were used to reduce model assumptions, resulting in conservative estimates.

# 2.4.6: Posthoc power analysis for regional cortical thickness and surface area

Maps of post-hoc power calculations, estimating the sample size needed to achieve a significant group difference in 22q-dup carriers vs. controls across cortical regions (Figures 2.6C and 2.6D), indicate that there is substantial regional variability in the effects of the 22q11.2 duplication on brain structure. With a sample size roughly equivalent to that of our deletion and control groups, we would also be likely to find significant thickness differences in additional fronto-parietal regions in the duplication cohort (i.e., the bilateral supramarginal, pre- and post-central gyrus, and left entorhinal cortex and insula). However, much larger samples would be required to observe thickness differences in temporal structures, as indicated by the smaller effect sizes in these regions. The regional distribution of effect sizes differs somewhat for cortical SA (Figure 2.6D). With comparable sample sizes to our deletion and control groups, we would likely identify significant differences in SA in midline and right lateral parietal regions, as well as the frontal pole and left temporal regions (entorhinal cortex, bank of the superior temporal sulcus) in duplication carriers versus controls. However, in other regions the effects were quite small, likely requiring several hundred subjects to detect a significant group difference.

#### 2.4.7: Patterns extend to subcortical structures: volume and morphometry

Significant effects of group extended into subcortical structures. While pairwise differences between 22q-duplication carriers and controls did not survive multiple comparison correction for global subcortical volumes or local shape metrics, there were significant differences between 22q-dup and 22q-del carriers. Pairwise significant differences, indicating lower volume in 22q-del carriers compared to 22q-dup carriers, were found for the right hippocampus (Table 2.5). In contrast, the right caudate displayed an opposite pattern: 22q-del

carriers showed greater volume while 22q-dup showed a decrease in volume compared to

controls.

		22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,				22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,	
Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	dupN	Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	dupN
Left hemisphere						Right hemisphere					
Accumbens	2.7	852.7 (15.0)	803.6 (15.9)	807.2 (28.0)	>1000	Accumbens	5.8	815.7 (13.1)	749.6 (13.9)	774.3 (24.5)	>1000
Caudate	4.9	4058.0 (54.2)	3872.5 (57.5)	3729.0 (101.2)	363	Caudate**,†,††	10.5	4423.3 (55.8)	4091.8 (59.3)	3997.7 (104.4)	435
Hippocampus†,††	8.6	3790.8 (56.3)	4132.8 (59.8)	4054.5 (105.3)	>1000	Hippocampus**,†,††	8.2	3789.8 (53.9)	4074.8 (57.2)	4147.3 (100.7)	155
Inferior lateral ventricle**,†,††	17.6	505.4 (26.2)	295.9 (27.8)	263.8 (48.9)	>1000	Inferior lateral ventricle**,†,††	19.0	483.9 (27.7)	239.1 (29.4)	265.1 (51.7)	417
Lateral ventricle <sup>+</sup> , <sup>++</sup>	9.4	8339.6 (510.4)	5042.0 (541.6)	6534.2 (953.9)	189	Lateral ventricle†,††	15.0	7967.4 (475.7)	4094.3 (504.7)	6062.3 (888.9)	80
Pallidum	0.4	1787.5 (35.4)	1834.2 (37.5)	1817.2 (66.1)	>1000	Pallidum	0.4	1654.4 (25.0)	1670.5 (26.5)	1704.9 (46.6)	>1000
Putamen	1.0	6468.2 (87.2)	6558.3 (92.5)	6302.9 (162.9)	465	Putamen	1.6	6053.1 (75.0)	6247.9 (79.5)	6092.9 (140.1)	384
Thalamus	1.3	7269.6 (75.4)	7421.2 (80.0)	7484.6 (141.0)	658	Thalamus	1.8	7325.2 (73.2)	7295.5 (77.7)	7033.2 (136.8)	892

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted means are covaried for age, sex, scanner location, and intracranial volume.

\*\*Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus 22q-del.

†Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-del versus control.

††Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at omnibus level.

# Table 2.5: Subcortical Volume: Adjusted Means, Standard Errors, and Estimated 22q-dup N

Novel shape analysis methods revealed a widespread and complex pattern of differences in local thickness measures between 22q-del and 22q-dup carriers in subcortical regions (Figure 2.7). Compared to 22q-del carriers, 22q-dup carriers had predominantly greater local thickness in bilateral hippocampal, left thalamus, and right amygdala structures. However, some smaller sub-regions of the hippocampi showed the opposite effect. Based on prior surface-based mapping of hippocampal subfields (Mamah et al., 2016), regions of greater thickness in the 22q-dup carriers approximately correspond to subiculum and CA1 regions, whereas decreased thickness in 22q-dup carriers roughly corresponds to CA2-4/dentate subfield regions. In contrast, largely lower local thickness measures were found in bilateral putamen and caudate structures in 22q-dup relative to 22q-del carriers with small localized

regions of greater thickness.



**Figure 2.7: Subcortical Shape Differences**. Radial distance maps for 22q-dup vs 22q-del carriers, showing  $\beta$  values, adjusted for sex, age, scanner and ICV, for regions passing correction for multiple comparisons at q < 0.05. Cooler colors indicate negative  $\beta$  values (regions of lower local thickness or volume in 22q-dup vs. 22q-del). Warmer colors indicate positive  $\beta$  values (regions of greater local thickness or volume in 22q-dup vs. 22q-del). Only structures which showed differences between 22q-dup and 22q-del that survive correction are displayed, as no significant differences were found between 22q-dup and controls. 1. Caudate; 2. Putamen; 3. Hippocampus; 4. Amygdala; 5. Thalamus.

# 2.4.8: Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses revealed that neither familial relatedness nor antipsychotic medication generally influenced the parameter estimates of interest. For the subsample of unrelated individuals, the estimated effects for all global metrics, as well as the ROIs showing significant 22q-dup vs. control differences, were all within 2 standard errors of the estimated effects in the primary analyses (Table 2.6). Similarly, the results of the analyses excluding participants on antipsychotics were within 2 standard errors of the estimated in the primary analyses for all ROIs.

	Full dataset 22q-dup	Unrelated 22q-dup	Within
Measure	adjusted, mean (SE)	adjusted, mean (SE)	2 SEs?
Corpus callosum volume	2723.9 (113.5)	2737.4 (149.7)	Yes
Cortical white matter volume	415,362.7 (6319.3)	411,210.5 (8372.5)	Yes
Total gray matter	581,072.5 (8947.3)	5738,25.4 (11956.8)	Yes
Mean thickness	2.71 (0.02)	2.70 (0.03)	Yes
Total intracranial volume	1,466,356.0 (27086.6)	1,466,689.9 (35730.6)	Yes
Total area	176,466.1 (3390.9)	174,713.5 (4522.6)	Yes
Left caudal middle frontal gyrus	2.58 (0.04)	2.56 (0.05)	Yes
Left superior frontal gyrus	2.84 (0.04)	2.83 (0.05)	Yes
Right precuneus	2.50 (0.04)	2.49 (0.05)	Yes

# Table 2.6: Full Dataset vs Unrelated 22q-dup patients: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors.

Moreover, covarying for race did not alter our overall pattern of findings. Specifically, significant 22q-dup versus control differences in cortical thickness in all previously identified ROIs (the left caudal and superior frontal gyrus, and the right precuneus) remained significant, and an additional region, the right superior frontal gyrus, was also found to be significantly different.

Finally, after adjusting for mean thickness (Table 2.7), 7 of the 17 ROIs remained significant for 22q-del versus 22q-dup differences. The 3 ROI's in which we observed 22q-dup versus control differences remained significant, regardless of whether average cortical thickness was

included as a covariate or not, indicating localized effects of the 22q11.2 CNV on thickness. In contrast, covarying for total SA reduced the magnitude of deletion–duplication differences in regional SA measures. Specifically, only 8 of the 50 previously identified ROIs remained significantly different for 22q-del versus 22q-dup comparisons (Table 2.8), suggesting that our SA results should be interpreted as a diffuse, global surface deficit in 22q11.2 deletion carriers with additional regional accentuation in occipito-parietal and cingulate regions.

		22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,			22q-del,	Control,	22q-dup,
Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	Region	F	mean (SE)	mean (SE)	mean (SE)
Left hemisphere					Right hemisphere				
Bank of superior temporal sulcus**,††	9.3	2.63 (0.02)	2.72 (0.02)	2.8 (0.04)	Bank of superior temporal sulcus	4.9	2.81 (0.02)	2.87 (0.02)	2.94 (0.04)
Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus**,††	9.1	2.81 (0.03)	2.97 (0.04)	3.08 (0.06)	Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus	6.4	2.68 (0.03)	2.84 (0.03)	2.84 (0.06)
Caudal middle frontal gyrus*,**,††,‡	14.4	2.8 (0.01)	2.76 (0.02)	2.63 (0.03)	Caudal middle frontal gyrus**,††,‡	7.7	2.73 (0.02)	2.68 (0.02)	2.6 (0.03)
Cuneus	1.0	2.11 (0.02)	2.07 (0.02)	2.09 (0.04)	Cuneus	0.8	2.15 (0.02)	2.12 (0.02)	2.1 (0.04)
Entorhinal cortex	1.9	3.46 (0.04)	3.57 (0.05)	3.44 (0.08)	Entorhinal cortex	0.8	3.78 (0.05)	3.82 (0.05)	3.69 (0.09)
Frontal pole	2.3	2.81 (0.04)	2.92 (0.04)	2.96 (0.08)	Frontal pole	1.1	2.8 (0.04)	2.78 (0.04)	2.92 (0.08)
Fusiform gyrus	1.1	2.89 (0.01)	2.91 (0.02)	2.93 (0.03)	Fusiform gyrus	1.9	2.99 (0.01)	2.97 (0.01)	3.03 (0.03)
Inferior parietal cortex	0.9	2.69 (0.01)	2.71 (0.01)	2.69 (0.02)	Inferior parietal cortex	0.4	2.72 (0.01)	2.71 (0.01)	2.69 (0.02)
Inferior temporal gyrus	1.7	2.86 (0.02)	2.9 (0.02)	2.94 (0.04)	Inferior temporal gyrus	1.4	3.03 (0.02)	3.03 (0.02)	3.09 (0.03)
Insula**,†,††,‡	18.6	3.4 (0.02)	3.26 (0.02)	3.26 (0.03)	Insula	3.9	3.4 (0.02)	3.32 (0.02)	3.35 (0.04)
lsthmus cingulate	0.7	2.77 (0.03)	2.78 (0.03)	2.71 (0.05)	lsthmus cingulate	1.5	2.64 (0.02)	2.69 (0.02)	2.66 (0.04)
Lateral occipital cortex	0.2	2.33 (0.01)	2.34 (0.02)	2.35 (0.03)	Lateral occipital cortex	0.6	2.4 (0.02)	2.43 (0.02)	2.4 (0.03)
Lateral orbitofrontal cortex	2.1	2.89 (0.02)	2.86 (0.02)	2.93 (0.03)	Lateral orbitofrontal cortex	6.2	2.73 (0.02)	2.73 (0.02)	2.86 (0.04)
Lingual gyrus	5.3	2.29 (0.02)	2.24 (0.02)	2.2 (0.03)	Lingual gyrus	4.0	2.37 (0.02)	2.31 (0.02)	2.29 (0.03)
Medial orbitofrontal cortex	3.2	2.67 (0.03)	2.59 (0.03)	2.57 (0.05)	Medial orbitofrontal cortex	2.3	2.52 (0.02)	2.46 (0.02)	2.45 (0.04)
Middle temporal gyrus	0.8	3.03 (0.02)	3.03 (0.02)	3.08 (0.04)	Middle temporal gyrus	0.9	3.12 (0.02)	3.1 (0.02)	3.15 (0.04)
Paracentral gyrus	3.9	2.65 (0.02)	2.57 (0.02)	2.58 (0.04)	Paracentral gyrus	4.8	2.68 (0.02)	2.64 (0.02)	2.55 (0.04)
Parahippocampal gyrus**,†,††,‡	17.5	2.68 (0.04)	2.95 (0.04)	3.06 (0.07)	Parahippocampal gyrus	2.0	2.93 (0.04)	3.02 (0.04)	3.04 (0.07)
Pars opercularis†,††,‡	11.4	2.87 (0.01)	2.78 (0.01)	2.8 (0.02)	Pars opercularis	1.1	2.79 (0.02)	2.76 (0.02)	2.8 (0.04)
Pars orbitalis	2.0	2.98 (0.03)	2.93 (0.03)	2.88 (0.05)	Pars orbitalis	1.4	2.8 (0.03)	2.75 (0.03)	2.86 (0.06)
Pars triangularis†,††,‡	9.6	2.74 (0.02)	2.63 (0.02)	2.63 (0.03)	Pars triangularis	1.2	2.61 (0.03)	2.56 (0.03)	2.62 (0.05)
Pericalcarine gyrus	2.6	1.84 (0.02)	1.79 (0.02)	1.75 (0.04)	Pericalcarine gyrus	6.5	1.86 (0.02)	1.76 (0.02)	1.74 (0.04)
Postcentral gyrus	3.0	2.26 (0.02)	2.21 (0.02)	2.23 (0.03)	Postcentral gyrus	1.6	2.26 (0.02)	2.22 (0.02)	2.19 (0.04)
Posterior cingulate	0.8	2.78 (0.02)	2.81 (0.02)	2.82 (0.04)	Posterior cingulate	3.9	2.71 (0.02)	2.79 (0.02)	2.75 (0.04)
Precentral gyrus	5.3	2.74 (0.01)	2.72 (0.01)	2.65 (0.02)	Precentral gyrus	2.0	2.71 (0.02)	2.67 (0.02)	2.65 (0.03)
Precuneus	1.3	2.65 (0.01)	2.65 (0.01)	2.61 (0.02)	Precuneus*,**,††,‡	8.5	2.68 (0.02)	2.68 (0.02)	2.56 (0.03)
Rostral anterior cingulate	0.2	3.15 (0.03)	3.17 (0.03)	3.18 (0.06)	Rostral anterior cingulate	6.2	2.81 (0.03)	2.94 (0.03)	2.98 (0.06)
Rostral middle frontal gyrus	5.3	2.62 (0.02)	2.56 (0.02)	2.53 (0.03)	Rostral middle frontal gyrus	4.6	2.44 (0.02)	2.37 (0.02)	2.36 (0.03)
Superior frontal cortex*,**,††,‡	12.1	3.03 (0.01)	3.02 (0.01)	2.89 (0.03)	Superior frontal cortex	6.3	2.91 (0.01)	2.9 (0.02)	2.8 (0.03)
Superior parietal cortex	0.1	2.39 (0.02)	2.39 (0.02)	2.38 (0.03)	Superior parietal cortex	0.3	2.38 (0.02)	2.36 (0.02)	2.35 (0.03)
Superior temporal gyrus†,††,‡	23.0	2.87 (0.02)	3.01 (0.02)	3.03 (0.03)	Superior temporal gyrus	4.2	2.97 (0.02)	3.01 (0.02)	3.08 (0.03)
Supramarginal gyrus	4.1	2.84 (0.01)	2.79 (0.02)	2.76 (0.03)	Supramarginal gyrus**,†,††,‡	11.1	2.87 (0.01)	2.81 (0.01)	2.76 (0.02)
Temporal pole	1.1	3.67 (0.04)	3.69 (0.05)	3.8 (0.08)	Temporal pole	0.1	3.9 (0.04)	3.92 (0.05)	3.89 (0.08)
Transverse temporal gyrus	2.8	2.55 (0.03)	2.64 (0.03)	2.63 (0.05)	Transverse temporal gyrus	1.9	2.66 (0.03)	2.62 (0.03)	2.73 (0.05)

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted means are covaried for age, sex, scanner location, and mean thickness.

\*\*Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus 22q-del.

†Survives FDR correction (p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-del versus control.

††Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at omnibus level.

‡FDR-corrected omnibus effect as well as FDR-corrected del-dup or dup-con difference that remain significant with inclusion of mean thickness covariate.

#### Table 2.7: Cortical Thickness with Additional Mean Thickness Covariate: Adjusted Means

#### and Standard Errors.

Region	F	22q-del, mean (SE)	Control, mean (SE)	22q-dup, mean (SE)	Region	F	22q-del, mean (SE)	Control, mean (SE)	22q-dup, mean (SE)
Left hemisphere					Right hemisphere				
Bank of superior temporal sulcus	3.0	1012.1 (19.2)	1003.3 (19.2)	1092.9 (33.8)	Bank of superior temporal sulcus	2.3	944 (15.2)	991.3 (15.3)	996.9 (26.8)
Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus**, ††, ‡	9.5	562.7 (15.3)	632.6 (15.3)	702.1 (26.9)	Caudal anterior cingulate gyrus	3.2	674.4 (20.8)	753.7 (20.8)	748.4 (36.6)
Caudal middle frontal gyrus	1.6	2347.8 (44.7)	2229 (44.8)	2233.6 (78.7)	Caudal middle frontal gyrus	2.3	2122.7 (47)	1982.9 (47.1)	1943.2 (82.7)
Cuneus**,†,††,‡	21.4	1207.1 (24.6)	1435.2 (24.7)	1477.9 (43.4)	Cuneus†,††,‡	9.2	1315.4 (21.9)	1456.4 (21.9)	1444.3 (38.5)
Entorhinal cortex	1.4	361 (10.9)	356.3 (10.9)	392 (19.2)	Entorhinal cortex	1.1	298.1 (10)	320.3 (10)	317.1 (17.6)
Frontal pole	3.0	208 (4.4)	209.6 (4.4)	229.4 (7.8)	Frontal pole	4.0	280.2 (6)	286.3 (6)	315.4 (10.5)
Fusiform gyrus	3.8	3089.4 (42.8)	3269.9 (42.8)	3223.2 (75.3)	Fusiform gyrus	1.7	3039.8 (38.2)	3147.4 (38.3)	3124.6 (67.2)
Inferior parietal cortex**, ††	8.9	4753.7 (55.1)	4539.3 (55.2)	4257.6 (97)	Inferior parietal cortex	0.4	5522.2 (71.2)	5460 (71.4)	5386.2 (125.4)
Inferior temporal gyrus	4.8	3060.1 (42.8)	3254.6 (42.8)	3126.8 (75.3)	Inferior temporal gyrus	1.1	3016.1 (45.8)	3063.2 (45.8)	2933.7 (80.6)
Insula†,††	12.9	2150.5 (23.1)	1972.2 (23.1)	2016.7 (40.7)	Insula†,††	12.0	2188.7 (31.5)	1955.9 (31.6)	1985.6 (55.5)
lsthmus cingulate	5.5	1035.8 (18.7)	962.9 (18.7)	1059.1 (32.9)	lsthmus cingulate†,††	11.2	987.4 (17.2)	867.1 (17.2)	940.8 (30.3)
Lateral occipital cortex	0.9	4603.4 (58.5)	4665 (58.6)	4773 (102.9)	Lateral occipital cortex	1.4	4513.9 (61.4)	4475.9 (61.5)	4302.8 (108.1)
Lateral orbitofrontal cortex**,†,††	12.7	2602.7 (26.8)	2422.1 (26.8)	2356.5 (47.1)	Lateral orbitofrontal cortex**,†,††	8.7	2504 (32.2)	2318.7 (32.3)	2267.5 (56.8)
Lingual gyrus**,†,††,‡	9.3	2691.7 (45.2)	2964.1 (45.3)	3028.9 (79.6)	Lingual gyrus**,†,††	16.1	2663.8 (41.4)	3001.2 (41.5)	3046.4 (72.9)
Medial orbitofrontal cortex	2.7	1712.5 (26.2)	1642 (26.3)	1739.3 (46.2)	Medial orbitofrontal cortex	2.2	1767.2 (21.8)	1711.4 (21.8)	1779.9 (38.4)
Middle temporal gyrus	0.3	2947.1 (35.8)	2983.6 (35.8)	2953.5 (62.9)	Middle temporal gyrus	1.5	3349.2 (36)	3267.2 (36)	3231.7 (63.3)
Paracentral gyrus	1.8	1311.3 (20.5)	1312 (20.5)	1384.8 (36.1)	Paracentral gyrus	0.2	1466.5 (26.3)	1479.2 (26.3)	1453.1 (46.2)
Parahippocampal gyrus	1.6	735.3 (15.4)	705 (15.4)	748.9 (27.1)	Parahippocampal gyrus	0.4	672.3 (10.7)	657.8 (10.7)	666.9 (18.9)
Pars opercularis	3.3	1750.8 (31.7)	1639.5 (31.7)	1606.7 (55.7)	Pars opercularis**,†,††	9.8	1458.5 (25.4)	1309.9 (25.5)	1249.2 (44.8)
Pars orbitalis	4.1	641.3 (10.1)	598.3 (10.2)	599.6 (17.8)	Pars orbitalis	2.1	777.3 (12.2)	747.3 (12.2)	728.1 (21.5)
Pars triangularis	0.0	1290.9 (24.5)	1287 (24.6)	1292.4 (43.2)	Pars triangularis	0.7	1425.3 (28)	1473.4 (28)	1474.5 (49.2)
Pericalcarine gyrus†,††,‡	8.3	1153.1 (25.9)	1308.5 (25.9)	1309.6 (45.6)	Pericalcarine gyrus†,††,‡	10.2	1279.5 (26)	1458.4 (26.1)	1406.7 (45.8)
Postcentral gyrus	0.1	4075.6 (46.3)	4093.8 (46.4)	4047.8 (81.5)	Postcentral gyrus	2.1	3845.7 (48)	3995.4 (48.1)	3957.2 (84.5)
Posterior cingulate	1.5	1190 (19.7)	1174.1 (19.8)	1238.9 (34.7)	Posterior cingulate	0.0	1196.4 (20.5)	1189.4 (20.5)	1186.8 (36)
Precentral gyrus†,††	14.8	5030.1 (52)	4604.7 (52.1)	4645.7 (91.5)	Precentral gyrus**,†,††	21.7	5049.7 (45.9)	4666.6 (46)	4468.5 (80.8)
Precuneus	4.5	3542.2 (43.8)	3734 (43.9)	3745 (77.1)	Precuneus	2.5	3733.5 (44.3)	3791.4 (44.4)	3943.5 (78)
Rostral anterior cingulate	6.8	729.4 (15.5)	750.5 (15.5)	848.3 (27.2)	Rostral anterior cingulate	2.5	638.4 (15.5)	632.6 (15.6)	699.4 (27.3)
Rostral middle frontal gyrus	0.6	5387.4 (61.3)	5480.1 (61.4)	5389.1 (108)	Rostral middle frontal gyrus	3.1	5473.6 (61.8)	5704.7 (61.9)	5602.3 (108.7)
Superior frontal cortex	2.3	7192.6 (62)	7030 (62.1)	6933.1 (109.2)	Superior frontal cortex	5.6	7073.8 (62.7)	6762.8 (62.8)	6762.4 (110.4)
Superior parietal cortex+,++,+	13.6	4941.4 (66.6)	5466.6 (66.7)	5233.2 (117.2)	Superior parietal cortex+,++,+	10.6	4952 (62.1)	5370.5 (62.2)	5395.4 (109.4)
Superior temporal gyrus	6.4	3776 (37.4)	3585.7 (37.5)	3733.8 (65.9)	Superior temporal gyrus	1.3	3457.6 (33.9)	3429.4 (34)	3533.8 (59.7)
Supramarginal gyrus	1.3	3933 (54.4)	3797.7 (54.5)	3822.2 (95.8)	Supramarginal gyrus	5.2	3682.6 (52.9)	3497 (53)	3775.3 (93.1)
Temporal pole	3.7	442.6 (7.5)	472.7 (7.5)	472.6 (13.2)	Temporal pole	2.9	391.3 (8.3)	420.7 (8.3)	421.8 (14.6)
Transverse temporal gyrus	1.5	451.3 (8.7)	446.5 (8.7)	475.2 (15.4)	Transverse temporal gyrus	0.3	321.5 (7)	328.7 (7)	323.6 (12.2)

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted means are covaried for age, sex, scanner location, and total area.

\*\*Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-dup versus 22q-del.

†Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at post hoc level for 22q-del versus control.

† †Survives FDR correction ( p < 0.05 threshold) at omnibus level.

‡FDR-corrected omnibus effect as well as FDR-corrected del-dup or dup-con difference that remain significant with inclusion of total area covariate.

# Table 2.8: Surface Area with Additional Total Area Covariate: Adjusted Means and Standard Errors.

#### 2.5: Discussion

22q11.2 copy number variation was associated with global opposing effects on brain

structure, involving widespread cortical SA reductions in deletion carriers with corresponding

enlargement in duplication carriers. CT showed an opposite, more localized pattern. These

findings were not accounted for by a subset of individuals, but rather the entire distribution was

shifted, suggesting a highly penetrant effect of gene dosage.

#### 2.5.1: 22q11.2 gene dosage implications for neuropsychiatric disorders

There is now replicated evidence that duplications at 22q11.2 are substantially less common in schizophrenia cases than in the general population, but reciprocal deletions are an established strong risk factor for schizophrenia (Rees et al., 2014, 2016). Our findings suggest a possible underlying neurobiological basis for these divergent behavioral phenotypes. We found opposing effects of CT and SA in in 22q-del vs. 22q-dup in medial temporal and frontal brain regions strongly implicated in idiopathic schizophrenia (Shepherd et al., 2012; Palaniyappan et al., 2011), suggesting relevant underlying brain mechanisms that may be selective for schizophrenia. Alternatively, since both 22q-del and 22q-dup confer increased risk for ASD, opposing effects in common brain regions implicated in autism (e.g., decreased vs. increased SA in medial frontal regions in 22q-del and 22q-dup, respectively; Ecker et al., 2013; Ohta et al., 2016, Wallace et al., 2015) may result in similar downstream phenotypic effects on traits such as language delay and reciprocal social behavior deficits. Future, prospective longitudinal brain-behavior investigations in these two groups are necessary to test these hypotheses.

# 2.5.2: 22q11.2 gene dosage effects on brain structure

Critical to our study framework, we separately measured CT and SA, two cortical measures that likely have different phylogenetic and ontogenetic origins (Rakic, 1995; Panizzon et al., 2009) and distinct developmental trajectories (Raznahan et al., 2011; Wierenga et al., 2014). Our findings of opposing directions of effect, as well as more pervasive effects of the 22q11 CNV on SA relative to CT, suggest that different mechanisms may be involved. In particular, increased progenitor cell production during early embryonic development predominantly influences SA expansion (Rakic, 1988); thus, widespread SA decreases in 22q-del may reflect reduced production of progenitor cells in multiple cortical areas, implying that these divergent phenotypes arise early in the course of development. Nevertheless, these effects were not entirely proportional in magnitude, as deletions conferred a relatively larger "hit" to SA and to global brain volume metrics than did duplications. This pattern is consistent with

the relatively milder effect of 22q-dup on cognition, which aligns with epidemiologic findings that duplication CNVs tend to have less deleterious effects on cognition (Männik et al., 2015). Widespread SA reductions in 22q-del, with more subtle increases for 22q-dup, may be a potential mechanism underlying differential deficits in cognition associated with deletions at this locus. However, regional CT decreases in 22q-dup were proportional to the increases observed in deletion carriers, albeit in somewhat different cortical regions.

While deletion-duplication differences in SA were widespread throughout the cortex, including fronto-temporal regions critical for language (Friederici & Gierhan, 2013) and medial and lateral frontal and parietal regions implicated in self-referential thought and social perception (Kennedy & Adolphs, 2012), effects on CT were more localized. Despite the notable divergence in the specific brain regions predominantly affected by the deletion versus duplication, regions with the greatest magnitude of effects are notable in their shared role in social–cognitive neural circuitry (Adolphs, 2009; Lieberman, 2007).

The overall patterns detected in the cortex persisted into subcortical regions, previously shown to be affected by 22q-del (Bish et al., 2004; Kates et al., 2004), suggesting global effects of 22q11.2 CNV on brain development. Our novel shape analysis revealed localized patterns of subcortical alteration, which may correspond to underlying anatomic subfields that cannot be resolved by conventional volumetric approaches (Mamah et al., 2016). We found largely higher local thickness in 22q-dup relative to 22q-del carriers in bilateral hippocampal, left thalamus, and right amygdala structures; the opposite pattern was observed for bilateral putamen and caudate structures, which together form the dorsal striatum and importantly contain the same types of neurons and circuits (Alexander & Crutcher, 1990). Local and global hippocampal reductions in 22q-del are consistent with findings in a mouse model, indicating decreased density of dendritic spines and glutamatergic synapses as well as impaired dendritic growth, in primary hippocampal neurons (Mukai et al., 2008). To our knowledge, no pre-clinical models of the reciprocal duplication have yet been developed; thus, it is unclear the extent to which our

human findings are recapitulated in animal models. Future work aims to map known subfields to subcortical surface models so that stronger inferences may be made regarding the underlying compartmental effects detected by this shape analysis technique.

# 2.5.3: Genes critical for cortical circuit formation in the 22q11.2 locus

The 22q11.2 region houses many genes highly conserved in model organisms and expressed in the developing brain. Some 22q11.2 genes are selectively expressed in cortical progenitors in the ventricular/subventricular zones (e.g., *Ranbp1* and *Cdc45I*), whereas others, including *Dgcr8*, a microRNA processing co-factor, are more broadly expressed in cortical neurons (Meechan et al., 2015). As many of these genes are expressed early in development, diminished dosage of multiple 22q11.2 genes may lead to compromised proliferative and neurogenic capacity of neuronal precursors.

While the function of individual 22q11.2 genes in the developing cortex remains poorly understood, *Ranbp1* gene dosage remains a candidate mechanism as a regulator of early nervous system development (Paronett et al., 2015). *Ranbp1* homozygous null mouse embryos are either exencephalic or microcephalic at early stages. *Ranbp1* plays a role in rapidly dividing precursors in the developing cortex, loss of which may compromise the overall pool of cortical radial glial progenitors, resulting in a smaller brain. *Ranbp1-/-* embryos were found to have selectively disrupted layer 2/3 cortical projection neuron generation, suggesting an important role in cortical circuit development. In addition, a haplotype block including the *RANBP1* and *DGCR8* genes was associated with idiopathic schizophrenia (Liu et al., 2002). Thus, targeted studies of the effects of over- and under-expression of *Ranbp1* and other key neurodevelopmental genes in the locus are warranted.

#### 2.5.4: Gene-dosage effects in other reciprocal CNVs

Notably, dose-dependent effects of two other neuropsychiatric CNVs (15q11.2 BP1-BP2 and 16p11.2) on brain structure have recently been discovered. Our findings of similar diametric patterns in the 22q11.2 locus suggest that this anthropometric variation may be regulated by

multiple, distinct genomic regions. Consistent with our 22q11.2 findings, in the Icelandic population Stefansson and colleagues (2014) found a positive gene dosage effect of 15q11.2 on gray matter volume, whereas corpus callosum size was lower in 15q11.2 duplication relative to deletion carriers. Further, convergent findings across 16p11.2 mouse and human studies indicate pervasive effects of gene dosage across cortical and subcortical structures, suggesting the role of genes important in early development (Horev et al., 2011; Quereshi et al., 2014). Similar to our results, reciprocal variation at 16p11.2 revealed widespread alterations in SA (Quereshi et al., 2014); intriguingly, however, the pattern of findings was in the opposite direction (deletion> control>duplication). Thus, while gene dosage is associated with opposing brain phenotypes across these "neuropsychiatric" CNVs, deletion or duplication of genomic material does not consistently determine the direction of effect. Finally, in a zebrafish model, Golzio and colleagues (2012) identified a single gene at the 16p11.2 locus, *KCTD13*, that is likely responsible for the opposing brain phenotypes, as it causes microcephaly when overexpressed and macrocephaly when suppressed. It is not yet known whether the patterns observed for 22q11.2 are attributable to a single gene or an oligogenic effect.

#### 2.5.5: Study limitations

Several limitations of our study must be noted, such as the modest sample size of our 22q-dup group. As the first study to investigate effects of reciprocal genomic variation in this region, these results should be confirmed in subsequent, larger investigations. Additionally, given the duplication's inheritance pattern (Wentzel et al., 2008), many participants in this group were related. Although effect sizes for our main findings did not substantively change when removing related individuals, we could not entirely disentangle familial effects from those of the duplication itself. Additionally, the two CNV groups contained a greater proportion of subjects of European ancestry than the control group; nevertheless, covarying for race did not alter the significant findings. Further, although 22q-dup carriers did not differ in nonverbal IQ from controls, it was not possible to match nonverbal IQ of duplication to deletion carriers. Crucially,

however, our sample was highly representative of the phenotypic spectrum of 22q11.2 disorders in the broader population (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2015; Tang et al., 2016).

### 2.5.6: Concluding remarks

Elucidating the pathophysiology of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders remains a major challenge, due to considerable heterogeneity at both the genetic and phenotypic level (Geschwind & Flint, 2015). The robust, opposing effects on brain structure described here highlight the utility of investigating the influence of reciprocal chromosomal imbalances on neural processes and how these may ultimately contribute to disease pathogenesis. Prospective longitudinal studies are underway to track divergent neurodevelopmental trajectories over time in CNV carriers. Finally, in vitro modeling of reciprocal CNVs at the 22q11.2 locus offers an avenue to directly characterize associated cellular phenotypes.

#### 2.6: References

- Adolphs R (2009) The social brain: neural basis of social knowledge. Annu Rev Psychol 60:693-716.
- Alexander GE, Crutcher MD (1990) Functional Architecture of Basal Ganglia Circuits Neural Substrates of Parallel Processing. Trends Neurosci 13:266-271.
- Antshel KM, Aneja A, Strunge L, Peebles J, Fremont WP, Stallone K, AbdulSabur N, Higgins AM, Shprintzen RJ, Kates WR (2007) Autistic spectrum disorders in velo-cardio facial syndrome (22q11.2 deletion). J Autism Dev Disord 37:1776-1786.
- Bassett AS, Chow EW (2008) Schizophrenia and 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Curr Psychiatry Rep 10:148-157.
- Bearden CE, van Erp TG, Dutton RA, Tran H, Zimmermann L, Sun D, Geaga JA, Simon TJ, Glahn DC, Cannon TD, Emanuel BS, Toga AW, Thompson PM (2007) Mapping cortical thickness in children with 22q11.2 deletions. Cereb Cortex 17:1889-1898.
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y (1995) Controlling the False Discovery Rate a Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. J Roy Stat Soc B Met 57:289-300.
- Bish JP, Nguyen V, Ding L, Ferrante S, Simon TJ (2004) Thalamic reductions in children with chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Neuroreport 15:1413-1415.
- Cavanna AE, Trimble MR (2006) The precuneus: a review of its functional anatomy and behavioural correlates. Brain 129:564-583.
- Constantino, JN & Gruber, CP (2007) Social responsiveness scale (SRS). Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- Coppola G, Choi SH, Santos MM, Miranda CJ, Tentler D, Wexler EM, Pandolfo M, Geschwind DH (2006) Gene expression profiling in frataxin deficient mice: Microarray evidence for significant expression changes without detectable neurodegeneration. Neurobiol Dis 22:302-311.

- Cnv, Schizophrenia Working Groups of the Psychiatric Genomics C, Psychosis Endophenotypes International C (2017) Contribution of copy number variants to schizophrenia from a genomewide study of 41,321 subjects. Nat Genet 49:27-35.
- Dale AM, Fischl B, Sereno MI (1999) Cortical surface-based analysis I. Segmentation and surface reconstruction. Neuroimage 9:179-194.
- Desikan RS, Segonne F, Fischl B, Quinn BT, Dickerson BC, Blacker D, Buckner RL, Dale AM, Maguire RP, Hyman BT, Albert MS, Killiany RJ (2006) An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. Neuroimage 31:968-980.
- Devlin B, Scherer SW (2012) Genetic architecture in autism spectrum disorder. Curr Opin Genet Dev 22:229-237.
- Duerden EG, Mak-Fan KM, Taylor MJ, Roberts SW (2012) Regional Differences in Grey and White Matter in Children and Adults With Autism Spectrum Disorders: An Activation Likelihood Estimate (ALE) Meta-analysis. Autism Res 5:49-66.
- Ecker C, Ginestet C, Feng Y, Johnston P, Lombardo MV, Lai MC, Suckling J, Palaniyappan L, Daly E,
   Murphy CM, Williams SC, Bullmore ET, Baron-Cohen S, Brammer M, Murphy DG, Consortium
   MA (2013) Brain surface anatomy in adults with autism: the relationship between surface area,
   cortical thickness, and autistic symptoms. JAMA Psychiatry 70:59-70.
- Ensenauer RE, Adeyinka A, Flynn HC, Michels VV, Lindor NM, Dawson DB, Thorland EC, Lorentz CP, Goldstein JL, McDonald MT, Smith WE, Simon-Fayard E, Alexander AA, Kulharya AS, Ketterling RP, Clark RD, Jalal SM (2003) Microduplication 22q11.2, an emerging syndrome:
  Clinical, cytogenetic, and molecular analysis of thirteen patients. Am J Hum Genet 73:1027-1040.
- First, MB & Gibbon M (2004) The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (SCID-I) and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Disorders (SCID-II).

Firth HV (1993) 22q11.2 Duplication. In: GeneReviews(R) (Pagon RA, Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Wallace SE, Amemiya A, Bean LJH, Bird TD, Ledbetter N, Mefford HC, Smith RJH, Stephens K, eds). Seattle (WA).

Fischl B, Sereno MI, Dale AM (1999) Cortical surface-based analysis - II: Inflation, flattening, and a surface-based coordinate system. Neuroimage 9:195-207.

Friederici AD, Gierhan SME (2013) The language network. Curr Opin Neurobiol 23:250-254.

Fung WL, McEvilly R, Fong J, Silversides C, Chow E, Bassett A (2010) Elevated prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder in adults with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 167:998.

Geschwind DH, Flint J (2015) Genetics and genomics of psychiatric disease. Science 349:1489-1494.

- Girirajan S, Brkanac Z, Coe BP, Baker C, Vives L, Vu TH, Shafer N, Bernier R, Ferrero GB, Silengo M, Warren ST, Moreno CS, Fichera M, Romano C, Raskind WH, Eichler EE (2011) Relative burden of large CNVs on a range of neurodevelopmental phenotypes. Plos Genet 7:e1002334.
- Golzio C, Willer J, Talkowski ME, Oh EC, Taniguchi Y, Jacquemont S, Reymond A, Sun M, Sawa A, Gusella JF, Kamiya A, Beckmann JS, Katsanis N (2012) KCTD13 is a major driver of mirrored neuroanatomical phenotypes of the 16p11.2 copy number variant. Nature 485:363-U111.
- Gothelf D, Feinstein C, Thompson T, Gu E, Penniman L, Van Stone E, Kwon H, Eliez S, Reiss AL (2007) Risk factors for the emergence of psychotic disorders in adolescents with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 164:663-669.
- Gothelf D, Presburger G, Zohar AH, Burg M, Nahmani A, Frydman M, Shohat M, Inbar D, Aviram-Goldring A, Yeshaya J, Steinberg T, Finkelstein Y, Frisch A, Weizman A, Apter A (2004)
  Obsessive-compulsive disorder in patients with velocardiofacial (22q11 deletion) syndrome. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 126B:99-105.
- Grati FR et al. (2015) Prevalence of recurrent pathogenic microdeletions and microduplications in over 9500 pregnancies. Prenatal Diag 35:801-809.
- Green T, Gothelf D, Glaser B, Debbane M, Frisch A, Kotler M, Weizman A, Eliez S (2009) Psychiatric disorders and intellectual functioning throughout development in velocardiofacial (22q11.2 deletion) syndrome. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 48:1060-1068.
- Guilmatre A et al. (2009) Recurrent Rearrangements in Synaptic and Neurodevelopmental Genes and Shared Biologic Pathways in Schizophrenia, Autism, and Mental Retardation. Arch Gen Psychiat 66:947.
- Gutman BA, Jahanshad N, Ching CRK, Wang YL, Kochunov PV, Nichols TE, Thompson PM (2015) Medial Demons Registration Localizes the Degree of Genetic Influence over Subcortical Shape Variability: An N=1480 Meta-Analysis. I S Biomed Imaging:1402-1406.
- Gutman BA, Wang YL, Rajagopalan P, Toga AW, Thompson PM (2012) Shape Matching with Medial Curves and 1-D Group-Wise Registration. 2012 9th IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI):716-719.
- Heitzeg MM, Nigg JT, Hardee JE, Soules M, Steinberg D, Zubieta JK, Zucker RA (2014) Left middle frontal gyrus response to inhibitory errors in children prospectively predicts early problem substance use. Drug Alcohol Depen 141:51-57.
- Hibar DP et al. (2016) Subcortical volumetric abnormalities in bipolar disorder. Mol Psychiatry 21:1710-1716.
- Hiroi N, Takahashi T, Hishimoto A, Izumi T, Boku S, Hiramoto T (2013) Copy number variation at 22q11.2: from rare variants to common mechanisms of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. Mol Psychiatr 18:1153-1165.
- Hoeffding LK, Trabjerg BB, Olsen L, Mazin W, Sparso T, Vangkilde A, Mortensen PB, Pedersen CB,
   Werge T (2017) Risk of Psychiatric Disorders Among Individuals With the 22q11.2 Deletion or
   Duplication A Danish Nationwide, Register-Based Study. Jama Psychiatry 74:282-290.
- Horev G, Ellegood J, Lerch JP, Son YEE, Muthuswamy L, Vogel H, Krieger AM, Buja A, Henkelman RM, Wigler M, Mills AA (2011) Dosage-dependent phenotypes in models of 16p11.2 lesions found in autism. P Natl Acad Sci USA 108:17076-17081.

- Im K, Lee JM, Lyttelton O, Kim SH, Evans AC, Kim SI (2008) Brain size and cortical structure in the adult human brain. Cereb Cortex 18:2181-2191.
- Jalbrzikowski M, Ahmed KH, Patel A, Jonas R, Kushan L, Chow C, & Bearden CE (2016) Categorical versus dimensional approaches to autism-associated intermediate phenotypes in 22q11. 2 microdeletion syndrome. Biol Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging.
- Jalbrzikowski M, Jonas R, Senturk D, Patel A, Chow C, Green MF, Bearden CE (2013) Structural abnormalities in cortical volume, thickness, and surface area in 22q11.2 microdeletion syndrome: Relationship with psychotic symptoms. Neuroimage Clin 3:405-415.
- Jonas RK, Jalbrzikowski M, Montojo CA, Patel A, Kushan L, Chow CC, Vesagas T, Bearden CE (2015) Altered Brain Structure-Function Relationships Underlie Executive Dysfunction in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Mol Neuropsychiatry 1:235-246.
- Jonas RK, Montojo CA, Bearden CE (2014) The 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome as a Window into Complex Neuropsychiatric Disorders over the Lifespan. Biol Psychiat 75:351-360.
- Kates WR, Burnette CP, Bessette BA, Folley BS, Strunge L, Jabs EW, Pearlson GD (2004) Frontal and caudate alterations in velocardiofacial syndrome (deletion at chromosome 22q11.2). J Child Neurol 19:337-342.
- Kennedy DP, Adolphs R (2012) The social brain in psychiatric and neurological disorders. Trends Cogn Sci 16:559-572.
- Lam KSL, Aman MG (2007) The repetitive behavior scale-revised: Independent validation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 37:855-866.
- Leff AP, Schofield TM, Crinion JT, Seghier ML, Grogan A, Green DW, Price CJ (2009) The left superior temporal gyrus is a shared substrate for auditory short-term memory and speech comprehension: evidence from 210 patients with stroke. Brain 132:3401-3410.
- Li ZQ et al. (2016) Genome-wide Analysis of the Role of Copy Number Variation in Schizophrenia Risk in Chinese. Biol Psychiat 80:331-337.

- Li Z, Chen J, Xu Y, et al. (2015) Genome-wide analysis of the role of copy number variation in schizophrenia risk in Chinese. Biol Psychiatry 80(4):331-337.
- Lieberman MD (2007) Social cognitive neuroscience: A review of core processes. Annu Rev Psychol 58:259-289.
- Liu H, Abecasis GR, Heath SC, Knowles A, Demars S, Chen YJ, Roos JL, Rapoport JL, Gogos JA, Karayiorgou M (2002) Genetic variation in the 22q11 locus and susceptibility to schizophrenia. P Natl Acad Sci USA 99:16859-16864.
- Lord C, Risi S, Lambrecht L, Cook EH, Leventhal BL, DiLavore PC, Pickles A, Rutter M (2000) The Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule-Generic: A standard measure of social and communication deficits associated with the spectrum of autism. J Autism Dev Disord 30:205-223.
- Lord C, Rutter M, Lecouteur A (1994) Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised a Revised Version of a Diagnostic Interview for Caregivers of Individuals with Possible Pervasive Developmental Disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 24:659-685.
- Maillard AM et al. (2015) The 16p11.2 locus modulates brain structures common to autism, schizophrenia and obesity. Mol Psychiatr 20:140-147.
- Malhotra D, Sebat J (2012) CNVs: Harbingers of a Rare Variant Revolution in Psychiatric Genetics. Cell 148:1223-1241.
- Mamah D, Alpert KI, Barch DM, Csernansky JG, Wang L (2016) Subcortical neuromorphometry in schizophrenia spectrum and bipolar disorders. Neuroimage-Clin 11:276-286.
- Mannik K et al. (2015) Copy Number Variations and Cognitive Phenotypes in Unselected Populations. Jama-J Am Med Assoc 313:2044-2054.
- Maynard TM, Haskell GT, Peters AZ, Sikich L, Lieberman JA, LaMantia AS (2003) A comprehensive analysis of 22q11 gene expression in the developing and adult brain. P Natl Acad Sci USA 100:14433-14438.

- McDonald-McGinn DM, Sullivan KE, Marino B, Philip N, Swillen A, Vorstman JA, Zackai EH, Emanuel BS, Vermeesch JR, Morrow BE, Scambler PJ, Bassett AS (2015) 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15071.
- Meda SA, Pryweller JR, Thornton-Wells TA (2012) Regional Brain Differences in Cortical Thickness, Surface Area and Subcortical Volume in Individuals with Williams Syndrome. Plos One 7:e31913.
- Meechan DW, Maynard TM, Tucker ES, Fernandez A, Karpinski BA, Rothblat LA, LaMantia AS (2015a) Modeling a model: Mouse genetics, 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome, and disorders of cortical circuit development. Prog Neurobiol 130:1-28.
- Meechan DW, Rutz HLH, Fralish MS, Maynard TM, Rothblat LA, LaMantia AS (2015b) Cognitive Ability is Associated with Altered Medial Frontal Cortical Circuits in the LgDel Mouse Model of 22q11.2DS. Cereb Cortex 25:1143-1151.
- Meechan DW, Tucker ES, Maynard TM, LaMantia AS (2012) Cxcr4 regulation of interneuron migration is disrupted in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. P Natl Acad Sci USA 109:18601-18606.
- Mukai J, Dhilla A, Drew LJ, Stark KL, Cao L, MacDermott AB, Karayiorgou M, Gogos JA (2008) Palmitoylation-dependent neurodevelopmental deficits in a mouse model of 22q11 microdeletion. Nat Neurosci 11:1302-1310.
- Murphy KC, Jones LA, Owen MJ (1999) High rates of schizophrenia in adults with velo-cardio-facial syndrome. Arch Gen Psychiat 56:940-945.
- Niklasson L, Rasmussen P, Oskarsdottir S, Gillberg C (2001) Neuropsychiatric disorders in the 22q11 deletion syndrome. Genet Med 3: 79–84.
- Niklasson L, Rasmussen P, Oskarsdóttir S, Gillberg C (2009) Autism, ADHD, mental retardation and behavior problems in 100 individuals with 22q11 deletion syndrome. Research in Developmental Disabilities 30: 763–773. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2008.10.007.

- Ohta H, Nordahl CW, Iosif AM, Lee A, Rogers S, Amaral DG (2016) Increased Surface Area, but not Cortical Thickness, in a Subset of Young Boys With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Autism Res 9:232-248.
- Ou Z, Berg JS, Yonath H, Enciso VB, Miller DT, Picker J, Lenzi T, Keegan CE, Sutton VR, Belmont J, Chinault AC, Lupski JR, Cheung SW, Roeder E, Patel A (2008) Microduplications of 22q11.2 are frequently inherited and are associated with variable phenotypes. Genet Med 10:267-277.
- Palaniyappan, L., Mallikarjun, P., Joseph, V., White, T. P., & Liddle, P. F. (2011). Regional contraction of brain surface area involves three large-scale networks in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research*, *129*(2), 163-168.
- Panizzon MS, Fennema-Notestine C, Eyler LT, Jernigan TL, Prom-Wormley E, Neale M, Jacobson K, Lyons MJ, Grant MD, Franz CE, Xian H, Tsuang M, Fischl B, Seidman L, Dale A, Kremen WS (2009) Distinct Genetic Influences on Cortical Surface Area and Cortical Thickness. Cerebral Cortex 19:2728-2735.
- Paronett EM, Meechan DW, Karpinski BA, LaMantia AS, Maynard TM (2015) Ranbp1, Deleted in
   DiGeorge/22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome, is a Microcephaly Gene That Selectively Disrupts Layer
   2/3 Cortical Projection Neuron Generation. Cerebral Cortex 25:3977-3993.
- Portnoi MF, Lebas F, Gruchy N, Ardalan A, Biran-Mucignat V, Malan V, Finkel L, Roger G, Ducrocq S, Gold F, Taillemite JL, Marlin S (2005) 22q11.2 Duplication syndrome: Two new familial cases with some overlapping features with DiGeorge/velocardiofacial syndromes. Am J Med Genet A 137a:47-51.
- Pulver AE, Nestadt G, Goldberg R, Shprintzen RJ, Lamacz M, Wolyniec PS, Morrow B, Karayiorgou M, Antonarakis SE, Housman D, Kucherlapati R (1994) Psychotic Illness in Patients Diagnosed with Velo-Cardio-Facial Syndrome and Their Relatives. J Nerv Ment Dis 182:476-478.
- Qureshi AY, Mueller S, Snyder AZ, Mukherjee P, Berman JI, Roberts TPL, Nagarajan SS, Spiro JE, Chung WK, Sherr EH, Buckner RL, Consortium SV (2014) Opposing Brain Differences in 16p11.2 Deletion and Duplication Carriers. J Neurosci 34:11199-11211.

- R Core Team (2016) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rakic P (1995) A Small Step for the Cell, a Giant Leap for Mankind a Hypothesis of Neocortical Expansion during Evolution. Trends Neurosci 18:383-388.

Rakic P (1988) Specification of cerebral cortical areas. Science 241:170-176.

- Raznahan A, Cutter W, Lalonde F, Robertson D, Daly E, Conway GS, Skuse DH, Ross J, Lerch JP, Giedd JN, Murphy DDGM (2010) Cortical anatomy in human X monosomy (vol 49, pg 2915, 2010). Neuroimage 51:1282-1284.
- Raznahan A, Shaw P, Lalonde F, Stockman M, Wallace GL, Greenstein D, Clasen L, Gogtay N, Giedd JN (2011) How Does Your Cortex Grow? J Neurosci 31:7174-7177.
- Rees E et al. (2014) Evidence that duplications of 22q11.2 protect against schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatr 19:37-40.
- Rees E, Kendall K, Pardiñas AF, Legge SE, Pocklington A, Escott-Price V, MacCabe JH, Collier DA, Holmans P, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2016) Analysis of intellectual disability copy number variants for association with schizophrenia. JAMA psychiatry 73(9):963-9.
- Roshchupkin GV, Gutman BA, Vernooij MW, Jahanshad N, Martin NG, Hofman A, McMahon KL, van der Lee SJ, van Duijn CM, de Zubicaray GI, Uitterlinden AG, Wright MJ, Niessen WJ, Thompson PM, Ikram MA, Adams HHH (2016) Heritability of the shape of subcortical brain structures in the general population. Nat Commun 7.
- Schmaal L et al. (2016) Subcortical brain alterations in major depressive disorder: findings from the ENIGMA Major Depressive Disorder working group. Mol Psychiatry 21:806-812.
- Schmitt JE, Vandekar S, Yi J, Calkins ME, Ruparel K, Roalf DR, Whinna D, Souders MC, Satterwaite TD, Prabhakaran K, McDonald-McGinn DM, Zackai EH, Gur RC, Emanuel BS, Gur RE (2015) Aberrant Cortical Morphometry in the 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Biol Psychiat 78:135-143.

- Schneider M et al. (2014) Psychiatric disorders from childhood to adulthood in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: results from the International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 171:627-639.
- Shaffer D, Fisher P, Lucas CP, Dulcan MK, Schwab-Stone ME (2000) NIMH Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children Version IV (NIMH DISC-IV): Description, differences from previous versions, and reliability of some common diagnoses. J Am Acad Child Psy 39:28-38.
- Shaikh TH, O'Connor RJ, Pierpont ME, McGrath J, Hacker AM, Nimmakayalu M, Geiger E, Emanuel BS, Saitta SC (2007) Low copy repeats mediate distal chromosome 22q11.2 deletions:
   Sequence analysis predicts breakpoint mechanisms. Genome Res 17:482-491.
- Shaw P, Gogtay N, Rapoport J (2010) Childhood Psychiatric Disorders as Anomalies in Neurodevelopmental Trajectories. Hum Brain Mapp 31:917-925.
- Shepherd AM, Laurens KR, Matheson SL, Carr VJ, Green MJ (2012) Systematic meta-review and quality assessment of the structural brain alterations in schizophrenia. Neurosci Biobehav R 36:1342-1356.
- Small SA, Schobel SA, Buxton RB, Witter MP, Barnes CA (2011) A pathophysiological framework of hippocampal dysfunction in ageing and disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 12:585-601.
- Sorensen KM, Agergaard P, Olesen C, Andersen PS, Larsen LA, Ostergaard JR, Schouten JP, Christiansen M (2010) Detecting 22q11.2 Deletions by Use of Multiplex Ligation-Dependent Probe Amplification on DNA from Neonatal Dried Blood Spot Samples. J Mol Diagn 12:147-151.
- Stankiewicz P, Lupski JR (2002) Genome architecture, rearrangements and genomic disorders. Trends Genet 18:74-82.
- Stefansson H et al. (2014) CNVs conferring risk of autism or schizophrenia affect cognition in controls. Nature 505:361-+.
- Sullivan PF, Daly MJ, O'Donovan M (2012) DISEASE MECHANISMS Genetic architectures of psychiatric disorders: the emerging picture and its implications. Nat Rev Genet 13:537-551.

- Tang SX, Moore TM, Calkins ME, Yi JJ, Savitt A, Kohler CG, Souders MC, Zackai EH, McDonald-McGinn DM, Emanuel BS, Gur RC, Gur RE (2016) The Psychosis Spectrum in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome Is Comparable to That of Nondeleted Youths. Biol Psychiat.
- Thompson PM et al. (2015) ENIGMA and the individual: Predicting factors that affect the brain in 35 countries worldwide. Neuroimage. Dec 4. [Epub ahead of print].
- Thompson PM et al. (2014) The ENIGMA Consortium: large-scale collaborative analyses of neuroimaging and genetic data. Brain Imaging Behav 8:153-182.
- van Erp TG et al. (2016) Subcortical brain volume abnormalities in 2028 individuals with schizophrenia and 2540 healthy controls via the ENIGMA consortium. Mol Psychiatry 21:547-553.
- Ventura J, Liberman RP, Green MF, Shaner A, Mintz J (1998) Training and quality assurance with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID-I/P). Psychiatry Res 79:163-173.
- Vorstman JA, Morcus ME, Duijff SN, Klaassen PW, Heineman-de Boer JA, Beemer FA, Swaab H, Kahn RS, van Engeland H (2006) The 22q11.2 deletion in children: high rate of autistic disorders and early onset of psychotic symptoms. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 45:1104-1113.
- Wallace GL, Eisenberg IW, Robustelli B, Dankner N, Kenworthy L, Giedd JN, Martin A (2015)
   Longitudinal Cortical Development During Adolescence and Young Adulthood in Autism
   Spectrum Disorder: Increased Cortical Thinning but Comparable Surface Area Changes. J Am
   Acad Child Psy 54:464-469.
- Wang L, Mamah D, Harms MP, Karnik M, Price JL, Gado MH, Thompson PA, Barch DM, Miller MI, Csernansky JG (2008) Progressive deformation of deep brain nuclei and hippocampalamygdala formation in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 64:1060-1068.

Wechsler, D (1999) WASI manual. San Antonio: Psychological Corporation.

Wechsler D, Coalson DL, Raiford SE (2008) WAIS-IV: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. San Antonio, TX: Pearson.

- Wenger TL, Miller JS, DePolo LM, de Marchena AB, Clements CC, Emanuel BS, Zackai EH, McDonald-McGinn DM, Schultz RT (2016) 22q11.2 duplication syndrome: elevated rate of autism spectrum disorder and need for medical screening. Mol Autism 7:27.
- Wentzel C, Fernstrom M, Ohrner Y, Anneren G, Thuresson AC (2008) Clinical variability of the 22q11.2 duplication syndrome. Eur J Med Genet 51:501-510.
- Wierenga LM, Langen M, Oranje B, Durston S (2014) Unique developmental trajectories of cortical thickness and surface area. Neuroimage 87:120-126.
- Winkler AM, Kochunov P, Blangero J, Almasy L, Zilles K, Fox PT, Duggirala R, Glahn DC (2010) Cortical thickness or grey matter volume? The importance of selecting the phenotype for imaging genetics studies. Neuroimage 53:1135-1146.
- Yu S, Cox K, Friend K, Smith S, Buchheim R, Bain S, Liebelt J, Thompson E, Bratkovic
   D (2008) Familial 22q11.2 duplication: a three-generation family with a 3-Mb
   duplication and a familial 1.5-Mb duplication. Clin Genet 73:160-164.

# CHAPTER THREE

Reciprocal Copy Number Variations at 22q11.2 Produce Distinct and Convergent Neurobehavioral Impairments Relevant for Schizophrenia and Autism Spectrum Disorder

#### 3.1: Abstract

22q11.2 deletions and duplications are copy number variations (CNVs) that predispose to developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. Both CNVs are associated with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), while the deletion confers disproportionate risk for schizophrenia. Neurobehavioral profiles associated with these reciprocal CNVs in conjunction with brain imaging measures have not been reported. We profiled the impact of 22q11.2 CNVs on neurobehavioral measures relevant to ASD and psychosis in 106 22q11.2 deletion carriers, 38 22g11.2 duplication carriers, and 82 demographically-matched controls. To determine whether brain-behavior relationships were altered in CNV carriers, we further tested for interactions between group and regional brain structure on neurobehavioral domains. Cognitive deficits were observed in both CNV groups, with the lowest IQs in deletion carriers. ASD and dimensionallymeasured ASD traits were elevated in both CNV groups; however, duplication carriers exhibited increased stereotypies compared to deletion carriers. Moreover, discriminant analysis using ASD sub-domains distinguished between CNV cases with 76% accuracy. Both psychotic disorder diagnosis and dimensionally-measured positive and negative symptoms were elevated in deletion carriers. Finally, control participants showed an inverse relationship between processing speed and cortical thickness in heteromodal association areas, which was absent in both CNV groups. 22g11.2 CNVs differentially modulate intellectual functioning and psychosisrelated symptomatology but converge on broad ASD-related symptomatology. However, subtle differences in ASD profiles distinguish CNV groups. Processing speed impairments, coupled with the lack of normative relationship between processing speed and cortical thickness in CNV carriers, implicate aberrant development of the cortical mantle in the pathology underlying impaired processing speed ability.

#### 3.2: Introduction

Developmental neuropsychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia (SCZ) and autism spectrum disorders (ASD) have remarkable genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity. These biological complexities have impeded efforts to elucidate disease pathophysiology. One potential strategy to overcome this challenge is to adopt a reverse-genetics approach to characterize brain and behavioral patterns in individuals that carry defined genetic mutations that predispose toward neuropsychiatric illness. Further, variation in specific symptoms and dimensional traits may more precisely represent underlying biological variation than does diagnostic category (Casey et al., 2013; Cuthbert, 2014). Thus, dimensional phenotyping of these high-impact mutations offers a window to elucidating neurobiological mechanisms underlying major neuropsychiatric disorders (Malhotra & Sebat, 2012; Simons Vip, 2012).

22q11.2 copy number variants (i.e. deletions or duplications, CNVs) confer some of the greatest known genetic risks for psychiatric disorders (Monks et al., 2014; Niarchou et al., 2014; Schneider et al., 2014). As such, they represent a particularly powerful model to yield biological insights into how 22q11.2 gene dosage may influence downstream brain and behavioral consequences (Hiroi et al., 2013; Hiroi & Yamauchi, 2019). The 22q11.2 locus is a genetic hotspot that harbors highly-conserved genes critical for brain and cognitive development (Guna et al., 2015; Meechan et al., 2015). A 1.5-3 megabase deletion at this locus results in the most commonly-known microdeletion disorder, 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome (also known as DiGeorge or Velocardiofacial syndrome; OMIM #188400, #192430). It has an estimated prevalence of 1 in ~4,000 live births and has been extensively characterized for associated congenital malformations and neurodevelopmental comorbidities, including Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), intellectual disability (ID), and developmental delay (DD) (Hoeffding et al., 2017; McDonald-McGinn et al., 2015; Olsen et al., 2018; Schneider et al., 2014). Most notably, the deletion is one of the greatest known genetic risk factors for schizophrenia, with up to 20-fold increased risk compared to population-base rates (Chow et al., 2006; Green et al., 2009;

Malhotra & Sebat, 2012; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees et al., 2016). Moreover, 22q11.2 deletions are found in approximately 0.3% of schizophrenia cases in the general population (Kirov et al., 2014; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees, Walters, et al., 2014).

In contrast, data on the neurobehavioral phenotype of the 22q11.2 duplication is just starting to emerge, in part due to its more recent discovery as a recurrent CNV (Ensenauer et al., 2003; Firth, 1993; Portnoi, 2009). A recent population-based study found that 22q11.2 duplications occur ~2.5 times as often as the deletion and confer elevated risk for neurodevelopmental and psychiatric conditions (Olsen et al., 2018). However, most available clinical knowledge to date comes from case reports (Bassett et al., 2008; Ou et al., 2008; Wentzel et al., 2008; Woodward et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2008) and recent studies that assayed multiple CNVs across the genome (Chawner et al., 2019; Kendall et al., 2019; Stefansson et al., 2014). These studies indicate incomplete penetrance and variable expressivity of the duplication, including mild to severe forms of dysmorphia and ID/DD.

Interestingly, multiple large-scale studies have recently shown 22q11.2 duplications to be significantly *less* common in schizophrenia cases than in the general population, suggesting the first putative protective mutation for schizophrenia (Li et al., 2016; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees et al., 2016; Rees, Kirov, et al., 2014). While statistical significance varies depending on sample size (Marshall et al., 2017), the overall pattern across such large studies offers consistent evidence that SCZ risk is gene dosage-specific with respect to the 22q11.2 locus. Thus, while preliminary, this intriguing distinction indicates copy-number dependency for risk or putative protective factors for schizophrenia versus copy-number irrelevance for risk of ASD and ID, and suggests that there may be both general and specific effects of gene dosage on disease evolution.

No study has yet directly compared reciprocal 22q11.2 CNVs to each other and to typically developing controls across multiple neurobehavioral traits relevant to schizophrenia, ASD, and neurocognitive functioning, in conjunction with brain imaging measures. This 'deep-

phenotyping' approach is crucial to establishing clinical context and functional relevance for how variable gene dosage may contribute to shared or distinct effects on brain and behavioral traits. Here, we sought to obtain a finer granularity of dimensional neurobehavioral traits to capture intermediate phenotypes of cognitive and behavioral dysfunction associated with these CNVs. Moreover, while 22q11.2 gene dosage is associated with global opposing effects on brain structure (Lin et al., 2017), it is unknown whether these opposing effects are associated with similar or distinct neurobehavioral impairments. Integration of brain and high-dimensional cognitive and behavioral assays may help elucidate common or discrete brain biomarkers and biological pathways that lead to cognitive and/or psychiatric dysfunction.

Here, in the largest known cohort of phenotypically well-characterized 22q11.2 reciprocal CNV carriers, we first compared the impact of 22q11.2 deletions and duplications on 15 dimensional traits relevant to intellectual functioning, ASD, and SCZ. Next, given evidence that both 22q11.2 deletions and duplications predispose to ASD, we assessed whether there are differences in specific aspects of the ASD profile between CNV carrier groups. Finally, we asked whether the relationship between brain structure and neurobehavioral traits differed between these genetically-defined groups and controls, which would inform neuroanatomic substrates of neurocognitive and behavioral impairment in 22q11.2 CNVs.

#### **3.3: Materials and Methods**

#### 3.3.1: Participants

The sample consisted of 226 individuals: 106 with molecularly confirmed 22q11.2 deletions (52 males; 54 females), 38 with confirmed 22q11.2 duplications (22 males; 16 females), and 82 demographically-matched typically developing controls (42 males; 40 females; see Table 3.1 for participant demographics). Patients were ascertained as part of an ongoing longitudinal study at the University of California at Los Angeles, and were ascertained from local medical or genetics clinics, or from national or local support groups and websites.

Demographically comparable, typically-developing participants were recruited from local communities via web-based advertisements and flyers/brochures in local schools, pediatric clinics, and other community sites.

Demographics	22q11.2 Deletion Carriers	Typically Developing Healthy Control Subjects	22q11.2 Duplication Carriers
N	106	82	38
Age, Years (SD)	15.94 (10.3)	14.61 (7.5)	15.87 (12.4)
Age Range, Years	6–61	6–45	5–49
Male, <i>n</i> (%)	52 (49.1)	41 (50.0)	22 (57.9)
White, <i>n</i> (%) <sup><i>a,b,c</i></sup>	92 (86.8)	52 (63.4)	37 (97.4)
Other: Asian and Black, n (%) <sup>a,b</sup>	2 (1.9)	18 (16.8)	1 (2.7)
Multiracial, n (%) <sup>b,c</sup>	12 (11.2)	12 (14.6)	0 (0)
Highest Parental Education, Years (SD)	16.1 (2.7)	16.0 (3.3)	15.8 (2.5)
ASD, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>a,b</sup>	49 (46.2)	0 (0)	17 (44.7)
Psychosis, n (%) <sup>a,c</sup>	13 (12.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)
ADHD, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>a,b</sup>	47 (44.4)	5 (6.1)	15 (39.4)

ADHD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; ASD, autism spectrum disorder.

<sup>a</sup>Corrected difference between 22q11.2 deletion carriers and healthy control subjects.

<sup>b</sup>Corrected difference between 22q11.2 duplication carriers and healthy control subjects.

<sup>c</sup>Corrected difference between 22q11.2 deletion carriers and 22q11.2 duplication carriers.

**Table 3.1: Demographic information between groups at baseline.** <sup>a</sup>corrected 22qDEL-CON difference; <sup>b</sup>corrected 22qDUP-CON differences; <sup>c</sup> corrected 22qDEL-22qDUP difference.

Exclusion criteria for all study participants included significant neurological or medical conditions (unrelated to 22q11.2 CNV) that might affect brain structure or function, history of head injury with loss of consciousness, insufficient fluency in English, and/or substance or alcohol use disorder within the past 6 months (see Supplement for details). All participants underwent a verbal and written informed consent process. Participants under the age of 18 years provided written assent, while their parent or guardian completed written consent. The UCLA Institutional Review Board approved all study procedures and informed consent documents.

## 3.3.2: Neurobehavioral Phenotyping Assessment

Cognitive and behavioral traits were chosen based on their relevance for developmental psychiatric disorders, with emphasis on ASD and SCZ (Green et al., 2009; Lord et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2008; Vorstman et al., 2015). Age-appropriate, gold-standard psychiatric and

cognitive assessments were administered to all participants and included a battery of structured interviews, self-reports, and cognitive tests, spanning several neuropsychological domains. Behavioral questionnaires were also given to parents (see Table 3.2 for assessment descriptions). Supervised clinical psychology doctoral students administered neurocognitive and psychodiagnostic evaluations to participants to assess for DSM diagnoses (SCID/C-DISC). To assess for ASD, the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) was administered to participants (Lord et al., 2000), and the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) was administered to participant's parent/primary caretaker (Rutter et al., 2003).

All diagnoses were determined by trained clinicians who participated in an ongoing quality assurance program. Training, reliability, and ongoing quality assurance procedures for psychodiagnostic assessments and clinical rating scales are detailed in prior publications (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2017; Jalbrzikowski et al., 2013).

Domain	Test	Trait	Measure
Neurocognition	Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence or	Full-scale IQ	Standard score
	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, 4th     Nonverbal IQ       edition     Verbal IQ	Nonverbal IQ	Standard score
		Verbal IQ	Standard score
	Letter Number Sequencing, WISC-IV	Working memory	Percent correct
	California Verbal Learning Test	Verbal memory	Sum of raw scores
	Brief Assessment of Cognition Symbol Coding/WISC-IV Coding A or B	Processing speed	Percent correct
Social Cognition	The Awareness of Social Inference Test A: Part	Lie detection	Sum of scores
	3	Sarcasm detection	Sum of scores
	Penn Computerized Neurocognitive Battery	Emotion recognition	Sum of scores
		Emotion differentiation	Sum of scores
ASD-Related	Short Sensory Profile, Adolescent/Adult Sensory Profile	Sensory insensitivity	Sum of scores
	Repetitive Behavior Scale	Restrictive and repetitive behavior	Sum of scores
	Social Responsiveness Scale	Reciprocal social behavior	Summary T-score
Psychosis-Related	Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes	Positive symptoms	Sum of P1-P5
		Negative symptoms	Sum of N1–N6

WISC-IV, Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, 4th edition.

## Table 3.2: Cognitive and behavioral trait descriptions.

#### 3.3.2.1: Cognitive Functioning

We assessed cognition using measures of global cognitive function, including: full-scale, verbal IQ, and nonverbal IQ (i.e., Matrix Reasoning (Wechsler, 1999; Wechsler, 2008)), working memory, processing speed (Wechsler, 2008), and verbal memory (Delis et al., 1987).

## 3.3.2.2: Social Cognition Measures

Social cognition impairments are hallmark features of both idiopathic ASD and SCZ (Couture et al., 2010; Pilowsky et al., 2000; Pinkham et al., 2003). Thus, four measures were analyzed to capture different aspects of social cognition. To assess theory of mind, we analyzed participants' ability to ascertain sarcasm or 'white lies' from conversational exchanges in video vignettes (McDonald et al., 2006). In addition, we used the Penn-CNB to test ability to recognize different facial expressions of emotion and to differentiate the intensity of facial expressions of emotion (Gur et al., 2010).

#### 3.3.2.3: Autism Spectrum Measures

Because ASD diagnosis is prevalent in both CNV groups (Schneider et al., 2014; Wenger et al., 2016), we aimed to assess three cardinal dimensions of ASD-relevant symptomatology, including: sensory sensitivity (Dunn, 1999), restrictive/repetitive behavior (Lam & Aman, 2007), and social responsiveness (Constantino & Gruber, 2007). Within each of those composite measures, we additionally investigated sub-scale traits. For the Short Sensory Profile, we looked at subdomains of tactile sensitivity, taste/smell sensitivity, movement sensitivity, under-responsivity/seeking sensation, auditory filtering, low energy/weakness and visual/auditory sensitivity. Restrictive/repetitive behavior was further subdivided into categories of stereotyped behavior, self-injurious behavior; compulsive behavior, ritualistic behavior, sameness behavior, and restricted behavior. The Social Responsiveness Scale was subdivided into social awareness, social cognition, social communication, social motivation, and autistic mannerisms.

#### 3.3.2.4: Psychosis-Relevant Measures

The Structured Interview for Prodromal Syndromes (SIPS; (McGlashan et al., 2001)) was used to capture dimensional psychosis-relevant traits by quantifying positive symptoms (e.g. unusual thought content/delusional ideas, suspiciousness/persecutory ideas, perceptual abnormalities/hallucinations, grandiosity, and disorganized communication) as well as negative symptoms (social anhedonia, avolition, decreased emotional expression or experience, decreased ideational richness, and occupational impairments).

#### 3.3.3: Structural MRI

Measures of brain structure were obtained with high-resolution structural MRI. Scanning was conducted on an identical 3 Tesla Siemens Trio MRI scanner with a 12-channel head coil at the UCLA Brain Mapping Center or at the Center for Cognitive Neuroscience. T1-weighted structural scans were analyzed in an unbiased, whole-brain approach using well-validated analysis and quality control protocols (Thompson et al., 2014), previously applied by our group and others (Hibar et al., 2018; Schmaal et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2018; van Erp et al., 2016). Details of the scanning protocol, image pre-processing, and quality control procedures are included in Supplemental Material.

#### 3.3.4: Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R 3.5.2 (Core Team, 2013) except for the discriminant analyses which were conducted in Matlab version 2017a (MathWorks, 2017). First, we tested the extent to which 22q11.2 CNVs influenced neurobehavioral domains relevant to intellectual functioning, ASD, and SCZ by comparing group differences across 15 measures (see Figure 1, Table 2). Toward this end, we performed an omnibus analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to test the effect of group on each measure, adjusting for age and sex. Given the number of measures analyzed, we took a conservative approach to ensure standardized removal of potential age and sex biases by applying the same covariate adjustments for each univariate model. Post-hoc pairwise comparisons between groups were conducted using Tukey contrasts. Multiple comparisons correction using false discovery rate (FDR) was applied to

account for the number of traits and group comparisons (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995). FDRadjusted q-values  $\leq 0.05$  were considered significant.

Second, within CNV carriers, we asked whether ASD profiles between deletion and duplication carriers differed across subscale measures using a mass univariate as well as multivariate approach. The univariate model directly assessed group differences for each subscale measure by modeling the effect of group, while correcting for age and sex. FDR correction was performed for the number of subscale measures within each composite trait. The multivariate model used Fisher's linear discriminant analysis to distinguish between CNV carriers, based on all 18 ASD subscale measures. Model performance was assessed using leave one out cross-validation. To account for differences in sample size between the groups and equalize class representation, data from the duplication cohort was uniformly oversampled. "Control" models were constructed by randomly shuffling class identities within the training set prior to model construction and cross-validation. Mean and standard deviations of model accuracy represent statistics that were computed over 100 simulations of model construction and testing over all subjects. The *p*-value was generated based on the fraction of the shuffled simulations in which performance exceeded the observed value (see Figure 2).

Finally, we asked whether the relationship between regional brain structure and each of the cognitive/behavioral traits differed as a function of group. To reduce the number of comparisons, measures of cortical thickness (CT) and surface area (SA) were averaged across homologous regions-of-interest (ROIs) between each hemisphere, generating 34 total ROIs, for which 2 brain metrics (CT or SA) were assessed. First, as before, each neurobehavioral trait score was adjusted for effects of age and sex. Then, the main effect of group, brain metric, and group-by-brain metric interaction term were included as predictors in separate linear models for each residualized neurobehavioral score. Because we were interested in relationships between brain and behavior that differed between groups, we focused on the interaction effect (see Figure 3, Figure S3.4). Finally, for traits in which there was a significant, corrected interaction

effect, post-hoc comparisons were performed to test pairwise differences. Also, for those traits and ROIs which showed a significant group-by-brain interaction effect, within-group linear models were conducted to directly characterize the relationships between brain structure and trait (see Table 4). FDR correction at q < 0.05 was used to account for the number of ROIs, neurobehavioral traits, and brain metrics in the omnibus test, while correction of the post-hoc tests accounted for the number of pairwise comparisons.

We further explored whether ASD-related impairments correlated with cognitive function in deletion and duplication carriers. As these results were beyond the main scope of this paper, they are included in Supplementary Material (Figure S2).

Secondary analyses of group differences in measures of social-emotional behavior and real-world function not specific to ASD or SCZ are included in Supplemental Material, as these were also beyond the main scope of this paper (Figure S3, Tables S1 and S2).

## 3.5: Results

# 3.5.1: 22q11.2 CNVs produce convergent phenotypes relevant for ID and ASD but divergent psychosis-relevant phenotypes

At q < 0.05, 22q11.2 deletion carriers exhibited the lowest Full-Scale IQ, control participants displayed the highest IQ, while duplication carriers were intermediate (del<dup<con; see Figure 3.1, Table 3.3). The same pattern remained when Full-Scale IQ was broken down into its constituent parts, verbal and non-verbal IQ. Regarding specific cognitive domains, deletion and duplication carriers exhibited significant impairments in working memory, verbal memory, and processing speed compared to controls, but did not significantly differ from each other.







Restrictive and Repetitive Behavior

còr

cón

80

60

40

20

0

:::

D. ASD-relevant traits







22gDEL



CÓN

22gDUF



Verbal IQ







Ξ Positive Symptoms ••• E. Psychosis-relevant traits ÷ 20 1 10 

22qDEL





Figure 3.1: Combined box- and scatterplots of average group scores for 15 traits relevant for intellectual ability, ASD, and SCZ, adjusted for sex and age. Red, horizontal lines indicate FDR-corrected pairwise differences at the post-hoc level. For all measures, there was a significant omnibus effect of group (q < 0.05). At the post-hoc pairwise level, 22q11.2 deletion carriers exhibited significantly elevated positive symptoms compared to duplication carriers and controls. There were significant pairwise differences between all three groups for Full-scale, Nonverbal, and Verbal IQ as well as for negative symptoms. For the remaining cognitive, social cognitive, and ASD-related measures, both the CNV groups were impaired compared to controls, but did not significantly differ from each other.

Trait	F Statistic	22qDEL–CON Estimate (SE)	22qDUP–CON Estimate (SE)	22qDUP–22qDEL Estimate (SE)
Nonverbal IQ <sup>a,b,c</sup>	75.68	-19.93 (-1.64)	-7.25 (-2.22)	12.68 (-2.14)
Full-Scale IQ <sup>a,b,c</sup>	105.82	-35.52 (-2.45)	-17.38 (-3.29)	18.14 (-3.19)
Verbal IQ <sup>a,b,c</sup>	87.05	-23.29 (-1.77)	-13.86 (-2.38)	9.43 (-2.3)
Working Memory <sup>a,b</sup>	31.73	-21.86 (-2.8)	-18.99 (-4.41)	2.87 (-4.3)
Verbal Memory <sup>a,b</sup>	44.27	-16.1 (-1.78)	-15.28 (-2.56)	0.82 (-2.48)
Processing Speed <sup>a,b</sup>	38.66	-16.49 (-2.02)	-18.74 (-3.12)	-2.24 (-3.04)
Lie Detection <sup>a,b</sup>	42.05	-6.71 (-0.73)	-3.94 (-1.12)	2.77 (-1.08)
Sarcasm Detection <sup>a,b</sup>	16	-4.95 (-0.88)	-3.58 (-1.34)	1.37 (-1.3)
Emotion Recognition <sup>a,b</sup>	17.35	-5.08 (-1.07)	-6.89 (-1.27)	-1.81 (-1.12)
Emotion Differentiation <sup>a,b</sup>	13.65	-5.64 (-1.19)	-6.22 (-1.45)	-0.57 (-1.34)
Sensory Insensitivity <sup>a,b</sup>	44.12	-36.19 (-4.45)	-44.58 (-5.77)	-8.39 (-5.58)
Restrictive and Repetitive Behavior <sup>a,b</sup>	14.6	11.9 (-2.59)	14.8 (-3.3)	2.92 (-3.2)
Social Responsiveness Impairment <sup>a,b</sup>	48.91	21.7 (-2.45)	24.48 (-3.14)	2.79 (-3.03)
Positive Symptoms <sup>a,c</sup>	19.53	5.19 (-0.84)	2.02 (-1.15)	-3.18 (-1.11)
Negative Symptoms <sup>a,b,c</sup>	33.79	7.77 (-0.95)	3.69 (-1.3)	-4.08 (-1.26)

22qDEL, 22q11.2 deletion carriers; 22qDUP, duplication carriers; CON, healthy control subjects.

<sup>a</sup>Corrected difference between 22q11.2 deletion carriers and healthy control subjects.

<sup>b</sup>Corrected difference between 22q11.2 duplication carriers and healthy control subjects.

<sup>c</sup>Corrected difference between 22q11.2 deletion carriers and 22q11.2 duplication carriers.

## Table 3.3: ANCOVA results including all 15 measures, covarying for age and sex.

<sup>a</sup>corrected 22qDEL-CON difference; <sup>b</sup>corrected 22qDUP-CON differences; <sup>c</sup> corrected 22qDEL-

22qDUP difference.

Both CNV groups had significantly higher rates of ASD diagnosis compared to controls

(see Table 3.1). Dimensionally, as expected compared to controls, both 22q11.2 CNV groups

showed significantly poorer social cognition (e.g. emotion differentiation, emotion recognition, lie detection, sarcasm detection), as well as elevated scores on reciprocal social behavior, sensory sensitivity, and restrictive, repetitive behavior, which were not significantly different from each other. In contrast, deletion carriers diverged from duplication carriers in the psychosis domain, with higher rates of psychotic disorder diagnosis (12.1%; Table 3.1), as well as significantly elevated positive and negative symptom scores (Table 3.3).

Deletion and duplication carriers did not differ from each other in rates of ADHD diagnosis, but both groups had significantly elevated rates of ADHD relative to controls (see Table 1). Further, compared to controls, both CNV groups had significant impairments in dimensional measures of executive and daily life functioning (i.e. somatic complaints, thought problems, withdrawn/depressed, attention problems, anxious/depressed, aggression, role functioning, social functioning, and global functioning). CNV groups did not significantly differ from each other except in terms of role functioning, for which deletion carriers were more impaired (Figure S3.3, Tables S3.1 and S3.2).

3.5.2: 22q11.2 CNVs involve subtle differences in ASD profile, despite similar rates of ASD diagnosis

Assessments on the subdomains of the 3 composite ASD measures of social responsiveness, sensory sensitivity, and restrictive/repetitive behavior revealed differences in ASD-relevant symptom profiles between the CNV groups (See Figure 3.2). Specifically, the univariate model revealed significantly increased stereotyped behaviors in duplication relative to deletion carriers (q < 0.05). No corrected differences between the deletion and duplication groups were found for any of the other individual subscale measures at q < 0.05 (see Figure S3.1). However, the multivariate model that incorporated all 18 subscale features correctly classified deletion versus duplication carriers 76.6% of the time ( $p < 10^{-3}$ .), suggesting distinctiveness in the overall picture of ASD symptomatology between deletion and duplication

carriers. Further, verbal IQ was correlated with social cognition traits in both CNV groups, with larger effects in duplication carriers (q<0.05; Figure S3.2).



Figure 3.2: Modeling subdomains of ASD traits reveals distinct profiles between 22q11.2 deletion and duplication carriers. A. The univariate model showed that duplication carriers exhibited significantly more stereotyped behaviors compared to deletion carriers (indicated by red, horizontal line) after adjusting for age and sex, at a corrected q < 0.05. B. The multivariate model using discriminant analysis of all 18 subscales correctly classified deletion versus duplication carriers 76.6% of the time, suggesting distinct characteristics of ASD-relevant symptomatology in deletion versus duplication carriers.

3.5.3: Healthy control subjects showed an inverse relationship between CT in heteromodal association areas and processing speed that was absent in CNV carriers

Lastly, CT in frontal, medial, and inferior parietal regions differentially explained processing speed, depending on group (see Figure 3.3). Table 4 includes ROIs that showed a significant, FDR-corrected group-by-brain interaction effect on processing speed. Specifically, processing speed was inversely correlated with CT in controls in frontal, inferior parietal, and medial regions (anterior cingulate and insula), but not in either CNV group. No significant groupdependent relationships between surface area and any cognitive/behavioral trait survived correction. See Figure S3.4 for uncorrected p-values across all ROIs for both CT and SA.



Figure 3.3: Regional cortical thickness (CT) of frontal, inferior parietal, and medial regions differentially explains processing speed depending on group. After regressing out age and sex from cognitive measures, a linear model was applied to estimate the interaction effect of brain and group for each of the 15 traits using measures of CT or SA. False discovery rate correction was applied for 34 ROIs,15 traits, and each brain metric (SA or CT). Panel A depicts a heatmap of the *q*-values for the significance of the interaction term associated with each test, from *q* = 0 to *q* = 0.30. Panel B depicts the ROIs for which there was a corrected interaction effect, plotting the associated *F*-statistic. Panel C displays the within-group correlation between processing speed and CT for each of the 8 regions that showed a significant interaction effect. The control group showed a consistent negative correlation between CT and processing speed that was not found in either CNV group.

#### 3.6: Discussion

This study revealed several novel findings regarding the impact of 22q11.2 CNVs on neurobehavioral function, in that they: (i) produce comparable impairments in traits relevant for ASD and intellectual functioning but differential impairments in psychosis-related traits; (ii) comprise distinct differences in ASD profile at the subdomain level; and (iii) both lack the normative relationships between processing speed and cortical thickness in higher-order brain regions.

Notably, these reciprocal CNVs conferred broad 'hits' across multiple neuropsychiatric domains, with shared as well as unique effects on dimensional traits of ASD and psychosis. Specifically, we found convergent effects of both CNVs on intellectual abilities, specific cognitive domains, and social cognition, with greater impairment in intellectual abilities in the deletion group, consistent with elevated rates of ID in 22q11.2 deletion versus duplication (Hoeffding et al., 2017; Niarchou et al., 2014; Olsen et al., 2018). Rates of ASD were similar in deletion and

duplication carriers (45.8% and 44.7%, respectively), whereas 12.1% of deletion carriers (and no duplication carriers) had a psychotic disorder diagnosis.

Both CNV groups also exhibited elevations in dimensional, ASD-related traits compared to controls, consistent with the significantly higher rates of ASD diagnosis across both CNV groups (Olsen et al., 2018; Schneider et al., 2014; Wenger et al., 2016). These findings suggest that both over and under-expression of genes within the 22q11.2 locus may result in downstream pathogenic effects on cognition and social behavior. Considering only our 22q11.2 deletion participants who have mostly passed the risk period for schizophrenia onset (≥ 25 years old; (Gur et al., 2017)), the rate of schizophrenia increases to 25%, which is more comparable to rates reported in other studies that typically include adults. Further, deletion carriers exhibited greater positive and negative symptoms compared to the other two groups. This specific association of both categorically- and dimensionally-measured SCZ-related symptoms with the deletion suggests that under-expression of 22q11.2 genes may represent a specific biological mechanism predisposing toward psychotic symptomatology.

Although mean global IQ in deletion carriers was significantly lower than duplication cases, the CNV groups showed similar impairments in other cognitive and behavioral domains. Dimensionally, these include working memory, verbal memory, processing speed, social cognition (e.g. lie/sarcasm detection and emotion differentiation/recognition), and composite ASD-related traits (e.g. restrictive/repetitive behavior, social responsiveness, and sensory sensitivity) compared to controls. These findings are compatible with results from the population-based registry study on the cumulative incidence of psychiatric diagnoses in 22q11.2 CNV carriers in the Danish population, which found greater ID in 22q11.2 deletion carriers but increased rates of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders in both deletion and duplication carriers (Hoeffding et al., 2017; Olsen et al., 2018). The comorbidity of ID and psychiatric disorders, namely for ASD and SCZ, has been extensively discussed in the literature, particularly with regard to CNVs (Kendall et al., 2019; Rees et al., 2016; Stefansson et al., 2014;

Thygesen et al., 2018). However, the mechanisms by which reciprocal deletions and duplications at the same locus can have divergent effects on intellectual dysfunction and psychosis-related traits (Li et al., 2016; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees et al., 2016; Rees, Kirov, et al., 2014) but converge on similar impairments for specific cognitive domains and social cognition remain unknown. Notably, ASD diagnosis does not appear to increase risk of subsequent development of schizophrenia in 22q11.2 deletion carriers, suggesting pleiotropic effects of 22q11.2 gene dosage, at least with regard to these neurobehavioral outcomes (Fiksinski et al., 2017; Vorstman et al., 2013).

Animal models of 22q11.2 CNVs involving over or under-expression of specific genes within the homologous 22q11.2 locus offer crucial insight into potential mechanisms that underlie brain and behavioral dysfunction in human CNV carriers. Such experimental paradigms can elucidate the ways in which reciprocal gene dosage contributes to impairment in the same cognitive domain at single-gene resolution. For example, transgenic mice constitutively overexpressing a 190 kb human chromosomal 22q11.2 segment, including TXNRD2, COMT, and ARVCF, showed impairments in prolonged maintenance of working memory during a delay task (Suzuki et al., 2009). In another murine model, region-specific overexpression of COMT and Tbx1 in the hippocampal dentate gyrus resulted in reduced developmental maturation of working memory capacity, as well as reduced proliferation and migration of adult neural stem/progenitor cells (Boku et al., 2018). Working memory impairments using a T-maze paradigm (Hiramoto et al., 2011) have also been observed in mice heterozygous for Tbx1. Because the authors found Tbx1 expression in postnatally generated neurons and in cells that differentiate into glial cells, they posit altered neurogenesis or reactive glial proliferation as potential mechanisms that may underlie working memory impairment. Moreover, mouse studies of Dgcr8 deficiency have also implicated potential mechanisms of working memory impairment in the form of reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Ouchi et al., 2013), as well as perturbed short-term synaptic plasticity in prefrontal cortex (Fenelon et al., 2013). Whether

similar mechanisms explain convergent effects on other cognitive domains such as verbal memory and processing speed is unknown, as a remaining challenge will be overcoming the animal to human translation to test these and other human-specific traits.

One important implication of these findings is that lack of genetic material is more broadly deleterious than excess of the same genetic material, suggesting that certain 22g11.2 genes are sensitive to haploinsufficiency. This is consistent with the prediction that deletion carriers would be more severely affected than duplication carriers (Mannik et al., 2015), given that the deletion is more likely to arise *de novo* (Bassett et al., 2008), whereas the duplication is more frequently inherited (Ou et al., 2008). In the context of other reciprocal CNVs, 16p11.2 deletion has been associated with a 2 standard deviation decrease in IQ relative to controls. while the duplication was associated with only a 1 standard deviation decrease (D'Angelo et al., 2016; Hanson et al., 2015; Hippolyte et al., 2016). Also similar to our findings, there were no differences in the prevalence of ASD between 16p11.2 CNV groups, suggesting multiple pathways to ASD that include over and under-expression of genes implicated in neurodevelopment across multiple genomic locations. However, divergent from our findings, 16p11.2 duplication carriers showed increased frequency of psychotic symptoms and severe psychiatric disorders relative to 16p11.2 deletion carriers, further demonstrating increased specificity for copy number and genomic location in mediating psychosis risk, compared to ASD (Niarchou et al., 2019). More direct and targeted genomic assays are warranted to disentangle how deletions or duplications may lead to transcriptomic dysregulation to cause widespread, convergent as opposed to specific, divergent effects on downstream brain and behavioral impairments.

Despite global similarities in social cognitive and social behavioral impairments across 22q11.2 CNVs, at a more granular level, 22q11.2 duplication carriers exhibited more stereotyped behaviors than 22q11.2 deletion carriers. The only other in-depth investigation of ASD-related phenotypes in 22q11.2 CNV carriers to date also found elevated stereotypies in

duplication carriers, albeit in a smaller sample (Wenger et al., 2016). Murine models have implicated the nigrostriatal dopamine pathway in the mediation of stereotypies, where administration of indirect and direct dopamine agonists or selective dopamine uptake inhibitors have been shown to induce stereotypic behaviors (Lewis & Kim, 2009; Tanimura et al., 2010). These findings suggest neuroanatomical relevance and potential biochemical mechanisms for increased 22q11.2 gene dosage leading to greater stereotyped behaviors. However, ASD is notoriously heterogeneous and not diagnosable by a single behavioral scale. Thus, using a multivariate discriminant analyses, we showed that a collection of ASD-associated traits was informative in classifying deletion versus duplication carriers with 76.6% accuracy. This significantly above-chance performance indicates that the overall manifestation of ASD-relevant traits is complex and differs between reciprocal 22q11.2 CNVs in a way that was not captured by traditional univariate methods. Thus, while rates of ASD diagnosis and composite dimensional measures may not statistically differ between groups, subtle and meaningful differences in clinical profile exist. Other studies have also used multivariate approaches and found ASD-related behavioral signatures of ASD cases who carry 22q11.2 deletions compared to ASD cases with different genetically-defined syndromes (e.g., Down's syndrome, Prader-Willi, tuberous sclerosis complex (Bruining et al., 2010; Bruining et al., 2014)). Collectively, these findings emphasize the utility of a "genetics-first" approach for disentangling the heterogeneity and revealing biological underpinnings of ASD. In sum, our findings suggest a need for more comprehensive clinical screening of 22q11.2 duplication carriers, as well as informed guidance in genetic counseling, optimization of health care, and clinical follow-up.

We also found that thickness of heteromodal association regions explained processing speed ability in typical development, but not in either CNV group. More specifically, cortical thinning in these regions within the control group was associated with better processing speed, suggesting that developmental thinning within the cortical mantle underlies the neural circuitry that supports processing speed ability. Processing speed refers to the efficiency of information

transfer and manipulation (Kail & Salthouse, 1994) and is a complex, multidimensional ability, which improves over adolescent development and constrains other higher-order cognitive processes in health and disease (Fry & Hale, 2000; Ojeda et al., 2012; Rodríguez-Sánchez et al., 2007; Span et al., 2004). Not surprisingly, impairments in processing speed have also been implicated in various complex neuropsychiatric disorders. In high-functioning ASD, processing speed task performance has been correlated with communication abilities, indicating its importance to functional outcomes in ASD (Haigh et al., 2018; Oliveras-Rentas et al., 2012). In patients with schizophrenia, processing speed ability is strongly associated with illness risk (Glahn et al., 2007; Niendam et al., 2003; Reichenberg et al., 2009), illness severity (Dickinson et al., 2007) and functional disability (Brekke et al., 2007). The specific association with cortical thickness as opposed to surface area suggests that developmentally-mediated, normative cortical thinning (for circuit refinement via white matter expansion from increasing myelination and/or pruning of inefficient synaptic connections (Glasser & Van Essen, 2011; Paus, 2005; Tamnes et al., 2010) may underlie processing speed ability. As such, distributed neural network operations supported by myelinated axonal fibers are likely relevant to processing speed (Bells et al., 2017; Madden et al., 2004). White matter alterations have been consistently observed in schizophrenia (Kelly et al., 2018), ASD (Keller et al., 2007), and 22q11.2 Deletion syndrome via human post-mortem and in-vivo imaging studies (Villalon-Reina et al., 2019). As specific genes within the 22q11.2 region are implicated in axonal development and myelination (Mukai et al., 2015; Perlstein et al., 2014), abnormal dosage of these genes may contribute to the underlying pathophysiology of processing speed deficits that cross many developmental psychiatric disorders (Kochunov et al., 2017; Kochunov et al., 2016). Thus, these findings highlighting the link between 22q11.2 gene dosage and cortical thickness provide opportunities to test novel mechanistic hypotheses regarding the interaction between under- or over-expression of 22g11.2 genes and processing speed on cortical development in cell cultures and animal models.

Several limitations to this study should be considered. As with any study involving a clinically-ascertained cohort, the possibility of ascertainment bias may influence representativeness of our cohort. As such, differences we observed between CNV carriers and controls may be attenuated in an epidemiologic cohort, particularly for 22g11.2 duplication carriers who are more likely under-diagnosed than deletion carriers due to the lack of associated congenital and medical issues that prompt genetic testing (Grati et al., 2015). Importantly, our rates of childhood psychiatric disorders are largely comparable to those observed in epidemiologically-based studies of 22q11.2 CNVs (Hoeffding et al., 2017; Olsen et al., 2018). Further, while some duplication carriers in our study were diagnosed based on developmental or medical concerns, our duplication cohort also includes relatives who were not clinically ascertained and are otherwise clinically unremarkable. In addition, CNV size/breakpoints may impact phenotypic severity (Sun et al., 2018); however, given variability in CNV breakpoints, the current study was under-powered to investigate these effects. As sample sizes increase, future multisite investigations should integrate information on CNV breakpoints to better characterize effects of specific genes within the locus. Finally, sample size limits our capability to model non-linear effects of age, particularly in the duplication cohort. However, our findings of both convergent and divergent 22q11.2 CNV effects motivate longitudinal assays of brain and behavioral development within these CNV groups to better delineate changes in developmental trajectories that result from these genetic perturbations.

This deep phenotyping approach offers a unique opportunity to characterize the functional consequences of high-impact genetic mutations such as 22q11.2 CNVs. Future directions include integrating genomic information to assess whether transcriptomic signatures of these genetic conditions explain differences in downstream brain and behavioral traits, as well as longitudinal studies to assess developmental trajectories. Finally, our findings demonstrate the utility of using 22q11.2 CNVs as a model for bridging the gap between genes, brain, and behavior. Crucially, these findings allow generation of hypothesis-driven, translational

experiments using in vivo or in vitro models to validate meaningful biological insights into molecular pathways and identification of relevant cell types and circuits.

## 3.7: References

- Bassett, A. S., C. R. Marshall, A. C. Lionel, E. W. Chow, and S. W. Scherer. 2008. "Copy number variations and risk for schizophrenia in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome." *Hum Mol Genet* 17 (24): 4045-53.
- Bells, S., J. Lefebvre, S. A. Prescott, C. Dockstader, E. Bouffet, J. Skocic, S. Laughlin, and D. J. Mabbott. 2017. "Changes in White Matter Microstructure Impact Cognition by Disrupting the Ability of Neural Assemblies to Synchronize." *J Neurosci* 37 (34): 8227-8238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0560-17.2017</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28743724.

- Benjamini, Y., and Y. Hochberg. 1995. "Controlling the False Discovery Rate a Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing." *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B-Methodological* 57 (1): 289-300. <Go to ISI>://WOS:A1995QE45300017.
- Boku, Shuken, Takeshi Izumi, Seiji Abe, Tomohisa Takahashi, Akira Nishi, Hiroko Nomaru,
  Yasuhiko Naka, Gina Kang, Masako Nagashima, and Akitoyo Hishimoto. 2018. "Copy
  number elevation of 22q11. 2 genes arrests the developmental maturation of working
  memory capacity and adult hippocampal neurogenesis." *Molecular psychiatry* 23 (4):
  985.
- Brekke, John S, Maanse Hoe, Jeffrey Long, and Michael F Green. 2007. "How neurocognition and social cognition influence functional change during community-based psychosocial rehabilitation for individuals with schizophrenia." *Schizophrenia bulletin* 33 (5): 1247-1256.
- Bruining, H., L. de Sonneville, H. Swaab, M. de Jonge, M. Kas, H. van Engeland, and J. Vorstman. 2010. "Dissecting the clinical heterogeneity of autism spectrum disorders

through defined genotypes." PLoS One 5 (5): e10887.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010887.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20526357.

Bruining, H., M. J. Eijkemans, M. J. Kas, S. R. Curran, J. A. Vorstman, and P. F. Bolton. 2014.
 "Behavioral signatures related to genetic disorders in autism." *Mol Autism* 5 (1): 11.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-11</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24517317.

- Casey, B. J., N. Craddock, B. N. Cuthbert, S. E. Hyman, F. S. Lee, and K. J. Ressler. 2013. "DSM-5 and RDoC: progress in psychiatry research?" *Nat Rev Neurosci* 14 (11): 810-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3621</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24135697</u>.
- Chawner, Sjra, M. J. Owen, P. Holmans, F. L. Raymond, D. Skuse, J. Hall, and M. B. M. van den Bree. 2019. "Genotype-phenotype associations in children with copy number variants associated with high neuropsychiatric risk in the UK (IMAGINE-ID): a casecontrol cohort study." *Lancet Psychiatry* 6 (6): 493-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30123-3</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31056457</u>.
- Chow, E. W., M. Watson, D. A. Young, and A. S. Bassett. 2006. "Neurocognitive profile in 22q11 deletion syndrome and schizophrenia." *Schizophr Res* 87 (1-3): 270-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2006.04.007</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16753283.

- Constantino, JN, and CP Gruber. 2007. Social responsiveness scale (SRS): Western Psychological Services Los Angeles. CA.
- Core Team, RCTR. 2013. "R: A language and environment for statistical computing." *R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna*.
- Couture, SM, DL Penn, M Losh, R Adolphs, R Hurley, and J Piven. 2010. "Comparison of social cognitive functioning in schizophrenia and high functioning autism: more convergence than divergence." *Psychological medicine* 40 (4): 569-579.

Cuthbert, B. N. 2014. "The RDoC framework: facilitating transition from ICD/DSM to dimensional approaches that integrate neuroscience and psychopathology." *World Psychiatry* 13 (1): 28-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20087</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24497240.

D'Angelo, D., S. Lebon, Q. Chen, S. Martin-Brevet, L. G. Snyder, L. Hippolyte, E. Hanson, A. M. Maillard, W. A. Faucett, A. Mace, A. Pain, R. Bernier, S. J. Chawner, A. David, J. Andrieux, E. Aylward, G. Baujat, I. Caldeira, P. Conus, C. Ferrari, F. Forzano, M. Gerard, R. P. Goin-Kochel, E. Grant, J. V. Hunter, B. Isidor, A. Jacquette, A. E. Jonch, B. Keren, D. Lacombe, C. Le Caignec, C. L. Martin, K. Mannik, A. Metspalu, C. Mignot, P. Mukherjee, M. J. Owen, M. Passeggeri, C. Rooryck-Thambo, J. A. Rosenfeld, S. J. Spence, K. J. Steinman, J. Tjernagel, M. Van Haelst, Y. Shen, B. Draganski, E. H. Sherr, D. H. Ledbetter, M. B. van den Bree, J. S. Beckmann, J. E. Spiro, A. Reymond, S. Jacquemont, W. K. Chung, Study Cardiff University Experiences of Children With Copy Number Variants, Consortium p11.2 European, and Consortium Simons Variation in Individuals Project. 2016. "Defining the Effect of the 16p11.2 Duplication on Cognition, Behavior, and Medical Comorbidities." *JAMA Psychiatry* 73 (1): 20-30.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2123.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26629640

- Delis, Dean C, Joel H Kramer, Edith Kaplan, and Beth Anne Ober Thompkins. 1987. *CVLT: California verbal learning test-adult version: manual*. Psychological corporation.
- Dickinson, Dwight, Mary E Ramsey, and James M Gold. 2007. "Overlooking the obvious: a meta-analytic comparison of digit symbol coding tasks and other cognitive measures in schizophrenia." *Archives of general psychiatry* 64 (5): 532-542.
- Dunn, W. 1999. "Short sensory profile." San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- Ensenauer, R. E., A. Adeyinka, H. C. Flynn, V. V. Michels, N. M. Lindor, D. B. Dawson, E. C. Thorland, C. P. Lorentz, J. L. Goldstein, M. T. McDonald, W. E. Smith, E. Simon-Fayard,
A. A. Alexander, A. S. Kulharya, R. P. Ketterling, R. D. Clark, and S. M. Jalal. 2003. "Microduplication 22q11.2, an emerging syndrome: clinical, cytogenetic, and molecular analysis of thirteen patients." *Am J Hum Genet* 73 (5): 1027-40. https://doi.org/10.1086/378818. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14526392.

- Fenelon, K., B. Xu, C. S. Lai, J. Mukai, S. Markx, K. L. Stark, P. K. Hsu, W. B. Gan, G. D. Fischbach, A. B. MacDermott, M. Karayiorgou, and J. A. Gogos. 2013. "The pattern of cortical dysfunction in a mouse model of a schizophrenia-related microdeletion." *J Neurosci* 33 (37): 14825-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1611-13.2013</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24027283</u>.
- Fiksinski, A. M., E. J. Breetvelt, S. N. Duijff, A. S. Bassett, R. S. Kahn, and J. A. S. Vorstman. 2017. "Autism Spectrum and psychosis risk in the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Findings from a prospective longitudinal study." *Schizophr Res* 188: 59-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2017.01.032</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28119035.

- Firth, H. V. 1993. "22q11.2 Duplication." In *GeneReviews((R))*, edited by M. P. Adam, H. H. Ardinger, R. A. Pagon, S. E. Wallace, L. J. H. Bean, K. Stephens and A. Amemiya. Seattle (WA).
- Fry, Astrid F, and Sandra Hale. 2000. "Relationships among processing speed, working memory, and fluid intelligence in children." *Biological psychology* 54 (1-3): 1-34.
- Glahn, David C, Laura Almasy, John Blangero, Gary M Burk, Jose Estrada, Juan Manuel
  Peralta, Naxhielli Meyenberg, Mariana Pereira Castro, Jennifer Barrett, and Humberto
  Nicolini. 2007. "Adjudicating neurocognitive endophenotypes for schizophrenia." *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 144 (2): 242-249.
- Glasser, M. F., and D. C. Van Essen. 2011. "Mapping human cortical areas in vivo based on myelin content as revealed by T1- and T2-weighted MRI." *J Neurosci* 31 (32): 11597-

616. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2180-11.2011.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21832190.

- Grati, F. R., D. Molina Gomes, J. C. Ferreira, C. Dupont, V. Alesi, L. Gouas, N. Horelli-Kuitunen,
  K. W. Choy, S. Garcia-Herrero, A. G. de la Vega, K. Piotrowski, R. Genesio, G. Queipo,
  B. Malvestiti, B. Herve, B. Benzacken, A. Novelli, P. Vago, K. Piippo, T. Y. Leung, F.
  Maggi, T. Quibel, A. C. Tabet, G. Simoni, and F. Vialard. 2015. "Prevalence of recurrent
  pathogenic microdeletions and microduplications in over 9500 pregnancies." *Prenat Diagn* 35 (8): 801-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.4613</u>.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25962607.
- Green, T., D. Gothelf, B. Glaser, M. Debbane, A. Frisch, M. Kotler, A. Weizman, and S. Eliez.
  2009. "Psychiatric disorders and intellectual functioning throughout development in velocardiofacial (22q11.2 deletion) syndrome." *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 48 (11): 1060-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181b76683</u>.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19797984.
- Guna, A., N. J. Butcher, and A. S. Bassett. 2015. "Comparative mapping of the 22q11.2 deletion region and the potential of simple model organisms." *J Neurodev Disord* 7 (1): 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-015-9113-x</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26137170.

- Gur, R. C., J. Richard, P. Hughett, M. E. Calkins, L. Macy, W. B. Bilker, C. Brensinger, and R. E.
   Gur. 2010. "A cognitive neuroscience-based computerized battery for efficient measurement of individual differences: standardization and initial construct validation." *J Neurosci Methods* 187 (2): 254-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.11.017</u>.
   https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19945485.
- Gur, R. E., A. S. Bassett, D. M. McDonald-McGinn, C. E. Bearden, E. Chow, B. S. Emanuel, M.Owen, A. Swillen, M. Van den Bree, J. Vermeesch, J. A. S. Vorstman, S. Warren, T.Lehner, and B. Morrow. 2017. "A neurogenetic model for the study of schizophrenia

spectrum disorders: the International 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome Brain Behavior Consortium." *Mol Psychiatry* 22 (12): 1664-1672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.161</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28761081</u>.

- Haigh, Sarah M, Jennifer A Walsh, Carla A Mazefsky, Nancy J Minshew, and Shaun M Eack.
  2018. "Processing speed is impaired in adults with autism spectrum disorder, and relates to social communication abilities." *Journal of autism and developmental disorders* 48 (8): 2653-2662.
- Hanson, E., R. Bernier, K. Porche, F. I. Jackson, R. P. Goin-Kochel, L. G. Snyder, A. V. Snow,
  A. S. Wallace, K. L. Campe, Y. Zhang, Q. Chen, D. D'Angelo, A. Moreno-De-Luca, P. T.
  Orr, K. B. Boomer, D. W. Evans, S. Kanne, L. Berry, F. K. Miller, J. Olson, E. Sherr, C. L.
  Martin, D. H. Ledbetter, J. E. Spiro, W. K. Chung, and Consortium Simons Variation in
  Individuals Project. 2015. "The cognitive and behavioral phenotype of the 16p11.2
  deletion in a clinically ascertained population." *Biol Psychiatry* 77 (9): 785-93.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.04.021.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25064419.

Hibar, D. P., L. T. Westlye, N. T. Doan, N. Jahanshad, J. W. Cheung, C. R. K. Ching, A.
Versace, A. C. Bilderbeck, A. Uhlmann, B. Mwangi, B. Kramer, B. Overs, C. B. Hartberg,
C. Abe, D. Dima, D. Grotegerd, E. Sprooten, E. Boen, E. Jimenez, F. M. Howells, G.
Delvecchio, H. Temmingh, J. Starke, J. R. C. Almeida, J. M. Goikolea, J. Houenou, L. M.
Beard, L. Rauer, L. Abramovic, M. Bonnin, M. F. Ponteduro, M. Keil, M. M. Rive, N. Yao,
N. Yalin, P. Najt, P. G. Rosa, R. Redlich, S. Trost, S. Hagenaars, S. C. Fears, S. AlonsoLana, T. G. M. van Erp, T. Nickson, T. M. Chaim-Avancini, T. B. Meier, T. Elvsashagen,
U. K. Haukvik, W. H. Lee, A. H. Schene, A. J. Lloyd, A. H. Young, A. Nugent, A. M. Dale,
A. Pfennig, A. M. McIntosh, B. Lafer, B. T. Baune, C. J. Ekman, C. A. Zarate, C. E.
Bearden, C. Henry, C. Simhandl, C. McDonald, C. Bourne, D. J. Stein, D. H. Wolf, D. M.
Cannon, D. C. Glahn, D. J. Veltman, E. Pomarol-Clotet, E. Vieta, E. J. Canales-

Rodriguez, F. G. Nery, F. L. S. Duran, G. F. Busatto, G. Roberts, G. D. Pearlson, G. M.
Goodwin, H. Kugel, H. C. Whalley, H. G. Ruhe, J. C. Soares, J. M. Fullerton, J. K.
Rybakowski, J. Savitz, K. T. Chaim, M. Fatjo-Vilas, M. G. Soeiro-de-Souza, M. P. Boks,
M. V. Zanetti, M. C. G. Otaduy, M. S. Schaufelberger, M. Alda, M. Ingvar, M. L. Phillips,
M. J. Kempton, M. Bauer, M. Landen, N. S. Lawrence, N. E. M. van Haren, N. R. Horn,
N. B. Freimer, O. Gruber, P. R. Schofield, P. B. Mitchell, R. S. Kahn, R. Lenroot, R.
Machado-Vieira, R. A. Ophoff, S. Sarro, S. Frangou, T. D. Satterthwaite, T. Hajek, U.
Dannlowski, U. F. Malt, V. Arolt, W. F. Gattaz, W. C. Drevets, X. Caseras, I. Agartz, P.
M. Thompson, and O. A. Andreassen. 2018. "Cortical abnormalities in bipolar disorder:
an MRI analysis of 6503 individuals from the ENIGMA Bipolar Disorder Working Group." *Mol Psychiatry* 23 (4): 932-942. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.73.

Hippolyte, L., A. M. Maillard, B. Rodriguez-Herreros, A. Pain, S. Martin-Brevet, C. Ferrari, P.
Conus, A. Mace, N. Hadjikhani, A. Metspalu, A. Reigo, A. Kolk, K. Mannik, M. Barker, B.
Isidor, C. Le Caignec, C. Mignot, L. Schneider, L. Mottron, B. Keren, A. David, M. DocoFenzy, M. Gerard, R. Bernier, R. P. Goin-Kochel, E. Hanson, L. Green Snyder, Simons
Variation in Individuals Project Consortium p11.2 European Consortium, F. Ramus, J. S.
Beckmann, B. Draganski, A. Reymond, and S. Jacquemont. 2016. "The Number of
Genomic Copies at the 16p11.2 Locus Modulates Language, Verbal Memory, and
Inhibition." *Biol Psychiatry* 80 (2): 129-139.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.10.021

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26742926

Hiramoto, Takeshi, Gina Kang, Go Suzuki, Yasushi Satoh, Raju Kucherlapati, Yasuhiro
Watanabe, and Noboru Hiroi. 2011. "Tbx1: identification of a 22q11. 2 gene as a risk
factor for autism spectrum disorder in a mouse model." *Human molecular genetics* 20 (24): 4775-4785.

- Hiroi, N., T. Takahashi, A. Hishimoto, T. Izumi, S. Boku, and T. Hiramoto. 2013. "Copy number variation at 22q11.2: from rare variants to common mechanisms of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders." *Mol Psychiatry* 18 (11): 1153-65. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.92. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23917946.
- Hiroi, N., and T. Yamauchi. 2019. "Modeling and Predicting Developmental Trajectories of Neuropsychiatric Dimensions Associated With Copy Number Variations." Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 22 (8): 488-500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyz026</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31135887</u>.
- Hoeffding, L. K., B. B. Trabjerg, L. Olsen, W. Mazin, T. Sparso, A. Vangkilde, P. B. Mortensen,
  C. B. Pedersen, and T. Werge. 2017. "Risk of Psychiatric Disorders Among Individuals
  With the 22q11.2 Deletion or Duplication: A Danish Nationwide, Register-Based Study." *JAMA Psychiatry* 74 (3): 282-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.3939</u>.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28114601.
- Jalbrzikowski, M., K. H. Ahmed, A. Patel, R. Jonas, L. Kushan, C. Chow, and C. E. Bearden. 2017. "Categorical versus dimensional approaches to autism-associated intermediate phenotypes in 22q11.2 microdeletion syndrome." *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging* 2 (1): 53-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.06.007</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28367513</u>.
- Jalbrzikowski, M., R. Jonas, D. Senturk, A. Patel, C. Chow, M. F. Green, and C. E. Bearden.
  2013. "Structural abnormalities in cortical volume, thickness, and surface area in
  22q11.2 microdeletion syndrome: Relationship with psychotic symptoms." *Neuroimage Clin* 3: 405-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2013.09.013</u>.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24273724.
- Kail, Robert, and Timothy A Salthouse. 1994. "Processing speed as a mental capacity." *Acta psychologica* 86 (2-3): 199-225.

Keller, T. A., R. K. Kana, and M. A. Just. 2007. "A developmental study of the structural integrity of white matter in autism." *Neuroreport* 18 (1): 23-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnr.0000239965.21685.99</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17259855</u>.

Kelly, S., N. Jahanshad, A. Zalesky, P. Kochunov, I. Agartz, C. Alloza, O. A. Andreassen, C. Arango, N. Banaj, S. Bouix, C. A. Bousman, R. M. Brouwer, J. Bruggemann, J. Bustillo, W. Cahn, V. Calhoun, D. Cannon, V. Carr, S. Catts, J. Chen, J. X. Chen, X. Chen, C. Chiapponi, K. K. Cho, V. Ciullo, A. S. Corvin, B. Crespo-Facorro, V. Cropley, P. De Rossi, C. M. Diaz-Caneja, E. W. Dickie, S. Ehrlich, F. M. Fan, J. Faskowitz, H. Fatouros-Bergman, L. Flyckt, J. M. Ford, J. P. Fouche, M. Fukunaga, M. Gill, D. C. Glahn, R. Gollub, E. D. Goudzwaard, H. Guo, R. E. Gur, R. C. Gur, T. P. Gurholt, R. Hashimoto, S. N. Hatton, F. A. Henskens, D. P. Hibar, I. B. Hickie, L. E. Hong, J. Horacek, F. M. Howells, H. E. Hulshoff Pol, C. L. Hyde, D. Isaev, A. Jablensky, P. R. Jansen, J. Janssen, E. G. Jonsson, L. A. Jung, R. S. Kahn, Z. Kikinis, K. Liu, P. Klauser, C. Knochel, M. Kubicki, J. Lagopoulos, C. Langen, S. Lawrie, R. K. Lenroot, K. O. Lim, C. Lopez-Jaramillo, A. Lyall, V. Magnotta, R. C. W. Mandl, D. H. Mathalon, R. W. McCarley, S. McCarthy-Jones, C. McDonald, S. McEwen, A. McIntosh, T. Melicher, R. I. Mesholam-Gately, P. T. Michie, B. Mowry, B. A. Mueller, D. T. Newell, P. O'Donnell, V. Oertel-Knochel, L. Oestreich, S. A. Paciga, C. Pantelis, O. Pasternak, G. Pearlson, G. R. Pellicano, A. Pereira, J. Pineda Zapata, F. Piras, S. G. Potkin, A. Preda, P. E. Rasser, D. R. Roalf, R. Roiz, A. Roos, D. Rotenberg, T. D. Satterthwaite, P. Savadjiev, U. Schall, R. J. Scott, M. L. Seal, L. J. Seidman, C. Shannon Weickert, C. D. Whelan, M. E. Shenton, J. S. Kwon, G. Spalletta, F. Spaniel, E. Sprooten, M. Stablein, D. J. Stein, S. Sundram, Y. Tan, S. Tan, S. Tang, H. S. Temmingh, L. T. Westlye, S. Tonnesen, D. Tordesillas-Gutierrez, N. T. Doan, J. Vaidya, N. E. M. van Haren, C. D. Vargas, D. Vecchio, D. Velakoulis, A. Voineskos, J. Q. Voyvodic, Z. Wang, P. Wan, D. Wei, T. W. Weickert, H.

Whalley, T. White, T. J. Whitford, J. D. Wojcik, H. Xiang, Z. Xie, H. Yamamori, F. Yang,
N. Yao, G. Zhang, J. Zhao, T. G. M. van Erp, J. Turner, P. M. Thompson, and G.
Donohoe. 2018. "Widespread white matter microstructural differences in schizophrenia across 4322 individuals: results from the ENIGMA Schizophrenia DTI Working Group." *Mol Psychiatry* 23 (5): 1261-1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.170</u>.
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29038599.

- Kendall, K. M., M. Bracher-Smith, H. Fitzpatrick, A. Lynham, E. Rees, V. Escott-Price, M. J.
  Owen, M. C. O'Donovan, J. T. R. Walters, and G. Kirov. 2019. "Cognitive performance and functional outcomes of carriers of pathogenic copy number variants: analysis of the UK Biobank." *Br J Psychiatry*: 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2018.301</u>.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30767844.
- Kirov, G., E. Rees, J. T. Walters, V. Escott-Price, L. Georgieva, A. L. Richards, K. D. Chambert, G. Davies, S. E. Legge, J. L. Moran, S. A. McCarroll, M. C. O'Donovan, and M. J. Owen. 2014. "The penetrance of copy number variations for schizophrenia and developmental delay." *Biol Psychiatry* 75 (5): 378-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.022</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23992924</u>.
- Kochunov, P., T. R. Coyle, L. M. Rowland, N. Jahanshad, P. M. Thompson, S. Kelly, X. Du, H. Sampath, H. Bruce, J. Chiappelli, M. Ryan, F. Fisseha, A. Savransky, B. Adhikari, S. Chen, S. A. Paciga, C. D. Whelan, Z. Xie, C. L. Hyde, X. Chen, C. R. Schubert, P. O'Donnell, and L. E. Hong. 2017. "Association of White Matter With Core Cognitive Deficits in Patients With Schizophrenia." *JAMA Psychiatry* 74 (9): 958-966. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2228.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28768312.

Kochunov, P., L. M. Rowland, E. Fieremans, J. Veraart, N. Jahanshad, G. Eskandar, X. Du, F.
Muellerklein, A. Savransky, D. Shukla, H. Sampath, P. M. Thompson, and L. E. Hong.
2016. "Diffusion-weighted imaging uncovers likely sources of processing-speed deficits

in schizophrenia." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113 (47): 13504-13509.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1608246113.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27834215.

- Lam, Kristen SL, and Michael G Aman. 2007. "The Repetitive Behavior Scale-Revised: independent validation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders." *Journal of autism and developmental disorders* 37 (5): 855-866.
- Lewis, M., and S. J. Kim. 2009. "The pathophysiology of restricted repetitive behavior." *J Neurodev Disord* 1 (2): 114-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11689-009-9019-6</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21547711</u>.
- Li, Z., J. Chen, Y. Xu, Q. Yi, W. Ji, P. Wang, J. Shen, Z. Song, M. Wang, P. Yang, Q. Wang, G. Feng, B. Liu, W. Sun, Q. Xu, B. Li, L. He, G. He, W. Li, Z. Wen, K. Liu, F. Huang, J. Zhou, J. Ji, X. Li, and Y. Shi. 2016. "Genome-wide Analysis of the Role of Copy Number Variation in Schizophrenia Risk in Chinese." *Biol Psychiatry* 80 (4): 331-337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.012.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26795442.

Lin, A., C. R. K. Ching, A. Vajdi, D. Sun, R. K. Jonas, M. Jalbrzikowski, L. Kushan-Wells, L. Pacheco Hansen, E. Krikorian, B. Gutman, D. Dokoru, G. Helleman, P. M. Thompson, and C. E. Bearden. 2017. "Mapping 22q11.2 Gene Dosage Effects on Brain Morphometry." *J Neurosci* 37 (26): 6183-6199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3759-16.2017</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28536274.

Lord, C., S. Risi, L. Lambrecht, E. H. Cook, Jr., B. L. Leventhal, P. C. DiLavore, A. Pickles, and
 M. Rutter. 2000. "The autism diagnostic observation schedule-generic: a standard
 measure of social and communication deficits associated with the spectrum of autism." J
 Autism Dev Disord 30 (3): 205-23. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11055457</u>.

Lord, Catherine, Edwin H Cook, Bennett L Leventhal, and David G Amaral. 2013. "Autism spectrum disorders." *Autism: The Science of Mental Health* 28 (2): 217.

Madden, D. J., W. L. Whiting, S. A. Huettel, L. E. White, J. R. MacFall, and J. M. Provenzale.
2004. "Diffusion tensor imaging of adult age differences in cerebral white matter: relation to response time." *Neuroimage* 21 (3): 1174-81.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.11.004

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15006684

- Malhotra, D., and J. Sebat. 2012. "CNVs: harbingers of a rare variant revolution in psychiatric genetics." *Cell* 148 (6): 1223-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.039</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22424231</u>.
- Mannik, K., R. Magi, A. Mace, B. Cole, A. L. Guyatt, H. A. Shihab, A. M. Maillard, H. Alavere, A. Kolk, A. Reigo, E. Mihailov, L. Leitsalu, A. M. Ferreira, M. Noukas, A. Teumer, E. Salvi, D. Cusi, M. McGue, W. G. Iacono, T. R. Gaunt, J. S. Beckmann, S. Jacquemont, Z. Kutalik, N. Pankratz, N. Timpson, A. Metspalu, and A. Reymond. 2015. "Copy number variations and cognitive phenotypes in unselected populations." *JAMA* 313 (20): 2044-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4845</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26010633.

Marshall, C. R., D. P. Howrigan, D. Merico, B. Thiruvahindrapuram, W. Wu, D. S. Greer, D.
Antaki, A. Shetty, P. A. Holmans, D. Pinto, M. Gujral, W. M. Brandler, D. Malhotra, Z.
Wang, K. V. F. Fajarado, M. S. Maile, S. Ripke, I. Agartz, M. Albus, M. Alexander, F.
Amin, J. Atkins, S. A. Bacanu, R. A. Belliveau, Jr., S. E. Bergen, M. Bertalan, E.
Bevilacqua, T. B. Bigdeli, D. W. Black, R. Bruggeman, N. G. Buccola, R. L. Buckner, B.
Bulik-Sullivan, W. Byerley, W. Cahn, G. Cai, M. J. Cairns, D. Campion, R. M. Cantor, V.
J. Carr, N. Carrera, S. V. Catts, K. D. Chambert, W. Cheng, C. R. Cloninger, D. Cohen,
P. Cormican, N. Craddock, B. Crespo-Facorro, J. J. Crowley, D. Curtis, M. Davidson, K.
L. Davis, F. Degenhardt, J. Del Favero, L. E. DeLisi, D. Dikeos, T. Dinan, S. Djurovic, G.

Donohoe, E. Drapeau, J. Duan, F. Dudbridge, P. Eichhammer, J. Eriksson, V. Escott-Price, L. Essioux, A. H. Fanous, K. H. Farh, M. S. Farrell, J. Frank, L. Franke, R. Freedman, N. B. Freimer, J. I. Friedman, A. J. Forstner, M. Fromer, G. Genovese, L. Georgieva, E. S. Gershon, I. Giegling, P. Giusti-Rodriguez, S. Godard, J. I. Goldstein, J. Gratten, L. de Haan, M. L. Hamshere, M. Hansen, T. Hansen, V. Haroutunian, A. M. Hartmann, F. A. Henskens, S. Herms, J. N. Hirschhorn, P. Hoffmann, A. Hofman, H. Huang, M. Ikeda, I. Joa, A. K. Kahler, R. S. Kahn, L. Kalaydjieva, J. Karjalainen, D. Kavanagh, M. C. Keller, B. J. Kelly, J. L. Kennedy, Y. Kim, J. A. Knowles, B. Konte, C. Laurent, P. Lee, S. H. Lee, S. E. Legge, B. Lerer, D. L. Levy, K. Y. Liang, J. Lieberman, J. Lonnqvist, C. M. Loughland, P. K. E. Magnusson, B. S. Maher, W. Maier, J. Mallet, M. Mattheisen, M. Mattingsdal, R. W. McCarley, C. McDonald, A. M. McIntosh, S. Meier, C. J. Meijer, I. Melle, R. I. Mesholam-Gately, A. Metspalu, P. T. Michie, L. Milani, V. Milanova, Y. Mokrab, D. W. Morris, B. Muller-Myhsok, K. C. Murphy, R. M. Murray, I. Myin-Germeys, I. Nenadic, D. A. Nertney, G. Nestadt, K. K. Nicodemus, L. Nisenbaum, A. Nordin, E. O'Callaghan, C. O'Dushlaine, S. Y. Oh, A. Olincy, L. Olsen, F. A. O'Neill, J. Van Os, C. Pantelis, G. N. Papadimitriou, E. Parkhomenko, M. T. Pato, T. Paunio, Consortium Psychosis Endophenotypes International, D. O. Perkins, T. H. Pers, O. Pietilainen, J. Pimm, A. J. Pocklington, J. Powell, A. Price, A. E. Pulver, S. M. Purcell, D. Quested, H. B. Rasmussen, A. Reichenberg, M. A. Reimers, A. L. Richards, J. L. Roffman, P. Roussos, D. M. Ruderfer, V. Salomaa, A. R. Sanders, A. Savitz, U. Schall, T. G. Schulze, S. G. Schwab, E. M. Scolnick, R. J. Scott, L. J. Seidman, J. Shi, J. M. Silverman, J. W. Smoller, E. Soderman, C. C. A. Spencer, E. A. Stahl, E. Strengman, J. Strohmaier, T. S. Stroup, J. Suvisaari, D. M. Svrakic, J. P. Szatkiewicz, S. Thirumalai, P. A. Tooney, J. Veijola, P. M. Visscher, J. Waddington, D. Walsh, B. T. Webb, M. Weiser, D. B. Wildenauer, N. M. Williams, S. Williams, S. H. Witt, A. R. Wolen, B. K. Wormley, N. R. Wray, J. Q. Wu, C. C. Zai, R. Adolfsson, O. A. Andreassen, D. H. R. Blackwood, E.

Bramon, J. D. Buxbaum, S. Cichon, D. A. Collier, A. Corvin, M. J. Daly, A. Darvasi, E.
Domenici, T. Esko, P. V. Gejman, M. Gill, H. Gurling, C. M. Hultman, N. Iwata, A. V.
Jablensky, E. G. Jonsson, K. S. Kendler, G. Kirov, J. Knight, D. F. Levinson, Q. S. Li, S.
A. McCarroll, A. McQuillin, J. L. Moran, B. J. Mowry, M. M. Nothen, R. A. Ophoff, M. J.
Owen, A. Palotie, C. N. Pato, T. L. Petryshen, D. Posthuma, M. Rietschel, B. P. Riley, D.
Rujescu, P. Sklar, D. St Clair, J. T. R. Walters, T. Werge, P. F. Sullivan, M. C.
O'Donovan, S. W. Scherer, B. M. Neale, J. Sebat, Cnv, and Consortium Schizophrenia
Working Groups of the Psychiatric Genomics. 2017. "Contribution of copy number
variants to schizophrenia from a genome-wide study of 41,321 subjects." *Nat Genet* 49 (1): 27-35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3725.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27869829.

- MathWorks, Inc. 2017. MATLAB and Statistics and Machine Learning Toolbox, Release 2017a. The MathWorks Inc. Natick, Massachusetts.
- McDonald, S., C. Bornhofen, D. Shum, E. Long, C. Saunders, and K. Neulinger. 2006.

"Reliability and validity of The Awareness of Social Inference Test (TASIT): a clinical test of social perception." *Disabil Rehabil* 28 (24): 1529-42.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280600646185.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17178616.

McDonald-McGinn, D. M., K. E. Sullivan, B. Marino, N. Philip, A. Swillen, J. A. S. Vorstman, E.
H. Zackai, B. S. Emanuel, J. R. Vermeesch, B. E. Morrow, P. J. Scambler, and A. S.
Bassett. 2015. "22q11.2 deletion syndrome." *Nature Reviews Disease Primers* 1.
<a href="https://doi.org/ARTN">https://doi.org/ARTN</a> 15071

10.1038/nrdp.2015.71. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000381348900001.

McGlashan, Thomas H, Tandy J Miller, Scott W Woods, Ralph E Hoffman, and Larry Davidson. 2001. "Instrument for the assessment of prodromal symptoms and states." *Early intervention in psychotic disorders*: 135-149. Meechan, D. W., T. M. Maynard, E. S. Tucker, A. Fernandez, B. A. Karpinski, L. A. Rothblat, and A. S. LaMantia. 2015. "Modeling a model: Mouse genetics, 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome, and disorders of cortical circuit development." *Prog Neurobiol* 130: 1-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.03.004</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25866365.

Monks, S., M. Niarchou, A. R. Davies, J. T. Walters, N. Williams, M. J. Owen, M. B. van den Bree, and K. C. Murphy. 2014. "Further evidence for high rates of schizophrenia in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome." *Schizophr Res* 153 (1-3): 231-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.020</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24534796.

- Morgan, V. A., H. Leonard, J. Bourke, and A. Jablensky. 2008. "Intellectual disability cooccurring with schizophrenia and other psychiatric illness: population-based study." *Br J Psychiatry* 193 (5): 364-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.044461</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18978313.
- Mukai, J., M. Tamura, K. Fenelon, A. M. Rosen, T. J. Spellman, R. Kang, A. B. MacDermott, M. Karayiorgou, J. A. Gordon, and J. A. Gogos. 2015. "Molecular substrates of altered axonal growth and brain connectivity in a mouse model of schizophrenia." *Neuron* 86 (3): 680-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.04.003</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25913858.

Niarchou, M., Sjra Chawner, J. L. Doherty, A. M. Maillard, S. Jacquemont, W. K. Chung, L. Green-Snyder, R. A. Bernier, R. P. Goin-Kochel, E. Hanson, D. E. J. Linden, S. C. Linden, F. L. Raymond, D. Skuse, J. Hall, M. J. Owen, and Mbmvd Bree. 2019.
"Psychiatric disorders in children with 16p11.2 deletion and duplication." *Transl Psychiatry* 9 (1): 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0339-8</u>.
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30664628.

- Niarchou, M., S. Zammit, S. H. van Goozen, A. Thapar, H. M. Tierling, M. J. Owen, and M. B. van den Bree. 2014. "Psychopathology and cognition in children with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome." *Br J Psychiatry* 204 (1): 46-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.132324</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24115343</u>.
- Niendam, Tara A, Carrie E Bearden, Isabelle M Rosso, Laura E Sanchez, Trevor Hadley, Keith H Nuechterlein, and Tyrone D Cannon. 2003. "A prospective study of childhood neurocognitive functioning in schizophrenic patients and their siblings." *American Journal of Psychiatry* 160 (11): 2060-2062.
- Ojeda, N, J Peña, DJ Schretlen, P Sanchez, E Aretouli, E Elizagarate, J Ezcurra, and M Gutierrez. 2012. "Hierarchical structure of the cognitive processes in schizophrenia: the fundamental role of processing speed." *Schizophrenia research* 135 (1-3): 72-78.
- Oliveras-Rentas, Rafael E, Lauren Kenworthy, Richard B Roberson, Alex Martin, and Gregory L Wallace. 2012. "WISC-IV profile in high-functioning autism spectrum disorders: impaired processing speed is associated with increased autism communication symptoms and decreased adaptive communication abilities." *Journal of autism and developmental disorders* 42 (5): 655-664.
- Olsen, L., T. Sparso, S. M. Weinsheimer, M. B. Q. Dos Santos, W. Mazin, A. Rosengren, X. C. Sanchez, L. K. Hoeffding, H. Schmock, M. Baekvad-Hansen, J. Bybjerg-Grauholm, M. J. Daly, B. M. Neale, M. G. Pedersen, E. Agerbo, O. Mors, A. Borglum, M. Nordentoft, D. M. Hougaard, P. B. Mortensen, D. H. Geschwind, C. Pedersen, W. K. Thompson, and T. Werge. 2018. "Prevalence of rearrangements in the 22q11.2 region and population-based risk of neuropsychiatric and developmental disorders in a Danish population: a case-cohort study." *Lancet Psychiatry* 5 (7): 573-580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30168-8. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29886042</u>.
- Ou, Z., J. S. Berg, H. Yonath, V. B. Enciso, D. T. Miller, J. Picker, T. Lenzi, C. E. Keegan, V. R. Sutton, J. Belmont, A. C. Chinault, J. R. Lupski, S. W. Cheung, E. Roeder, and A. Patel.

2008. "Microduplications of 22q11.2 are frequently inherited and are associated with variable phenotypes." *Genet Med* 10 (4): 267-77.

https://doi.org/10.1097/GIM.0b013e31816b64c2.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18414210.

- Ouchi, Y., Y. Banno, Y. Shimizu, S. Ando, H. Hasegawa, K. Adachi, and T. Iwamoto. 2013.
   "Reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis and working memory deficits in the Dgcr8deficient mouse model of 22q11.2 deletion-associated schizophrenia can be rescued by IGF2." *J Neurosci* 33 (22): 9408-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2700-12.2013</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23719809</u>.
- Paus, Tomáš. 2005. "Mapping brain maturation and cognitive development during adolescence." *Trends in cognitive sciences* 9 (2): 60-68.
- Perlstein, M. D., M. R. Chohan, I. L. Coman, K. M. Antshel, W. P. Fremont, M. H. Gnirke, Z. Kikinis, F. A. Middleton, P. D. Radoeva, M. E. Shenton, and W. R. Kates. 2014. "White matter abnormalities in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: preliminary associations with the Nogo-66 receptor gene and symptoms of psychosis." *Schizophr Res* 152 (1): 117-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2013.11.015.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24321711.

- Pilowsky, T., N. Yirmiya, S. Arbelle, and T. Mozes. 2000. "Theory of mind abilities of children with schizophrenia, children with autism, and normally developing children." *Schizophr Res* 42 (2): 145-55. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10742652.
- Pinkham, A. E., D. L. Penn, D. O. Perkins, and J. Lieberman. 2003. "Implications for the neural basis of social cognition for the study of schizophrenia." *Am J Psychiatry* 160 (5): 815-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.5.815</u>.
  <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12727681</u>.

Portnoi, M. F. 2009. "Microduplication 22q11.2: a new chromosomal syndrome." *Eur J Med Genet* 52 (2-3): 88-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2009.02.008</u>. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19254783.

Rees, E., K. Kendall, A. F. Pardinas, S. E. Legge, A. Pocklington, V. Escott-Price, J. H.
MacCabe, D. A. Collier, P. Holmans, M. C. O'Donovan, M. J. Owen, J. T. R. Walters, and G. Kirov. 2016. "Analysis of Intellectual Disability Copy Number Variants for Association With Schizophrenia." *JAMA Psychiatry* 73 (9): 963-969.
<a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.1831">https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.1831</a>.
<a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27602560">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27602560</a>.

- Rees, E., G. Kirov, A. Sanders, J. T. Walters, K. D. Chambert, J. Shi, J. Szatkiewicz, C.
  O'Dushlaine, A. L. Richards, E. K. Green, I. Jones, G. Davies, S. E. Legge, J. L. Moran,
  C. Pato, M. Pato, G. Genovese, D. Levinson, J. Duan, W. Moy, H. H. Goring, D. Morris,
  P. Cormican, K. S. Kendler, F. A. O'Neill, B. Riley, M. Gill, A. Corvin, Consortium
  Wellcome Trust Case Control, N. Craddock, P. Sklar, C. Hultman, P. F. Sullivan, P. V.
  Gejman, S. A. McCarroll, M. C. O'Donovan, and M. J. Owen. 2014. "Evidence that
  duplications of 22q11.2 protect against schizophrenia." *Mol Psychiatry* 19 (1): 37-40.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.156. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24217254.
- Rees, E., J. T. Walters, L. Georgieva, A. R. Isles, K. D. Chambert, A. L. Richards, G. Mahoney-Davies, S. E. Legge, J. L. Moran, S. A. McCarroll, M. C. O'Donovan, M. J. Owen, and G. Kirov. 2014. "Analysis of copy number variations at 15 schizophrenia-associated loci." *Br J Psychiatry* 204 (2): 108-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.131052</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24311552.

Reichenberg, Abraham, Avshalom Caspi, HonaLee Harrington, Renate Houts, Richard SE Keefe, Robin M Murray, Richie Poulton, and Terrie E Moffitt. 2009. "Static and dynamic cognitive deficits in childhood preceding adult schizophrenia: a 30-year study." *American Journal of Psychiatry* 167 (2): 160-169.

- Rodríguez-Sánchez, José Manuel, Benedicto Crespo-Facorro, Cesar Gonzalez-Blanch, Rocio Perez-Iglesias, and José Luis Vázquez-Barquero. 2007. "Cognitive dysfunction in firstepisode psychosis: the processing speed hypothesis." *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 191 (S51): s107-s110.
- Rutter, M, A LeCouteur, and C Lord. 2003. "Autism diagnostic interview revised (ADI-R) manual (WPS Edition)." WPS: Los Angeles, CA.
- Schmaal, L., D. J. Veltman, T. G. van Erp, P. G. Samann, T. Frodl, N. Jahanshad, E. Loehrer, H. Tiemeier, A. Hofman, W. J. Niessen, M. W. Vernooij, M. A. Ikram, K. Wittfeld, H. J. Grabe, A. Block, K. Hegenscheid, H. Volzke, D. Hoehn, M. Czisch, J. Lagopoulos, S. N. Hatton, I. B. Hickie, R. Goya-Maldonado, B. Kramer, O. Gruber, B. Couvy-Duchesne, M. E. Renteria, L. T. Strike, N. T. Mills, G. I. de Zubicaray, K. L. McMahon, S. E. Medland, N. G. Martin, N. A. Gillespie, M. J. Wright, G. B. Hall, G. M. MacQueen, E. M. Frey, A. Carballedo, L. S. van Velzen, M. J. van Tol, N. J. van der Wee, I. M. Veer, H. Walter, K. Schnell, E. Schramm, C. Normann, D. Schoepf, C. Konrad, B. Zurowski, T. Nickson, A. M. McIntosh, M. Papmeyer, H. C. Whalley, J. E. Sussmann, B. R. Godlewska, P. J. Cowen, F. H. Fischer, M. Rose, B. W. Penninx, P. M. Thompson, and D. P. Hibar. 2016. "Subcortical brain alterations in major depressive disorder: findings from the ENIGMA Major Depressive Disorder working group." *Mol Psychiatry* 21 (6): 806-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.69. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26122586.

Schneider, M., M. Debbane, A. S. Bassett, E. W. Chow, W. L. Fung, M. van den Bree, M. Owen,
K. C. Murphy, M. Niarchou, W. R. Kates, K. M. Antshel, W. Fremont, D. M. McDonaldMcGinn, R. E. Gur, E. H. Zackai, J. Vorstman, S. N. Duijff, P. W. Klaassen, A. Swillen,
D. Gothelf, T. Green, A. Weizman, T. Van Amelsvoort, L. Evers, E. Boot, V. Shashi, S.
R. Hooper, C. E. Bearden, M. Jalbrzikowski, M. Armando, S. Vicari, D. G. Murphy, O.
Ousley, L. E. Campbell, T. J. Simon, S. Eliez, Brain International Consortium on, and
Syndrome Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion. 2014. "Psychiatric disorders from childhood to

adulthood in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: results from the International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome." *Am J Psychiatry* 171 (6): 627-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13070864</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24577245.

- Simons Vip, Consortium. 2012. "Simons Variation in Individuals Project (Simons VIP): a genetics-first approach to studying autism spectrum and related neurodevelopmental disorders." *Neuron* 73 (6): 1063-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.014</u>. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22445335</u>.
- Span, Mark M, K Richard Ridderinkhof, and Maurits W van der Molen. 2004. "Age-related changes in the efficiency of cognitive processing across the life span." *Acta Psychologica* 117 (2): 155-183.

Stefansson, H., A. Meyer-Lindenberg, S. Steinberg, B. Magnusdottir, K. Morgen, S. Arnarsdottir, G. Bjornsdottir, G. B. Walters, G. A. Jonsdottir, O. M. Doyle, H. Tost, O. Grimm, S. Kristjansdottir, H. Snorrason, S. R. Davidsdottir, L. J. Gudmundsson, G. F. Jonsson, B. Stefansdottir, I. Helgadottir, M. Haraldsson, B. Jonsdottir, J. H. Thygesen, A. J. Schwarz, M. Didriksen, T. B. Stensbol, M. Brammer, S. Kapur, J. G. Halldorsson, S. Hreidarsson, E. Saemundsen, E. Sigurdsson, and K. Stefansson. 2014. "CNVs conferring risk of autism or schizophrenia affect cognition in controls." *Nature* 505 (7483): 361-6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12818. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24352232.

Sun, D., C. R. K. Ching, A. Lin, J. K. Forsyth, L. Kushan, A. Vajdi, M. Jalbrzikowski, L. Hansen, J. E. Villalon-Reina, X. Qu, R. K. Jonas, T. van Amelsvoort, G. Bakker, W. R. Kates, K. M. Antshel, W. Fremont, L. E. Campbell, K. L. McCabe, E. Daly, M. Gudbrandsen, C. M. Murphy, D. Murphy, M. Craig, J. Vorstman, A. Fiksinski, S. Koops, K. Ruparel, D. R. Roalf, R. E. Gur, J. E. Schmitt, T. J. Simon, N. J. Goodrich-Hunsaker, C. A. Durdle, A. S. Bassett, E. W. C. Chow, N. J. Butcher, F. Vila-Rodriguez, J. Doherty, A. Cunningham, M. B. M. van den Bree, D. E. J. Linden, H. Moss, M. J. Owen, K. C. Murphy, D. M.

McDonald-McGinn, B. Emanuel, T. G. M. van Erp, J. A. Turner, P. M. Thompson, and C.
E. Bearden. 2018. "Large-scale mapping of cortical alterations in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: Convergence with idiopathic psychosis and effects of deletion size." *Mol Psychiatry*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0078-5</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29895892.

Suzuki, G., K. M. Harper, T. Hiramoto, B. Funke, M. Lee, G. Kang, M. Buell, M. A. Geyer, R. Kucherlapati, B. Morrow, P. T. Mannisto, S. Agatsuma, and N. Hiroi. 2009. "Over-expression of a human chromosome 22q11.2 segment including TXNRD2, COMT and ARVCF developmentally affects incentive learning and working memory in mice." *Hum Mol Genet* 18 (20): 3914-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp334</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19617637.

Tamnes, C. K., Y. Ostby, A. M. Fjell, L. T. Westlye, P. Due-Tonnessen, and K. B. Walhovd. 2010. "Brain maturation in adolescence and young adulthood: regional age-related changes in cortical thickness and white matter volume and microstructure." *Cereb Cortex* 20 (3): 534-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhp118</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19520764.

Tanimura, Y., S. Vaziri, and M. H. Lewis. 2010. "Indirect basal ganglia pathway mediation of repetitive behavior: attenuation by adenosine receptor agonists." *Behav Brain Res* 210 (1): 116-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2010.02.030</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20178817.

- Thompson, Paul M, Jason L Stein, Sarah E Medland, Derrek P Hibar, Alejandro Arias Vasquez,
   Miguel E Renteria, Roberto Toro, Neda Jahanshad, Gunter Schumann, and Barbara
   Franke. 2014. "The ENIGMA Consortium: large-scale collaborative analyses of
   neuroimaging and genetic data." *Brain imaging and behavior* 8 (2): 153-182.
- Thygesen, J. H., K. Wolfe, A. McQuillin, M. Vinas-Jornet, N. Baena, N. Brison, G. D'Haenens, S. Esteba-Castillo, E. Gabau, N. Ribas-Vidal, A. Ruiz, J. Vermeesch, E. Weyts, R. Novell,

G. V. Buggenhout, A. Strydom, N. Bass, M. Guitart, and A. Vogels. 2018.

"Neurodevelopmental risk copy number variants in adults with intellectual disabilities and comorbid psychiatric disorders." *Br J Psychiatry* 212 (5): 287-294.

https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2017.65. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29693535.

van Erp, T. G., D. P. Hibar, J. M. Rasmussen, D. C. Glahn, G. D. Pearlson, O. A. Andreassen, I. Agartz, L. T. Westlye, U. K. Haukvik, A. M. Dale, I. Melle, C. B. Hartberg, O. Gruber, B. Kraemer, D. Zilles, G. Donohoe, S. Kelly, C. McDonald, D. W. Morris, D. M. Cannon, A. Corvin, M. W. Machielsen, L. Koenders, L. de Haan, D. J. Veltman, T. D. Satterthwaite, D. H. Wolf, R. C. Gur, R. E. Gur, S. G. Potkin, D. H. Mathalon, B. A. Mueller, A. Preda, F. Macciardi, S. Ehrlich, E. Walton, J. Hass, V. D. Calhoun, H. J. Bockholt, S. R. Sponheim, J. M. Shoemaker, N. E. van Haren, H. E. Pol, R. A. Ophoff, R. S. Kahn, R. Roiz-Santianez, B. Crespo-Facorro, L. Wang, K. I. Alpert, E. G. Jonsson, R. Dimitrova, C. Bois, H. C. Whalley, A. M. McIntosh, S. M. Lawrie, R. Hashimoto, P. M. Thompson, and J. A. Turner. 2016. "Subcortical brain volume abnormalities in 2028 individuals with schizophrenia and 2540 healthy controls via the ENIGMA consortium." *Mol Psychiatry* 21 (4): 585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.118</u>.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26283641.

Villalon-Reina, J. E., K. Martinez, X. Qu, C. R. K. Ching, T. M. Nir, D. Kothapalli, C. Corbin, D. Sun, A. Lin, J. K. Forsyth, L. Kushan, A. Vajdi, M. Jalbrzikowski, L. Hansen, R. K. Jonas, T. van Amelsvoort, G. Bakker, W. R. Kates, K. M. Antshel, W. Fremont, L. E. Campbell, K. L. McCabe, E. Daly, M. Gudbrandsen, C. M. Murphy, D. Murphy, M. Craig, B. Emanuel, D. M. McDonald-McGinn, J. A. S. Vorstman, A. M. Fiksinski, S. Koops, K. Ruparel, D. Roalf, R. E. Gur, J. Eric Schmitt, T. J. Simon, N. J. Goodrich-Hunsaker, C. A. Durdle, J. L. Doherty, A. C. Cunningham, M. van den Bree, D. E. J. Linden, M. Owen, H. Moss, S. Kelly, G. Donohoe, K. C. Murphy, C. Arango, N. Jahanshad, P. M. Thompson, and C. E. Bearden. 2019. "Altered white matter microstructure in 22q11.2

deletion syndrome: a multisite diffusion tensor imaging study." Mol Psychiatry.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0450-0.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31358905.

- Vorstman, J. A., E. J. Breetvelt, K. I. Thode, E. W. Chow, and A. S. Bassett. 2013. "Expression of autism spectrum and schizophrenia in patients with a 22q11.2 deletion." *Schizophr Res* 143 (1): 55-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.010</u>.
   <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23153825</u>.
- Vorstman, J. A. S., E. J. Breetvelt, S. N. Duijff, S. Eliez, M. Schneider, M. Jalbrzikowski, M. Armando, S. Vicari, V. Shashi, S. R. Hooper, E. W. C. Chow, W. L. A. Fung, N. J. Butcher, D. A. Young, D. M. McDonald-McGinn, A. Vogels, D. Gothelf, R. Weinberger, A. Weizman, P. J. Klaassen, S. Koops, W. R. Kates, K. M. Antshel, T. J. Simon, O. Y. Ousley, A. Swillen, R. E. Gur, C. E. Bearden, R. S. Kahn, A. S. Bassett, B. S. Emanuel, E. H. Zackai, L. Kushan, W. Fremont, K. Schoch, J. Stoddard, J. Cubells, F. Fu, L. E. Campbell, R. Fritsch, E. Vergaelen, M. Neeleman, E. Boot, M. Debbane, N. Philip, T. Green, M. B. M. van den Bree, D. Murphy, J. M. Canyelles, C. Arango, K. C. Murphy, M. Pontillo, and Int Consortium Brain Behav. 2015. "Cognitive Decline Preceding the Onset of Psychosis in Patients With 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome." *Jama Psychiatry* 72 (4): 377-385. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2671.
- Wechsler, D. 1999. "Manual for the Wechsler Abbreviated Intelligence Scale (WASI) The Psychological Corporation." *San Antonio, Tx*.
- Wechsler, David. 2008. "Wechsler adult intelligence scale–Fourth Edition (WAIS–IV)." San Antonio, TX: NCS Pearson 22: 498.
- Wenger, T. L., J. S. Miller, L. M. DePolo, A. B. de Marchena, C. C. Clements, B. S. Emanuel, E.
  H. Zackai, D. M. McDonald-McGinn, and R. T. Schultz. 2016. "22q11.2 duplication syndrome: elevated rate of autism spectrum disorder and need for medical screening."

Mol Autism 7: 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-016-0090-z.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27158440.

Wentzel, C., M. Fernstrom, Y. Ohrner, G. Anneren, and A. C. Thuresson. 2008. "Clinical variability of the 22q11.2 duplication syndrome." *Eur J Med Genet* 51 (6): 501-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2008.07.005.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18707033.

- Woodward, Karen J., Julie Stampalia, Hannah Vanyai, Hashika Rijhumal, Kim Potts, Fiona Taylor, Joanne Peverall, Tanya Grumball, Soruba Sivamoorthy, Hamid Alinejad-Rokny, John Wray, Andrew Whitehouse, Lakshmi Nagarajan, Jacqueline Scurlock, Sabine Afchani, Matthew Edwards, Ashleigh Murch, John Beilby, Gareth Baynam, Cathy Kiraly-Borri, Fiona McKenzie, and Julian I. T. Heng. 2019. "Atypical nested 22q11.2 duplications between LCR22B and LCR22D are associated with neurodevelopmental phenotypes including autism spectrum disorder with incomplete penetrance." *Molecular Genetics & Genomic Medicine* 7 (2): e00507. https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.507. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/mgg3.507.
- Yu, S., K. Cox, K. Friend, S. Smith, R. Buchheim, S. Bain, J. Liebelt, E. Thompson, and D. Bratkovic. 2008. "Familial 22q11.2 duplication: a three-generation family with a 3-Mb duplication and a familial 1.5-Mb duplication." *Clin Genet* 73 (2): 160-4. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.2007.00938.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.2007.00938.x</a>. <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18076674">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18076674</a>.

# 3.8: Supplement

# 3.8.1: Inclusion/exclusion criteria details

Our goal was to include as representative a cohort of CNV carriers as possible; as such, we did not exclude participants for cardiac-related issues, as cardiac complications are a hallmark of 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Such exclusions would reduce power and create an unrepresentative sample. Control participants were excluded if they had intellectual disability, evidence of past or current major mental disorder, based on information gathered during the Structured Clinical Interview for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, edition 4 (First & Gibbon, 2004) and/or Computerized Diagnostic Interview for Children (Shaffer et al., 2000), and/or first-degree relative with a psychotic disorder diagnosis. Because Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a common childhood behavioral disorder (Danielson et al., 2018), this was not exclusionary for controls.

## 3.8.2: Neuroimaging protocol

Each scan began with a 10 min acquisition of standard images used for determining regional anatomy, including a sagittal localizer image (TR/TE = 500/33 ms, 192 × 256 matrix), a high-resolution T2-weighted axial image (TR/TE = 5000/33 ms, 128 × 128 matrix, FOV = 200 × 200 mm), and a sagittal 1 mm3 T1-weighted image. We used FreeSurfer to process 1 mm3 T1-weighted anatomical images acquired with an MPRAGE sequence. The parameters for the MPRAGE were the following: TR = 2.3 s, TE = 2.91 ms, FOV = 256 mm, matrix = 240 × 256, flip angle = 9°, slice thickness = 1.20 mm, 160 slices. The FreeSurfer image analysis suite (version 5.3.0; http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu) surface-based processing pipeline was used to derive measures of volume, cortical thickness, and surface area. FreeSurfer is a well-validated processing package that has been previously described in detail (Dale et al., 1999; Fischl et al., 1999). We extracted cortical measures based on the Desikan FreeSurfer atlas (Desikan et al., 2006). Quality assessment procedures were applied by 2 blind raters to determine scan quality. Segmented regions were visually inspected and statistically evaluated for outliers following standardized ENIGMA protocols (<u>http://enigma.ini.usc.edu/protocols/imaging-protocols</u>).

3.8.3: Analysis of sensory sensitivity and social responsiveness subdomains did not show significant differences between 22q11.2 deletion and duplication carriers A linear model was used to test for differences in ASD subscales of sensory sensitivity and social responsiveness between 22q11.2 deletion versus duplication carriers, while adjusting for age and sex. No corrected differences were found at q < 0.05 (see Figure S3.1).



Figure S3.1: Combined box- and scatterplots of average group scores for ASD subdomain scales.

3.8.4: Investigating the relationship between ASD-related impairments and

#### cognitive abilities

We further explored whether ASD-related symptoms correlated with cognitive function, and to what extent the associations differed between deletion and duplication carriers (see Figure S3.2). To do so, we performed partial Spearman's correlation analyses, controlling for age, between each of 5 cognitive traits (i.e., Verbal IQ, Nonverbal IQ, working memory, processing speed, and verbal memory) and each of 7 dimensional ASD-related traits (i.e., social responsiveness impairment, sensory insensitivity, repetitive/restrictive behavior, lie detection, sarcasm detection, emotion recognition, and emotion differentiation), separately for deletion and duplication carriers. Because Full-Scale IQ is comprised of nonverbal and verbal IQ, it was not included to avoid redundant variables. After correcting for multiple comparisons using an FDR adjustment at q<0.05 across 35 tests within each group, 6 correlations survived. Within 22q11.2 deletion carriers, verbal IQ positively correlated with lie detection (q=0.02, rho = 0.42, Cohen's d = 0.92) and emotion recognition (q=0.03, rho = 0.37, Cohen's d = 0.78). Also, higher processing speed was associated with less sensory sensitivity (q=0.03, rho = 0.35, Cohen's d = 0.74). Within duplication carriers, verbal IQ was positively correlated with lie detection (g=0.0006, rho = 0.85, Cohen's d = 3.18), emotion recognition (q=0.007, rho = 0.60, Cohen's d = 1.48), and emotion differentiation (q=0.03, rho = 0.53, Cohen's d = 1.24). These results indicate that verbal IQ is positively correlated with social cognition in both duplication and deletion carriers, although effect sizes for these relationships were greater in the duplication group.





# 3.8.5: Analysis of additional measures of social-emotional behavior and real-

## world function

We extended our univariate analysis of group differences to include 10 additional neurobehavioral traits on a scale normalized to controls to determine whether there are specific areas of impairment or preservation (Tables S3.1 and S3.2, Figure S3.3). These traits are beyond the scope of the primary hypotheses of the main text and assess broader neuropsychological profiles spanning social-emotional behavior and real-world function, not specific to ASD or SCZ. Executive functioning was measured via the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF) Global Executive Composite score (Gioia et al., 2000). Behavioral/emotional problems and competencies were assessed using overlapping domains of the Child or Young Adult Behavioral Checklist (CBCL/YABC), including: somatic complaints, anxious/ depressed, withdrawn/depressed, thought problems, attention problems, delinquent behavior, and aggressive behavior (Achenbach, 1993). Overall daily functioning was measured

using the Global Assessment of Functioning Scale (GAF; (Association, 2000)). Additionally, two specific measures of social and role functioning, specifically designed for assessment of youth, were obtained to more precisely capture real-life behavioral challenges independent of symptom severity (Global Functioning: Social; Global Functioning: Role scales (Cornblatt et al., 2007)).

We converted individual raw scores into standard scores, relative to control subjects (mean = 0, sd = 1). Each score was converted to a z-score by subtracting the group mean and then dividing by the standard deviation of the control group. Then, significance testing was conducted on the normalized scores as before, where an omnibus ANCOVA was first applied to test for the overall effect of group, followed by Tukey's post-hoc pairwise comparisons. FDR correction was applied for the number of traits within each panel.

For every trait analyzed, both CNV groups showed significant differences compared to controls at a corrected q < 0.05. There were significant, corrected differences between CNV groups for only one trait in which 22q11.2 deletion carriers showed significantly greater impairment in role functioning compared to duplication carriers. These findings highlight the pleiotropic effects of 22q11.2 genes and also suggest that both over and under-expression of genes within the locus can lead to convergent, complex neuropsychiatric deficits.

Domain	Test	Trait	Measure
Behavioral	Behavior Rating	Executive Functioning	global executive
Functioning	Inventory of Executive Function		composite T-score
	Child Behavior Checklist, Young Adult Behavior Checklist	Anxious Depressed	T-score
		Withdrawn Depressed	T-score
		Somatic Complaints	T-score

112

		Thought Problems	T-score		
		Attention Problems	T-score		
		Aggression	T-score		
Global Functioning	Global Functioning: Role Scale	Role Functioning	scale of 1-10		
	Global Functioning:	Social Functioning	scale of 1-10		
	Social Scale				
	Global Assessment of	Global Functioning	scale of 1-100		
	Functioning				

Table S3.1: Description of additional measures of social-emotional behavior and real-world functioning.

Trait	Omnibus	22qDEL-Control		22qDUP-Control		22qDUP-22qDEL	
	F-statistic	Estima	ate (SE)	Estin	nate (SE)	Estima	te (SE)
Executive Functioning <sup>a,b</sup>	38.78	18.05	(-2.27)	19.85	(-2.92)	1.8	(-2.84)
Somatic Complaints <sup>a,b</sup>	23.34	9.73	(-1.48)	8.45	(-1.89)	-1.28	(-1.82)
Thought Problems <sup>a,b</sup>	15.64	8.87	(-1.62)	6.9	(-2.06)	-1.97	(-1.99)
Withdrawn Depressed <sup>a,b</sup>	20.82	8.45	(-1.39)	8.2	(-1.78)	-0.25	(-1.72)
Attention Problems <sup>a,b</sup>	29.51	12.15	(-1.69)	11.91	(-2.15)	-0.24	(-2.08)

Anxious Depressed <sup>a,b</sup>	25.63	8.93	(-1.39)	9.96	(-1.77)	1.04	(-1.71)
Aggression <sup>a,b</sup>	10.04	5.25	(-1.45)	7.41	(-1.92)	2.16	(-1.88)
Role Functioning <sup>a,b,c</sup>	78.48	-3.34	(-0.27)	-2.19	(-0.35)	1.16	(-0.34)
Social Functioning <sup>a,b</sup>	67.54	-2.53	(-0.22)	-1.87	(-0.29)	0.66	(-0.28)
Global Functioning <sup>a,b</sup>	83.14	-28.93	(-2.28)	-21.51	(-2.96)	7.41	(-2.9)

Table S3.2: ANCOVA results for additional measures of social-emotional behavior and real-world functioning, covarying for age and sex. <sup>a</sup>corrected 22qDEL-CON difference; <sup>b</sup>corrected 22qDUP-CON differences; <sup>c</sup> corrected 22qDEL-22qDUP difference.



Figure S3.3: Z-scores and standard errors depicting effects of 22q11.2 CNVs across a wider neurocognitive profile with additional behavioral functioning measures, standardized to control mean and standard deviation. For comparability, panel A reproduces the z-scores of the cognitive/behavioral measures in the main text while panel B contains the additionally analyzed traits. For visualization purposes, scores are converted to absolute values and then multiplied by -1 to highlight impairments in CNV groups compared to controls. Dotted lines separate traits into neurocognitive and behavioral domains. Compared to

controls, 22q11.2 deletion and duplication carriers showed significant impairment across all traits with the exception of positive symptoms, for which duplication carriers did not differ from controls. In addition, 22q11.2 deletion carriers showed even greater impairment than duplication carriers for all three IQ measures, positive and negative symptoms, and role functioning but otherwise displayed no significant difference from duplication carriers for social cognition and ASD-relevant traits. At *q* < 0.05, <sup>a</sup>corrected 22qDEL-CON difference; <sup>b</sup>corrected 22qDUP-CON differences; <sup>c</sup> corrected 22qDEL-22qDUP difference.



#### Figure S3.4: Interaction between group and brain measure (regional cortical

thickness/surface area) on processing speed (uncorrected *p*-values). After regressing out age and sex from cognitive measures, a linear model was applied to estimate the interaction effect of brain and group for each of the 15 traits using measures of CT or SA. Rows and columns are ordered by hierarchical clustering as annotated by the dendrograms. SSP = Sensory Sensitivity Profile, SRS = Social Responsiveness Scale, RBS = Restricted, Repetitive Behavior, ER = Emotion Recognition, PS = Processing Speed, WM = Working Memory, SAR = Sarcasm Detection, ED = Emotion Differentiation, LIE = Lie Detection, NVIQ = Nonverbal IQ, VIQ = Verbal IQ, FSIQ = Full-scale IQ, VM = Verbal Memory, NEG = Negative Symptoms, POS = Positive Symptoms.

## 3.8.2: Supplementary references

Achenbach, T. M. (1993). "Young adult behavior checklist." <u>Burlington: Department of</u> <u>Psychology, University of Vermont</u>.

Association, A. P. (2000). "Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed.)."

- Cornblatt, B. A., A. M. Auther, T. Niendam, C. W. Smith, J. Zinberg, C. E. Bearden and T. D. Cannon (2007). "Preliminary findings for two new measures of social and role functioning in the prodromal phase of schizophrenia." <u>Schizophr Bull</u> **33**(3): 688-702.
- Dale, A. M., B. Fischl and M. I. Sereno (1999). "Cortical surface-based analysis. I. Segmentation and surface reconstruction." <u>Neuroimage</u> **9**(2): 179-194.
- Danielson, M. L., R. H. Bitsko, R. M. Ghandour, J. R. Holbrook, M. D. Kogan and S. J. Blumberg (2018). "Prevalence of Parent-Reported ADHD Diagnosis and Associated Treatment Among U.S. Children and Adolescents, 2016." J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 47(2): 199-212.
- Desikan, R. S., F. Ségonne, B. Fischl, B. T. Quinn, B. C. Dickerson, D. Blacker, R. L. Buckner, A. M. Dale, R. P. Maguire and B. T. Hyman (2006). "An automated labeling system for

subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest." <u>Neuroimage</u> **31**(3): 968-980.

- First, M. B. and M. Gibbon (2004). "The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (SCID-I) and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Disorders (SCID-II)."
- Fischl, B., M. I. Sereno and A. M. Dale (1999). "Cortical surface-based analysis: II: inflation, flattening, and a surface-based coordinate system." <u>Neuroimage</u> **9**(2): 195-207.
- Gioia, G. A., P. K. Isquith, S. C. Guy and L. Kenworthy (2000). "Test review behavior rating inventory of executive function." <u>Child Neuropsychology</u> **6**(3): 235-238.
- Shaffer, D., P. Fisher, C. P. Lucas, M. K. Dulcan and M. E. Schwab-Stone (2000). "NIMH Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children Version IV (NIMH DISC-IV): description, differences from previous versions, and reliability of some common diagnoses." <u>J Am</u> <u>Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry</u> **39**(1): 28-38.

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

Transcriptomic profiling of whole blood in 22q11.2 reciprocal copy number variants reveals that

cell proportion highly impacts gene expression

## 4.1: Abstract

22q11.2 reciprocal copy number variants (CNVs) offer a powerful quasi-experimental "reverse-genetics" paradigm to elucidate how gene dosage (i.e., deletions and duplications) disrupts the transcriptome to cause further downstream effects. Clinical profiles of 22q11.2 CNV carriers suggest that disrupted gene expression could underlie known alterations in neuroanatomy, cognitive function, and psychiatric disease risk. However, interpreting transcriptomic signal in blood tissue requires careful consideration of cell type heterogeneity. We characterized transcriptomic dysregulation of peripheral blood from reciprocal 22g11.2 CNV carriers using differential expression analysis and unsupervised weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) to identify modules of co-expressed genes. We also accounted for the effect of cell type proportions and other potential confounders such as batch and medication usage. Finally, to explore whether CNV-related transcriptomic changes relate to downstream phenotypes associated with 22g11.2 CNVs, we tested for associations of gene expression with neuroimaging measures and behavioral traits, including IQ and psychosis or ASD diagnosis. 22g11.2 deletion (22gDel) significantly altered genome-wide expression at the individual gene as well as module eigengene level. In 22qDel carriers, modules showed significant upregulation for 2 modules and downregulation for 3 modules compared to 22g duplication carriers (22gDup) and controls, as well as significant upregulation in 1 module compared to only 22gDup carriers. However, 22gDup did not show any significant differential expression compared to 22qDel carriers or controls. Notably, differences in gene expression between groups were substantially attenuated after adjustment for cell type heterogeneity. Three modules showing group differences were highly enriched for specific cell types, including T-cell and macrophage subtypes, of which proportions also showed group differences. Mast cell subtypes were also found to significantly differ between CNV groups. While gene expression and cell type proportions largely did not associate with clinical phenotypes, WDR1 and FNBP1 genes were significantly underexpressed in 22qDel carriers with ASD compared to 22qDel

121

carriers without ASD, but overexpressed in 22qDup carriers with ASD compared to 22qDup carriers without ASD. Our findings highlight the importance of accounting for cell type heterogeneity when analyzing peripheral blood to study brain-related diseases. Nonetheless, the identification of several potentially novel cell type composition differences warrants future investigation in animal or in vitro models to test whether 22q11.2 CNV effects on macrophages may have implications for microglial function. In sum, provided key confounds are appropriately adjusted, blood tissue may shed light on immune mechanisms relevant to psychiatric disorders.

# 4.2: Introduction

Deletions and duplications at the 22q11.2 locus occur in 1 in ~3000-4000 and 1 in ~1600 live births, respectively (Hoeffding et al., 2017; Olsen et al., 2018). They span a gene-rich region of chromosome 22 that includes highly conserved, brain-expressed, protein-coding genes, many of which are crucial for brain and cognitive development (Guna et al., 2015; N. Hiroi et al., 2013). 22q11.2 deletions are associated with a multi-system phenotype that includes heart anomalies, immune dysfunction, and high rates of neuropsychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2015). Both of these copy number variants (CNVs) are associated with developmental delays and intellectual disability; however, cognitive deficits tend to be milder in 22q11.2 duplication carriers compared to deletion carriers (A. Lin et al., 2020). Notably, both convergent and divergent impairments are associated with these reciprocal chromosomal rearrangements (Hoeffding et al., 2017; A. Lin et al., 2020; Olsen et al., 2018). For example, both the 22q11.2 deletion and duplication are associated with elevated rates of autism spectrum disorder (ASD)(Olsen et al., 2018; Jacob A. S. Vorstman et al., 2006; Wenger et al., 2016), but only the 22q11.2 deletion confers elevated risk for psychosis (Z. Li et al., 2016; Marshall et al., 2017; Monks et al., 2014; Niarchou et al., 2014; Rees et al., 2016; Schneider et al., 2014). Moreover, the only structural neuroimaging study thus far to analyze both 22q11.2

122
CNV groups showed that brain morphology differed meaningfully as a function of reciprocal genomic variation, with 22q11.2 deletion carriers being more impacted (A. Lin et al., 2017). While understanding the biological mechanisms that lead to partially overlapping versus distinct phenotypes associated with reciprocal 22q11.2 CNVs remains a challenge, the advent of high throughput transcriptomics offers the potential to gain new mechanistic insights.

Intermediate to genetic variation and downstream traits (i.e. measures of neuroanatomy, cognition and behavior), gene expression represents the transcriptional activity that underlies biological mechanisms (Coppola, 2011). Characterizing how the transcriptome changes in 22q11.2 deletion versus duplication carriers can enhance our understanding of how biological systems are disrupted by these major genetic perturbations to yield partially overlapping versus distinct phenotypes. The identification of differential expression in individual genes or co-expression of multiple genes can implicate different cell-types or biological processes underlying disorder pathology. Moreover, whole-transcriptome profiling allows the unbiased interrogation of all genes in parallel, avoiding the limitations of targeted gene approaches (Zhang & Horvath, 2005). As cellular processes often affect many genes acting in concert, it is also crucial to analyze genomic information at the level of coexpression (Allen et al., 2012; Kadarmideen & Watson-Haigh, 2012). Finally, integrating orthogonal behavioral phenotype measures can aid in functional interpretation of genes of interest (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2015). This includes the incorporation of both quantitative and categorical measures of neurodevelopmentally relevant traits, such as those from brain imaging, cognitive assays, and psychiatric diagnoses.

Interpreting transcriptomic signal from heterogeneous bulk tissue like peripheral blood (Shen-Orr & Gaujoux, 2013) can be challenging because the measured expression levels of gene expression detected by microarray or RNA sequencing can be greatly influenced by variation in cell type composition (Farahbod & Pavlidis, 2020). In psychiatric genetics, most studies to date aim to identify dysregulated genes to uncover biological bases of disease using heterogeneous bulk tissue, either from the brain or blood. However, without accounting for

heterogeneity in the proportion of distinct cell types that comprise a given tissue, it is difficult to know whether disease-associated transcriptomic changes represent differences in the number of cells expressing certain genes, alterations in transcript levels within the cells themselves, or some combination of both. This may be particularly important in blood, where cell type variation is especially pronounced with over a dozen distinct cell types for which abundance can vary up to 10–20-fold, even in healthy individuals (Adalsteinsson et al., 2012; Chikina et al., 2015; Farahbod & Pavlidis, 2020; Shen-Orr et al., 2010). To address this issue, computational methods have been developed to estimate cell type-specific proportions based on expression patterns of known marker genes (Chikina et al., 2015; Newman et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2013). It is not yet routine practice to account for cell type heterogeneity in studies of CNS disorders. However, recent studies of bipolar disorder and schizophrenia (Toker et al., 2018) as well as Huntington's Disease (Kuhn et al., 2011) found that when there are cell type composition differences in bulk tissue samples, adjusting for it provided more accurate insights into disease pathology.

Here, we aimed to characterize transcriptomic dysregulation in peripheral blood from individuals with reciprocal 22q11.2 CNVs while carefully considering the effect of cell type proportions and other potential confounders such as batch and medication usage. While two prior studies profiled the peripheral blood transcriptome in 22q11.2 deletion carriers with smaller sample sizes (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2015; van Beveren et al., 2012), neither study included duplication carriers nor adjusted for cell type composition or medication usage. Therefore, we characterized CNV-associated differential expression of individual genes and co-expression of genes (i.e., eigengenes), before and after accounting for potential confounders, including cell type proportion and medication. To explore whether blood transcriptomic changes in the context of 22q11.2 deletions and duplications relate to phenotypes associated with the CNVs, we also tested for associations between gene and eigengene expression with neuroimaging measures and behavioral traits (IQ and diagnosis of psychosis or ASD). This comprehensive approach

aims to bridge the gap between transcriptomics, brain development, and behavioral outcomes to generate testable hypotheses about the molecular effects of 22q11.2 CNVs.

#### 4.3: Materials and Methods

#### 4.3.1: Participants

The sample consisted of 179 age and sex-matched individuals: 82 with molecularly confirmed 22q11.2 deletions (22qDel), 29 with confirmed 22q11.2 duplications (22qDup), and 68 demographically-matched controls (for demographics, see Table 4.1). CNVs were determined via multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA; (Schouten et al., 2002)) using the SALSA MLPA Probemix P250-B2 DiGeorge kit from MRC-Holland (J. A. S. Vorstman et al., 2006), a polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based assay that is a gold standard method for determining copy number changes in humans. Patients were ascertained from a variety of sources, including the University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) or Children's Hospital, Los Angeles Pediatric Genetics, Allergy/Immunology and Craniofacial Clinics, as well as local support groups and websites. Demographically comparable, typically developing comparison subjects were recruited from the same communities as patients via web-based advertisements, flyers and brochures at local schools, pediatric clinics, and other community sites. Approximately 25.6% of the deletion carriers and 42.6% of the controls were included in a prior publication (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2015). As such, the current study includes a substantially larger sample of both 22q11.2 deletion carriers and controls, as well as a novel cohort of 22q11.2 duplication carriers.

	22q11.2 Deletion Carriers	Typically- developing Controls	22q11.2 Duplication Carriers
Sample Size	82	68	29
Age (SD)	17 (8.4)	18.5 (12.6)	18.5 (12.6)
Age Range	5.5 to 41	6 to 49	6.7 to 49.5
N, females (%)	41 (50%)	34 (50%)	13 (44.8%)
Full-scale IQ (SD)	76.6 (11.8)	109.0 (19.3)	96.6 (23.6)
N, Autism Spectrum Disorder (%)	44 (53.7%)	0	12 (41.4%)
N, Psychotic Disorder (%)	11 (13.4%)	0	0
RINa,b (SD)	8.52 (0.66)	8.86 (0.55)	8.43 (0.54)
N, Antidepressants <sup>a,b</sup>	24	4	9
N, Antiepileptics <sup>b</sup>	8	1	4
N, Benzodiazepines <sup>a,c</sup>	8	0	0
N, Antipsychotics <sup>a,b</sup>	10	1	3
N, Stimulants <sup>b,c</sup>	10	2	10

#### Table 4.1: Participant Demographics

<sup>a</sup> 22q-del ≠CTL (p<.05), <sup>b</sup> 22q-dup ≠ CTL (p<.05), <sup>c</sup> 22q-del ≠ 22q-dup (p<.05)</li>
note: family relatedness of controls to 22qDel carriers: 8 brothers, 1 half-brother, 2 sisters, 1
half-sister, 1 mother, 1 aunt, 1 grandmother, 1 grandfather/father

Exclusion criteria for all study participants included significant neurological or medical conditions (unrelated to 22q11.2 CNVs) that might affect brain structure, history of head injury with loss of consciousness, insufficient fluency in English, and/or substance or alcohol abuse or dependence within the past 6 months. Healthy controls additionally could not have significant intellectual disability or meet criteria for any psychiatric disorder with the exception of attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder or a past episode of depression, due to their prevalence in childhood and adolescence (Ghandour et al., 2019; Sayal et al., 2018; Thapar et al., 2012). All participants underwent a verbal and written informed consent process. Participants under the age of 18 years provided written assent, while their parent or guardian completed written

consent. The University of California at Los Angeles Institutional Review Board approved all study procedures and informed consent documents.

#### 4.3.2: Peripheral Blood Sample Preparation

RNA was extracted from whole blood using the PAXgene extraction kit (Qiagen) and stored at -80C for subsequent analysis. RNA quantity was assessed using Nanodrop (Nanodrop Technologies) and RNA quality was determined using the Agilent Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies) to quantify RNA fragmentation in each sample, creating an RNA integrity number (RIN) (Schroeder et al., 2006). Total RNA (200 ng) was amplified, biotinylated, and hybridized on Illumina HT12 v3 or v4 microarrays as per manufacturer protocol at the UCLA Neuroscience Genomics Core. Only probes shared between the 2 platforms were used in analyses. Slides were scanned using an Illumina BeadStation and signal was extracted using the Illumina BeadStudio software (Illumina, San Diego, CA).

#### 4.3.3: Structural Neuroimaging

High-resolution structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans were acquired concurrently with blood measures for 49 22qDel carriers, 43 controls, and 21 22qDup carriers. Scanning was conducted on a 3T Siemens (Erlangen, Germany) TimTrio MRI scanner with a 12-channel head coil at the UCLA Brain Mapping Center or an identical 3T scanner, using identical acquisition parameters, at the UCLA Center for Cognitive Neuroscience. Details of scanning parameters have been described in prior publications (A. Lin et al., 2017); see Supplementary Methods for details). Quality assessment procedures were applied by 2 raters blind to group status. We extracted cortical measures based on the Desikan-Killiany FreeSurfer atlas (Desikan et al., 2006). Segmented regions were visually inspected and statistically evaluated for outliers following standardized ENIGMA protocols

(http://enigma.ini.usc.edu/protocols/imaging-protocols).

#### 4.3.4: Clinical and Neurocognitive Assessments

IQ estimates were obtained using the Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning subtests in the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (Wechsler, 2012) or Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Ed 4 (Wechsler, 2008) for 82 22qDel carriers, 55 controls, and 27 22qDup carriers. Supervised clinical psychology doctoral students administered psychodiagnostic evaluations to all study participants to assess for DSM psychiatric diagnoses (Structured Clinical Interview for DSM [SCID] ((First & Gibbon, 2004; Shaffer et al., 2000)) and/or Computerized Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children [C-DISC]; (First & Gibbon, 2004; Shaffer et al., 2000). To assess for ASD, the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) was administered to 22q11.2 CNV participants, and the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) was administered to their parent/primary caretaker (Lord et al., 2000).

#### 4.3.5: STATISTICAL ANALYSES

4.3.5.1: Microarray-based Gene Expression Analysis Data: Pre-processing and Statistical Overview

Raw data were processed with the lumi package (Du et al., 2008) in the R statistical environment (version 3.5.2; R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). Only samples with a RIN of 7 or greater were included (Gallego Romero et al., 2014) (refer to Table 4.1). Signal intensity was normalized with variance stabilizing transformation (S. M. Lin et al., 2008) and interarray normalization was done using robust spline regression normalization. Probes with a detection threshold of p < .01 or that were unannotated were dropped. Duplicated probes for the same transcript were also dropped using the collapseRows function (Miller et al., 2011) from the WGCNA package using the default maxMean approach, resulting in expression measurements for 14,013 unique genes. Finally, outliers (>|3| SD) were removed based on connectivity z-scores (Dong & Horvath, 2007).

As psychotropic medication usage is known to influence peripheral blood gene expression (Flanagan & Dunk, 2008; Stübner et al., 2004), we also included categories of psychotropic medications used by 22g11.2 CNV carriers in a subset of our analyses. Categories

included antidepressants, antiepileptics, antipsychotics, benzodiazepines and stimulants (refer to Table 4.1). Batch effects were controlled for using the 'removeBatchEffect' from limma (Ritchie et al., 2015). For analyses additionally controlling for cell type proportions and/or medication effects, these variables were modeled simultaneously with batch using 'removeBatchEffect', to avoid introducing biases that can occur when sequentially removing confounded variables which are associated with our variable of interest and each other (i.e., CNV group status (Aschard et al., 2017). Age, sex, and RIN were included as covariates for all statistical models involving gene expression data.

#### 4.3.5.2: Cell Type Proportion Estimation

Cell-type estimation relies on the observation that variation in expression of cell typespecific marker genes is correlated with the abundance of the cell type in which they are expressed and has been validated in multiple studies (Kuhn et al., 2011; Mancarci et al., 2017; Newman et al., 2015; Patrick et al., 2020). Cell-type proportions were estimated using the LM22 reference dataset and CIBERSORT (Kuhn et al., 2011; Mancarci et al., 2017; Newman et al., 2015; Patrick et al., 2020). The LM22 reference dataset consists of 547 genes that discriminate between 22 mature human hematopoietic populations that were isolated from peripheral blood or in vitro cultures. It includes 7 T-cell types, naïve and memory B-cells, plasma cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and myeloid subsets. Proportions were logit-transformed after applying an adjustment for values of 0 (Smithson & Verkuilen, 2006). A linear model was used to test for associations between cell-type proportion and CNV status and brain and behavioral measures, with confounding covariates first removed using residualization.

#### 4.3.5.3: Differential Expression

Genes with differential expression were assessed transcriptome-wide using linear models in the limma package (Ritchie et al., 2015). Pairwise contrasts compared controls vs 22qDel, controls vs. 22qDup, and 22qDup vs 22qDel. Empirical Bayes-moderated p-values generated by limma were used to adjust for multiple testing across all genes; genes with an

adjusted p-value < 0.05 were considered significantly differentially expressed (DE). Potential CNV group differences in gene expression were assessed prior to, and after adjusting expression data for differences in cell-type proportions. Genes with significant differential expression were functionally annotated using gene ontology (GO) with g:Profiler (Raudvere et al., 2019)

4.3.5.4: Weighted Gene Co-expression Network Analyses (WGCNA) and enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell-type specific expression

WGCNA was used to identify modules of co-expressed genes using standard parameters (Langfelder & Horvath, 2008). Briefly, correlations were computed between all pairs of genes, and unsupervised clustering was used to identify modules of co-expressed genes. Modules were functionally annotated using GO with g:Profiler (Raudvere et al., 2019) as well as for cell-type specificity using the pSI package (Dougherty et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2013) and sorted reference datasets (Newman et al., 2015; Novershtern et al., 2011); see Supplementary Information for details). The first principal component of each module (i.e., module eigengene) was used to summarize the expression of each module. Co-expression modules were generated and tested for potential differences in expression by CNV group prior to, and after adjusting for, differences in cell-type proportions.

#### 4.3.5.5: Associations with neuroimaging, IQ, and psychiatric phenotypes

We assessed potential interaction effects between gene expression and CNV group after accounting for effects of batch, cell-type proportion, and medication, on trait measures of mean cortical thickness, total cortical surface area, and IQ using linear models. The linear model included: trait ~ age + sex + CNV group\*gene expression.

To assess for significant main effects of gene expression on CNV group-residualized outcomes, traits were residualized for CNV group status because the 22q11.2 CNV affects both gene expression and the clinical traits (A. Lin et al., 2017, 2020) and could thus drive spurious associations (Aschard et al., 2017). We use a linear model with cell type and medication-

adjusted expression measures, age, and sex as predictors and group-residualized clinical traits as the outcome measures. To assess the association between cell type proportion and the same 3 outcome measures, we applied the same model using medication- and batch-adjusted cell type proportion as predictors to assess interaction effects with CNV group on unadjusted outcomes and for main effects on CNV group-residualized outcomes. The linear model included: group residualized trait ~ age + sex + gene expression. The same linear models including the interaction effect or main effect were used to test for the association between clinical phenotypes and cell-type-adjusted WGCNA module expression or cell type proportions.

To test for potential associations between diagnoses of psychosis or ASD and the expression of each gene or WGCNA-derived module eigengene, we fit linear models with the limma package using batch, cell-type proportion, and medication adjusted gene expression data and WGCNA modules. Since psychosis is associated with 22qDel only (Z. Li et al., 2016; Marshall et al., 2017; Rees et al., 2016), the linear models testing for group differences in subjects with or without psychosis were restricted to 22qDel subjects. For ASD, which is associated both with 22qDel and 22qDup (Olsen et al., 2018; Wenger et al., 2016), the linear model included an interaction term between CNV status and ASD diagnosis, as well as the main effects of CNV status and ASD diagnosis. Potential group differences in medication- and batch-adjusted cell-type proportions were also assessed using linear models.

False discovery rate correction was used to correct for multiple comparisons and performed per analysis (i.e., across genes, eigengenes, cell-types, and clinical phenotype measures of IQ, cortical thickness, surface area, or ASD/psychosis diagnosis). All results were considered significant at an FDR-corrected q < .05.

#### 4.4: Results

4.4.1: 22q11.2 deletion significantly alters genome-wide gene expression

For gene expression that was unadjusted for cell type proportion or medication status, 22qDel carriers showed 312 genes with significant DE relative to controls (113 downregulated, 199 upregulated *Figure 4.1, Table 4.2*). This included 28 downregulated genes within the 22q11.2 locus, with the remaining DEgenes outside the locus. No genes were significantly DE between 22qDup carriers and controls. However, consistent with opposing gene dosage effects between 22q11Del versus 22q11Dup, differential expression was most pronounced between 22qDel and 22qDup carriers, with 477 DE genes (254 downregulated, 223 upregulated), including 29 22q11.2 genes. GO analysis of DE genes between 22qDel and 22qDup carriers, excluding genes found within the 22q11.2 locus, implicated immune related processes including leukocyte, lymphocyte, and T cell activation. Between 22qDel carriers and controls (again excluding genes within the 22q11.2 locus), GO analysis of DEgenes again implicated immune processes, particularly with regard to the activation of T cells, leukocytes, and lymphocytes.





nonsignificant 22q11.2 DE genes. Light black dots represent nonsignificant, non-22q11.2 DE genes. Significant DE genes were submitted to gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis, and the top 5 GO terms displayed.

Cell type and medication- unadjusted	22qDel vs Control	22qDel vs 22qDup
Total DE gene	312	477
Upregulated genes	113 (36.22%)	254 (53.25%)
Downregulated genes	199 (63.78%)	223 (46.75%)
22q11.2 genes	28 (8.98%), all downregulated	29 (6.08%), all downregulated
Outside 22q region	284 (91.03%)	448 (93.92%)

Cell type and medication- adjusted	22qDel vs Control	22qDel vs 22qDup
Total DE gene	24	29
Upregulated genes	1 (4.17%)	3 (10.34%)
Downregulated genes	23 (95.83%)	26 (89.66%)
22q11.2 genes	22 (91.67%), all downregulated	25 (86.21%), all downregulated
Outside 22q region	2 (8.33%)	4 (13.80%)

# Table 4.2: Significant differentially-expressed (DE) genes before and after cell type and medication adjustment.

4.4.2: Module eigengenes show significant group differences for 22q11.2 deletion carriers

Without adjusting for cell type proportion, WGCNA identified 28 modules of coexpressed genes in the full dataset of 22qDel carriers, 22qDup carriers, and control subjects (see Supplementary Figure 4.1 for full module dendrogram). Six out of 28 modules showed significant differential expression between groups (see Figure 4.2). In 3 of these modules, 22qDel carriers showed significantly decreased expression compared to controls and 22qDup carriers. 22qDel carriers showed significantly increased expression in 2 modules,compared to controls and 22qDup carriers. In 1 module, 22qDel carriers showed significantly increased expression compared to only 22qDup carriers. GO analysis of WGCNA modules that differed between groups implicated terms such as platelet activity (royal blue module), immune response (yellow module), vesicles (dark red module), and intracellular anatomical structures (light yellow module).



Figure 4.2: Module eigengene expression for the 6 modules (of 29 modules) that showed corrected group differences. These modules were from gene expression that was not

adjusted for cell type nor medication. Red lines indicate FDR-corrected significant difference at q < .05. Modules that were significantly different between groups were submitted to gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis, and the top 5 GO terms are displayed.

As differential expression and WGCNA-identified genes and gene modules broadly related to immune processes, we also directly annotated the modules for cell type specificity and found strong enrichment for select immune cell types (Figure 4.3; Supplementary Figure 4.2). The pSI tool was used to estimate cell type specificity from the LM22 dataset (Newman et al., 2015), allowing us to test modules for cell type specificity enrichment in the cell types for which we already had proportion estimates. Three modules which showed group differences were highly enriched for similar classes of cell types. The green-yellow module was enriched for several types of T-cells (CD8 T cells, CD4 memory resting T cells, and CD4 naive T cells). The yellow module was enriched for neutrophils and monocytes, both of which are phagocytic cells involved in innate immunity (Kantari et al., 2008). The dark red module was enriched for macrophage-like cells (M0 macrophages, monocytes, and M2 macrophages). We observed some enrichment of the skyblue3 module for eosinophils, another type of white blood cell, despite predicting zero abundance of this cell type for all samples. This may indicate that eosinophils are present but at a level too low to be detected by CIBERSORT.

Neutrophils	-5.37	-9.98	2.68	36.4	-2.2	2.53	
Eosinophils	-3.31	-3.97	0.183	13.4	-3.34	15.1	
B cells naïve	-0.357	-2.38	5.54	-8.92	-2.7	0.91	
Macrophages M0	-7.47	-4.13	3.79	8.65	16.1	2.67	
Dendritic cells resting	-7.15	-3.37	3.44	6.63	14.5	1.54	
Monocytes	-9.55	-7.72	-0.994	24.1	19.8	0.735	
Macrophages M2	-6.29	-2.43	0.462	9.14	16.1	1.72	
Macrophages M1	-6.03	-3.25	-0.689	5.36	11.5	-0.784	Zscore 40 30
Dendritic cells activated	-7.22	-4.13	2.99	4.63	10	0.018	20 10 0
Mast cells resting	-3.45	3.58	2.6	-0.772	1.65	1.93	
Mast cells activated	-3.28	3.05	3.35	0.205	3.18	2.02	
T cells CD8	19.7	7.9	-3	-11.5	-9.06	-4.08	
T cells CD4 memory resting	19.3	6.61	-1.41	-9.8	-8.97	-2.41	
T cells CD4 naïve	26.1	7.32	-4.08	-10	-7.89	-2.69	
T cells follicular helper	12.8	3.96	-4.99	-6.91	-8.06	-2.73	
T cells CD4 memory activated	5.84	4.52	-4.5	-10.2	-6.43	-2.39	
,	Heenvellow	iothellow	royalowe	Yellow	darthed	5 Homes	
	2						

Figure 4.3: Cell type enrichment of the unadjusted module eigengenes that were significantly different between CNV groups. This heatmap displays the enrichment of the gene set for each module for cell type specificity. Cell types are ordered by hierarchical clustering of average expression profiles. Module are ordered by hierarchical clustering of eigenegene values. Only cell types that were enriched in a module or were found to have significant differences in cell type composition between CNV groups are shown. The full table can be found in Supplementary Figure 1.

Finally, we also tested cell type enrichment of modules using a different reference dataset from (Novershtern et al., 2011) to validate enrichment findings from the LM22 reference dataset (See Supplemental Results and Supplementary Figure 4.3). Enrichment results were consistent between the two reference datasets.

4.4.3: Proportions of T cell, mast cell, and macrophage subtypes significantly differed between CNV groups

After finding differential expression in genes and module eigengenes that were related to immune cell types, we sought to directly assess any group differences in immune cell type composition. After residualizing cell type proportion for medication usage, there were significant groupwise differences in 5 cell types at a corrected  $q \le .05$ : resting mast cells, activated mast cells, CD8 T cells, M0 macrophages, and M1 macrophages (refer to Table 4.3, Figure 4.4). 22qDel carriers had significantly decreased CD8 T cell proportions compared to controls, consistent with prior findings of T-cell dysfunction and thymic dysplasia in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome (McLean-Tooke et al., 2008; Morsheimer et al., 2017), as well as marginally decreased proportions compared to 22g11Dup carriers. Interestingly, 22gDel carriers showed increased activated mast cell proportions but decreased resting mast cells compared to 22qDup carriers and controls. In contrast, 22qDup carriers showed increased proportions of M0 macrophages relative to 22qDel carriers and controls, while 22qDel carriers showed increased M1 macrophage proportions compared to controls and 22gDup carriers. Because of these cell type proportion differences between groups, subsequent differential expression analysis and WGCNA were performed with cell type adjustment in order to assess: i) the extent to which differences in cell-type proportion accounts for the prior described differential gene and module eigengene expression findings, ii) any potential pan-cellular effects on differential expression.

	Omnibus	22qDel vs control	22qDel vs control	22qDup vs control	22qDup vs control	22qDel vs 22qDup	22qDel vs 22qDup
Celltype	adj.P.Val	Coefficient	adj.P.Val	Coefficient	adj.P.Val	Coefficient	adj.P.Val
Mast cells							
resting	0.00	-0.48	0.00	0.08	0.62	-0.56	0.00
activated	0.01	0.44	0.00	0.14	0.33	0.31	0.04
T cells CD8	0.01	-0.64	0.00	-0.21	0.34	-0.42	0.08
Macrophages M1	0.02	0.25	0.00	0.06	0.57	0.19	0.08
Macrophages M0	0.05	-0.01	0.94	0.41	0.01	-0.42	0.01
T cells CD4 naive	0.05	-0.29	0.22	0.03	0.88	-0.33	0.22
Monocytes	0.12	0.17	0.05	0.02	0.85	0.15	0.15
T cells regulatory	0.13	-0.22	0.05	-0.06	0.63	-0.16	0.27
B cells memory	0.34	-0.03	0.81	0.22	0.28	-0.25	0.28
Dendritic cells activated	0.34	-0.13	0.51	-0.08	0.72	-0.04	0.72
Neutrophils	0.34	0.16	0.24	0.06	0.62	0.10	0.62
NK cells resting	0.34	0.37	0.21	-0.11	0.75	0.47	0.21
T cells CD4 memory	0.40	0.08	0.62	0.20	0.52	0.21	0.52
	0.49	-0.08	0.05	-0.29	0.55	0.21	0.55
B cells naive	0.51	0.21	0.31	-0.02	0.92	0.22	0.31
activated	0.52	-0.20	0.50	-0.37	0.50	0.17	0.52
T cells gamma delta	0.53	0.20	0.50	-0.22	0.50	0.42	0.50
Macrophages M2	0.79	-0.14	0.82	-0.14	0.82	0.00	0.99
T cells CD4 memory resting	0.79	-0.04	0.82	0.14	0.82	-0.19	0.82
T cells follicular helper	0.79	-0.09	0.43	-0.10	0.43	0.00	0.96
Plasma cells	0.90	-0.05	0.90	-0.07	0.90	0.02	0.90

### Table 4.3: Group differences in cell-type proportion that has been medication-adjusted





across each group. Solid red horizontal lines indicate significant pairwise contrast at  $q \le .05$ , while dashed red horizontal line indicates marginally significant pairwise contrast at q = .08. Due to the low expression of some cell types, a linear model was applied to logit-transformed cell type percentages after residualizing for potential batch and medication confounds to handle non-normality of values and presence of zeroes.

#### 4.4.4: Cell type proportion strongly impacts differential expression at the single-gene level

After adjusting gene expression for cell type proportion, differential expression was much less pronounced between groups in magnitude and number of genes. As described in the Methods, we simultaneously adjusted for batch, medication, and cell type proportions, as these variables were confounded with CNV status and each other (Table 4.1, Supplementary Table 4.1, Supplementary Figure 4.4, Supplementary Figure 4.5). While 22 and 25 genes within the 22q11.2 locus remained significantly downregulated in 22qDel compared to controls and 22qDup, respectively, the number of significantly DEgenes outside the 22q11.2 locus decreased from 284 to 2 for the 22qDel versus control comparison, and from 448 to 4 for the 22qDel vs. 22qDup comparison. Similarly, the average log-fold change (logFC) of genes with significant differential expression decreased from approximately -1 with unadjusted gene expression to - 0.5 with adjusted gene expression across comparisons between 22qDel carriers, 22qDup carriers, and controls. 22qDup did not show any significant differential expression compared to controls, as in the prior analysis.

Six genes outside of the 22q11.2 locus that remained DE after cell type and medication adjustment (see Table 4.4 for all DE genes). 22qDel carriers were significantly downregulated for FUT7 compared to controls and for CDH6 compared to 22qDup carriers. 22qDel carriers were significantly upregulated for HIST1H2BD compared to controls as well as significantly upregulated for SIGLEC10, MIR29B2CHG, and CHPF2 compared to 22qDup carriers.

### 22qDel vs Control

Symbol	Definition	Chromosome	logF C	adj.P.Val	t	В	AveExpr
HIST1H2BD	H2B Clustered Histone 5	6	0.27	2.0E-03	4.83	4.30	11.27
FUT7	fucosyltransferase 7	9	-0.11	2.3E-02	-4.23	1.94	8.78
CRKL	CRK like proto- oncogene, adaptor protein	22	-0.40	3.1E-09	-7.91	19.64	10.76
ZDHHC8	zinc finger DHHC- type palmitoyltransferase 8	22	-0.37	3.1E-09	-7.83	19.22	9.31
COMT	catechol-O- methyltransferase	22	-0.39	9.2E-09	-7.57	17.78	9.56
KLHL22	kelch like family member 22	22	-0.34	2.2E-08	-7.31	16.35	9.14
LZTR1	leucine zipper like transcription regulator 1	22	-0.32	2.2E-08	-7.31	16.32	8.50
RANBP1	RAN binding protein 1	22	-0.33	2.2E-08	-7.30	16.28	8.33
DGCR6	DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 6	22	-0.36	2.8E-08	-7.23	15.90	8.50
TXNRD2	thioredoxin reductase 2	22	-0.25	7.5E-08	-7.03	14.85	8.21
PI4KA	phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase alpha	22	-0.31	1.7E-07	-6.87	13.96	9.60
SNAP29	synaptosome associated protein 29	22	-0.22	9.6E-07	-6.53	12.21	8.53
DGCR2	DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 2	22	-0.24	1.2E-06	-6.47	11.89	9.38
SLC25A1	solute carrier family 25 member 1	22	-0.20	4.9E-06	-6.17	10.42	8.09
RTL10	retrotransposon Gag like 10	22	-0.16	4.9E-06	-6.17	10.41	7.82
ZNF74	zinc finger protein 74	22	-0.15	3.1E-05	-5.78	8.54	7.38
MED15	mediator complex subunit 15	22	-0.15	3.1E-05	-5.78	8.54	7.84
TANGO2	transport and golgi organization 2 homolog	22	-0.29	5.0E-05	-5.67	8.02	9.51
ESS2	ess-2 splicing factor homolog	22	-0.14	5.7E-05	-5.63	7.84	8.21
THAP7	THAP domain containing 7	22	-0.13	5.7E-04	-5.14	5.61	7.76
C22orf39	chromosome 22 open reading frame 39	22	-0.12	6.0E-04	-5.12	5.52	7.70
UFD1	ubiquitin recognition factor in ER associated degradation 1	22	-0.08	1.0E-03	-4.99	4.97	7.63

SEPTIN5	septin 5	22	-0.47	1.3E-02	-4.38	2.49	12.99
GNB1L	G protein subunit beta 1 like	22	-0.13	3.3E-02	-4.12	1.54	7.66

### 22qDel vs 22qDup

Symbol	Definition	Chromosome	logFC	adj.P.Val	t	В	AveExpr
CDH6	cadherin 6	5	-0.12	3.7E-04	-5.19	5.85	7.55
SIGLEC10	sialic acid binding Ig like lectin 10	19	0.42	2.0E-03	4.80	4.23	11.79
MIR29B2CHG	MIR29B2 and MIR29C host gene	1	0.15	3.1E-02	4.11	1.59	9.19
CHPF2	chondroitin polymerizing factor 2	7	0.09	3.1E-02	4.09	1.52	8.38
ZDHHC8	zinc finger DHHC-type palmitoyltransferase 8	22	-0.54	3.7E-12	-9.05	25.83	9.31
CRKL	CRK like proto- oncogene, adaptor protein	22	-0.54	1.3E-10	-8.34	21.79	10.76
RANBP1	RAN binding protein 1	22	-0.48	1.3E-10	-8.29	21.52	8.33
LZTR1	leucine zipper like transcription regulator 1	22	-0.45	6.7E-10	-7.94	19.53	8.50
TXNRD2	thioredoxin reductase 2	22	-0.37	6.7E-10	-7.93	19.50	8.21
RTL10	retrotransposon Gag like 10	22	-0.25	1.4E-09	-7.78	18.66	7.82
C22orf39	chromosome 22 open reading frame 39	22	-0.23	2.3E-09	-7.66	18.03	7.70
DGCR6	DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 6	22	-0.48	3.0E-09	-7.60	17.65	8.50
COMT	catechol-O- methyltransferase	22	-0.50	3.0E-09	-7.58	17.57	9.56
KLHL22	kelch like family member 22	22	-0.44	6.7E-09	-7.42	16.72	9.14
ZNF74	zinc finger protein 74	22	-0.24	1.4E-08	-7.28	15.95	7.38
PI4KA	phosphatidylinositol 4- kinase alpha	22	-0.41	4.2E-08	-7.07	14.84	9.60
SNAP29	synaptosome associated protein 29	22	-0.29	2.7E-07	-6.72	13.04	8.53
DGCR2	DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 2	22	-0.32	4.2E-07	-6.62	12.55	9.38
THAP7	THAP domain containing 7	22	-0.21	5.1E-07	-6.57	12.31	7.76
SLC25A1	solute carrier family 25 member 1	22	-0.25	3.6E-06	-6.19	10.44	8.09
TANGO2	transport and golgi organization 2 homolog	22	-0.40	6.5E-06	-6.06	9.82	9.51
ESS2	ess-2 splicing factor homolog	22	-0.19	1.4E-05	-5.91	9.07	8.21

MED15	mediator complex subunit 15	22	-0.19	2.4E-05	-5.79	8.52	7.84
UFD1	ubiquitin recognition factor in ER associated degradation 1	22	-0.11	6.6E-05	-5.57	7.53	7.63
CLDN5	claudin 5	22	-0.35	2.8E-04	-5.26	6.15	8.04
TRMT2A	tRNA methyltransferase 2 homolog A	22	-0.08	4.1E-03	-4.63	3.54	7.45
RTN4R	reticulon 4 receptor	22	-0.09	5.3E-03	-4.56	3.28	7.35
TMEM191A	transmembrane protein 191A (pseudogene)	22	-0.11	7.4E-03	-4.48	2.94	7.36
SEPTIN5	septin 5	22	-0.56	3.1E-02	-4.11	1.57	12.99

# Table 4.4: Significant differentially-expressed genes after cell type and medication adjustment

4.4.5: No group differences in WGCNA module eigengene expression were observed after adjusting for cell-type proportion and medication usage

Applying WGCNA to cell-type proportion and medication-adjusted gene expression data identified 28 modules of co-expressed genes in the full dataset of 22qDel carriers, 22qDup carriers, and control subjects; however, modules were not significantly different between groups (Supplementary Table 4.2). Taken together, these findings indicate that cell type proportion drives the bulk of the differential expression signal for 22qDel carriers.

# 4.4.6: Expression of WDR1 and FNBP1 are differentially associated with ASD in 22qDel and 22qDup carriers

Differential expression analyses for ASD status across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers, after accounting for cell-type proportions and medication, revealed significant interactions of CNV group by ASD status for two genes, formin binding protein 1 (FNBP1) and WD repeat domain 1 (WDR1). There were also significant main effects of CNV carrier status for FNBP1 and WDR1 and a significant main effect of ASD status for FNBP1 (Figure 4.5). Follow-up

pairwise comparisons indicated that 22qDel carriers with ASD had lower levels of FNBP1 and WDR1 than 22qDel carriers without ASD, and 22qDup carriers with ASD have higher levels of FNBP1 and WDR1 than those without ASD. Conversely, for psychosis status in 22qDel carriers, cell-type- and medication-adjusted expression did not significantly differ between groups for any genes, although this may partially reflect reduced statistical power due to the small sample of 22qDel patients with a psychosis history (N=11).



Figure 4.5: Expression of WDR1 and FNBP1 differs across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with and without ASD. There was a significant interaction effect (group \* ASD status) as well as a significant main effect of group on gene expression at an adjusted  $p \le 0.05$ . Red horizontal lines indicate significant pairwise differences at nominal p < 0.006.

No significant main effects or interactions were found between 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with and without ASD for cell-type proportions (Supplementary Figure 4.6), nor in cell-type- and medication-adjusted WGCNA module eigengene expression, (Supplementary Table 4.3; Supplementary Figure 4.7). Similarly, no significant differences were found in cell-type proportion (Supplementary Figure 4.8), nor cell-type- and medication-adjusted module eigenene

expression for 22qDel carriers with and without psychosis (Supplementary Table 4.3; Supplementary Figure 4.9).

4.4.7: No associations between IQ or structural MRI characteristics and adjusted expression of DE genes, module eigengenes, or cell type proportions

There were no significant interaction effects between cell-type-adjusted gene expression and CNV group on IQ, mean cortical thickness, or total cortical surface area (Supplementary Table 4.4). There was also no main effect of DE genes on group-residualized IQ, mean cortical thickness, or total cortical surface area (Supplementary Table 4.5).

There were no interaction effects of adjusted module expression with group on IQ, mean cortical thickness, or total cortical surface area (Supplementary Table 4.6). There was also no main effect of adjusted module expression on group-residualized IQ, mean cortical thickness, or total cortical surface area (Supplementary Table 4.7).

Finally, there were no significant interaction effects of cell type proportion with group on IQ, mean cortical thickness, or total cortical surface area (Supplementary Table 4.8). There was also no main effect of cell type proportion on group-residualized IQ, mean cortical thickness, or total cortical surface area (Supplementary Table 4.9).

#### 4.5: Discussion

This study is the first, to our knowledge, to comprehensively characterize transcriptomewide gene dosage effects of peripheral blood gene expression derived from 22q11.2 reciprocal CNV carriers. While we observed robust differential expression in 22q11.2 deletion carriers compared to both controls, as previously reported (Jalbrzikowski et al., 2015; van Beveren et al., 2012), and to 22q11.2 duplication carriers, differences in expression were substantially reduced after adjustment for differences in cell type proportion. The strongest remaining

differences between deletion carriers and controls were decreased expression of genes within the 22q11.2 locus, with few significant differences seen outside the locus. We did not observe any significant differential expression of genes within or outside the 22q11.2 locus in duplication carriers compared to the other two groups, which may relate to the more severe phenotype associated with the 22q11.2 deletion. This directional effect is consistent with behavioral studies showing copy number deletions to be more deleterious than duplications (Douard et al., 2021; Girirajan et al., 2012; Rosenfeld et al., 2013). Moreover, while the impact of deletions is thought to be mediated by loss of genes within the locus, the molecular consequences of duplications are more variable and context-dependent (Hurles et al., 2008). Taken together, our findings strongly imply that most differential expression of genes outside the 22q11.2 locus are the result of differences in cell type composition associated with 22q11.2 locus which still showed significantly decreased expression after adjusting for cell type proportion likely reflect pancellular effects of the deletion, which are believed to underlie the broad systemic pathology of 22q11.2 deletion syndrome.

A small number of genes outside the 22q11.2 locus still showed differential expression after adjusting for cell type proportion. These findings may reflect genuine effects that are nontissue-specific, which would be consistent with the regulatory function of some genes within the locus, such as DGCR8, that have been hypothesized to play an important role in the 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome phenotype (Forsyth et al., 2020; Merico et al., 2014; Stark et al., 2008). However, we cannot definitively rule out the possibility that they represent residual effects of cell type composition, batch, or other unaccounted for confounding variables. Cell-type specific effects of 22q11.2 deletion can only be definitively resolved by analyzing purified cell populations obtained through sorting approaches such as fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) or magnetic activated cell sorting (MACS; (Sutermaster & Darling, 2019)). In lieu of such data, future development of "digital sorting" methods for gene expression may allow us to

impute cell-type specific expression from bulk tissue. Such methods are well developed for methylation (TCA, (Rahmani et al., 2019)) but remain challenging to apply to gene expression data.

We observed several differences in cell type composition that are supported by a rich literature showing mild-to-moderate T cell deficits in 22qDel carriers (Crowley et al., 2018; Gennery, 2012), resulting in a spectrum of immune dysfunction, including infection and autoimmunity issues (Derfalvi et al., 2016; Jawad et al., 2001). To our knowledge, differences between 22q11.2 CNV carriers in macrophage and mast cell abundance have not yet been reported. These low abundance cell populations can only be identified using flow cytometry, making them more challenging to study than more abundant cell populations. Notably, macrophages in peripheral blood share many properties with microglia, the resident macrophages of the brain, which may imply speculatively that 22q11.2 deletion also affects microglia function. Microglia interact with virtually all CNS components, are critical for brain development, tissue integrity, and neuronal activity, and also refine cortical circuits by regulating synaptic pruning (Q. Li & Barres, 2018; Paolicelli et al., 2011). Mounting evidence implicates microglial dysfunction leading to chronic neuroinflammation in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia as well as ASD (De Picker et al., 2017; Koyama & Ikegaya, 2015; Laskaris et al., 2016; Petrelli et al., 2016; Takano, 2015). Although our results were limited by the heterogeneity of whole blood, our identification of several potentially novel cell type composition differences warrants future investigation. Recent work has established in vitro organoid models of 22q11.2 deletion and found evidence of neuronal defects (Khan et al., 2020). This experimental context would provide an ideal environment to test whether and to what extent microglial dysfunction, particularly in synaptic pruning, is observed in the 22g11.2 deletion

. Alternatively, the same phenotype could be tested in a mouse model of the deletion, in which neuronal/synaptic deficits have already been identified (Fénelon et al., 2013; Guna et al., 2015; Noboru Hiroi & Yamauchi, 2019; Meechan et al., 2015; Saito et al., 2020; Stark et al.,

2008; Sun et al., 2018). Although mast cells have no analogue in the central nervous system, like macrophages they are also derived from the myeloid lineage (Valent et al., 2020). Moreover, mast cells are multi-functional master cells involved with maintenance of many physiological functions along with disease pathophysiology, such as for cardiovascular diseases (Krystel-Whittemore et al., 2015). The differences observed in predicted composition of mast cells may indicate a broader effect of 22q11.2 deletion on myeloid differentiation, which also warrants future experimental validation.

Within 22qDel and 22qDup carriers, there was a significant interaction of ASD diagnosis and CNV carrier status for 2 genes, after adjusting for cell type proportion and medication effects. Specifically, expression of FNBP1 and WDR1 was lower in 22qDel carriers with ASD compared to 22qDel carriers without ASD. Conversely, for 22qDup carriers, FNBP1 and WDR1 levels were higher in those with ASD compared to subjects without ASD. FNBP1 forms a protein-protein interaction network with vesicle-mediated transport and cytoskeletal proteins like SHANK2, AP1S2, and BIN1, which are dysregulated in ASD and associated with ASD risk (Irimia et al., 2014). In addition, WDR1 was previously found to be differentially expressed in postmortem temporal cortex in ASD subjects (Ander et al., 2015) and is important for cytoskeletal functions (Ono, 2018). It is possible that dysregulated expression of FNBP1 and/or WDR1 in 22g11.2 CNV carriers could contribute to aberrant vesicle-mediated transport or cytoskeletal function and increase ASD risk. However, further molecular studies are needed to exclude technical artifacts and parse out molecular consequences that occur as a result of opposing directions of association of ASD with FNBP1 and WDR1, both broadly-expressed genes (GTEx Consortium, 2020), between 22q11.2 CNV carriers. Furthermore, we did not find any other significant associations between cell type proportion, cell-type-adjusted gene expression, or cell-type-adjusted module expression with clinical phenotypes, including IQ, average cortical thickness, and total surface area. It is possible that previous reports of clinical associations with module expression have been confounded by cell type composition

(Jalbrzikowski et al., 2015; van Beveren et al., 2012). The 22q11.2 CNV can act as a latent variable affecting both cell composition and brain/behavioral measures independently, which may lead to spurious correlations between both affected phenotypes. Thus, while the association between ASD with FNBP1 and WDR1 expression among 22q CNV carriers may represent a novel finding, it will need to be validated in larger samples. Importantly, further studies are needed to clarify whether differential expression of these genes is mechanistically linked to the development of ASD.

Our study has some parallels to expression quantitative trait loci (eQTL) studies, which inform one of our most significant limitations in connecting CNV-associated gene expression changes in blood to potential effects in the brain, especially regarding DE of genes outside the 22g11.2 locus. Like analyses of the transcriptomic effects of CNVs, eQTL studies seek to identify the effects of genetic variation on gene expression. While our focus is on rare pathogenic genetic variants, eQTL studies examine the effects of many common variants. The significant differences that we observe in expression of genes within the 22q11.2 locus are comparable to *cis*-eQTLs, which identify variants that affect expression of proximal genes. Conversely, the significant but sparse differences that we observe in expression of genes outside the 22q11.2 locus are analogous to trans-eQTLs, which identify variants that affect distal gene expression. eQTL studies have shown that while *cis*-eQTLs are often conserved across many cell types and tissues, trans-eQTLs are more tissue- and cell-type-specific (GTEx Consortium, 2020). This suggests that the molecular effects of 22q11.2 deletions are also conserved across many cell types and tissues, which is consistent with the broad, multisystemic clinical phenotype associated with 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Thus, given these insights from eQTL studies, that a subset of 22g11.2 genes are known to be highly-conserved and broadly-expressed (Guna et al., 2015), and that 22q11.2 deletion confers a multisystemic phenotype (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2015), we believe this limits our ability to extrapolate

tissue and cell-type specific *trans*-effects of the 22q11.2 CNVs, even if we were able to obtain these findings from purified blood cell populations.

However, given that broadly-expressed genes are an important class of genes for neurodevelopmental disorders like ID or ASD (Courchesne et al., 2020; Kasherman et al., 2020), and that there is correspondence between brain and blood tissues (Qi et al., 2018; Sullivan et al., 2006; Tylee et al., 2013), investigating blood expression pattern can still prove valuable. For example, leukocyte expression has been found to relate to large-scale functional neural system response to speech in youth with ASD (Lombardo et al., 2018). Associated coexpression modules were enriched for genes that were broadly expressed in the brain as well as many other tissues. Another study found that leukocyte expression identified a perturbed gene network that correlated with symptom severity and contained genes involved in conserved pathways linked to ASD genetics (Gazestani et al., 2019). Lastly, as immune dysfunction is becoming increasingly relevant in the pathology of psychiatric disorders (Capuron & Miller, 2011; Irwin & Miller, 2007; Jones & Thomsen, 2013; Misiak et al., 2019), studying blood tissue which carries strong immune signals, still remains a critical avenue of research. This is especially important as blood tissue is often the most widely-accessible tissue of study.

Our findings reveal challenges that are inherent in using peripheral blood to study brainrelated diseases. However, analyzing blood tissue, which contains a wealth of information regarding the immune system still offers important insights into immune dysfunction in psychiatric disorders, provided cell type proportion is properly addressed. The methodology established here demonstrates how information can be extracted from existing blood "omics" datasets to generate testable hypotheses with the ultimate goal of advancing our understanding of the pathophysiology of psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders.

#### 4.6: References

- Adalsteinsson, B. T., Gudnason, H., Aspelund, T., Harris, T. B., Launer, L. J., Eiriksdottir, G., Smith, A. V., & Gudnason, V. (2012). Heterogeneity in white blood cells has potential to confound DNA methylation measurements. *PloS One*, 7(10), e46705. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046705
- Allen, J. D., Xie, Y., Chen, M., Girard, L., & Xiao, G. (2012). Comparing statistical methods for constructing large scale gene networks. *PloS One*, 7(1), e29348. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029348
- Ander, B. P., Barger, N., Stamova, B., Sharp, F. R., & Schumann, C. M. (2015). Atypical miRNA expression in temporal cortex associated with dysregulation of immune, cell cycle, and other pathways in autism spectrum disorders. *Molecular Autism*, 6, 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-015-0029-9
- Aschard, H., Guillemot, V., Vilhjalmsson, B., Patel, C. J., Skurnik, D., Ye, C. J., Wolpin, B., Kraft,
  P., & Zaitlen, N. (2017). Covariate selection for association screening in multiphenotype
  genetic studies. *Nature Genetics*, 49(12), 1789–1795. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3975
- Capuron, L., & Miller, A. H. (2011). Immune system to brain signaling:
  neuropsychopharmacological implications. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *130*(2), 226–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.01.014
- Chikina, M., Zaslavsky, E., & Sealfon, S. C. (2015). CellCODE: a robust latent variable approach to differential expression analysis for heterogeneous cell populations.
   *Bioinformatics*, 31(10), 1584–1591. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btv015
- Coppola, G. (2011). Designing, Performing, and Interpreting a Microarray-Based Gene Expression Study. In G. Manfredi & H. Kawamata (Eds.), *Neurodegeneration: Methods and Protocols* (pp. 417–439). Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-328-8\_28

- Courchesne, E., Gazestani, V. H., & Lewis, N. E. (2020). Prenatal Origins of ASD: The When, What, and How of ASD Development. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *43*(5), 326–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2020.03.005
- Crowley, B., Ruffner, M., McDonald McGinn, D. M., & Sullivan, K. E. (2018). Variable immune deficiency related to deletion size in chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part A*, *176*(10), 2082–2086. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.38597
- De Picker, L. J., Morrens, M., Chance, S. A., & Boche, D. (2017). Microglia and Brain Plasticity in Acute Psychosis and Schizophrenia Illness Course: A Meta-Review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry / Frontiers Research Foundation*, *8*, 238. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00238

Derfalvi, B., Maurer, K., McDonald McGinn, D. M., Zackai, E., Meng, W., Luning Prak, E. T., & Sullivan, K. E. (2016). B cell development in chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome.

Clinical Immunology, 163, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2015.12.004

- Desikan, R. S., Ségonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., Buckner, R. L., Dale, A. M., Maguire, R. P., Hyman, B. T., Albert, M. S., & Killiany, R. J. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *NeuroImage*, *31*(3), 968–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021
- Dong, J., & Horvath, S. (2007). Understanding network concepts in modules. *BMC Systems Biology*, *1*, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-0509-1-24
- Douard, E., Zeribi, A., Schramm, C., Tamer, P., Loum, M. A., Nowak, S., Saci, Z., Lord, M.-P.,
  Rodríguez-Herreros, B., Jean-Louis, M., Moreau, C., Loth, E., Schumann, G., Pausova,
  Z., Elsabbagh, M., Almasy, L., Glahn, D. C., Bourgeron, T., Labbe, A., ... Jacquemont,
  S. (2021). Effect Sizes of Deletions and Duplications on Autism Risk Across the

Genome. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 178(1), 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.19080834

- Dougherty, J. D., Schmidt, E. F., Nakajima, M., & Heintz, N. (2010). Analytical approaches to RNA profiling data for the identification of genes enriched in specific cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *38*(13), 4218–4230. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq130
- Du, P., Kibbe, W. A., & Lin, S. M. (2008). lumi: a pipeline for processing Illumina microarray. *Bioinformatics*, 24(13), 1547–1548. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btn224
- Farahbod, M., & Pavlidis, P. (2020). Untangling the effects of cellular composition on coexpression analysis. *Genome Research*, 30(6), 849–859. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.256735.119
- Fénelon, K., Xu, B., Lai, C. S., Mukai, J., Markx, S., Stark, K. L., Hsu, P.-K., Gan, W.-B., Fischbach, G. D., MacDermott, A. B., Karayiorgou, M., & Gogos, J. A. (2013). The pattern of cortical dysfunction in a mouse model of a schizophrenia-related microdeletion. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(37), 14825–14839. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1611-13.2013
- First, M. B., & Gibbon, M. (2004). The structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis I disorders (SCID-I) and the structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis II disorders (SCID-II). *Comprehensive Handbook of Psychological Assessment*, 2, 134–143. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=mwgdJBOgNJAC&oi=fnd&pg=PA134&d q=Structured+Clinical+Interview+for+DSM+%5BSCID%5D&ots=7rs3EYNZTT&sig=p7w 5KjNz8z0N9khfHceRvUWJw7A
- Flanagan, R. J., & Dunk, L. (2008). Haematological toxicity of drugs used in psychiatry. *Human Psychopharmacology*, 23 *Suppl 1*, 27–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.917
- Forsyth, J. K., Nachun, D., Gandal, M. J., Geschwind, D. H., Anderson, A. E., Coppola, G., &
  Bearden, C. E. (2020). Synaptic and Gene Regulatory Mechanisms in Schizophrenia,
  Autism, and 22q11.2 Copy Number Variant-Mediated Risk for Neuropsychiatric

Disorders. Biological Psychiatry, 87(2), 150–163.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.06.029

- Gallego Romero, I., Pai, A. A., Tung, J., & Gilad, Y. (2014). RNA-seq: impact of RNA degradation on transcript quantification. *BMC Biology*, *12*, 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-12-42
- Gazestani, V. H., Pramparo, T., Nalabolu, S., Kellman, B. P., Murray, S., Lopez, L., Pierce, K.,
  Courchesne, E., & Lewis, N. E. (2019). A perturbed gene network containing PI3K–AKT,
  RAS–ERK and WNT–β-catenin pathways in leukocytes is linked to ASD genetics and
  symptom severity. In *Nature Neuroscience* (Vol. 22, Issue 10, pp. 1624–1634).
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0489-x
- Gennery, A. R. (2012). Immunological aspects of 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS*, 69(1), 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-011-0842z
- Ghandour, R. M., Sherman, L. J., Vladutiu, C. J., Ali, M. M., Lynch, S. E., Bitsko, R. H., &
  Blumberg, S. J. (2019). Prevalence and Treatment of Depression, Anxiety, and Conduct
  Problems in US Children. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 206, 256–267.e3.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.09.021
- Girirajan, S., Rosenfeld, J. A., Coe, B. P., Parikh, S., Friedman, N., Goldstein, A., Filipink, R. A.,
  McConnell, J. S., Angle, B., Meschino, W. S., Nezarati, M. M., Asamoah, A., Jackson, K.
  E., Gowans, G. C., Martin, J. A., Carmany, E. P., Stockton, D. W., Schnur, R. E.,
  Penney, L. S., ... Eichler, E. E. (2012). Phenotypic heterogeneity of genomic disorders
  and rare copy-number variants. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 367(14), 1321–
  1331. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1200395
- GTEx Consortium. (2020). The GTEx Consortium atlas of genetic regulatory effects across human tissues. *Science*, *369*(6509), 1318–1330. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz1776

- Guna, A., Butcher, N. J., & Bassett, A. S. (2015). Comparative mapping of the 22q11.2 deletion region and the potential of simple model organisms. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 7(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-015-9113-x
- Hiroi, N., Takahashi, T., Hishimoto, A., Izumi, T., Boku, S., & Hiramoto, T. (2013). Copy number variation at 22q11.2: from rare variants to common mechanisms of developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. In *Molecular Psychiatry* (Vol. 18, Issue 11, pp. 1153–1165). https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.92
- Hiroi, N., & Yamauchi, T. (2019). Modeling and Predicting Developmental Trajectories of Neuropsychiatric Dimensions Associated With Copy Number Variations. *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology / Official Scientific Journal of the Collegium Internationale Neuropsychopharmacologicum*, 22(8), 488–500. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyz026
- Hoeffding, L. K., Trabjerg, B. B., Olsen, L., Mazin, W., Sparsø, T., Vangkilde, A., Mortensen, P.
  B., Pedersen, C. B., & Werge, T. (2017). Risk of Psychiatric Disorders Among
  Individuals With the 22q11.2 Deletion or Duplication: A Danish Nationwide, RegisterBased Study. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74(3), 282–290.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.3939
- Hurles, M. E., Dermitzakis, E. T., & Tyler-Smith, C. (2008). The functional impact of structural variation in humans. *Trends in Genetics: TIG*, *24*(5), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2008.03.001

Irimia, M., Weatheritt, R. J., Ellis, J. D., Parikshak, N. N., Gonatopoulos-Pournatzis, T., Babor, M., Quesnel-Vallières, M., Tapial, J., Raj, B., O'Hanlon, D., Barrios-Rodiles, M., Sternberg, M. J. E., Cordes, S. P., Roth, F. P., Wrana, J. L., Geschwind, D. H., & Blencowe, B. J. (2014). A highly conserved program of neuronal microexons is misregulated in autistic brains. *Cell*, *159*(7), 1511–1523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.035

- Irwin, M. R., & Miller, A. H. (2007). Depressive disorders and immunity: 20 years of progress and discovery. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *21*(4), 374–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2007.01.010
- Jalbrzikowski, M., Lazaro, M. T., Gao, F., Huang, A., Chow, C., Geschwind, D. H., Coppola, G.,
  & Bearden, C. E. (2015). Transcriptome Profiling of Peripheral Blood in 22q11.2 Deletion
  Syndrome Reveals Functional Pathways Related to Psychosis and Autism Spectrum
  Disorder. *PloS One*, *10*(7), e0132542. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132542
- Jawad, A. F., McDonald-Mcginn, D. M., Zackai, E., & Sullivan, K. E. (2001). Immunologic features of chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/velocardiofacial syndrome). *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *139*(5), 715–723. https://doi.org/10.1067/mpd.2001.118534
- Jones, K. A., & Thomsen, C. (2013). The role of the innate immune system in psychiatric disorders. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, *53*, 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2012.10.002
- Kadarmideen, H. N., & Watson-Haigh, N. S. (2012). Building gene co-expression networks using transcriptomics data for systems biology investigations: Comparison of methods using microarray data. *Bioinformation*, 8(18), 855–861. https://doi.org/10.6026/97320630008855
- Kantari, C., Pederzoli-Ribeil, M., & Witko-Sarsat, V. (2008). The role of neutrophils and monocytes in innate immunity. *Contributions to Microbiology*, *15*, 118–146. https://doi.org/10.1159/000136335
- Kasherman, M. A., Premarathne, S., Burne, T. H. J., Wood, S. A., & Piper, M. (2020). The Ubiquitin System: a Regulatory Hub for Intellectual Disability and Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Molecular Neurobiology*, *57*(5), 2179–2193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-01881-x

- Khan, T. A., Revah, O., Gordon, A., Yoon, S.-J., Krawisz, A. K., Goold, C., Sun, Y., Kim, C. H., Tian, Y., Li, M.-Y., Schaepe, J. M., Ikeda, K., Amin, N. D., Sakai, N., Yazawa, M., Kushan, L., Nishino, S., Porteus, M. H., Rapoport, J. L., ... Paşca, S. P. (2020).
  Neuronal defects in a human cellular model of 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Nature Medicine*, *26*(12), 1888–1898. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1043-9
- Koyama, R., & Ikegaya, Y. (2015). Microglia in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders. *Neuroscience Research*, *100*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2015.06.005
- Krystel-Whittemore, M., Dileepan, K. N., & Wood, J. G. (2015). Mast Cell: A Multi-Functional Master Cell. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *6*, 620. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00620
- Kuhn, A., Thu, D., Waldvogel, H. J., Faull, R. L. M., & Luthi-Carter, R. (2011). Populationspecific expression analysis (PSEA) reveals molecular changes in diseased brain. *Nature Methods*, 8(11), 945–947. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1710
- Langfelder, P., & Horvath, S. (2008). WGCNA: an R package for weighted correlation network analysis. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 9, 559. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-9-559
- Laskaris, L. E., Di Biase, M. A., Everall, I., Chana, G., Christopoulos, A., Skafidas, E., Cropley,
  V. L., & Pantelis, C. (2016). Microglial activation and progressive brain changes in
  schizophrenia. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *173*(4), 666–680.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13364
- Lin, A., Ching, C. R. K., Vajdi, A., Sun, D., Jonas, R. K., Jalbrzikowski, M., Kushan-Wells, L.,
  Pacheco Hansen, L., Krikorian, E., Gutman, B., Dokoru, D., Helleman, G., Thompson, P.
  M., & Bearden, C. E. (2017). Mapping 22q11.2 Gene Dosage Effects on Brain
  Morphometry. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 37(26), 6183–6199. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3759-16.2017
- Lin, A., Vajdi, A., Kushan-Wells, L., Helleman, G., Hansen, L. P., Jonas, R. K., Jalbrzikowski,
   M., Kingsbury, L., Raznahan, A., & Bearden, C. E. (2020). Reciprocal Copy Number
   Variations at 22q11.2 Produce Distinct and Convergent Neurobehavioral Impairments
Relevant for Schizophrenia and Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 88(3), 260–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.12.028

- Lin, S. M., Du, P., Huber, W., & Kibbe, W. A. (2008). Model-based variance-stabilizing transformation for Illumina microarray data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *36*(2), e11. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm1075
- Li, Q., & Barres, B. A. (2018). Microglia and macrophages in brain homeostasis and disease. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, *18*(4), 225–242. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.125
- Li, Z., Chen, J., Xu, Y., Yi, Q., Ji, W., Wang, P., Shen, J., Song, Z., Wang, M., Yang, P., Wang, Q., Feng, G., Liu, B., Sun, W., Xu, Q., Li, B., He, L., He, G., Li, W., ... Shi, Y. (2016).
  Genome-wide Analysis of the Role of Copy Number Variation in Schizophrenia Risk in Chinese. *Biological Psychiatry*, *80*(4), 331–337.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.012
- Lombardo, M. V., Pramparo, T., Gazestani, V., Warrier, V., Bethlehem, R. A. I., Carter Barnes, C., Lopez, L., Lewis, N. E., Eyler, L., Pierce, K., & Courchesne, E. (2018). Large-scale associations between the leukocyte transcriptome and BOLD responses to speech differ in autism early language outcome subtypes. *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*(12), 1680–1688. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0281-3
- Lord, C., Risi, S., Lambrecht, L., Cook, E. H., Jr, Leventhal, B. L., DiLavore, P. C., Pickles, A., & Rutter, M. (2000). The autism diagnostic observation schedule-generic: a standard measure of social and communication deficits associated with the spectrum of autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *30*(3), 205–223. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11055457
- Mancarci, B. O., Toker, L., Tripathy, S. J., Li, B., Rocco, B., Sibille, E., & Pavlidis, P. (2017).
  Cross-Laboratory Analysis of Brain Cell Type Transcriptomes with Applications to
  Interpretation of Bulk Tissue Data. *eNeuro*, *4*(6). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.021217.2017

- Marshall, C. R., Howrigan, D. P., Merico, D., Thiruvahindrapuram, B., Wu, W., Greer, D. S.,
  Antaki, D., Shetty, A., Holmans, P. A., Pinto, D., Gujral, M., Brandler, W. M., Malhotra,
  D., Wang, Z., Fajarado, K. V. F., Maile, M. S., Ripke, S., Agartz, I., Albus, M., ... CNV
  and Schizophrenia Working Groups of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. (2017).
  Contribution of copy number variants to schizophrenia from a genome-wide study of
  41,321 subjects. *Nature Genetics*, 49(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3725
- McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Sullivan, K. E., Marino, B., Philip, N., Swillen, A., Vorstman, J. A. S.,
  Zackai, E. H., Emanuel, B. S., Vermeesch, J. R., Morrow, B. E., Scambler, P. J., &
  Bassett, A. S. (2015). 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, *1*.
- McLean-Tooke, A., Barge, D., Spickett, G. P., & Gennery, A. R. (2008). Immunologic defects in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *122*(2), 362–367, 367.e1–e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.03.033
- Meechan, D. W., Maynard, T. M., Tucker, E. S., Fernandez, A., Karpinski, B. A., Rothblat, L. A., & LaMantia, A.-S. (2015). Modeling a model: Mouse genetics, 22q11.2 Deletion
  Syndrome, and disorders of cortical circuit development. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *130*, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.03.004
- Merico, D., Costain, G., Butcher, N. J., Warnica, W., Ogura, L., Alfred, S. E., Brzustowicz, L. M.,
  & Bassett, A. S. (2014). MicroRNA Dysregulation, Gene Networks, and Risk for
  Schizophrenia in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *5*, 238.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2014.00238
- Miller, J. A., Cai, C., Langfelder, P., Geschwind, D. H., Kurian, S. M., Salomon, D. R., &
  Horvath, S. (2011). Strategies for aggregating gene expression data: the collapseRows
  R function. *BMC Bioinformatics*, *12*, 322. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-12-322
- Misiak, B., Frydecka, D., Stanczykiewicz, B., & Samochowiec, J. (2019). Editorial: Peripheral Markers of Immune Response in Major Psychiatric Disorders: Where Are We Now and

Where Do We Want to Be? *Frontiers in Psychiatry / Frontiers Research Foundation*, *10*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00005

- Monks, S., Niarchou, M., Davies, A. R., Walters, J. T. R., Williams, N., Owen, M. J., van den Bree, M. B. M., & Murphy, K. C. (2014). Further evidence for high rates of schizophrenia in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Schizophrenia Research*, *153*(1-3), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.020
- Morsheimer, M., Brown Whitehorn, T. F., Heimall, J., & Sullivan, K. E. (2017). The immune deficiency of chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part A*, *173*(9), 2366–2372. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.38319
- Newman, A. M., Liu, C. L., Green, M. R., Gentles, A. J., Feng, W., Xu, Y., Hoang, C. D., Diehn,
  M., & Alizadeh, A. A. (2015). Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression
  profiles. *Nature Methods*, *12*(5), 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3337
- Niarchou, M., Zammit, S., van Goozen, S. H. M., Thapar, A., Tierling, H. M., Owen, M. J., & van den Bree, M. B. M. (2014). Psychopathology and cognition in children with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 204(1), 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.132324
- Novershtern, N., Subramanian, A., Lawton, L. N., Mak, R. H., Haining, W. N., McConkey, M. E., Habib, N., Yosef, N., Chang, C. Y., Shay, T., Frampton, G. M., Drake, A. C. B., Leskov, I., Nilsson, B., Preffer, F., Dombkowski, D., Evans, J. W., Liefeld, T., Smutko, J. S., ... Ebert, B. L. (2011). Densely interconnected transcriptional circuits control cell states in human hematopoiesis. *Cell*, *144*(2), 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.004
- Olsen, L., Sparsø, T., Weinsheimer, S. M., Dos Santos, M. B. Q., Mazin, W., Rosengren, A.,
  Sanchez, X. C., Hoeffding, L. K., Schmock, H., Baekvad-Hansen, M., Bybjerg-Grauholm,
  J., Daly, M. J., Neale, B. M., Pedersen, M. G., Agerbo, E., Mors, O., Børglum, A.,
  Nordentoft, M., Hougaard, D. M., ... Werge, T. (2018). Prevalence of rearrangements in
  the 22q11.2 region and population-based risk of neuropsychiatric and developmental

disorders in a Danish population: a case-cohort study. In *The Lancet Psychiatry* (Vol. 5, Issue 7, pp. 573–580). https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(18)30168-8

- Ono, S. (2018). Functions of actin-interacting protein 1 (AIP1)/WD repeat protein 1 (WDR1) in actin filament dynamics and cytoskeletal regulation. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 506(2), 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.10.096
- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., Giustetto, M., Ferreira, T. A., Guiducci, E., Dumas, L., Ragozzino, D., & Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science*, 333(6048), 1456–1458. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1202529
- Patrick, E., Taga, M., Ergun, A., Ng, B., Casazza, W., Cimpean, M., Yung, C., Schneider, J. A., Bennett, D. A., Gaiteri, C., De Jager, P. L., Bradshaw, E. M., & Mostafavi, S. (2020).
  Deconvolving the contributions of cell-type heterogeneity on cortical gene expression. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *16*(8), e1008120.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008120
- Petrelli, F., Pucci, L., & Bezzi, P. (2016). Astrocytes and Microglia and Their Potential Link with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *10*, 21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2016.00021
- Qi, T., Wu, Y., Zeng, J., Zhang, F., Xue, A., Jiang, L., Zhu, Z., Kemper, K., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., eQTLGen Consortium, Marioni, R. E., Montgomery, G. W., Deary, I. J., Wray, N. R., Visscher, P. M., McRae, A. F., & Yang, J. (2018). Identifying gene targets for brain-related traits using transcriptomic and methylomic data from blood. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 2282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04558-1
- Rahmani, E., Schweiger, R., Rhead, B., Criswell, L. A., Barcellos, L. F., Eskin, E., Rosset, S.,
  Sankararaman, S., & Halperin, E. (2019). Cell-type-specific resolution epigenetics
  without the need for cell sorting or single-cell biology. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1),
  3417. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11052-9

Raudvere, U., Kolberg, L., Kuzmin, I., Arak, T., Adler, P., Peterson, H., & Vilo, J. (2019).
g:Profiler: a web server for functional enrichment analysis and conversions of gene lists (2019 update). *Nucleic Acids Research*, *47*(W1), W191–W198.
https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz369

Rees, E., Kendall, K., Pardiñas, A. F., Legge, S. E., Pocklington, A., Escott-Price, V., MacCabe, J. H., Collier, D. A., Holmans, P., O'Donovan, M. C., Owen, M. J., Walters, J. T. R., & Kirov, G. (2016). Analysis of Intellectual Disability Copy Number Variants for Association With Schizophrenia. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 73(9), 963–969. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.1831

- Ritchie, M. E., Phipson, B., Wu, D., Hu, Y., Law, C. W., Shi, W., & Smyth, G. K. (2015). limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(7), e47. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv007
- Rosenfeld, J. A., Coe, B. P., Eichler, E. E., Cuckle, H., & Shaffer, L. G. (2013). Estimates of penetrance for recurrent pathogenic copy-number variations. *Genetics in Medicine:* Official Journal of the American College of Medical Genetics, 15(6), 478–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2012.164
- Saito, R., Koebis, M., Nagai, T., Shimizu, K., Liao, J., Wulaer, B., Sugaya, Y., Nagahama, K., Uesaka, N., Kushima, I., Mori, D., Maruyama, K., Nakao, K., Kurihara, H., Yamada, K., Kano, M., Fukada, Y., Ozaki, N., & Aiba, A. (2020). Comprehensive analysis of a novel mouse model of the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a model with the most common 3.0-Mb deletion at the human 22q11.2 locus. *Translational Psychiatry*, *10*(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0723-z
- Sayal, K., Prasad, V., Daley, D., Ford, T., & Coghill, D. (2018). ADHD in children and young people: prevalence, care pathways, and service provision. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, *5*(2), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30167-0

- Schneider, M., Debbané, M., Bassett, A. S., Chow, E. W. C., Fung, W. L. A., van den Bree, M., Owen, M., Murphy, K. C., Niarchou, M., Kates, W. R., Antshel, K. M., Fremont, W., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Gur, R. E., Zackai, E. H., Vorstman, J., Duijff, S. N., Klaassen, P. W. J., Swillen, A., ... International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. (2014). Psychiatric disorders from childhood to adulthood in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: results from the International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*(6), 627–639. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13070864
- Schouten, J. P., McElgunn, C. J., Waaijer, R., Zwijnenburg, D., Diepvens, F., & Pals, G. (2002).
   Relative quantification of 40 nucleic acid sequences by multiplex ligation-dependent
   probe amplification. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *30*(12), e57.
   https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gnf056
- Schroeder, A., Mueller, O., Stocker, S., Salowsky, R., Leiber, M., Gassmann, M., Lightfoot, S., Menzel, W., Granzow, M., & Ragg, T. (2006). The RIN: an RNA integrity number for assigning integrity values to RNA measurements. *BMC Molecular Biology*, 7, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2199-7-3
- Shaffer, D., Fisher, P., Lucas, C. P., Dulcan, M. K., & Schwab-Stone, M. E. (2000). NIMH Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children Version IV (NIMH DISC-IV): description, differences from previous versions, and reliability of some common diagnoses. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 39(1), 28–38. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200001000-00014
- Shen-Orr, S. S., & Gaujoux, R. (2013). Computational deconvolution: extracting cell typespecific information from heterogeneous samples. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 25(5), 571–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2013.09.015
- Shen-Orr, S. S., Tibshirani, R., Khatri, P., Bodian, D. L., Staedtler, F., Perry, N. M., Hastie, T., Sarwal, M. M., Davis, M. M., & Butte, A. J. (2010). Cell type-specific gene expression

differences in complex tissues. *Nature Methods*, 7(4), 287–289. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1439

- Smithson, M., & Verkuilen, J. (2006). A better lemon squeezer? Maximum-likelihood regression with beta-distributed dependent variables. *Psychological Methods*, *11*(1), 54–71. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.11.1.54
- Stark, K. L., Xu, B., Bagchi, A., Lai, W.-S., Liu, H., Hsu, R., Wan, X., Pavlidis, P., Mills, A. A.,
  Karayiorgou, M., & Gogos, J. A. (2008). Altered brain microRNA biogenesis contributes
  to phenotypic deficits in a 22q11-deletion mouse model. *Nature Genetics*, 40(6), 751–
  760. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.138
- Stübner, S., Grohmann, R., Engel, R., Bandelow, B., Ludwig, W.-D., Wagner, G., Müller-Oerlinghausen, B., Möller, H.-J., Hippius, H., & Rüther, E. (2004). Blood dyscrasias induced by psychotropic drugs. *Pharmacopsychiatry*, *37 Suppl 1*, S70–S78. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-815513
- Sullivan, P. F., Fan, C., & Perou, C. M. (2006). Evaluating the comparability of gene expression in blood and brain. *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric Genetics: The Official Publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics*, 141B(3), 261–268. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30272
- Sun, Z., Williams, D. J., Xu, B., & Gogos, J. A. (2018). Altered function and maturation of primary cortical neurons from a 22q11.2 deletion mouse model of schizophrenia.
   *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1), 85. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0132-8
- Sutermaster, B. A., & Darling, E. M. (2019). Considerations for high-yield, high-throughput cell enrichment: fluorescence versus magnetic sorting. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 227. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36698-1
- Takano, T. (2015). Role of Microglia in Autism: Recent Advances. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 37(3), 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1159/000398791

- Thapar, A., Collishaw, S., Pine, D. S., & Thapar, A. K. (2012). Depression in adolescence. *The Lancet*, 379(9820), 1056–1067. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4
- Toker, L., Mancarci, B. O., Tripathy, S., & Pavlidis, P. (2018). Transcriptomic Evidence for Alterations in Astrocytes and Parvalbumin Interneurons in Subjects With Bipolar Disorder and Schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, *84*(11), 787–796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.07.010
- Tylee, D. S., Kawaguchi, D. M., & Glatt, S. J. (2013). On the outside, looking in: a review and evaluation of the comparability of blood and brain "-omes." *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric Genetics: The Official Publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics*, 162B(7), 595–603. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32150
- Valent, P., Akin, C., Hartmann, K., Nilsson, G., Reiter, A., Hermine, O., Sotlar, K., Sperr, W. R., Escribano, L., George, T. I., Kluin-Nelemans, H. C., Ustun, C., Triggiani, M., Brockow, K., Gotlib, J., Orfao, A., Kovanen, P. T., Hadzijusufovic, E., Sadovnik, I., ... Galli, S. J. (2020). Mast cells as a unique hematopoietic lineage and cell system: From Paul Ehrlich's visions to precision medicine concepts. *Theranostics*, *10*(23), 10743–10768. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.46719
- van Beveren, N. J. M., Krab, L. C., Swagemakers, S., Buitendijk, G. H. S., Boot, E., van der Spek, P., Elgersma, Y., & van Amelsvoort, T. A. M. J. (2012). Functional geneexpression analysis shows involvement of schizophrenia-relevant pathways in patients with 22q11 deletion syndrome. *PloS One*, 7(3), e33473. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033473
- Vorstman, J. A. S., Jalali, G. R., Rappaport, E. F., Hacker, A. M., Scott, C., & Emanuel, B. S. (2006). MLPA: a rapid, reliable, and sensitive method for detection and analysis of abnormalities of 22q. *Human Mutation*, 27(8), 814–821. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20330

- Vorstman, J. A. S., Morcus, M. E. J., Duijff, S. N., Klaassen, P. W. J., Heineman-de Boer, J. A., Beemer, F. A., Swaab, H., Kahn, R. S., & van Engeland, H. (2006). The 22q11.2 deletion in children: high rate of autistic disorders and early onset of psychotic symptoms. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 45(9), 1104–1113. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000228131.56956.c1
- Wechsler, D. (2008). WAIS-IV: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. Pearson. https://play.google.com/store/books/details?id=QT0WMwEACAAJ
- Wechsler, D. (2012). Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence. In *PsycTESTS Dataset*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t15170-000
- Wenger, T. L., Miller, J. S., DePolo, L. M., de Marchena, A. B., Clements, C. C., Emanuel, B. S., Zackai, E. H., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., & Schultz, R. T. (2016). 22q11.2 duplication syndrome: elevated rate of autism spectrum disorder and need for medical screening. *Molecular Autism*, 7, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-016-0090-z
- Xu, X., Nehorai, A., & Dougherty, J. (2013). Cell Type Specific Analysis of Human Brain
   Transcriptome Data to Predict Alterations in Cellular Composition. *Systems Biomedicine* (*Austin, Tex.*), 1(3), 151–160. https://doi.org/10.4161/sysb.25630
- Zhang, B., & Horvath, S. (2005). A general framework for weighted gene co-expression network analysis. *Statistical Applications in Genetics and Molecular Biology*, *4*, Article17. https://doi.org/10.2202/1544-6115.1128

### 4.7: Supplement

#### 4.7.1: Demographic Information

We aimed to include a representative cohort of CNV carriers. Therefore, there was no exclusion of participants with cardiac-related issues, a hallmark of 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. A subset of controls was related to other controls (9 brothers, 3 sisters) or deletion carriers (1 aunt, 8 brothers, 1 half-brother, 1 grandfather, 1 grandmother, 1 mother, 2 sisters).

### 4.7.2: MRI acquisition and preprocessing

T1- weighted structural scans were analyzed in an unbiased, whole-brain approach using well-validated analysis and quality control protocols (Thompson et al., 2014, 2017), previously applied by our group and others (Ching et al., 2020; Schmaal et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2018; van Erp et al., 2016). Each scan began with a 10 min acquisition of standard images used for determining regional anatomy, including a sagittal localizer image (TR/TE = 500/33 ms, 192 × 256 matrix), a high-resolution T2-weighted axial image (TR/TE = 5000/33 ms, 128 × 128 matrix, FOV = 200 × 200 mm), and a sagittal 1 mm3 T1-weighted image. We used FreeSurfer to process 1 mm3 T1-weighted anatomical images acquired with an MPRAGE. The parameters for the MPRAGE were the following: TR = 2.3 s, TE = 2.91 ms, FOV = 256 mm, matrix = 240 × 256, flip angle = 9°, slice thickness = 1.20 mm, 160 slices. The FreeSurfer image analysis suite (version 5.3.0; http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu) surface-based processing pipeline was used to derive measures of volume, cortical thickness, and surface area.

### 4.7.3: Weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) parameters

We used WGCNA to identify modules of co-expressed genes using an approach similar to previous studies which have applied this method (Oldham et al., 2008; Stuart et al., 2003) using the WGCNA package (Langfelder et al., 2008). Signed adjacency matrices were computed using the lowest soft power with a scale-free topology fit of  $R^2 > 0.8$  and a scale-free topology coefficient < -2. Correlation coefficients were estimated using biweight midcorrelation

168

(Song et al., 2012), converted to topological overlap matrices (Dong & Horvath, 2007), and clustered using the default average-linked hierarchical clustering. Modules were identified using dynamic tree cutting of the hierarchical clustering tree (Langfelder et al., 2008) with a cut height of 0.995 and a deepSplit parameter of 3. Module eigengenes were computed from the first principal component of the expression values of the genes in each module, and correlated modules were merged using a dissimilarity threshold of 0.2. We then fit a linear model for group effect on module eigengene with age, sex, and RIN as covariates to assess group differences and then corrected for the number of modules tested using false discovery rate. For eigengenes that were DE between groups at q < 0.05, post-hoc pairwise contrasts were calculated using the RMS package.

### 4.7.4: Enrichment of gene sets from WGCNA modules for cell type specific expression

We used the pSI package (Dougherty et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2014) to estimate a cell type specificity index for genes expressed in a sorted reference LM22 dataset in peripheral blood (Newman et al., 2015). The specificity index is a rank-based method computed for every gene and cell type in a sorted dataset where lower values indicate higher specificity of a gene for a cell type. We subsetted the specificity indices to the genes shared between our data and the reference data. We then tested the enrichment of the gene set obtained from each WGCNA module using a linear model to determine if genes in the gene set had significantly lower specificity indices than the rest of the genes. For large WGCNA modules, we only used the top 500 genes ranked by scaled connectivity to make gene sets for those modules.

The alternate reference dataset was not used to estimate cell type proportion and included slightly different cell types (Novershtern et al., 2011, Supplementary Figure 4.3). Enrichment results were consistent between the two reference datasets. We observed that the royal blue module was highly enriched in the alternate dataset for megakaryocytes/ thrombocytes, a cell type not included in the LM22 reference dataset.

169



Supplementary Figure 4.1: Dendrogram of eigenegene expression for 28 modules showing hierarchical clustering. Modules were constructed from gene expression data that was adjusted for cell type proportion and medication usage. No modules showed corrected group differences in expression.



Supplementary Figure 4.2: Cell type enrichment of all unadjusted module eigengenes using LM22 reference data. This heatmap displays the degree of overlap between cell type using the LM22 reference dataset and module eigengenes which have been adjusted for cell type and medication status. Modules are ordered by clustering of cell types whose expression profiles are most similar.



Supplementary Figure 4.3: Cell type enrichment of unadjusted module eigengenes using the alternate reference data. This heatmap displays the degree of overlap between cell type markers from Novershtern et al., 2011 and module eigengenes which have been adjusted for cell type and medication status. Modules are ordered by clustering of cell types whose expression profiles are most similar. No modules showed corrected group differences.

Batch	N, antidepressants	N, antiepileptics	N, benzodiazepines	N, antipsychotics	N, stimulants
1	2	0	0	0	1
2	3	1	1	1	1
3	0	0	0	1	0
4	10	4	2	6	7
5	15	5	4	3	8
6	7	3	1	3	5

Supplementary Table 4.1A: Number of subjects on each type of medication by batch.

N, medications taken	N, Subjects
0	123
1	29
2	18
3	7
4	2

Supplementary Table 4.1B: Number of subjects who are unmedicated, on a single type of

medication, or on multiple types of medication.





**Supplementary Figure 4.4: Batch and cell type proportion confounds in samples.** Panel A shows the number of subjects in each color-coded batch by group. Panel B shows the number of subjects in each color-coded batch by cell type proportion.

Neutrophils	-0.731	-0.123	-0.0383	0.287	0.517	
B cells naive	-0.276	0.17	1.4	-0.0903	0.0941	
B cells memory	0.213	0.101	0.846	0.0525	0.225	
Plasma cells	0.787	0.0779	-0.293	-0.543	-0.907	
Macrophages M0	-1.79	1.98	2.25	0.539	-0.14	
Monocytes	1.04	-0.696	-0.576	-0.317	0.187	
Macrophages M2	1.41	-0.682	0.0144	-0.154	0.758	
Macrophages M1	1.48	0.358	1.19	-1.98	-0.294	
Dendritic cells activated	0.657	1.55	-0.409	0.196	0.0104	
Mast cells resting	-0.45	0.468	0.0515	1.31	-3.52e-05	Zscore
Mast cells activated	-2.2	0.874	-0.463	-0.171	-0.161	32 1 0
T cells CD8	-1.31	-0.991	-0.925	0.216	-0.227	
T cells CD4 memory resting	0.453	-0.435	-1.04	0.0421	-0.515	
T cells CD4 naive	-0.978	-1.17	2.15	0.61	2.33	
T cells follicular helper	0.874	1.16	-0.319	-0.505	-0.373	
T cells CD4 memory activated	0.458	0.188	-0.0286	1.09	0.906	
NK cells resting	-0.229	0.337	0.917	0.847	0.907	
NK cells activated	1.51	0.897	-1.6	0.384	-1.76	
T cells gamma delta	-0.0345	-0.163	-1.32	-1.64	-0.646	
T cells regulatory (Tregs)	-0.112	-0.722	-0.25	-0.635	-0.907	
	PD	Ś	PR	AED	82	

**Supplementary Figure 4.5: Medication usage shows modest effects on cell type proportion.** Heat map displays Z-score of the effects of medication usage on cell type proportion. Cell type proportions were logit transformed and residualized for batch and diagnosis with age and sex included as covariates. Cell types are ordered by similarity of average expression. Medications are ordered by overlap in usage. AD = antidepressants, ST = stimulants AP = antipsychotics, AED = antiepileptics, BZ = benzodiazepines.

Module	Sum of Square	Mean Square	F-statistic	FDR q-val
yellow	0.01	0.00	0.89	6.3E-01
magenta	0.01	0.01	0.94	6.3E-01
tan	0.01	0.00	0.55	7.2E-01
white	0.02	0.01	1.79	4.1E-01
orange	0.01	0.01	0.93	6.3E-01
brown	0.02	0.01	1.69	4.2E-01
midnightblue	0.03	0.02	3.06	2.9E-01
skyblue	0.01	0.00	0.45	7.2E-01
darkgreen	0.04	0.02	3.24	2.9E-01
pink	0.01	0.00	0.61	7.2E-01
lightyellow	0.00	0.00	0.26	8.0E-01
steelblue	0.01	0.00	0.46	7.2E-01
darkgrey	0.02	0.01	1.92	4.0E-01
darkred	0.02	0.01	1.91	4.0E-01
grey60	0.03	0.02	3.08	2.9E-01
darkorange	0.03	0.01	2.29	3.8E-01
lightgreen	0.04	0.02	3.56	2.9E-01
salmon	0.02	0.01	2.09	4.0E-01
darkolivegreen	0.02	0.01	1.40	5.2E-01
green	0.00	0.00	0.43	7.2E-01
turquoise	0.01	0.01	0.96	6.3E-01
violet	0.05	0.03	5.16	1.9E-01
greenyellow	0.01	0.00	0.67	7.2E-01
saddlebrown	0.00	0.00	0.08	9.2E-01
darkturquoise	0.01	0.01	1.17	6.1E-01
royalblue	0.00	0.00	0.38	7.4E-01
black	0.03	0.01	2.29	3.8E-01
cyan	0.01	0.00	0.65	7.2E-01

Supplementary Table 4.2: Effect of group status on the expression of each cell type and

medication-adjusted module eigengene



## Supplementary Figure 4.6: Cell type proportions across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with

and without ASD. There were no significant main effects or interactions for ASD and CNV

group	for	any	cell	type.
-------	-----	-----	------	-------

Module	Main effect of ASD FDR q- val	ASD by CNV group interaction effect FDR q- val	Main effect of psychotic disorder FDR q-val
MEblack	8.4E-01	2.9E-01	9.8E-01
MEblue	9.2E-01	7.9E-01	8.6E-01
MEbrown	8.5E-01	9.4E-01	8.6E-01
MEcyan	8.5E-01	4.5E-01	8.6E-01
MEdarkgreen	8.5E-01	2.9E-01	8.6E-01
MEdarkgrey	5.6E-01	2.9E-01	8.6E-01
MEdarkorange	9.2E-01	8.9E-01	8.8E-01
MEdarkred	8.5E-01	1.4E-01	8.8E-01
MEdarkturquoise	5.6E-01	5.6E-01	7.9E-01
MEgreen	8.5E-01	9.7E-01	8.6E-01
MEgreenyellow	9.2E-01	9.7E-01	9.7E-01
MEgrey60	8.5E-01	2.9E-01	8.6E-01
MElightcyan	8.5E-01	8.6E-01	8.8E-01
MElightgreen	9.9E-01	9.7E-01	8.6E-01
MElightyellow	8.7E-01	9.5E-01	8.6E-01
MEmagenta	9.2E-01	8.9E-01	8.6E-01
MEmidnightblue	5.6E-01	2.9E-01	8.6E-01
MEorange	8.5E-01	5.4E-01	9.8E-01
MEpink	5.6E-01	3.1E-01	8.6E-01
MEred	9.2E-01	7.8E-01	8.6E-01
MEsaddlebrown	5.6E-01	8.6E-01	8.8E-01
MEsalmon	5.6E-01	1.4E-01	7.9E-01
MEskyblue	8.5E-01	5.6E-01	7.9E-01
MEtan	8.5E-01	5.6E-01	8.6E-01
MEturquoise	8.5E-01	9.7E-01	8.6E-01
MEwhite	9.2E-01	9.5E-01	8.6E-01
MEyellow	7.1E-01	4.8E-01	8.6E-01

Supplementary Table 4.3: Effects of disease status on module eigengene expression.



Supplementary Figure 4.7: Cell-type proportion and medication-adjusted module eigengene expression across 22qDel and 22qDup carriers with and without ASD. There were no significant main effects or interactions for ASD and CNV group for any module.



# Supplementary Figure 4.8: Cell type proportions across 22qDel carriers with and without psychosis. There were no significant group differences for any cell type.



Supplementary Figure 4.9: Cell-type proportion and medication-adjusted module eigengene expression across 22qDel carriers with and without psychosis. There were no significant differences between 22qDel carriers with and without psychosis for any module.

	Outcome				
Gene	measure	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-statistic	FDR q-val
C22orf39	cortical thickness	0.019952	0.009976	0.89	7.0E-01
	IQ	2418.481	1209.24	4.38	4.5E-01
	surface area	84822146	42411073	0.21	9.2E-01
CDH6	cortical thickness	0.065052	0.032526	2.97	5.1E-01
	IQ	506.0822	253.0411	0.89	7.0E-01
	surface area	222000000	111000000	0.55	7.9E-01
CHPF2	cortical thickness	0.044951	0.022475	2.01	5.5E-01
	IQ	127.7167	63.85835	0.22	9.2E-01
	surface area	368000000	184000000	0.92	7.0E-01
CLDN5	cortical thickness	0.068377	0.034189	3.13	5.1E-01
	IQ	32.42398	16.21199	0.06	9.7E-01
	surface area	89200000	446000000	2.30	5.3E-01
COMT	cortical thickness	0.061389	0.030694	2.84	5.1E-01
	IQ	62.49263	31.24631	0.11	9.5E-01
	surface area	59400000	297000000	1.51	5.6E-01
CRKL	cortical thickness	0.041697	0.020849	1.92	5.6E-01
	IQ	408.7089	204.3545	0.71	7.7E-01
	surface area	91575526	45787763	0.23	9.2E-01
DGCR2	cortical thickness	0.026257	0.013129	1.18	6.2E-01
	IQ	250.8361	125.418	0.44	8.4E-01
	surface area	223000000	1110000000	6.10	3.0E-01
DGCR6	cortical thickness	0.029784	0.014892	1.34	6.1E-01
	IQ	710.2455	355.1228	1.27	6.2E-01
	surface area	51589688	25794844	0.13	9.5E-01
ESS2	cortical thickness	0.069445	0.034723	3.20	5.1E-01
	IQ	319.1911	159.5955	0.55	7.9E-01
	surface area	483000000	241000000	1.22	6.2E-01
FUT7	cortical thickness	0.000827	0.000414	0.04	9.7E-01
	IQ	1337.044	668.5221	2.43	5.1E-01
	surface area	217000000	10900000	0.56	7.9E-01
GNB1L	cortical thickness	0.02237	0.011185	1.00	7.0E-01
	IQ	2436.341	1218.17	4.47	4.5E-01
	surface area	183000000	91577948	0.45	8.4E-01
HIST1H2BD	cortical thickness	0.006445	0.003222	0.28	9.2E-01
	IQ	365.4951	182.7475	0.63	7.9E-01
	surface area	86997064	43498532	0.21	9.2E-01
KLHL22	cortical thickness	0.05862	0.02931	2.84	5.1E-01
	IQ	1024.089	512.0445	1.80	5.6E-01
	surface area	75999466	37999733	0.19	9.2E-01
LZTR1	cortical thickness	0.047229	0.023614	2.19	5.4E-01
	IQ	827.8715	413.9357	1.44	5.6E-01
	surface area	25900000	13000000	0.66	7.8E-01
MED15	cortical thickness	0.07103	0.035515	3.41	5.1E-01
	IQ	62.65265	31.32633	0.11	9.5E-01
	surface area	14430824	7215412	0.04	9.7E-01
MIR29B2CHG	cortical thickness	0.009351	0.004675	0.41	8.5E-01
	IQ	698.9055	349.4528	1.22	6.2E-01
	surface area	488000000	244000000	1.23	6.2E-01
PI4KA	cortical thickness	0.049006	0.024503	2.31	5.3E-01
	IQ	441.0809	220.5405	0.76	7.5E-01
	surface area	90674901	45337450	0.23	9.2E-01
RANBP1	cortical thickness	0.019897	0.009949	0.91	7.0E-01
	IQ	329.5509	164.7755	0.58	7.9E-01
	surface area	72207312	36103656	0.18	9.2E-01

RTL10	cortical thickness	0.008196	0.004098	0.36	8.8E-01
	IQ	1223.115	611.5577	2.16	5.4E-01
	surface area	137000000	683000000	3.64	5.1E-01
RTN4R	cortical thickness	0.026789	0.013394	1.19	6.2E-01
	IQ	1017.988	508.9942	1.79	5.6E-01
	surface area	971000000	48600000	2.50	5.1E-01
SEPTIN5	cortical thickness	0.03731	0.018655	1.67	5.6E-01
	IQ	37.78498	18.89249	0.07	9.7E-01
	surface area	103000000	514000000	2.71	5.1E-01
SIGLEC10	cortical thickness	0.001075	0.000537	0.05	9.7E-01
	IQ	1615.193	807.5966	2.87	5.1E-01
	surface area	623000000	311000000	1.57	5.6E-01
SLC25A1	cortical thickness	0.021336	0.010668	0.94	7.0E-01
	IQ	1163.982	581.991	2.05	5.5E-01
	surface area	137000000	68641136	0.34	8.9E-01
SNAP29	cortical thickness	0.038426	0.019213	1.74	5.6E-01
	IQ	656.4613	328.2306	1.14	6.3E-01
	surface area	105000000	52670230	0.26	9.2E-01
TANGO2	cortical thickness	0.032246	0.016123	1.44	5.6E-01
	IQ	321.3355	160.6677	0.58	7.9E-01
	surface area	311000000	15600000	0.79	7.5E-01
THAP7	cortical thickness	0.036388	0.018194	1.62	5.6E-01
	IQ	594.146	297.073	1.03	6.9E-01
	surface area	326000000	163000000	0.81	7.4E-01
TMEM191A	cortical thickness	0.003749	0.001874	0.16	9.3E-01
	IQ	383.3613	191.6806	0.66	7.8E-01
	surface area	58600000	29300000	1.49	5.6E-01
TRMT2A	cortical thickness	0.016167	0.008084	0.71	7.7E-01
	IQ	939.2427	469.6214	1.64	5.6E-01
	surface area	621000000	311000000	1.57	5.6E-01
TXNRD2	cortical thickness	0.036035	0.018017	1.61	5.6E-01
	IQ	309.958	154.979	0.54	7.9E-01
	surface area	957000000	47800000	2.50	5.1E-01
UFD1	cortical thickness	0.020353	0.010176	0.91	7.0E-01
	IQ	244.8963	122.4481	0.43	8.4E-01
	surface area	687000000	343000000	1.74	5.6E-01
ZDHHC8	cortical thickness	0.046244	0.023122	2.12	5.5E-01
	IQ	871.6847	435.8424	1.53	5.6E-01
	surface area	611000000	30500000	1.54	5.6E-01
ZNF74	cortical thickness	0.058833	0.029416	2.69	5.1E-01
	IQ	130.9815	65.49076	0.23	9.2E-01
	surface area	98700000	493000000	2.54	5.1E-01

## Supplementary Table 4.4: Interaction effect of gene expression and group status on

cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ

	Outcome				
Gene	measure	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-statistic	FDR q-val
C22orf39	cortical thickness	0.014306	0.014306	1.25	6.8E-01
	IQ	19.40808	19.40808	0.07	9.9E-01
	surface area	257000000	257000000	1.31	6.8E-01
CDH6	cortical thickness	0.000366	0.000366	0.03	9.9E-01
	IQ	425.3028	425.3028	1.51	6.8E-01
	surface area	286000000	286000000	1.46	6.8E-01
CHPF2	cortical thickness	0.000201	0.000201	0.02	9.9E-01
	IQ	14.00001	14.00001	0.05	9.9E-01
	surface area	11546404	11546404	0.06	9.9E-01
CLDN5	cortical thickness	0.001238	0.001238	0.11	9.9E-01
	IQ	365.1437	365.1437	1.29	6.8E-01
	surface area	252000000	252000000	1.29	6.8E-01
COMT	cortical thickness	0.019816	0.019816	1.74	6.8E-01
	IQ	645.5401	645.5401	2.30	6.8E-01
	surface area	261000000	261000000	1.34	6.8E-01
CRKL	cortical thickness	0.030371	0.030371	2.69	6.8E-01
	IQ	28.19473	28.19473	0.10	9.9E-01
	surface area	26000000	26000000	1.33	6.8E-01
DGCR2	cortical thickness	0.022593	0.022593	1.99	6.8E-01
	IQ	348.0647	348.0647	1.23	6.8E-01
	surface area	678105.8	678105.8	0.00	9.9E-01
DGCR6	cortical thickness	0.02271	0.02271	2.00	6.8E-01
	IQ	747.1936	747.1936	2.67	6.8E-01
	surface area	135000000	135000000	0.69	7.7E-01
ESS2	cortical thickness	0.009383	0.009383	0.82	7.7E-01
	IQ	61.68711	61.68711	0.22	9.1E-01
	surface area	315000000	315000000	1.61	6.8E-01
FUT7	cortical thickness	0.007621	0.007621	0.66	7.7E-01
	IQ	1219.605	1219.605	4.40	6.8E-01
	surface area	533000000	533000000	2.76	6.8E-01
GNB1L	cortical thickness	0.021685	0.021685	1.91	6.8E-01
	IQ	541.2304	541.2304	1.92	6.8E-01
	surface area	87139.45	87139.45	0.00	9.9E-01
HIST1H2BD	cortical thickness	0.0000357	0.0000357	0.00	9.9E-01
	IQ	15.47767	15.47767	0.05	9.9E-01
	surface area	118000000	118000000	0.60	7.8E-01
KLHL22	cortical thickness	0.06916	0.06916	6.32	6.4E-01
	IQ	62.26273	62.26273	0.22	9.1E-01
	surface area	15987.17	15987.17	0.00	9.9E-01
LZTR1	cortical thickness	0.036482	0.036482	3.25	6.8E-01
	IQ	1.321463	1.321463	0.00	9.9E-01
	surface area	192000000	192000000	0.98	7.6E-01
MED15	cortical thickness	0.051025	0.051025	4.60	6.8E-01
	IQ	0.368506	0.368506	0.00	9.9E-01
	surface area	93847.73	93847.73	0.00	9.9E-01
MIR29B2CHG	cortical thickness	0.004459	0.004459	0.39	8.7E-01
	IQ	303.0783	303.0783	1.07	7.3E-01
	surface area	7786988	7786988	0.04	9.9E-01
PI4KA	cortical thickness	0.054036	0.054036	4.88	6.8E-01
	IQ	78.80458	78.80458	0.28	9.0E-01
	surface area	165000000	165000000	0.84	7.7E-01
RANBP1	cortical thickness	0.036749	0.036749	3.27	6.8E-01
	IQ	513.7703	513.7703	1.82	6.8E-01
	surface area	216000000	216000000	1.10	7.3E-01

RTL10	cortical thickness	0.00942	0.00942	0.82	7.7E-01
	IQ	175.6385	175.6385	0.62	7.8E-01
	surface area	473000000	473000000	2.44	6.8E-01
RTN4R	cortical thickness	0.000329	0.000329	0.03	9.9E-01
	IQ	92.67416	92.67416	0.33	8.8E-01
	surface area	93020569	93020569	0.47	8.5E-01
SEPTIN5	cortical thickness	0.009457	0.009457	0.82	7.7E-01
	IQ	627.9029	627.9029	2.24	6.8E-01
	surface area	57000000	57000000	2.96	6.8E-01
SIGLEC10	cortical thickness	0.002664	0.002664	0.23	9.1E-01
	IQ	3.648585	3.648585	0.01	9.9E-01
	surface area	1534791	1534791	0.01	9.9E-01
SLC25A1	cortical thickness	0.004562	0.004562	0.40	8.7E-01
	IQ	100.5208	100.5208	0.35	8.8E-01
	surface area	35032568	35032568	0.18	9.4E-01
SNAP29	cortical thickness	0.019657	0.019657	1.73	6.8E-01
	IQ	21.08809	21.08809	0.07	9.9E-01
	surface area	148000000	148000000	0.75	7.7E-01
TANGO2	cortical thickness	0.005079	0.005079	0.44	8.6E-01
	IQ	1766.241	1766.241	6.45	6.4E-01
	surface area	385000000	385000000	1.98	6.8E-01
THAP7	cortical thickness	0.006703	0.006703	0.58	7.8E-01
	IQ	0.578998	0.578998	0.00	9.9E-01
	surface area	1400143	1400143	0.01	9.9E-01
TMEM191A	cortical thickness	0.00393	0.00393	0.34	8.8E-01
	IQ	6.572305	6.572305	0.02	9.9E-01
	surface area	152000000	152000000	0.77	7.7E-01
TRMT2A	cortical thickness	0.001427	0.001427	0.12	9.9E-01
	IQ	11.17041	11.17041	0.04	9.9E-01
	surface area	10482.37	10482.37	0.00	9.9E-01
TXNRD2	cortical thickness	0.007833	0.007833	0.68	7.7E-01
	IQ	536.8741	536.8741	1.91	6.8E-01
	surface area	471000000	471000000	2.43	6.8E-01
UFD1	cortical thickness	0.024953	0.024953	2.20	6.8E-01
	IQ	822.6568	822.6568	2.94	6.8E-01
	surface area	54957229	54957229	0.28	9.0E-01
ZDHHC8	cortical thickness	0.018542	0.018542	1.63	6.8E-01
	IQ	71.30603	71.30603	0.25	9.1E-01
	surface area	144000000	144000000	0.73	7.7E-01
ZNF74	cortical thickness	0.010165	0.010165	0.89	7.7E-01
	IQ	410.566	410.566	1.45	6.8E-01
	surface area	2789197	2789197	0.01	9.9E-01

## Supplementary Table 4.5: Main effect of gene expression on group-residualized cortical

thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ

	Outcome			F-	
Module	measure	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	statistic	FDR q-val
MEblack	IQ	620.3474	310.1737	1.08	7.3E-01
	surface area	175000000	87496859	0.44	9.0E-01
	thickness	0.005543	0.002772	0.24	9.0E-01
MEbrown	IQ	741.961	370.9805	1.29	6.9E-01
	surface area	489000000	244000000	1.23	6.9E-01
	cortical	0.000005	0.004040	0.00	0.05.04
MEavon	tnickness	0.008695	0.004348	0.38	9.0E-01
MECyan		24600000	123000000	2.74	5.7E-01
	cortical	24000000	123000000	0.01	0.52-01
	thickness	0.009284	0.004642	0.41	9.0E-01
MEdarkgreen	surface area	823000000	412000000	2.10	5.7E-01
	IQ	539.9381	269.969	0.95	7.4E-01
	cortical	0.006415	0 003208	0.28	9 0E-01
MEdarkgrev	IQ	841,3884	420 6942	1.48	6.5E-01
	surface area	345000000	173000000	0.86	7.6E-01
	cortical				
	thickness	0.010102	0.005051	0.44	9.0E-01
MEdarkolivegreen	IQ	600.9965	300.4982	1.04	7.3E-01
	thickness	0.005647	0.002823	0.24	9.0E-01
	surface area	29510722	14755361	0.07	9.3E-01
MEdarkorange	surface area	336000000	168000000	0.86	7.6E-01
	cortical	0.000500	0.004704	0.40	0.05.04
	tnickness	0.009569	07.004784	0.43	9.0E-01
MEdarkred		2066 262	1033 131	3.71	9.0E-01
MEddikied	surface area	347000000	173000000	0.88	7.6E-01
	cortical	011000000	110000000	0.00	7.02 01
	thickness	0.007583	0.003792	0.33	9.0E-01
MEdarkturquoise	IQ	953.8003	476.9002	1.68	6.3E-01
	surface area	668000000	334000000	1.69	6.3E-01
	thickness	0.02726	0.01363	1.21	6.9E-01
MEgreen	IQ	1887.29	943.6452	3.43	5.7E-01
	cortical				
	thickness	0.052045	0.026023	2.38	5.7E-01
MEgroopyallow	surface area	24600000	123000000	0.61	8.5E-01
wiegreenyellow		907.2030	403.0019	0.50	9.0E-01
	cortical	197000000	30300003	0.50	3.02-01
	thickness	0.002583	0.001291	0.11	9.3E-01
MEgrey60	IQ	1338.03	669.015	2.37	5.7E-01
	surface area	58700000	293000000	1.48	6.5E-01
	thickness	0.001855	0.000928	0.08	9.3E-01
MEliahtareen	IQ	1288.342	644.1711	2.27	5.7E-01
	surface area	196000000	97920909	0.49	9.0E-01
	cortical				
	thickness	0.001662	0.000831	0.07	9.3E-01
MElightyellow	IQ	1//9.68/	889.8435	3.19	5.7E-01
	cortical	448000000	224000000	1.12	7.3⊑-01
	thickness	0.011804	0.005902	0.52	9.0E-01
MEmagenta	surface area	126000000	628000000	3.27	5.7E-01
	cortical	0.047070	0.000500	0 4 0	5 7E 01
		0.047079	0.020039	2.12	3.7 E-01
		402.7002	201.3941	0.70	0.46-01

MEmidnightblue	IQ	921.5953	460.7976	1.62	6.3E-01
	surface area	535000000	268000000	1.35	6.9E-01
	cortical	0.016971	0.009426	0.75	
MEoropao		12900000	0.000430	0.75	0.2E-01
MEdialige	cortical	13000000	00037233	0.34	9.00-01
	thickness	0.00584	0.00292	0.25	9.0E-01
	IQ	50.01916	25.00958	0.09	9.3E-01
MEpink	IQ	994.5147	497.2574	1.76	6.3E-01
	cortical				
	thickness	0.02724	0.01362	1.21	6.9E-01
	surface area	313000000	157000000	0.78	8.0E-01
MEroyalblue	IQ	1297.573	648.7866	2.29	5.7E-01
	surface area	67900000	339000000	1.72	6.3E-01
	thickness	0.02933	0.014665	1.30	6.9E-01
MEsaddlebrown	surface area	411000000	206000000	1.03	7.3E-01
	cortical				
	thickness	0.009686	0.004843	0.42	9.0E-01
	IQ	111.7871	55.89353	0.19	9.3E-01
MEsalmon	surface area	122000000	611000000	3.23	5.7E-01
	cortical	0.050441	0 02522	2 27	5 7E-01
		67 37634	33 68817	0.12	9.3E-01
MEskyblue		926 1191	463 0596	1.62	6.3E-01
WESKy Dide	cortical	320.1131	403.0000	1.02	0.52-01
	thickness	0.031579	0.015789	1.40	6.8E-01
	surface area	118000000	59194793	0.29	9.0E-01
MEsteelblue	IQ	1719.79	859.8952	3.10	5.7E-01
	surface area	856000000	428000000	2.19	5.7E-01
	cortical	0.001010	0.000005	0.00	
MEton		150000000	0.000925	0.08	9.3E-01
MEtan	surface area	159000000	795000000	4.22	5.7E-01
	thickness	0.052065	0.026033	2.36	5.7E-01
	IQ	585.0534	292.5267	1.02	7.3E-01
MEturquoise	IQ	1574.854	787.4269	2.81	5.7E-01
	surface area	642000000	321000000	1.62	6.3E-01
	cortical				
	thickness	0.015257	0.007629	0.67	8.5E-01
MEviolet	surface area	257000000	128000000	0.64	8.5E-01
	thickness	0.008216	0.004108	0.36	9.0E-01
		167 8923	83.94616	0.29	9.0E-01
	cortical				
MEwhite	thickness	0.059726	0.029863	2.72	5.7E-01
	IQ	846.789	423.3945	1.48	6.5E-01
	surface area	40335863	20167931	0.10	9.3E-01
MEyellow	IQ	550.9985	275.4993	0.97	7.4E-01
	surface area	31993093	15996547	0.08	9.3E-01
	cortical	0 001700	0 000067	0 00	0.25.01
	1110111635	0.001733	0.000007	0.00	9.52-01

## Supplementary Table 4.6: Interaction effect of module eigengene expression and CNV group on cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ

Module	Outcome measure	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-statistic	FDR q-val
MEblack	cortical thickness	0.002772	0.244902	0.78	9.0E-01
	IQ	310.1737	1.077374	0.34	7.3E-01
	surface area	87496859	0.435357	0.65	9.0E-01
MEbrown	cortical thickness	0.004348	0.381361	0.68	9.0E-01
	IQ	370.9805	1.291755	0.28	6.9E-01
	surface area	244000000	1.228304	0.30	6.9E-01
MEcyan	cortical thickness	0.004642	0.407596	0.67	9.0E-01
	IQ	771.0809	2.744182	0.07	5.7E-01
	surface area	123000000	0.611862	0.54	8.5E-01
MEdarkgreen	cortical thickness	0.003208	0.279208	0.76	9.0E-01
	IQ	269.969	0.948437	0.39	7.4E-01
	surface area	412000000	2.096864	0.13	5.7E-01
MEdarkgrey	cortical thickness	0.005051	0.441282	0.64	9.0E-01
	IQ	420.6942	1.478873	0.23	6.5E-01
	surface area	173000000	0.858957	0.43	7.6E-01
MEdarkolivegreen	cortical thickness	0.002823	0.244854	0.78	9.0E-01
	IQ	300.4982	1.042852	0.35	7.3E-01
	surface area	14755361	0.072756	0.93	9.3E-01
MEdarkorange	cortical thickness	0.004784	0.428171	0.65	9.0E-01
	IQ	97.83197	0.337201	0.71	9.0E-01
	surface area	168000000	0.859065	0.43	7.6E-01
MEdarkred	cortical thickness	0.003792	0.330077	0.72	9.0E-01
	IQ	1033.131	3.705164	0.03	5.7E-01
	surface area	173000000	0.879542	0.42	7.6E-01
MEdarkturguoise	cortical thickness	0.01363	1.206079	0.30	6.9E-01
	IQ	476.9002	1.684596	0.19	6.3E-01
	surface area	334000000	1.688826	0.19	6.3E-01
MEgreen	cortical thickness	0.026023	2.375016	0.10	5.7E-01
	IQ	943.6452	3.427408	0.03	5.7E-01
	surface area	123000000	0.611371	0.54	8.5E-01
MEgreenvellow	cortical thickness	0.001291	0.112402	0.89	9.3E-01
	IQ	483.6019	1.697635	0.19	6.3E-01
	surface area	98368083	0.496583	0.61	9.0E-01
MEarev60	cortical thickness	0.000928	0.080881	0.92	9.3E-01
<u>5</u> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	IQ	669.015	2.36894	0.10	5.7E-01
	surface area	293000000	1.483331	0.23	6.5E-01
MEliahtareen	cortical thickness	0.000831	0.072876	0.93	9.3E-01
	IQ	644.1711	2.272975	0.11	5.7E-01
	surface area	97920909	0.486151	0.62	9.0E-01
MElightyellow	cortical thickness	0.005902	0.515571	0.60	9.0E-01
	IQ	889.8435	3.190306	0.04	5.7E-01
	surface area	224000000	1.120799	0.33	7.3E-01
MEmagenta	cortical thickness	0.023539	2.116365	0.13	5.7E-01
	IQ	201.3941	0.698666	0.50	8.4E-01
	surface area	628000000	3.268106	0.04	5.7E-01
MEmidnightblue	cortical thickness	0.008436	0.748329	0.48	8.2E-01
<b>y</b>	IQ	460,7976	1.617892	0.20	6.3E-01
	surface area	268000000	1.347722	0.26	6.9E-01
MEorange	cortical thickness	0.00292	0.253657	0.78	9.0E-01
	IQ	25.00958	0.085819	0.92	9.3E-01
	surface area	68857235	0.33964	0.71	9.0E-01
MEpink	cortical thickness	0.01362	1.207464	0.30	6.9E-01
	IQ	497,2574	1.762362	0.18	6.3E-01
	surface area	157000000	0.782805	0.46	8.0E-01
MErovalblue	cortical thickness	0.014665	1.298375	0.28	6.9E-01

	IQ	648.7866	2.293394	0.10	5.7E-01
	surface area	339000000	1.716738	0.18	6.3E-01
MEsaddlebrown	cortical thickness	0.004843	0.422056	0.66	9.0E-01
	IQ	55.89353	0.19275	0.82	9.3E-01
	surface area	20600000	1.029442	0.36	7.3E-01
MEsalmon	cortical thickness	0.02522	2.271419	0.11	5.7E-01
	IQ	33.68817	0.116247	0.89	9.3E-01
	surface area	611000000	3.228215	0.04	5.7E-01
MEskyblue	cortical thickness	0.015789	1.399772	0.25	6.8E-01
	IQ	463.0596	1.624967	0.20	6.3E-01
	surface area	59194793	0.291668	0.75	9.0E-01
MEsteelblue	cortical thickness	0.000925	0.079951	0.92	9.3E-01
	IQ	859.8952	3.096645	0.05	5.7E-01
	surface area	428000000	2.190869	0.12	5.7E-01
MEtan	cortical thickness	0.026033	2.358212	0.10	5.7E-01
	IQ	292.5267	1.019958	0.36	7.3E-01
	surface area	795000000	4.218718	0.02	5.7E-01
MEturquoise	cortical thickness	0.007629	0.666924	0.52	8.5E-01
	IQ	787.4269	2.813754	0.06	5.7E-01
	surface area	321000000	1.622241	0.20	6.3E-01
MEviolet	cortical thickness	0.004108	0.362967	0.70	9.0E-01
	IQ	83.94616	0.292402	0.75	9.0E-01
	surface area	128000000	0.637254	0.53	8.5E-01
MEwhite	cortical thickness	0.029863	2.71605	0.07	5.7E-01
	IQ	423.3945	1.477241	0.23	6.5E-01
	surface area	20167931	0.099235	0.91	9.3E-01
MEyellow	cortical thickness	0.000867	0.07507	0.93	9.3E-01
	IQ	275.4993	0.966113	0.38	7.4E-01

Supplementary Table 4.7: Main effect of module eigengene expression on group-

residualized cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ

	Outcome				
Celltype	measure	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F-statistic	FDR q-val
	cortical				
B cells memory	thickness	0.011984	0.005992	0.53	1.0E+00
	IQ	638.7655	319.3828	1.11	9.9E-01
	surface area	16081857	8040929	0.04	1.0E+00
	cortical				
B cells naive	thickness	0.005172	0.002586	0.23	1.0E+00
	IQ	1668.097	834.0487	2.97	3.8E-01
	surface area	238000000	119000000	0.60	1.0E+00
	cortical				
Dendritic cells activated	thickness	0.019775	0.009888	0.87	1.0E+00
	IQ	82.57532	41.28766	0.14	1.0E+00
	surface area	220000000	110000000	0.55	1.0E+00
	cortical				
Macrophages M0	thickness	0.046337	0.023169	2.11	5.8E-01
	IQ	281.3063	140.6532	0.49	1.0E+00
	surface area	125000000	62292495	0.31	1.0E+00
	cortical	12000000	02202100	0.01	1.02.00
Macrophages M1	thickness	0.006104	0.006104	0.54	1.0E+00
	IQ	1780.496	1780.496	6.39	3.7E-01
	surface area	342000000	342000000	1 74	7.6E-01
		342000000	342000000	1.74	7.02-01
Macrophages M2	thickness	0 112874	0.056437	5.38	36E-01
	10	14 48139	7 240693	0.02	1 0E+00
		1000000	F2070720	0.02	1.02+00
	Surface area	10600000	52912139	0.27	1.0E+00
Mast cells activated	thickness	0.081069	0.040535	3 83	3.8E_01
		1020 922	515 4159	1 95	5.0E-01
		1030.032	515.4156	1.00	0.9E-01
	surface area	178000000	89120970	0.46	1.0E+00
Mast colls resting	cortical	0.015565	0 007783	0.68	1 05+00
Mast cells resting	UNICKITESS	0.015505	0.007763	0.00	1.0E+00
	IQ	597.85	298.925	1.05	1.0E+00
	surface area	263000000	132000000	0.65	1.0E+00
Managutag	cortical	0.000064	0.014122	1.07	
Monocytes	unickness	0.026264	0.014132	1.27	9.5E-01
	IQ	463.4238	231.7119	0.82	1.0E+00
	surface area	14858816	7429408	0.04	1.0E+00
Nasstaarahila	cortical	0.057404	0.00050	0.50	
Neutrophils	tnickness	0.057121	0.02856	2.59	4.5E-01
	IQ	61.27486	30.63743	0.11	1.0E+00
	surface area	624000000	312000000	1.59	7.9E-01
	cortical				
NK cells activated	thickness	0.076574	0.038287	3.53	3.8E-01
	IQ	6.311145	3.155572	0.01	1.0E+00
	surface area	25480884	12740442	0.06	1.0E+00
	cortical			<b>a</b> : =	
NK cells resting	thickness	0.003473	0.001736	0.15	1.0E+00
	IQ	136.6315	68.31573	0.23	1.0E+00
	surface area	3327390	1663695	0.01	1.0E+00
	cortical				
Plasma cells	thickness	0.0000573	0.0000287	0.00	1.0E+00
	IQ	117.322	58.66098	0.21	1.0E+00
	surface area	135000000	67551425	0.34	1.0E+00
T cells CD4 memory	cortical				
activated	thickness	0.000812	0.000406	0.04	1.0E+00
	IQ	91.52826	45.76413	0.16	1.0E+00
	surface area	163000000	81552203	0.41	1.0E+00
T cells CD4 memory	cortical				
resting	thickness	0.012417	0.006209	0.54	1.0E+00
	IQ	1367.517	683.7585	2.41	4.6E-01
	surface area	233000000	116000000	0.58	1.0E+00
		20000000	110000000	0.00	1.02.00

T cells CD4 naive	cortical thickness	0.08015	0.040075	3 74	3.8E-01
	IQ	420.1587	210.0794	0.73	1.0E+00
	surface area	468000000	234000000	1.17	9.9E-01
T cells CD8	cortical thickness	0.068497	0.034248	3.13	3.8E-01
	IQ	39.62784	19.81392	0.07	1.0E+00
	surface area	91547725	45773862	0.24	1.0E+00
T cells follicular helper	cortical thickness	0.056026	0.028013	2.54	4.5E-01
	IQ	286.9273	143.4637	0.50	1.0E+00
	surface area	524000000	262000000	1.32	9.5E-01
T cells gamma delta	cortical thickness	0.001239	0.000619	0.05	1.0E+00
	IQ	1722.689	861.3447	3.08	3.8E-01
	surface area	353000000	177000000	0.89	1.0E+00
T cells regulatory (Tregs)	cortical thickness	0.012226	0.006113	0.53	1.0E+00
	IQ	15.23473	7.617367	0.03	1.0E+00
	surface area	1130000000	567000000	2.94	3.8E-01

### Supplementary Table 4.8: Interaction effect of gene expression and group status on

cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ

	Outcome		Mean		
Celltype	measure	Sum of Squares	Square	F-statistic	FDR q-val
B cells memory	cortical thickness	0.012558695	0.012558695	1.02	0.96
	IQ	61.09149273	61.09149273	0.23	0.99
	surface area	7668137.857	7668137.857	0.04	0.99
B cells naive	cortical thickness	0.038237771	0.038237771	3.17	0.67
	IQ	6.479261015	6.479261015	0.02	0.99
	surface area	397182170	397182170	2.01	0.96
Dendritic cells	cortical thickness			0.70	0.09
activated		9.092-03	9.092-03	0.79	0.98
	surface area	269435279 3	269435279 3	1 36	0.99
Macrophages M0	cortical thickness	4 06F-02	4 06F-02	3.37	0.50
Madrophages mo		10.38263681	10.38263681	0.04	0.99
	surface area	13028 29065	13028 29065	0.04	0.00
Macronhages M1	cortical thickness	0.000314352	0.000314352	0.03	0.00
Macrophages wit		0.073704868	0.073704868	0.00	0.00
	surface area	1.04F+08	1 04E+08	0.52	0.98
Macrophages M2	cortical thickness	1.43E-02	1.04E-00	1 16	0.96
Macrophages wiz		28 21160782	28 21160782	0.1	0.99
	surface area	955885244 6	955885244 6	4 97	0.63
Mast cells activated	cortical thickness	6 23E-06	6.23E-06	0	0.99
		762 8533111	762 8533111	2 89	0.68
	surface area	913083235.6	913083235.6	4.74	0.63
Mast cells resting	cortical thickness	1.08E-02	1.08E-02	0.88	0.96
- maet come rooking		381,1308385	381,1308385	1.43	0.96
	surface area	42276.92217	42276.92217	0	0.99
Monocytes	cortical thickness	0.011117986	0.011117986	0.9	0.96
	IQ	850.4410129	850.4410129	3.22	0.67
	surface area	316324934.7	316324934.7	1.6	0.96
Neutrophils	cortical thickness	1.09E-04	1.09E-04	0.01	0.99
	IQ	41.09321562	41.09321562	0.15	0.99
	surface area	199437510.8	199437510.8	1	0.96
NK cells activated	cortical thickness	1.87E-03	1.87E-03	0.15	0.99
	IQ	313.5525538	313.5525538	1.17	0.96
	surface area	109223949	109223949	0.55	0.98
NK cells resting	cortical thickness	0.000677155	0.000677155	0.05	0.99
	IQ	89.76861378	89.76861378	0.33	0.98
	surface area	91040637.04	91040637.04	0.45	0.98
Plasma cells	cortical thickness	3.97E-06	3.97E-06	0	0.99
	IQ	910.9197471	910.9197471	3.46	0.67
	surface area	132299171.9	132299171.9	0.66	0.98
T cells CD4					
memory activated	cortical thickness	1.13E-03	1.13E-03	0.09	0.99
		107.9111888	107.9111888	0.4	0.98
	surface area	276867989.8	276867989.8	1.39	0.96
memory resting	cortical thickness	2.93E-03	2.93E-03	0.24	0.99
, , ,	IQ	4.998174104	4.998174104	0.02	0.99
	surface area	276387838.8	276387838.8	1.39	0.96
T cells CD4 naive	cortical thickness	0.007165129	0.007165129	0.58	0.98
	IQ	191.5581161	191.5581161	0.72	0.98
	surface area	4031988.244	4031988.244	0.02	0.99
T cells CD8	cortical thickness	2.45E-03	2.45E-03	0.2	0.99
	IQ	263.6606557	263.6606557	0.99	0.96

	surface area	1205168729	1205168729	6.34	0.63
T cells follicular					
helper	cortical thickness	0.001429997	0.001429997	0.12	0.99
	IQ	94.78289197	94.78289197	0.35	0.98
	surface area	16121009.72	16121009.72	0.08	0.99
T cells gamma					
delta	cortical thickness	4.84E-04	4.84E-04	0.04	0.99
	IQ	161.2183942	161.2183942	0.6	0.98
	surface area	379418307.2	379418307.2	1.92	0.96
T cells regulatory					
(Tregs)	cortical thickness	0.004029288	0.004029288	0.33	0.98
	IQ	3.517604291	3.517604291	0.01	0.99
	surface area	89272127.42	89272127.42	0.45	0.98

## Supplementary Table 4.9: Main effect of cell type proportion on group-residualized

cortical thickness, total surface area, and Full Scale IQ
#### 4.7.5: Supplementary References

- Ching, C. R. K., Hibar, D. P., Gurholt, T. P., Nunes, A., Thomopoulos, S. I., Abé, C., Agartz, I., Brouwer, R. M., Cannon, D. M., de Zwarte, S. M. C., Eyler, L. T., Favre, P., Hajek, T., Haukvik, U. K., Houenou, J., Landén, M., Lett, T. A., McDonald, C., Nabulsi, L., ...
  ENIGMA Bipolar Disorder Working Group. (2020). What we learn about bipolar disorder from large-scale neuroimaging: Findings and future directions from the ENIGMA Bipolar Disorder Working Group. Human Brain Mapping. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.25098
- Dong, J., & Horvath, S. (2007). Understanding network concepts in modules. BMC Systems Biology, 1, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-0509-1-24
- Dougherty, J. D., Schmidt, E. F., Nakajima, M., & Heintz, N. (2010). Analytical approaches to RNA profiling data for the identification of genes enriched in specific cells. Nucleic Acids Research, 38(13), 4218–4230. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq130
- Langfelder, P., Zhang, B., & Horvath, S. (2008). Defining clusters from a hierarchical cluster tree: the Dynamic Tree Cut package for R. Bioinformatics , 24(5), 719–720. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btm563
- Newman, A. M., Liu, C. L., Green, M. R., Gentles, A. J., Feng, W., Xu, Y., Hoang, C. D., Diehn,
  M., & Alizadeh, A. A. (2015). Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression
  profiles. Nature Methods, 12(5), 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3337
- Novershtern, N., Subramanian, A., Lawton, L. N., Mak, R. H., Haining, W. N., McConkey, M. E., Habib, N., Yosef, N., Chang, C. Y., Shay, T., Frampton, G. M., Drake, A. C. B., Leskov, I., Nilsson, B., Preffer, F., Dombkowski, D., Evans, J. W., Liefeld, T., Smutko, J. S., ... Ebert, B. L. (2011). Densely interconnected transcriptional circuits control cell states in human hematopoiesis. Cell, 144(2), 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.004
- Oldham, M. C., Konopka, G., Iwamoto, K., Langfelder, P., Kato, T., Horvath, S., & Geschwind,
  D. H. (2008). Functional organization of the transcriptome in human brain. Nature
  Neuroscience, 11(11), 1271–1282. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2207

- Schmaal, L., Veltman, D. J., van Erp, T. G., Samann, P. G., Frodl, T., Jahanshad, N., Loehrer,
  E., Tiemeier, H., Hofman, A., Niessen, W. J., Vernooij, M. W., Ikram, M. A., Wittfeld, K.,
  Grabe, H. J., Block, A., Hegenscheid, K., Volzke, H., Hoehn, D., Czisch, M., ... Hibar, D.
  P. (2016). Subcortical brain alterations in major depressive disorder: findings from the
  ENIGMA Major Depressive Disorder working group. Molecular Psychiatry, 21(6), 806–
  812. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.69
- Song, L., Langfelder, P., & Horvath, S. (2012). Comparison of co-expression measures: mutual information, correlation, and model based indices. BMC Bioinformatics, 13, 328. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-13-328
- Stuart, J. M., Segal, E., Koller, D., & Kim, S. K. (2003). A gene-coexpression network for global discovery of conserved genetic modules. Science, 302(5643), 249–255. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1087447
- Sun, D., Ching, C. R. K., Lin, A., Forsyth, J. K., Kushan, L., Vajdi, A., Jalbrzikowski, M., Hansen,
  L., Villalon-Reina, J. E., Qu, X., Jonas, R. K., van Amelsvoort, T., Bakker, G., Kates, W.
  R., Antshel, K. M., Fremont, W., Campbell, L. E., McCabe, K. L., Daly, E., ... Bearden,
  C. E. (2018). Large-scale mapping of cortical alterations in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome:
  Convergence with idiopathic psychosis and effects of deletion size. Molecular
  Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0078-5
- Thompson, P. M., Andreassen, O. A., Arias-Vasquez, A., Bearden, C. E., Boedhoe, P. S.,
  Brouwer, R. M., Buckner, R. L., Buitelaar, J. K., Bulayeva, K. B., Cannon, D. M., Cohen,
  R. A., Conrod, P. J., Dale, A. M., Deary, I. J., Dennis, E. L., de Reus, M. A., Desrivieres,
  S., Dima, D., Donohoe, G., ... ENIGMA Consortium. (2017). ENIGMA and the individual:
  Predicting factors that affect the brain in 35 countries worldwide. NeuroImage, 145(Pt B),
  389–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.11.057
- Thompson, P. M., Stein, J. L., Medland, S. E., Hibar, D. P., Vasquez, A. A., Renteria, M. E., Toro, R., Jahanshad, N., Schumann, G., & Franke, B. (2014). The ENIGMA Consortium:

large-scale collaborative analyses of neuroimaging and genetic data. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 8(2), 153–182.

- van Erp, T. G., Hibar, D. P., Rasmussen, J. M., Glahn, D. C., Pearlson, G. D., Andreassen, O. A., Agartz, I., Westlye, L. T., Haukvik, U. K., Dale, A. M., Melle, I., Hartberg, C. B., Gruber, O., Kraemer, B., Zilles, D., Donohoe, G., Kelly, S., McDonald, C., Morris, D. W., ... Turner, J. A. (2016). Subcortical brain volume abnormalities in 2028 individuals with schizophrenia and 2540 healthy controls via the ENIGMA consortium. Molecular Psychiatry, 21(4), 585. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.118
- Xu, X., Wells, A. B., O'Brien, D. R., Nehorai, A., & Dougherty, J. D. (2014). Cell type-specific expression analysis to identify putative cellular mechanisms for neurogenetic disorders.
  The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 34(4), 1420–1431. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4488-13.2014

# **CHAPTER FIVE**

**Conclusions and Future Directions** 

### 5.1: Conclusions

In this body of work, I leveraged multimodal datasets and complementary analyses to vield insights about how genes may disrupt the brain and contribute to downstream cognitive and behavioral impairments using a "genetics-first" approach. In Chapter 1, I laid out the framework for how the study of reciprocal 22g11.2 copy number variants (CNVs) can offer mechanistic insights regarding the development of neuropsychiatric disorders. Chapter 2 provided the first evidence that the 22q11.2 locus confers reciprocal gene-dose-dependent cortical and subcortical phenotypes. Findings of opposing directions of effect for cortical thickness (CT) versus surface area (SA) along with more pervasive effects for SA relative to CT, suggest that distinct neurodevelopmental mechanisms may be perturbed. Widespread SA decreases in 22q11.2 deletion (22qDel) carriers may reflect reduced production of progenitor cells across multiple cortical regions, indicating a cortical phenotype that arises during early brain development. Although there was divergence in the specific brain areas most impacted by 22qDel vs 22qDup, areas most significantly impacted across CNVs were noteworthy as neural substrates relevant for social-cognitive circuitry (Lieberman, 2007; Pinkham et al., 2003). This suggests that both over- and under-expression of 22q11.2 genes may lead to cortical perturbations that give rise to the social cognitive deficits observed in both groups, perhaps through different mechanisms. Finally, subcortical regions also displayed complex, localized patterns of shape differences between 22gDel and 22gDup carriers, indicating global effects of the 22q11.2 CNV on brain development.

Chapter 3 illustrated how 22q11.2 CNVs influenced neurobehavioral function across multiple domains relevant to developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. First, these reciprocal imbalances were associated with similar deficits in traits related to Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) as well as cognitive function. In contrast, 22qDel was uniquely associated with dimensionally-measured positive and negative psychotic symptomology, consistent with the increased risk of a categorical diagnosis of psychotic disorder, for which 22qDel is well-known

(Gur et al., 2017; Monks et al., 2014; Schneider et al., 2014; Stefansson et al., 2014). The comparably high rates of ASD diagnoses for both CNV groups, however, belied subtle differences in ASD profile when the broad disease phenotype was carved into subdomain traits. Finally, the absence of the normative association between processing speed and cortical thickness of higher-order brain regions in both CNV groups suggests that typical cortical thinning during development may underlie processing speed ability. The specific association with thickness, but not surface area, additionally suggests compromised myelinated axonal fibers leading to disruptions in distributed neural networks in the context of a 22g11.2 CNV. Thus, these findings provide opportunities to test novel mechanistic hypotheses regarding the connection between 22q11.2 gene dosage, cortical thickness, and white matter aberrations in shaping processing speed impairments. Taken together, these discoveries indicate that both decreased and increased expression of genes within the 22q11.2 locus can result in convergent downstream pathogenic effects on cognition and social behavior. On the other hand, underexpression of genes within the locus may indicate a unique biological etiology influencing psychotic symptomatology. Moreover, the mechanisms by which reciprocal deletions and duplications at the same locus can have divergent effects on intellectual function and psychosisrelated traits but converge on similar impairments for specific cognitive domains and social cognition remain unknown. Future studies are needed to elucidate the ways in which reciprocal gene dosage can lead to impairments in the same cognitive domain.

Chapter 4 demonstrated that the significant genome-wide transcriptomic dysregulation seen in peripheral blood of 22qDel carriers compared to 22qDup carriers and controls was likely driven by differences in blood cell type proportion, as opposed to direct effects of 22qDel on gene expression across cell types. However, it is possible that genes within the 22q11.2 locus which still exhibited significantly decreased expression after adjusting for cell type heterogeneity reflect pan-cellular or tissue-non-specific effects of 22qDel. This may, in turn, underlie the systemic, multi-organ pathology seen in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Finally, expression of two

ASD-associated and cytoskeletal-relevant genes, FNBP1 and WDR1, were found to differ between 22q11.2 CNV carriers with and without ASD, albeit in opposing directions. This suggests that FNBP1 and WDR1 contributions to ASD risk may be mechanistically distinct and depend on 22q11.2 CNV status. Further replication of these findings and experimental studies will be important for parsing out the role of abnormal expression of these genes in conferring ASD risk in the context of 22q11.2 CNVs.

### **5.2: Future Directions**

In all three studies, 22q11.2 deletion showed a more robust impact on intermediate phenotypes (gene expression, cortical indices, and neurobehavioral traits) compared to the duplication. This is consistent with epidemiological findings that duplication CNVs generally tend to have less deleterious effects than deletions (Douard et al., 2021; Mannik et al., 2015). Future studies with larger sample sizes of 22qDup carriers should validate and extend these disparate effect size findings across multiple endophenotypes. Power analyses from Study 2 demonstrated that with sample sizes comparable to the number of deletion carriers and controls in that study, additional differences in cortical thickness and area could likely be identified. It will be important to assess whether additional effects on neurobehavioral traits and gene expression measures could be revealed when assessing more duplication carriers as well. A larger sample of CNV carriers would also provide greater power to detect potential variable impacts of CNV breakpoints. The studies described herein lacked the ability to delineate how breakpoint locations may impact downstream phenotypes, but such analyses will be important to parse haplo- or triplosensitivity across different 22q11.2 genes (Collins et al., 2021).

Moreover, common genetic variation may also influence the phenotypic expression of 22q11.2 CNVs, thereby modulating clinical presentation (Davies et al., 2020). Thus, the additive contribution of polygenic, common risk should also be investigated (Huguet et al., 2018; Weiner

et al., 2017). With sufficient sample sizes, future investigations should be conducted to hone in on genetic background contributions to phenotypic variability and expression between reciprocal 22q11.2 CNV carriers. Studies leveraging population-based birth cohorts of 22q11.2 CNV carriers, such as those identified by iPSYCH study in Denmark (Olsen et al., 2018), as well as including first-degree relatives as controls for genetic background, will be important to account for additional genetic and environmental factors (D'Angelo et al., 2016; A. Moreno-De-Luca et al., 2015).

Improved *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of 22q11.2 CNVs are also required to elucidate the contribution of particular genes, cell types, and biological pathways implicated in this body of work. Organoid models of both 22q11.2 CNVs could test whether experimental manipulation of one or more genes in the locus drives aberrant brain development within developmentally critical windows. Although such *in vitro* approaches are necessary to identify biochemical and cellular consequences of genetic mutations, a more intact system such as an animal model enables identification of perturbed neural circuit properties during behavior that lead to dysfunction. While mouse models and cerebral cortical organoids have already been developed for 22qDel (Fenelon et al., 2013; Hiramoto et al., 2011; Mukai et al., 2015; Ouchi et al., 2013; Saito et al., 2020; Khan et al. 2020), there are far fewer model systems for 22qDup. In fact, only 1 (partial) mouse model of the duplication has currently been developed, which includes overexpression of only the COMT and Tbx1 genes (Boku et al., 2018). Murine models of the 22q11.2 critical region or even cortical organoids of 22q11.2 duplication would be a boon to testing some of the gene dosage hypotheses born out of the insights generated from the aforementioned studies.

Finally, as there are other reciprocal CNVs that confer high risk for neuropsychiatric disorders, some of which show similar opposing effects on downstream phenotypes (e.g. Hippolyte et al., 2016; Jacquemont et al., 2011; Qureshi et al., 2014), it will be important to compare findings across CNVs to generate further insights and share methodologies (Collins et

al., 2021; D. Moreno-De-Luca et al., 2014; Sanders et al., 2019). In fact, studies of other disease-associated genomic imbalances have already begun to pave the way towards developing novel, genetically-informed interventions. For example, a promising strategy has recently been developed to treat Angelman's syndrome, a genetic disorder caused by a deletion or mutation of the maternally inherited UBE3A gene (in the imprinted 15q11-13 region) that leads to loss of its function (Elgersma & Sonzogni, 2021). UBE3A is an E3-ubiquitin ligase known to be critical for typical postnatal brain development and thought to be a driver of the clinical phenotype through affecting multiple convergent pathways (Williams, 2010). The strategy uses an antisense oligonucleotide (ASO) to activate the silenced paternal UBE3A gene and restore UBE3A protein levels. Due to successes observed in treating spinal muscular atrophy (Singh et al., 2017; Wood et al., 2017), ASO therapy holds great potential for Angelman syndrome as well as other genetically-defined, neurodevelopmental disorders. This kind of precision medicine approach developed as a result of genetic insights garnered from human association studies, animal models, and other in vitro assays, represent future avenues for potential treatments of CNV disorders. Knowledge gathered across these highly-penetrant CNVs will be critical to developing other pharmacologic or gene-editing therapies, ideally with further insights about which critical periods may be optimal for intervention. Collectively, this work demonstrates how systematic investigation of the effects of reciprocal 22q11.2 imbalances on underlying biological processes offers a window into how these CNVs disrupt the brain and contribute to disease pathogenesis. The hope is that the study of such high-penetrance genetic mutations can also provide key insights into the underlying biology of idiopathic developmental neuropsychiatric disorders which share downstream phenotypic characteristics.

## 5.3: References

- Boku, S., Izumi, T., Abe, S., Takahashi, T., Nishi, A., Nomaru, H., Naka, Y., Kang, G.,
  Nagashima, M., & Hishimoto, A. (2018). Copy number elevation of 22q11. 2 genes arrests the developmental maturation of working memory capacity and adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(4), 985.
- Collins, R. L., Glessner, J. T., Porcu, E., Niestroj, L.-M., Ulirsch, J., Kellaris, G., Howrigan, D. P., Everett, S., Mohajeri, K., Nuttle, X., Lowther, C., Fu, J., Boone, P. M., Ullah, F., Samocha, K. E., Karczewski, K., Lucente, D., Gusella, J. F., Finucane, H., ... Epi25
  Consortium. (2021). A cross-disorder dosage sensitivity map of the human genome. In *bioRxiv*. medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.01.26.21250098
- D'Angelo, D., Lebon, S., Chen, Q., Martin-Brevet, S., Snyder, L. G., Hippolyte, L., Hanson, E., Maillard, A. M., Faucett, W. A., Macé, A., Pain, A., Bernier, R., Chawner, S. J. R. A., David, A., Andrieux, J., Aylward, E., Baujat, G., Caldeira, I., Conus, P., ... Simons Variation in Individuals Project (VIP) Consortium. (2016). Defining the Effect of the 16p11.2 Duplication on Cognition, Behavior, and Medical Comorbidities. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 73(1), 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2123
- Davies, R. W., Fiksinski, A. M., Breetvelt, E. J., Williams, N. M., Hooper, S. R., Monfeuga, T., Bassett, A. S., Owen, M. J., Gur, R. E., Morrow, B. E., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Swillen, A., Chow, E. W. C., van den Bree, M., Emanuel, B. S., Vermeesch, J. R., van Amelsvoort, T., Arango, C., Armando, M., ... Vorstman, J. A. S. (2020). Using common genetic variation to examine phenotypic expression and risk prediction in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Nature Medicine*, *26*(12), 1912–1918. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1103-1
- Douard, E., Zeribi, A., Schramm, C., Tamer, P., Loum, M. A., Nowak, S., Saci, Z., Lord, M.-P.,
  Rodríguez-Herreros, B., Jean-Louis, M., Moreau, C., Loth, E., Schumann, G., Pausova,
  Z., Elsabbagh, M., Almasy, L., Glahn, D. C., Bourgeron, T., Labbe, A., ... Jacquemont,
  S. (2021). Effect Sizes of Deletions and Duplications on Autism Risk Across the

Genome. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 178(1), 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.19080834

- Elgersma, Y., & Sonzogni, M. (2021). UBE3A reinstatement as a disease-modifying therapy for Angelman syndrome. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.14831
- Fenelon, K., Xu, B., Lai, C. S., Mukai, J., Markx, S., Stark, K. L., Hsu, P. K., Gan, W. B., Fischbach, G. D., MacDermott, A. B., Karayiorgou, M., & Gogos, J. A. (2013). The pattern of cortical dysfunction in a mouse model of a schizophrenia-related microdeletion. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(37), 14825–14839. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1611-13.2013
- Gur, R. E., Bassett, A. S., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Bearden, C. E., Chow, E., Emanuel, B. S.,
  Owen, M., Swillen, A., Van den Bree, M., Vermeesch, J., Vorstman, J. A. S., Warren, S.,
  Lehner, T., & Morrow, B. (2017). A neurogenetic model for the study of schizophrenia
  spectrum disorders: the International 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome Brain Behavior
  Consortium. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 22(12), 1664–1672.
  - https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.161
- Hippolyte, L., Maillard, A. M., Rodriguez-Herreros, B., Pain, A., Martin-Brevet, S., Ferrari, C., Conus, P., Mace, A., Hadjikhani, N., Metspalu, A., Reigo, A., Kolk, A., Mannik, K., Barker, M., Isidor, B., Le Caignec, C., Mignot, C., Schneider, L., Mottron, L., ... Jacquemont, S. (2016). The Number of Genomic Copies at the 16p11.2 Locus Modulates Language, Verbal Memory, and Inhibition. *Biological Psychiatry*, *80*(2), 129– 139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.10.021
- Hiramoto, T., Kang, G., Suzuki, G., Satoh, Y., Kucherlapati, R., Watanabe, Y., & Hiroi, N.
  (2011). Tbx1: identification of a 22q11. 2 gene as a risk factor for autism spectrum disorder in a mouse model. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20(24), 4775–4785.

- Huguet, G., Schramm, C., Douard, E., Jiang, L., Labbe, A., Tihy, F., Mathonnet, G., Nizard, S., Lemyre, E., Mathieu, A., Poline, J.-B., Loth, E., Toro, R., Schumann, G., Conrod, P., Pausova, Z., Greenwood, C., Paus, T., Bourgeron, T., ... for the IMAGEN Consortium. (2018). Measuring and Estimating the Effect Sizes of Copy Number Variants on General Intelligence in Community-Based Samples. In *JAMA Psychiatry* (Vol. 75, Issue 5, p. 447). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.0039
- Jacquemont, S., Reymond, A., Zufferey, F., Harewood, L., Walters, R. G., Kutalik, Z., Martinet, D., Shen, Y., Valsesia, A., Beckmann, N. D., Thorleifsson, G., Belfiore, M., Bouquillon, S., Campion, D., de Leeuw, N., de Vries, B. B. A., Esko, T., Fernandez, B. A., Fernández-Aranda, F., ... Froguel, P. (2011). Mirror extreme BMI phenotypes associated with gene dosage at the chromosome 16p11.2 locus. Nature, 478(7367), 97–102. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10406
- Khan, T. A., Revah, O., Gordon, A., Yoon, S.-J., Krawisz, A. K., Goold, C., Sun, Y., Kim, C. H., Tian, Y., Li, M.-Y., Schaepe, J. M., Ikeda, K., Amin, N. D., Sakai, N., Yazawa, M., Kushan, L., Nishino, S., Porteus, M. H., Rapoport, J. L., ... Paşca, S. P. (2020).
  Neuronal defects in a human cellular model of 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Nature Medicine, 26(12), 1888–1898. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1043-9
- Lieberman, M. D. (2007). Social cognitive neuroscience: a review of core processes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *58*, 259–289.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085654

Mannik, K., Magi, R., Mace, A., Cole, B., Guyatt, A. L., Shihab, H. A., Maillard, A. M., Alavere, H., Kolk, A., Reigo, A., Mihailov, E., Leitsalu, L., Ferreira, A. M., Noukas, M., Teumer, A., Salvi, E., Cusi, D., McGue, M., Iacono, W. G., ... Reymond, A. (2015). Copy number variations and cognitive phenotypes in unselected populations. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, *313*(20), 2044–2054. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4845

- Monks, S., Niarchou, M., Davies, A. R., Walters, J. T., Williams, N., Owen, M. J., van den Bree,
  M. B., & Murphy, K. C. (2014). Further evidence for high rates of schizophrenia in
  22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Schizophrenia Research*, *153*(1-3), 231–236.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.020
- Moreno-De-Luca, A., Evans, D. W., Boomer, K. B., Hanson, E., Bernier, R., Goin-Kochel, R. P., Myers, S. M., Challman, T. D., Moreno-De-Luca, D., Slane, M. M., Hare, A. E., Chung, W. K., Spiro, J. E., Faucett, W. A., Martin, C. L., & Ledbetter, D. H. (2015). The role of parental cognitive, behavioral, and motor profiles in clinical variability in individuals with chromosome 16p11.2 deletions. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *72*(2), 119–126. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2147
- Moreno-De-Luca, D., Moreno-De-Luca, A., Cubells, J. F., & Sanders, S. J. (2014). Cross-Disorder Comparison of Four Neuropsychiatric CNV Loci. *Current Genetic Medicine Reports*, 2(3), 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40142-014-0045-7
- Mukai, J., Tamura, M., Fenelon, K., Rosen, A. M., Spellman, T. J., Kang, R., MacDermott, A. B., Karayiorgou, M., Gordon, J. A., & Gogos, J. A. (2015). Molecular substrates of altered axonal growth and brain connectivity in a mouse model of schizophrenia. *Neuron*, *86*(3), 680–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.04.003
- Olsen, L., Sparso, T., Weinsheimer, S. M., Dos Santos, M. B. Q., Mazin, W., Rosengren, A., Sanchez, X. C., Hoeffding, L. K., Schmock, H., Baekvad-Hansen, M., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Daly, M. J., Neale, B. M., Pedersen, M. G., Agerbo, E., Mors, O., Borglum, A., Nordentoft, M., Hougaard, D. M., ... Werge, T. (2018). Prevalence of rearrangements in the 22q11.2 region and population-based risk of neuropsychiatric and developmental disorders in a Danish population: a case-cohort study. *Lancet Psychiatry*, *5*(7), 573–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30168-8
- Ouchi, Y., Banno, Y., Shimizu, Y., Ando, S., Hasegawa, H., Adachi, K., & Iwamoto, T. (2013). Reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis and working memory deficits in the Dgcr8-

deficient mouse model of 22q11.2 deletion-associated schizophrenia can be rescued by IGF2. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(22), 9408–9419. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2700-12.2013

- Pinkham, A. E., Penn, D. L., Perkins, D. O., & Lieberman, J. (2003). Implications for the neural basis of social cognition for the study of schizophrenia. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160(5), 815–824. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.5.815
- Saito, R., Koebis, M., Nagai, T., Shimizu, K., Liao, J., Wulaer, B., Sugaya, Y., Nagahama, K., Uesaka, N., Kushima, I., Mori, D., Maruyama, K., Nakao, K., Kurihara, H., Yamada, K., Kano, M., Fukada, Y., Ozaki, N., & Aiba, A. (2020). Comprehensive analysis of a novel mouse model of the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a model with the most common 3.0-Mb deletion at the human 22q11.2 locus. *Translational Psychiatry*, *10*(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0723-z
- Qureshi, A. Y., Mueller, S., Snyder, A. Z., Mukherjee, P., Berman, J. I., Roberts, T. P. L.,
  Nagarajan, S. S., Spiro, J. E., Chung, W. K., Sherr, E. H., Buckner, R. L., & Simons VIP
  Consortium. (2014). Opposing brain differences in 16p11.2 deletion and duplication
  carriers. The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for
  Neuroscience, 34(34), 11199–11211. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1366-14.2014
- Sanders, S. J., Sahin, M., Hostyk, J., Thurm, A., Jacquemont, S., Avillach, P., Douard, E.,
  Martin, C. L., Modi, M. E., Moreno-De-Luca, A., Raznahan, A., Anticevic, A., Dolmetsch,
  R., Feng, G., Geschwind, D. H., Glahn, D. C., Goldstein, D. B., Ledbetter, D. H., Mulle,
  J. G., ... Bearden, C. E. (2019). A framework for the investigation of rare genetic
  disorders in neuropsychiatry. *Nature Medicine*, *25*(10), 1477–1487.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0581-5
- Schneider, M., Debbane, M., Bassett, A. S., Chow, E. W., Fung, W. L., van den Bree, M., Owen,M., Murphy, K. C., Niarchou, M., Kates, W. R., Antshel, K. M., Fremont, W., McDonald-McGinn, D. M., Gur, R. E., Zackai, E. H., Vorstman, J., Duijff, S. N., Klaassen, P. W.,

Swillen, A., ... Behavior in 22q11. 2 Deletion, S. (2014). Psychiatric disorders from childhood to adulthood in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: results from the International Consortium on Brain and Behavior in 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*(6), 627–639. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13070864

- Singh, N. N., Howell, M. D., Androphy, E. J., & Singh, R. N. (2017). How the discovery of ISS-N1 led to the first medical therapy for spinal muscular atrophy. *Gene Therapy*, 24(9), 520–526. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2017.34
- Stefansson, H., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Steinberg, S., Magnusdottir, B., Morgen, K., Arnarsdottir, S., Bjornsdottir, G., Walters, G. B., Jonsdottir, G. A., Doyle, O. M., Tost, H., Grimm, O., Kristjansdottir, S., Snorrason, H., Davidsdottir, S. R., Gudmundsson, L. J., Jonsson, G. F., Stefansdottir, B., Helgadottir, I., ... Stefansson, K. (2014). CNVs conferring risk of autism or schizophrenia affect cognition in controls. *Nature*, *505*(7483), 361–366. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12818

Weiner, D. J., iPSYCH-Broad Autism Group, Wigdor, E. M., Ripke, S., Walters, R. K., Kosmicki, J. A., Grove, J., Samocha, K. E., Goldstein, J. I., Okbay, A., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Werge, T., Hougaard, D. M., Taylor, J., Skuse, D., Devlin, B., Anney, R., Sanders, S. J., Bishop, S., ... Psychiatric Genomics Consortium Autism Group. (2017). Polygenic transmission disequilibrium confirms that common and rare variation act additively to create risk for autism spectrum disorders. In *Nature Genetics* (Vol. 49, Issue 7, pp. 978–985). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3863

- Williams, C. A. (2010). The behavioral phenotype of the Angelman syndrome. American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part C, Seminars in Medical Genetics, 154C(4), 432–437. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.c.30278
- Wood, M. J. A., Talbot, K., & Bowerman, M. (2017). Spinal muscular atrophy: antisense oligonucleotide therapy opens the door to an integrated therapeutic landscape. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 26(R2), R151–R159. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddx215